

UNIVERSIDAD NACIONAL AUTÓNOMA DE MÉXICO DOCTORADO EN CIENCIAS BIOMÉDICAS

FACULTAD DE MEDICINA

EVALUACIÓN DE LOS EFECTOS DE LA 3-HIDROXIKINURENINA EN EL ESTRIADO DE

ROEDORES

TESIS

QUE PARA OPTAR POR EL GRADO DE:

DOCTORA EN CIENCIAS

PRESENTA:

ANA LAURA COLÍN GONZÁLEZ

TUTORA PRINCIPAL: DRA. ANAHÍ CHAVARRÍA KRAUSER FACULTAD DE MEDICINA, UNAM.

COMITÉ TUTOR: DRA. VERONICA GUARNER LANS FACULTAD DE MEDICINA, UNAM. DR. GABRIEL GUTIÉRREZ OSPINA INSTITUTO DE INVESTIGACIONES BIOMÉDICAS

MÉXICO, CIUDAD DE MÉXICO, FEBRERO, 2017



Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México



UNAM – Dirección General de Bibliotecas Tesis Digitales Restricciones de uso

DERECHOS RESERVADOS © PROHIBIDA SU REPRODUCCIÓN TOTAL O PARCIAL

Todo el material contenido en esta tesis esta protegido por la Ley Federal del Derecho de Autor (LFDA) de los Estados Unidos Mexicanos (México).

El uso de imágenes, fragmentos de videos, y demás material que sea objeto de protección de los derechos de autor, será exclusivamente para fines educativos e informativos y deberá citar la fuente donde la obtuvo mencionando el autor o autores. Cualquier uso distinto como el lucro, reproducción, edición o modificación, será perseguido y sancionado por el respectivo titular de los Derechos de Autor.

La ciencia será siempre una búsqueda, jamás un descubrimiento real. Es un viaje, nunca una llegada.

Karl Popper

Quiero agradecer a todas las maravillosas personas que me han ayudado en este viaje:

- A Rocío González, por ser mi apoyo en los momentos más difíciles, por su paciencia y cariño.
- A Gerardo Colín, por inculcar en mi la semilla del estudio.
- Al Dr. Santamaría por dirigirme, por su amistad y por enseñarme a no rendirme en situaciones difíciles.
- A los dos Albertos que encontré en el camino, por escucharme, por su compañía y apoyo incondicional.
- A la Dra. Chavarría por aceptarme como alumna.
- A Jorge Muños por todas esas pláticas que me hicieron más agradable el recorrido.
- A todos los integrantes del Laboratorio de Aminoácidos Excitadores por entender y aceptar mi locura.
- A la UNAM y al CONACyT por darme la oportunidad de vivir esta experiencia.
- Y finalmente, a todas las piedras que, en su intento por detenerme, me hicieron más fuerte.

Muchas Gracias...

ÍNDICE

1.	RESUMEN	4
2.	ABSTRACT	6
4.	PLANTEAMIENTO DEL PROBLEMA	13
5.	HIPÓTESIS	14
6.	OBJETIVOS	15
	_6.1. OBJETIVO GENERAL	15
	_6.2. OBJETIVOS PARTICULARES	15
7.	MATERIAL Y MÉTODOS	16
8.	DISEÑO EXPERIMENTAL	17
	_8.1. LA 3-HIDROXIKINURENINA	17
	8.2. EL ÁCIDO QUINOLÍNICO	18
9.	RESULTADOS	21
	9.1. LA 3-HK MODIFICA EL AMBIENTE REDOX ESTRIATAL DE	
RO	EDORES SIN MOSTRAR TOXICIDAD	21
	9.2. EI QUIN ESTIMULA LA ACTIVACIÓN DEL NRF2 DE FORMA	
TR	ANSITORIA	37
	9.3. EXISTE UN SINERGISMO TÓXICO ENTRE EL QUIN Y LOS	
ME	TABOLITOS QUE SE ACUMULAN EN LAS ACIDEMIAS ORGÁNICAS	53
10.	DISCUSIÓN	89
11.	CONCLUSIÓN	93
12.	PERSPECTIVAS	94
13.	ANEXO	95
14.	REFERENCIAS	112

1. RESUMEN

El triptófano es un aminoácido esencial que participa en múltiples eventos fisiológicos. El triptófano es convertido en nicotinamida adenina dinucleótido (NAD⁺) a través de la vía de la kinurenina (VK), durante esta transformación varios metabolitos con actividad biológica son producidos. En enfermedades neurodegenerativas y psiquiátricas el funcionamiento de la vía se altera y se producen niveles incrementados de 3-hidroxikinurenina (3-HK) y ácido quinolínico (QUIN). Los efectos del QUIN en el sistema nervioso central (SNC) han sido ampliamente estudiados mientras que el papel de la 3-HK en estos desórdenes se desconoce. Por un lado, la 3-HK se relaciona con el daño oxidante y la muerte neuronal y por otro, parece ser un antioxidante natural. En este trabajo se realizaron estudios *in vitro* e *in vivo* para caracterizar los efectos tóxicos y/o antioxidantes de la 3-HK en el estriado de roedores.

Los resultados indican que la 3-HK modula el ambiente redox mediante la activación del factor nuclear eritroide-2 (Nrf2, del inglés, *Nuclear Factor Erythroid 2- related factor*) y de enzimas antioxidantes, y estos eventos previenen el daño oxidante causado por QUIN, ácido 3-nitropropiónico (3-NP) y FeSO₄.

Al no ser comprobada la toxicidad de la 3HK, en este trabajo se incluyeron los estudios realizados en paralelo con el QUIN con el objetivo de proveer información sobre los efectos de este metabolito derivados de la 3-HK y conocer más sobre el papel de la VK en procesos neurodegenerativos. En esta parte, se evaluó el efecto del QUIN sobre la activación del Nrf2 y se investigó el posible efecto sinérgico que puede haber entre esta molécula excitotóxica y los ácidos orgánicos que se acumulan en acidemias metabólicas.

El QUIN estimuló la activación del Nrf2 de forma transitoria como un mecanismo de compensación, y favoreció un patrón tóxico sinérgico con los ácidos orgánicos, sugiriendo que esta molécula altamente tóxica podría ser responsable de las acciones nocivas causadas par alteraciones de la VK. Además, el sinergismo del QUIN con otros metabolitos tóxicos ayuda a comprender los mecanismos por los cuales la neurodegeneración ocurre y, por lo tanto, ayuda a la

identificación de mecanismos útiles para el diseño de estrategias terapéuticas más efectivas.

2. ABSTRACT

Tryptophan is an essential amino acid involved in multiple physiological events. It is converted to nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺) through the kynurenine pathway (KP), during this transformation several metabolites with biological activity are produced. In neurodegenerative and psychiatric diseases, the KP function is altered and increased levels of 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK) and quinolinic acid (QUIN) are observed. QUIN effects in the CNS have been studied extensively while the role of 3-HK in these disorders is unknown. On the one hand, 3-HK is related to oxidative damage and neuronal death, and on the other hand, it appears to be a natural antioxidant. In this work, *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies were performed to characterize the toxic and/or antioxidant effects of 3-HK in the striatum of rodents. The toxicity of the molecule was impossible to prove.

The results indicate that 3-HK modulates the redox environment by activation of Nuclear Factor 2- Erythroid related factor (Nrf2) and antioxidant enzymes, and these events prevent oxidative damage induced by QUIN, 3-nitropropionic acid (3-NP) and FeSO₄.

Because the 3-HK toxicity was not proven, studies in parallel with QUIN were performed in this work in order to know more about the effects of this 3-HK metabolite and learn more about the role of KP in neurodegenerative processes. In this part, the effect of QUIN on Nrf2 activation was assessed and the possible synergistic effect of QUIN and organic acids, accumulate in metabolic acidemias, was investigated.

QUIN transiently stimulated the activation of Nrf2 as a compensation mechanism, and favored a synergistic toxic pattern with organic acids, suggesting that this highly toxic molecule may be responsible for the harmful actions of altered KP. Moreover, the QUIN synergism with other toxic metabolites helps to understand the mechanisms by which neurodegeneration occurs. Therefore, it will be useful for designing more effective therapeutic strategies.

3. INTRODUCCIÓN

Las enfermedades neurodegenerativas causan grandes desafíos económicos y sociales a nivel mundial. La investigación de los mecanismos involucrados en los procesos de daño y muerte celular observados en estos desordenes contribuirá al desarrollo de estrategias terapéuticas. Estos padecimientos comparten mecanismos tóxicos conocidos, entre ellos la excitotoxicidad y el estrés oxidante. La excitotoxicidad es un proceso caracterizado por la activación sostenida de receptores de N-metíl-D-aspartato (rNMDA). La sobre-activación de los rNMDA aumenta la concentración de Ca²⁺ intracelular y, posteriormente, desencadena una activación masiva de enzimas que contribuyen a la muerte celular. La activación enzimas pro-oxidantes altera en el balance entre la formación de especies reactivas de oxígeno/nitrógeno (ERO/ERN) y la defensa antioxidante. Como resultado se producen modificaciones celulares en lípidos, ácidos nucleicos y proteínas, lo que compromete la integridad celular (Halliwell, 2006; Dasuri et al., 2013; Niranjan, 2014). Por lo anterior, el estudio de procesos bioquímicos relacionados con estos dos mecanismos ayudará a comprender mejor los procesos de muerte observados en enfermedades neurodegenerativas. Una de las vías metabólicas que se altera en estas condiciones es la vía de la kinurenina (VK).

3.1. LA VÍA DE LA KINURENINA

La VK es la principal ruta metabólica que transforma al triptófano en nicotinamida adenina dinucleótido (NAD⁺). Durante esta transformación, varios metabolitos con actividad biológica son producidos. Se han demostrado que alteraciones en el metabolismo de la VK y cambios en los niveles de sus metabolitos pueden participar en la patogénesis de varias enfermedades neurodegenerativas, desórdenes depresivos y esquizofrenia (Schwarcz et al., 2012; Tan et al., 2012; Amaral et al., 2013).

Las enzimas limitantes de la VK son la indolamino-2,3-dioxigenasa (IDO) y la triptófano 2,3-dioxigenasa (TDO), su activación produce la formación de kinurenina a partir de triptófano. La vía tiene dos brazos, en uno de ellos, la kinurenina forma ácido kinurénico mediante una transaminación irreversible catalizada por la kinurenina aminotransferasa (KAT). En el otro brazo, la kinurenina es convertida en 3-hidroxikinurenina (3-HK) por la acción de la kinurenina 3-monooxigenasa (KMO). La 3-HK es transformada por la kinureninasa en ácido 3-hidroxiantranílico y éste es convertido en ácido quinolínico (QUIN) por la enzima 3-hidroxiantranilato oxigenasa (3-HAO). Finalmente, el QUIN es transformado a NAD⁺. En la **Figura 1** se muestra una representación simple de la vía.



Algunos metabolitos de la VK con actividad biológica son: el QUIN, una neurotoxina y un agonista glutamatérgico (Schwarcz et al., 1984; Guidetti et al., 2006); el ácido kinurénico, un agente neuroprotector y un antagonista glutamatérgico (Schwarcz et al., 1983; Yu et al., 2004); la 3-HK y el ácido 3-hidroxiantranílico, dos moléculas con actividad redox (Goldstein et al., 2000; Braidy et al., 2009; Colín-González., 2013).

3.2. LA 3-HIDROXIKINURENINA

Los niveles de la 3-HK aumentan en pacientes con enfermedades neurodegenerativas y psiquiátricas. En un principio, este efecto se relacionó con la disfunción y muerte neuronal que se encontró en estos desórdenes. Más tarde, estudios *in vitro* demostraron que la 3-HK también podría actuar como un antioxidante (Colín-González., 2013).

La dualidad de la 3-HK se debe a su naturaleza química, ya que en condiciones fisiológicas, la molécula se auto-oxida formando una *o*-aminoquinona (agente oxidante) y ERO (O_2^{--} , H_2O_2 , 'OH) (Eastman y Guilarte, 1990; Ishii et al., 1992; Okuda et al., 1996; Hiraku et al., 1995; Vazquez et al., 2000). Además, la 3-HK participa en la formación de QUIN, el cual es responsable de causar daño celular mediado principalmente por excitotoxicidad y estrés oxidante (Schwarcz et al., 1984). El efecto deletéreo de la 3-HK se observó en cultivos de neuronas de cerebelo, estriado, hipocampo y en líneas tumorales (Eastman y Guilarte, 1989; Okuda et al., 1998; Jeong et al., 2004; Smith et al., 2009). Actualmente no existen reportes que hayan demostrado su toxicidad *in vivo* (Pinelli et al., 1984; Nakagami et al., 1996; Guidetti y Schwarcz, 1999).

En contraste, la 3-HK es un agente reductor que actúa como antioxidante. Este metabolito puede atrapar O_2^{--} , OH, radicales peroxilo y NO; consecuentemente, la presencia de la 3-HK previene la oxidación y la nitración de diversas biomoléculas (Goshima et al., 1986; Christen et al., 1990; Goda et al., 1999; Leipnitz et al., 2007; Backhaus et al., 2008). Al respecto, los efectos protectores de este metabolito se han demostrado en varios modelos como homogenados de corteza cerebral, células de glioma C6 y en el cristalino donde aumenta la capacidad antioxidante, inhibe la lipoperoxidación y disminuye las reacciones cruzadas entre proteínas (Luthra y Balasubramanian, 1992; Leipnitz et al., 2007).

Por su parte, la acidemia glutárica tipo I es un desorden autosómico recesivo relacionado con el metabolismo de lisina, hidroxilisina y triptófano. Pacientes con esta enfermedad muestran atrofia cerebral, macrocefalia y degeneración estriatal (Viau et al., 2012). La adición de 3-HK en homogenados de corteza de rata previno la producción de radicales libres producidos por el ácido glutárico, el principal metabolito que se acumula en esta enfermedad (Leipnitz et al., 2007). Todo lo anterior sugiere que la 3-HK actúa como antioxidante en procesos patológicos y en neuronas aisladas genera la producción de especies reactivas. Por lo tanto, el efecto tóxico de la 3-HK reportado en otros trabajos bien podría ser mediado por su conversión en QUIN, una hipótesis que no ha sido demostrada.

3.3. EL ÁCIDO QUINOLÍNICO

En condiciones patológicas, el QUIN es responsable de causar daño celular mediado principalmente por excitotoxicidad y estrés oxidante (Schwarcz et al., 1984; Santamaría et al., 2001; Stone et al., 2003). El QUIN es un agonista de los rNMDA que se une en las subunidades NR2A y NR2B (Schwarcz et al., 2012). La sobreactivación de estos receptores produce el aumento de los niveles de Ca²⁺ intracelular y la activación de numerosas enzimas (proteasas, sintasas de óxido nítrico, fosfolipasas, endonucleasa, etc.) que disparan una secuencia de eventos destructivos asociados con procesos neurodegenerativos.

El QUIN se ha utilizado como modelo para producir excitotoxicidad y estrés oxidante en estudios *in vitro* e *in vivo*. Su inyección intraestriatal produce: 1) la acumulación de metales de transición que en presencia de oxígeno contribuyen a la formación de O_2^{--} , H_2O_2 , y 'OH; 2) modifica los perfiles de antioxidantes endógenos; 3) aumenta el estrés nitrosante mediante la producción de NO, ONOO⁻⁻y 4) produce disfunción mitocondrial (Perez de la Cruz, et al., 2012).

El QUIN se asocia con la patogénesis de varias enfermedades infecciosas, inflamatorias, neurodegenerativas, autoinmunes y psiquiátricas. Los efectos del QUIN en estos desórdenes dependen de su concentración y son relacionados con alteraciones en el citoesqueleto, la producción de estrés oxidante, daño excitotoxicidad, disfunción mitocondrial, inflamación, autofagia y apoptosis (Jong-Mi et al., 2016). El QUIN también podría participar en los mecanismos de disfunción y muerte celular observados en las acidemias orgánicas, un grupo de enfermedades neurodegenerativas (Varadkar y Surtees, 2004).

3.4. LAS ACIDEMIAS ORGÁNICAS

Las acidemias orgánicas son desórdenes metabólicos hereditarios producidos por la deficiencia de enzimas que participan en el catabolismo de aminoácidos, lípidos y ácidos grasos. Esta deficiencia produce la acumulación de uno o más ácidos orgánicos (Chalmer, 1989). El cerebro de personas con una acidemia orgánica desarrolla neurodegeneración aguda relacionada con la acumulación de los siguientes metabolitos tóxicos: ácido glutárico (GA), ácido 3-hidroxiglutárico (3-OHGA), ácido metilmalónico (AMM), ácido propiónico (AP) y ácido 3-metilglutárico (AMG), por mencionar a unos cuantos.

Las acidemias metilmalónica y propiónica son causadas por la deficiencia de la mutasa metilmalonil-CoA (EC 5.4.99.2) y la carboxilasa de propil-CoA (EC 6.4.1.4), respectivamente. En la acidemia metilmalónica se acumula el AMM (1-2.5 mmol/L) y en la acidemia propiónica el AP (5 mm/L) en sangre. Las manifestaciones clínicas de estos dos desordenes incluyen macrocefalia, retraso mental, convulsiones, vómito, encefalopatía, coma y muerte (Deodato et al., 2006; Hauser et al., 2011).

La acidemia glutarica tipo I (AG I) es una AO que produce la muerte de neonatos, causada por la deficiencia de la enzima glutaril-CoA deshidrogenasa (GDD, McKusick 23167; OMIM # 231670). Los pacientes con esta enfermedad tienen concentraciones aumentadas de AG (500-5000 µmol/L) y 3-OHGA (40-200 µmol/L) en fluidos biológicos y en el SNC (Kölker et al., 2004; Sauer et al., 2006). Los niños afectados con este desorden al nacer desarrollan atrofia cortical y entre

los 6 meses y 4 años de edad daño agudo en el caudado/putamen (Amir et al., 1987; Hoffmann y Zschocke, 1999). Estudios *in vitro* e *in vivo* sugieren que la acumulación de ácidos orgánicos puede inducir excitotoxicidad, estrés oxidante y alteraciones del metabolismo (de Oliveira Marques et al., 2003; Ferreira et al., 2007; Flott-Rahmel et al., 1997; Kölker et al., 2004; Latini et al., 2000; Rosa et al., 2004; Sauer et al., 2006; Wajner et al., 2004). El ratón *knockout* para la glutaril-CoA deshidrogenasa (*gcdh*, gen de la enzima responsable para la degradación de AG) constituye un modelo la AG I.

Los macrófagos/monocitos de pacientes con AG I, en episodios de encefalopatía y necrosis estriatal, presentan un aumento en los niveles γ -interferon que induce la activación de la IDO, la primera enzima de la VK y; consecuentemente, genera un aumento en la producción de kinurenina. La kinurenina sintetizada periféricamente puede cruzar la barrera hematoencefálica mediante un transportador de aminoácidos neutros. Una vez dentro del cerebro, puede ser catabolizada por la microglia a 3-HK y después a QUIN (Heyes et al., 1996). El QUIN sintetizado no es removido efectivamente y concentraciones tóxicas se pueden acumular en la hendidura sináptica (Cao et al., 2002).

El daño causado por AG *per se* no es suficiente para explicar el daño celular observado en los pacientes. Por lo que se sugiere la presencia de otro factor que amplifique o exacerbe el daño (Kölker et al., 2004; Varadkar y Surtees, 2004). El QUIN cumple con las características necesarias para participar en estos mecanismos, generando la potencia suficiente para inducir la necrosis estriatal observada en este desorden.

12

4. PLANTEAMIENTO DEL PROBLEMA

Según el Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Geografía (INEGI) la esperanza de vida en México en 1930 era de 34 años, en el 2015 en este valor aumento a 76 y para el 2050 se prevé que sean 85 años. La población está envejeciendo, para el 2050 una de cada cuatro personas tendrá más de 60 años. Los individuos de la tercera edad tienen mayor probabilidad de desarrollar enfermedades degenerativas, trastornos mentales y depresión, desórdenes que causarán grandes estragos económicos y sociales. El estudio de los mecanismos que se activan en condiciones patológicas ayudará a encontrar estrategias terapéuticas o herramientas de diagnóstico temprano, y de esta forma se aumentará la calidad de vida.

Las enfermedades neurodegenerativas comparten varios mecanismos en común: la excitotoxicidad, el estrés oxidante, la inflamación y las alteraciones metabólicas. Entre las alteraciones del metabolismo se pueden mencionar los cambios observados en el funcionamiento de la VK. Niveles incrementados de la 3-HK, un metabolito que se produce en esta ruta, son relacionados con neurodegeneración en condiciones experimentales y clínicas. Una alternativa para explicar la neurotoxicidad asociada a la 3-HK puede ser a través de su metabolito de degradación, el QUIN, el cual es una potente neurotoxina en concentraciones elevadas. Actualmente no hay estudios *in vivo* que definan el verdadero papel de la 3-HK en el SNC. Por lo cual, el estudio de los efectos que producen estas dos moléculas en diferentes condiciones experimentales ayudará a definir el papel de la VK en las enfermedades neurodegenerativas.

5. HIPÓTESIS

Si la 3-HK es un metabolito que al oxidarse produce la formación de especies reactivas que pueden modificar el funcionamiento celular, entonces su aplicación en modelos *in vitro* e *in vivo* inducirá mecanismos de neurotoxicidad que comprometerán la viabilidad celular.

Si la 3-HK es precursor del QUIN, un metabolito relacionado con disfunción y muerte celular, entonces uno de los mecanismos que podría participar en la toxicidad de la 3-HK es su transformación a moléculas más tóxicas.

6. **OBJETIVOS**

6.1. OBJETIVO GENERAL

 Caracterizar los mecanismos de acción de la 3-HK y de su metabolito, el QUIN, en el estriado de roedores.

6.2. OBJETIVOS PARTICULARES

- Caracterizar los efectos tóxicos y/o antioxidantes de la 3-HK en ensayos *in vitro* e *in vivo* en estriado de roedores.
- Evaluar los efectos de la 3-HK y del QUIN en la modulación temprana del factor Nrf2.
- Describir los mecanismos mediante los cuales el QUIN magnifica los procesos tóxicos que se observan en desórdenes relacionados con el metabolismo de aminoácidos.

7. MATERIAL Y MÉTODOS

Ver la descripción detallada en los artículos presentados en la sección de resultados.

8. DISEÑO EXPERIMENTAL

8.1. LA 3-HIDROXIKINURENINA

Este trabajo fue diseñado para investigar si la 3-HK es tóxica y si su presencia es capaz de alterar el ambiente redox en tejido estriatal. Se utilizaron condiciones *in vitro* (rebanadas estriatales incubadas con la molécula) e *in vivo* (administración intraestriatal). En los dos casos se hizo un curso temporal y una curva dosis respuesta con el objetivo de encontrar una concentración y un tiempo en el cual la presencia de la 3-HK altere el ambiente celular. Se hizo particular énfasis en marcadores de función mitocondrial y estrés oxidante en estudios *in vitro* (**Figura 2**).



Figura 2. Diseño experimental utilizado para caracterizar la posible toxicidad de la 3-hidroxikinurenina (3-HK) en estriado de roedores.

La presencia de la 3-HK modificó el ambiente redox en las diferentes condiciones estudiadas. Con el objetivo de evaluar si esta reacción potenciaba o disminuía los efectos neurotóxicos de compuestos conocidos [QUIN (1 mM), ácido

3-nitropropiónico (3-NP, 1 mM) y FeSO₄ (50 μ M)], se co-incubaron rebanadas estriatales con la 3-HK más cada una de las toxinas por 6 h para ejemplificar un ambiente excitotóxico, con disfunción energética y oxidante, respectivamente (**Figura 3**).



• Figura 3. Diseño experimental utilizado para caracterizar el posible efecto protector *in vitro* de la 3-hidoxikinurenina (3-HK) en presencia de moléculas conocidas [QUIN (1 mM), ácido 3-nitropropiónico (3-NP, 1 mM) y FeSO₄ (50 μM)].

8.2. EL ÁCIDO QUINOLÍNICO

La falta de toxicidad de la 3-HK, aunada a su capacidad de modular el ambiente redox mediante el Nrf2 y su posible efecto neuroprotector sugirieren que los efectos tóxicos reportados para la 3-HK pueden explicarse a través de la producción de QUIN. Por lo tanto, la realización de estudios en paralelo con este metabolito fue pertinente para tratar de explicar, en términos fisiopatológicos, los efectos de producen las alteraciones de la VK.

Lo que primero se caracterizó fue la capacidad del QUIN para inducir daño oxidante en lípidos, usando rebanadas estriatales de ratones. Se estableció una curva concentración-respuesta. En este ensayo, la incubación de las rebanadas con QUIN a una concentración de 50 μ M produjo los niveles más altos de lipoperoxidación observados, utilizando esta concentración se realizó un curso temporal de la inducción del Nrf2 y de enzimas antioxidantes (**Figura 4**).

Con base a la hipótesis de que parte de la toxicidad del QUIN es ejercida vía estrés oxidante, se emprendió un abordaje adicional para demostrar si su patrón neurotóxico es sensible a un agente antioxidante de amplio espectro. El ácido cafeico es un compuesto fenólico que induce la expresión del Nrf2 en el núcleo. Se ha sugerido que esta molécula podría unirse a Keap1, una proteína que secuestra al Nrf2 en el citoplasma, lo que produce la disociación y la activación transcripcional del Nrf2 (Pang et al., 2016). Este estudio demostró el efecto protector del ácido cafeico en rebanadas y en animales inyectados intraestriatalmente con QUIN. Las rebanadas estriatales fueron incubadas en presencia de ácido cafeico (30-300 µM) y/o QUIN (100 µM) y se evaluó un marcador de estrés oxidante. En los animales, el ácido cafeico (20 mg/kg) fue administrado *i.p.* cinco días antes de la inyección del QUIN (240 nmol/µL) y siete días después se realizaron pruebas conductuales. (**Figura 4**).





Adicionalmente, se determinó si el QUIN magnifica los efectos de los ácidos orgánicos como parte de su espectro tóxico. En este experimento se utilizaron sinaptosomas tratados con concentraciones subtóxicas de varios ácidos orgánicos

(AG, 3-OHGA, AMM, AP, AMG) en presencia y ausencia del QUIN. Los sinaptosomas fueron pre-incubados con agentes con mecanismos de acción conocidos: 1) ácido kinurénico (AK), un antagonista de los rNMDA; 2) S-alilcisteina (SAC), un antioxidante de amplio espectro; y 3) L-nitroarginina metilester (L-NAME), un inhibidor de la sintasa de óxido nítrico (**Figura 5**).



Figura 5. Estrategia experimental desarrollada *in vitro* e *in vivo* para determinar el posible un posible efecto tóxico sinérgico del ácido quinolínico (QUIN) con metabolitos acumulados en acidemias metabólicas.

Finalmente, se evaluó el efecto sinérgico del AG y el QUIN en un modelo de AG I. Animales *knockout* para el gen *GCDH* (la enzima que degrada el AG) fueron inyectados intraestriatalmente con el QUIN y alimentados con una dieta alta en lisina para estimular la producción de AG. Este modelo constituye la mejor aproximación experimental para evidenciar el posible sinergismo entre el QUIN y los ácidos orgánicos que se acumulan en las acidemias metabólicas mediante marcadores de estrés oxidante, actividad metabólica y energética, y actividad transcripcional (**Figura 5**).

9. RESULTADOS

9.1. LA 3-HK MODIFICA EL AMBIENTE REDOX ESTRIATAL DE ROEDORES SIN MOSTRAR TOXICIDAD

La concentración y el tiempo de exposición de la 3-HK alteraron los niveles de lipoperoxidación en rebanadas estriatales. La 3-HK fue pro-oxidante en concentraciones bajas (5-20 μ M) y antioxidante en concentraciones altas (100 μ M). Sin embargo, en ninguno de los dos casos la molécula alteró la función mitocondrial. Además, su presencia previno los efectos tóxicos del QUIN, 3-NP y FeSO₄, por lo que se asume que su efecto estimulante sobre la peroxidación es más una respuesta compensatoria que estimula los sistemas antioxidantes.

La 3-HK es un antioxidante directo e indirecto. Su efecto como antioxidante directo se demostró con un ensayo de FRAP (Del inglés: *ferric reducing ability*), cuyos resultados indican que la molécula tiene un alto poder antioxidante o reductor. Por otro lado, la 3-HK estimula al Nrf2, un factor que regula la expresión de enzimas antioxidantes y detoxificantes, propuesto como herramienta para disminuir la progresión de eventos neurodegenerativos. La activación del Nrf2 se comprobó con el aumento de las actividades enzimáticas de la glutatión-S-tranferasa y la superóxido dismutasa, así como con el aumento en la expresión de la hemo-oxigenasa-1 y la y-glutamilcisteina ligasa.

Al encontrar que la 3-HK en ninguna de las concentraciones probadas alteró la función mitocondrial ni la viabilidad celular, se decidió entonces explorar sus efectos *in vivo*. En tiempos cortos (horas), la 3-HK produjo un aumento moderado en los niveles de lipoperoxidación y de oxidación de proteínas. Este efecto, sin embargo, fue correlacionado con el aumento en las actividades de las enzimas glutatión reductasa y glutatión-S-transferasa, consolidando el concepto de la peroxidación de lípidos inducida por la 3-HK como una estrategia compensatoria para estimular la respuesta antioxidante. En ninguna de las concentraciones probadas (5-80 nmol/µL) se encontraron cambios conductuales o morfológicos.

Todo lo anterior sugiere que la 3-HK induce un estado de estrés moderado que induce una respuesta oxidante endógena y el resultado final puede ser inocuo o incluso parcialmente neuroprotector. Por lo tanto, la presencia de esta molécula puede disminuir el daño celular y en estas condiciones, no puede ni debe considerarse como un metabolito neurotóxico.



Research Report

The Janus faces of 3-hydroxykynurenine: Dual redox modulatory activity and lack of neurotoxicity in the rat striatum



Ana Laura Colín-González^{a,1}, Marisol Maya-López^a, José Pedraza-Chaverrí^b, Syed F. Ali^c, Anahí Chavarría^d, Abel Santamaría^{a,*}

^aLaboratorio de Aminoácidos Excitadores, Instituto Nacional de Neurología y Neurocirugía, SSA, Mexico City 14269, Mexico

^bDepartamento de Biología, Facultad de Química, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Mexico City, Mexico

^cDivision of Neurotoxicology, National Center for Toxicological Research, FDA, Jefferson, AR, USA

^dDepartamento de Medicina Experimental, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Mexico City, Mexico

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Accepted 14 September 2014 Available online 22 September 2014

Keywords: Redox activity Oxidative stress Antioxidant systems Cell preservation Kynurenine pathway

ABSTRACT

3-Hydroxykynurenine (3-HK), an intermediate metabolite of the kynurenine pathway, has been largely hypothesized as a neurotoxic molecule contributing to neurodegeneration in several experimental and clinical conditions. Interestingly, the balance in literature points to a dual role of this molecule in the CNS: in vitro studies describe neurotoxic and/or antioxidant properties, whereas in vivo studies suggest a role of this metabolite as a weak neurotoxin. This work was designed to investigate, under different experimental conditions, whether or not 3-HK is toxic to cells, and if the redox activity exerted by this molecule modulates its actions in the rat striatum. In order to evaluate these effects, 3-HK was administered in vitro to isolated striatal slices, and in vivo to the striatum of rats. In striatal slices, 3-HK exerted a concentration- and time-dependent effect on lipid peroxidation, inducing both pro-oxidant actions at low (5-20) micromolar concentrations, and antioxidant activity at a higher concentration (100 µM). Interestingly, while 3-HK was unable to induce mitochondrial dysfunction in slices, at the same range of concentrations it prevented the deleterious effects exerted by the neurotoxin and related metabolite quinolinic acid (QUIN), the mitochondrial toxin 3-nitropropionic acid, and the pro-oxidant compound iron sulfate. These protective actions were related to the stimulation of glutathione S-transferase (GST) and superoxide dismutase (SOD) activities. In addition, 3-HK stimulated the protein content of the transcription factor and antioxidant regulator Nrf2, and some of its related proteins. Accordingly, 3-HK, but not QUIN, exhibited reductive properties at high concentrations. The striatal tissue of animals infused with 3-HK exhibited moderate levels of lipid and protein oxidation at short times post-lesion (h), but these endpoints were substantially decreased at longer times (days). These effects were

*Corresponding author.

E-mail address: absada@yahoo.com (A. Santamaría).

¹Doctoral Program in Biomedical Sciences, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México (UNAM).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2014.09.034

0006-8993/© 2014 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

correlated with an early increase in glutathione reductase (GR) and GST activities. However, these changes were likely to be merely compensatory as 3-HK-infused animals did not display behavioral (rotation) alterations or morphological changes in their injected striata. Altogether, these findings suggest that, despite 3-HK might exert pro-oxidant actions under certain conditions, these changes serve to evoke a redox modulatory activity that, in turn, could decrease the risk of cell damage. In light of this evidence, 3-HK seems to be more a redox modulatory molecule than a neurotoxic metabolite.

© 2014 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Extensive research has demonstrated that neurodegenerative diseases share several deleterious mechanisms including excitotoxicity – a toxic process characterized by a sustained stimulation of excitatory amino acid receptors – , oxidative stress – which results of an impaired balance between the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and antioxidant defenses – and inflammation – leading to a breakdown of the blood-brain barrier, cell infiltration and release of chemical mediators such as cytokines, chemokines and lipid mediators – , all of them ultimately leading to cell death (Halliwell, 2006; Dasuri et al., 2013; Niranjan, 2014).

The kynurenine pathway (KP) is a metabolic route in which the essential amino acid tryptophan is primarily metabolized, hence producing relevant intermediates for neuronal integrity and redox balance (Stone et al., 2007; Massudi et al., 2012; Schwarcz et al., 2012). Recent reports have shown that alterations of the KP metabolism and changes in the brain levels of its metabolites may play a key role in the pathogenesis of some neurodegenerative diseases, depressive disorders and schizophrenia (Schwarcz et al., 2012; Tan et al., 2012; Amaral et al., 2013). In addition, the KP has been associated with inflammatory responses in different neurological disorders, and this mechanism, which may be inherent to some KP metabolites, could contribute to the neurodegenerative pattern associated with these diseases (Chen et al., 2010; Tan et al., 2012). Some neuroactive metabolites are formed in the KP, including the well-known neurotoxin and glutamate agonist quinolinic acid (QUIN) (Schwarcz et al., 1984; Guidetti et al., 2006), the neuroprotectant and glutamate antagonist kynurenic acid (KYNA) (Schwarcz et al., 1983; Yu et al., 2004), and the redox active metabolites 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK) and 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid (3-HAAO) (Goldstein et al., 2000; Braidy et al., 2009; reviewed by Colín-González et al., 2013).

Increased levels of 3-HK have been found in early stages of Huntington's disease (HD) patients (Schwarcz et al., 1984; Reynolds and Pearson, 1989; Pearson et al., 1995; Guidetti and Schwarcz, 2003), in Alzheimer's disease (AD) – in which 3-HK is assumed to be relevant for memory alterations (Savvateeva et al., 2000; Duleu et al., 2010) – and in the putamen of Parkinson's disease (PD) patients (Ogawa et al., 1992; reviewed by Colín-González et al., 2013). Also, transgenic mice models (R6/2 mice, YAC 128, and the chimeric HdhQ) have shown a substantial elevation of the 3-HK content (Guidetti et al., 2000; Guidetti et al., 2006; Sathyasaikumar et al., 2010). Moreover, genetic models of HD using invertebrates have shown an increased activity of kynurenine 3-monooxygenase, the enzyme responsible for 3-HK formation (Giorgini et al., 2005; Ramaswamy et al., 2007; Campesan et al., 2011).

Under physiological conditions, 3-HK undergoes autooxidation, forming an o-aminoquinone - a stronger oxidant agent that can be responsible for exacerbated oxidative damage - which can be responsible for the formation of different reactive oxygen species (O2⁻, H2O2, OH) (Eastman and Guilarte, 1990; Ishii et al., 1992; Okuda et al., 1996; Hiraku et al., 1995; Vazquez et al., 2000). As a metabolic precursor, 3-HK might also account for QUIN formation, which in turn is responsible for cellular damage mainly mediated by excitotoxicity and oxidative damage (Schwarcz et al., 1984). In addition, 3-HK has also shown to be a generator of reactive species, acting as a potential endogenous neurotoxin in cerebellar granule, striatal and hippocampal neurons, as well as in neuronal hybrid cell lines, human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y, PC-12 pheochromocytoma cells, and GT1-7 hypothalamic neurosecretory cells (Eastman and Guilarte, 1989; Okuda et al., 1998; Jeong et al., 2004; Smith et al., 2009). However, to our knowledge, there are only three studies using 3-HK in in vivo models in the CNS, but none of them has characterized in a detailed manner its mechanisms of toxicity. The intraventricular administration of 3-HK (634.21 mg/rat) was responsible for convulsive attacks in rats (Pinelli et al., 1984), whereas the intrastriatal injection of 3-HK (50 nmol) induced only tissue damage around the injected site, without any abnormal behavior in rats (Nakagami et al., 1996). Finally, it was suggested that 3-HK potentiates QUIN toxicity by means of a possible synergic interaction comprising a combination of direct NMDA receptor activation and free radical production (Guidetti and Schwarcz, 1999).

In contrast to these toxic features, under certain circumstances 3-HK is known to be a potent reductive agent that donates electrons, sometimes acting as an antioxidant agent. This behavior of 3-HK, which is opposite to its toxic character, has been described in several reports, some of which discuss a scavenging activity for this molecule, showing that 3-HK is able to scavenge O_2^- , OH, peroxyl radicals, and NO, also acting as an endogenous natural antioxidant (Goshima et al., 1986; Christen et al., 1990; Goda et al., 1999; Leipnitz et al., 2007; Backhaus et al., 2008). Still, its precise role in the CNS remains uncertain. Hence, 3-HK is an intriguing and puzzling compound found at increased levels in pathological conditions; consequently, characterizing and identifying the precise physiological and/or physiopathological roles exerted by this tryptophan metabolite in animal models will help to elucidate the mechanisms involved in normal cell redox regulation and/or cell dysfunction and death in neurodegenerative diseases.

Therefore, the aim of this work was to investigate the precise role exerted by 3-HK in nerve (striatal) tissue of rats in



Fig. 1 – Time–(1–6 h) and concentration (2–100 μ M)–response effects of 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK) on lipid peroxidation (percent of TBARS formed *vs.* control) in rat striatal slices. Data are expressed as mean values ± S.E.M. of *n*=6 experiments per group. One-way ANOVA followed by *post hoc* Tukey's test for multiple comparisons. Asterisks denote statistically significant differences (*P<0.05) *vs.* control.

order to characterize, identify and infer mechanistic actions of this metabolite, thereby contributing to our actual knowledge on its actions and relevance. For this purpose, we evaluated the redox activity induced by 3-HK, assessing concentration– and time–response curves of oxidative damage in rat striatal slices, as well as the possible morphological, behavioral and oxidative alterations induced by 3-HK after its intrastriatal infusion to rats. Our results suggest that 3-HK, under different conditions, can exert both pro- and antioxidant effects in striatal tissue of rats, but when this agent induces oxidative stress, this effect does not yield cell damage. Thus, 3-HK seems to act more like a redox modulator than a neurotoxin.

2. Results

2.1. Concentration and exposure time influenced the 3-HKinduced pro- and antioxidant effects in striatal slices

Striatal slices were incubated in the presence of increasing concentrations of 3-HK (2–100 μ M), and during different times of exposure (1, 3 and 6 h) (Fig. 1). While at 1 h of incubation the molecule (2–50 μ M) evoked an oscillatory effect which mostly remained close to the baseline, at 3 h all the tested concentrations (2–50 μ M) showed a consistent inhibitory action on lipoperoxidation (45–47% below baseline from 5 to



Fig. 2 – Effects of 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK) and/or quinolinic acid (QUIN) on mitochondrial function (A), glutathione S-transferase (GST) (B) and superoxide dismutase (SOD) (C) activities in rat striatal slices. All endpoints were estimated at 6 h of incubation with two concentrations of 3-HK (20 or 100 μ M) and one of QUIN (1 mM). Data are expressed as mean values \pm S.E.M. of n=6 experiments per group. One-way ANOVA followed by post hoc Tukey's test for multiple comparisons. Asterisks denote statistically significant differences (*P<0.05 and ***P<0.001).

50 μ M; P<0.05). In contrast, at 6 h of exposure, striatal slices underwent a pro-oxidant effect (54% and 78% above baseline at 5 and 20 μ M, respectively; P<0.05), except for the 50 and 100 μ M concentrations, which induced an antiperoxidative effect. In fact, the 50 μ M concentration resulted in levels of lipid peroxidation below the baseline at all times tested. The 100 μ M concentration of 3-HK was tested at 6 h in order to know whether this extreme condition would be responsible for some damage.

2.2. 3-HK reduced the toxicant-induced mitochondrial dysfunction by stimulating the activity of antioxidant enzymes in striatal slices

In order to know whether the dual redox actions of 3-HK observed this far confer neurotoxic or neuroprotective properties to the molecule when challenged by other well-known toxicants, two different concentrations of this molecule (20 and 100 μ M) were added to cultured striatal slices 30 min before de addition of QUIN (1 mM), 3-nitropropionic acid (3-NP; 1 mM) or iron sulfate (FeSO₄; 50 μ M) (Figs. 2–4). These conditions were maintained for 6 h and simulated excitotoxic events, mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress, respectively. In addition, the activity of two antioxidant enzymes, glutathione S-transferase (GST) and superoxide

dismutase (SOD) were determined in order to correlate the cell damage evidenced by the mitochondrial dysfunction with oxidative stress evidenced by the altered enzyme activities.

3-HK per se, at 20 and 100 μ M, did not alter the levels of 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltettazolium (MTT) reduction when compared with control slices (9% and 10% below the baseline, respectively). In contrast, QUIN reduced by 55% the baseline mitochondrial function. Surprisingly, in the presence of QUIN, 20 and 100 μ M 3-HK increased MTT reduction (42% and 7% below the control value, respectively) in the slices (Fig. 2A).

Additionally, 3-HK, at 20 and 100 μ M concentrations, stimulated GST activity by 40% and 45% above the control, respectively (Fig. 2B). QUIN increased GST activity by 57%. Also, 20 μ M 3-HK plus QUIN exerted an additive effect, increasing the enzyme activity by 213% when compared with control values, while 100 μ M 3-HK plus QUIN had no effect when compared with QUIN per se (63% above the control).

SOD activity was intensely stimulated by 20 μ M 3-HK (120% above the Control; Fig. 2C). In contrast, neither 100 μ M 3-HK nor QUIN exerted stimulatory actions on SOD (5% below and 3% above Control, respectively). In the presence of QUIN, 20 μ M 3-HK significantly reduced SOD (33% above the baseline levels).



Fig. 3 – Effects of 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK) and/or 3-nitropropionic acid (3-NP) on mitochondrial function (A), glutathione S-transferase (GST) (B) and superoxide dismutase (SOD) (C) activities in rat striatal slices. All endpoints were estimated at 6 h of incubation with two concentrations of 3-HK (20 or 100 μ M) and one of 3-NP (1 mM). Data are expressed as mean values \pm S.E.M. of *n*=6 experiments per group. One-way ANOVA followed by *post* hoc Tukey's test for multiple comparisons. Asterisks denote statistically significant differences (*P<0.05, **P<0.01 and ***P<0.001).



Fig. 4 – Effects of 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK) and/or iron sulfate (FeSO₄) on mitochondrial function (A), glutathione S-transferase (GST) (B) and superoxide dismutase (SOD) (C) activities in rat striatal slices. All endpoints were estimated at 6 h of incubation with two concentrations of 3-HK (20 or 100 μ M) and one of FeSO₄ (50 μ M). Data are expressed as mean values \pm S.E.M. of n=6 experiments per group. One-way ANOVA followed by post hoc Tukey's test for multiple comparisons. Asterisks denote statistically significant differences (*P<0.05 and ***P<0.001).

Fig. 3A shows the effect of 3-HK on 3-NP-induced mitochondrial dysfunction. 3-NP reduced MTT reduction by 42% when compared with control levels. Twenty μ M, but not 100 μ M 3-HK, attenuated the effect of 3-NP, leading the mitochondrial function to 25% below the baseline level (29% above 3-NP per se).

Furthermore, 3-NP increased GST baseline activity by 85%. The addition of 3-NP to the slices incubated with $20 \,\mu$ M 3-HK substantially increased the baseline enzyme activity by 500% (91% above 3-NP *per se*), whereas the 100 μ M 3-HK plus 3-NP condition exhibited an increase in GST activity of 328% above the Control (36% above 3-NP alone; Fig. 3B).

Fig. 3C depicts the effects of 3-HK and 3-NP on SOD activity in striatal slices. No effect of 3-NP *per se* on SOD activity was found (13% below the control). The addition of 3-NP to slices incubated with 20 μ M 3-HK returned the enzyme activity to basal levels (9% below the baseline). The combination of 100 μ M 3-HK plus 3-NP had no effect on SOD activity.

In Fig. 4A, FeSO₄ significantly reduced the basal mitochondrial function by 58%, whereas the pre-incubation of the slices with 20 and 100 μ M 3-HK preserved the MTT reduction index by 18% and 30% below the baseline (95% and 67% above FeSO₄ per se, respectively).

Fig. 4B describes the effects of 3-HK and FeSO₄ on GST activity. FeSO₄ increased the baseline enzyme activity by 92%. Noteworthy, pretreatment of the FeSO₄-treated slices with 20 and 100 μ M 3-HK enhanced the GST activity by 543% and 493% above the Control, respectively (424% and 368% above FeSO₄ per se).

In Fig. 4C, neither FeSO₄, nor 20 μ M 3-HK plus FeSO₄ treatments induced any significant change in SOD activity when compared with baseline levels (8% and 27% above Control, respectively). In contrast, the pre-incubation of FeSO₄-treated slices with 100 μ M 3-HK reached a prominent stimulation of the enzyme activity (163% when compared with Control, and 138% when compared with FeSO₄ per se).

2.3. 3-HK stimulated nuclear factor erythroid-2-related (Nrf2), heme-oxygenase 1 (HO-1) and gamma-glutamyl cysteine-ligase (γ -GCL-C) expression in striatal slices

After exposed to 3-HK (20 μM) for 6 h, rat striatal slices increased the expression of the transcription factor Nrf2 (42% above the baseline), and the antioxidant enzymes



Fig. 5 – Effect of 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK, 20 μ M) on the total Nrf2, heme-oxygenase (HO-1), superoxide dismutase (SOD) and Gamma-glutamyl-cysteine ligase-C (γ -GCL-C) levels at 6 h of incubation in rat striatal slices. Protein levels are expressed as the ratio of protein/ β -actin. Data are expressed as mean values \pm S.E.M. of n=6 experiments per group. Student's t-test for comparison among treatments. Asterisks denote statistically significant differences (*P<0.05).

HO-1 and γ -GCL-C (53% and 52% above the control, respectively; Fig. 5). The rationale for the use of 20 μ M 3-HK (instead of 100 μ M) for the estimation of these antioxidants is based on the fact that this concentration produced higher levels of lipid peroxidation, but also depicted the most prominent responses in SOD activity; therefore, it was fundamental for us to search for possible explanations on why the pro-oxidant concentration is unable to induce cell damage through these endpoints.

2.4. 3-HK, but not QUIN, exhibited a concentration–response reductive capacity

The ferric reductive ability of plasma (FRAP) constitutes an accurate measure of the antioxidant power tested for certain molecules (Benzie and Strain, 1996). We used this technique to evidence any possible reductive capacity of 3-HK *per se*, once we found that this metabolite exerted antioxidant properties under some experimental circumstances.

The reductive capacity of 3-HK (2–100 μ M) was compared with that of QUIN (Fig. 6). Low concentrations of 3-HK did not show reductive activity, whereas at 50 and 100 μ M concentrations, this metabolite exhibited an intense activity



Fig. 6 – Effects of increasing concentrations (2–100 μ M) of 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK) and quinolinic acid (QUIN) on iron reductive capacity (FRAP) as an index of antioxidant potential. One-way ANOVA followed by *post hoc* Tukey's test for multiple comparisons. Asterisks denote statistically significant differences (*P<0.05 and **P<0.01) vs. normalized control.

(106% and 219% above the control, respectively; red line). In contrast, QUIN, at the same concentrations, never displayed a reductive capacity, as expected (blue line). The addition of increasing concentrations of 3-HK to 5 μ M QUIN resulted in a reductive activity similar to that exerted by 3-HK alone (green line).

2.5. The intrastriatal infusion of 3-HK to rats increased the pro-oxidant activity shortly after its injection, but decreased after days

Once we found that the dual actions of 3-HK on redox activity did not compromise mitochondrial function and cell viability in striatal slices, we were interested in exploring the effects of 3-HK when the metabolite is infused in the striatum of rats.

Fig. 7A depicts the effect of 3-HK (80 nmol) on TBARS formation in the rat striatum at different times post-lesion. 3-HK induced increased levels of lipid peroxidation at 6 and 24 h post-lesion (29% and 35% above the control), but these effects were not statistically significant. In contrast, at 7 days post-lesion, 3-HK decreases the baseline lipoperoxidation (22% below the control). This dual effect was found also when the formation of carbonyl groups was tested as a marker of oxidative activity in the same samples (Fig. 7B). In this case, the levels of protein oxidation were increased by 3-HK only at 6 h post-lesion (36% above the baseline), but not at 24 h. Again, at 7 days post-lesion, there was a consistent decrease in oxidative activity when 3-HK was infused (21% below the baseline).

2.6. Glutathione reductase (GR) and GST activities were stimulated by 3-HK at short times after its intrastriatal injection

The activities of GR, glutathione peroxidase (GPx), GST and glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD) were all monitored at 0.5 and 2 h after the intrastriatal infusion of 3-HK to



Fig. 7 – Time-course effect of the intrastriatal injection of 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK, 80 nmol/µl) to rats on the striatal levels of lipid peroxidation (A) and protein carbonylation (B). Data were normalized to baseline levels and are expressed as mean values \pm S.E.M. of n = 10 rats per group. One-way ANOVA. No statistical changes were found.



Fig. 8 – Early time-course effect of the intrastriatal infusion of 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK) on the activities of glutathione reductase (GR) (A), glutathione peroxidase (GPx) (B), glutathione S-transferase (GST) (C) and glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD) (D). Data were normalized to baseline and are expressed as mean values \pm S.E.M. of n=10 rats per group. Student's t-test for comparison among treatments. Asterisks denote statistically significant differences (*P<0.05).

rats in order to investigate whether the glutathione (GSH) system is involved in the early oxidative activity exerted by this metabolite, and if its possible changes are related to 3-HK-induced redox patterns.

GR and GST activities were found increased at 0.5 h (27% and 166% above the control, respectively), suggesting an increased use of GSH by the striatum in the presence of 3-HK (Fig. 8A and C). This observation was reinforced by increased tendencies of GST and G6PD activities stimulated by 3-HK (40% and 56% above the control at 2 and 0.5 h, respectively; Fig. 8C and D).

2.7. 3-HK produced no behavioral or morphological alterations after its striatal infusion to rats

In order to know whether the redox changes induced by 3-HK could be responsible for striatal damage and degeneration, coronal striatal sections or rats injected with 3-HK were stained with H&E and observed in an optic microscope at 7, 14 and 21 days post-lesion. Fig. 9 shows representative micrographs ($40 \times$) of sham and 3-HK-treated animals at 7 and 21 days post-lesion. Fields corresponded to areas of the dorsal striatum distant to the injection site by 100 µm. In general



Fig. 9 – Time-course effect of the intrastriatal infusion of 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK) on striatal morphological changes estimated through the hematoxylin and eosin stain. Sham at 7 (A) and 21 (C) days post-lesion are contrasted with images of 3-HK-treated animals at 7 (B) and 21 (D) days post-lesion. No morphological changes were found. In (E), for comparative purposes, we included an image of the striatum of a QUIN-lesioned rat, where pyknosis, edema and massive cell death are appreciated. Scale, 40 × . Representative images of all groups are presented.

terms, the appearance of the sham and 3-HK-treated striata at 7 and 21 days post-lesion were similar, exhibiting a wellpreserved neuropil, with a majority of healthy cells (indicated by asterisks) and only a limited number of damaged cells (indicated by arrows). The proportion of preserved cells in sham and 3-HK-lesioned rats were also similar. No edema or vacuolization were seen in 3-HK-injected sections. This lack of morphological changes was congruent with the absence of apomorphine-challenged rotation behavior estimated in 3-HKlesioned animals at 6 days post-lesion when compared with sham rats (data not shown). For comparative purposes, we included an image of the striatum of a rat lesioned with the neurotoxin QUIN at 7 days post-lesion (Fig. 9E), where it is evident the damage exerted on neuropil and cells, comprising edema and vacuolization.

3. Discussion

In this manuscript we explored the effects exerted by the kynurenine pathway metabolite 3-HK on oxidative damage and mitochondrial function in striatal slices, as well as on biochemical, behavioral and morphological endpoints in the striata of infused animals. At the beginning, our original hypothesis was oriented to declare this metabolite as a prooxidant and neurotoxic molecule, on the basis of previous reports and upon the assumption that the series of biochemical, behavioral and morphological tests developed in this study will indicate so. However, the experimental evidence collected in this study suggested a dual role of 3-HK either as a pro-oxidant or an antioxidant molecule, depending on the experimental conditions tested. Moreover, we found that even under stimulated oxidative activity, 3-HK was unable not only to induce cell and tissue damage, but also prevented some damage elicited by other well-known toxins.

First, we described the time- and concentration-dependent effects of this metabolite in striatal slices (see Fig. 1). The most revealing condition was the incubation of slices in the presence of 3-HK for 6 h. It seems clear that it takes some time to the molecule to activate mechanisms of oxidative damage at relatively low concentrations (2-20 µM), and this was inferred because at 1 h of incubation, the effect of 3-HK remained close to baseline, whereas at 3 h of incubation an antioxidant effect was present at all concentrations tested. Noteworthy, at concentrations above 20 µM (50-100) the antioxidant effect prevailed at all times tested. The explanation of this dual behavior of 3-HK could be related to its redox properties and the balance between its reductive and oxidative precursor features. In this regard, the reductive, scavenging and antioxidant properties of this metabolite have been described at concentrations ranging those used by us in this study (Christen et al., 1990; Leipnitz et al., 2007; reviewed by Colín-González et al., 2013). However, if under certain conditions 3-HK preferentially undergoes auto-oxidation to form highly oxidant quinones, then its reductive properties could be surpassed by its nature as a precursor of free radicals and quinones. Thus, its effect seems to be a question of a delicate balance between antioxidant/ reductive and pro-oxidant species, mostly depending on the experimental conditions employed. The concentrationdependent reductive character of 3-HK was clearly demonstrated by the FRAP assay (see Fig. 6).

Interestingly, 3-HK, at conditions promoting either oxidative damage to lipids (20 μ M) or antioxidant actions (100 μ M; see Fig. 1), was unable to induce mitochondrial dysfunction (cell damage) in the slices. Furthermore, contrary to what we expected, its co-incubation, at both concentrations, with well-known toxic agents not only did not potentiate its effect, but served to prevent the cell compromise exerted by QUIN, 3-NP and FeSO₄ (see Figs. 2–4), in mechanisms likely involving the compensatory activation of the antioxidant enzymes GST and SOD. The fact that 3-HK was more effective against a typical pro-oxidant model (FeSO₄) emphasizes its nature as a redox modulatory agent. Another possible contributing factor to the apparently protective action of 3-HK against different toxic models was suggested by our simple experiments presented in Fig. 5. The nuclear factor related to NF-E2, also known as Nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2, or simply Nrf2, is a transcription factor responsible for regulating the expression of detoxifying phase 2 enzymes, and is also known as the "master coordinator" of antioxidant responses (Kensler et al., 2007). The fact that 3-HK was able to induce an increased expression of Nrf2 accompanied by HO-1 and GCL-C protein levels in striatal slices is indicative of a concerted and complementary strategy to counteract the deleterious actions of reactive oxygen/nitrogen species (ROS/ RNS). Hence, for the case of this metabolite, its reductive capacity, together with the recruitment of Nrf2 activation as part of its action pattern, seem to represent an integral antioxidant and potentially protective response. Although Nrf2 can also be activated by pro-oxidant toxins like QUIN (Colín-González et al., 2014), for the case of 3-HK and unlike QUIN, this effect seems to be sufficient to prevent or counteract cell damage. Nonetheless, the role of Nrf2 and its regulation by 3-HK deserves further and more detailed investigation.

For us, it was surprising to find a lack of effect of 3-HK on mitochondrial function. Since MTT reduction is accepted as an index of mitochondrial function and cell viability, we expected to find decreased levels induced by 3-HK on this endpoint. This expectation was based on evidence demonstrating that 3-HK, at the same concentration range employed by us is capable to induce cell death in different neuronal cell cultures, including cerebellar, striatal, hippocampal and cortical neurons, as well as in a human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cell line (Eastman and Guilarte, 1989; Okuda et al., 1998; Chiarugi et al., 2001; Jeong et al., 2004; Smith et al., 2009; reviewed by Colín-González et al., 2013). So, how to explain the toxic effects in these cultures vs. the lack of effect of 3-HK in the striatal slices? Probably the clue to solve this discrepancy is laying in evidence collected from experiments in glioma C6 cells exposed to 3-HK, where this metabolite did not produce cell death (Leipnitz et al., 2007). Since the KP takes place in glial cells (mostly astrocytes and microglia), and these cells naturally possess the enzymes necessary to degrade KP metabolites (Schwarcz et al., 2012), it seems obvious that these cells could be resistant to the actions of 3-HK, in contrast to isolated neuronal cells in culture that do not regularly possess these catalytic proteins. Therefore, a possible role of glial cells to handle 3-HK should not be discarded in this paradigm as glial cells also represent the first line of defense of the CNS against oxidative and inflammatory insults (Alarcón-Aguilar et al., 2014). We can then hypothesize that more integral biological preparations, such as tissue slices containing both neuronal and glial cells, could behave differently to primary cultures and cell lines - represented by a single type of cells - when exposed to 3-HK. Thus, the buffering and/or homeostatic role of glial cells might contribute to generate differential actions of 3-HK and other metabolites in the CNS.

At this point, our observations in striatal slices suggested that different experimental conditions rule the faith of the actions of this metabolite; however, what about the in vivo effects of 3-HK? Would the molecule exert toxic events per se in the striatum if infused to animals? Only a few reports about the toxic effects exerted by 3-HK under in vivo conditions are available in the literature. One of them, published by Nakagami et al. (1996), showed striatal degeneration at doses ranging 1–50 nmol/ μ l; though, the lack of images showing the control condition, and the fact that the image corresponding to the 3-HK-induced lesion depicts a limited area of damage remitted to the injection site, prompted to more detailed studies. Shortly thereafter, another article was published by Guidetti and Schwarcz (1999). This report established that 3-HK per se is unable to produce striatal damage, but when co-injected with its toxic relative QUIN at subtoxic doses, it potentiates the QUIN-induced degeneration. A possible contribution of 3-HK as a metabolic precursor of QUIN to exert tissue damage was discarded as 3-HK was unable to increase QUIN levels. Despite these reports support a toxic role of 3-HK under in vivo conditions, the question on whether 3-HK can be toxic per se for the striatal tissue remains unclear.

We therefore tested the effects of this metabolite when infused to the striatum of rats on different endpoints. The maximum dose of 3-HK tested was $80 \text{ nmol/}\mu$ l, which

corresponded to the maximum concentration that we were able to dissolve. At such dose, the dual actions of 3-HK were evident once again as the levels of lipid and protein oxidation were increased at short times (6 and 24 h) and drastically decreased at longer times (7 days; see Fig. 7). These findings were in agreement not only with the biphasic action of this metabolite in striatal slices (see again Fig. 1), but also with the early stimulation of GR and GST activities (see Fig. 8). In this regard, the increased activity of the glutathione-related enzymes suggest that the early use of glutathione by the glutathione system in the striatum is being effectively used to reduce the risk of tissue damage, which was confirmed by the lack of behavioral alterations (data not shown), as well as the most conclusive evidence presented in this report: the lack of tissue damage in the striata of 3-HK-treated animals that were infused with a high dose of the metabolite (80 nmol; see Fig. 9). Even allowing the metabolite to act for 21 days, no major morphological changes were seen.

Altogether, this evidence suggest that the presence of 3-HK in the striatum at concentrations as high as those we tested here, does not represent *per se* a risk for neurodegeneration, and this might probably be due to either a limited and transitory permanence of the metabolite in this tissue – which in turn could be rapidly metabolized to other non-toxic forms – , or its intense redox activity oriented to activate antioxidant systems in an effective manner. Whatever the explanation, this topic deserves deeper investigation, with special regard to those conditions that could be responsible for the induction of 3-HK toxicity, if any, and whether they could take place under human pathological conditions.

3.1. Concluding remarks

In a recent review, we have compiled and revised evidence that 3-HK is augmented in some neurodegenerative disorders (reviewed by Colín-González et al., 2013). In principle, this evidence suggests that 3-HK may be playing a role in those neurodegenerative processes, thus accounting for neuronal disorders, and this possible role cannot be ruled out at all. However, considering the experimental evidence collected in this and other studies (Leipnitz et al., 2007), it is also reasonable to consider that the real role that 3-HK could be playing in different physiological and pathological conditions would be more related to a redox modulatory activity. This consideration points to compensatory actions exerted by this metabolite once inflammatory, oxidative and/or excitotoxic events have begun in the CNS, but these compensatory responses could not be sufficient to counteract the alreadyin-progress degeneration. This general concept is strengthened by the observation that the oxidative damage that 3-HK exerted in this study was insufficient to compromise cells, and this effect was probably due to the stimulation of antioxidant systems and the recruitment of the Nrf2 protective system. Thus, oxidative activity seems to be part of the strategy of 3-HK to compensate possible harmful signals in the striatum.

On the other hand, its potential role as a contributing factor to cell damage still remains open as, under certain circumstances, 3-HK can stimulate the formation of aggressive pro-oxidant molecules and could be also stimulating the



Fig. 10 – Schematic representation of the hypothetical mechanisms involved in the 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK) actions in the rat striatum. 3-HK would be entering cells through neutral amino acid transporters (NAT), and once in the cytoplasm it could follow different paths. One of them is related with auto-oxidation and further formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which might be responsible or cell damage and degeneration (not supported by findings of this work), or simply activating antioxidant survival mechanisms. The other path, which is more according to our findings, could be responsible for antioxidant defense signaling and neuroprotection. The effects exerted by 3-HK in this work clearly supports the activation of survival and protective mechanisms *via* the stimulation of adaptive and protective responses to counteract oxidative stress.

formation of excitotoxic metabolites in KP as a precursor, but when this toxic character is adopted by 3-HK during neurodegenerative processes?

Another possibility, in light of our findings, is that the augmented levels of 3-HK in neurological disorders could be merely reflecting an increased activity of glial cells during the progression of neuronal cell damage. Therefore, clarifying its precise role in human pathologies is more than complicated, given the dual effects that this molecule is exerting. Further and more detailed studies are needed to respond the many questions raised by this and other reports. In the meantime, the results obtained in this work support the concept that 3-HK is not capable to exert toxicity *per se* and that its physiological role is more oriented to a redox modulatory activity. A schematic representation of the actions exerted by this metabolite in the CNS is presented in Fig. 10.

4. Experimental procedures

4.1. Reagents

3-HK, QUIN, 3-NP, thiobarbituric acid (TBA), 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT), glucose-6phosphate and other reagents were obtained from Sigma/Aldrich Co. (St. Louis, MO, USA). All other chemicals were obtained from other well-known commercial sources.

4.2. FRAP assay

For the FRAP assay, we followed the method described by Benzie and Strain (1996), with modifications. We employed this method to investigate the reductive potency of 3-HK per se. Briefly, the FRAP reagent (A) consisted of a 10:1:1 mixture containing 300 mM acetate buffer (3.1 g of sodium acetate plus 16 ml of acetic acid for 1 l)+20 mM FeCl₃+10 mM TPTZ (2,4,6-tripiridyl-s-triazine)+40 mM HCl, was prepared at 50 °C and used throughout the experiments. The reaction solution (C) consisted of 480 ml of deionized H₂O (B) plus 500 ml of reagent A. Solution C was incubated at 37 $^\circ C$ for 10 min and immediately added with 20 μl of the solution containing 3-HK at different concentrations. Samples were re-incubated for 30 min and optical density was recorded by triplicate at 593 nm in a Thermo Spectronic Genesys 8 Spectrometer. A standard curve was constructed using increasing concentrations of FeSO₄ (50–2000 μ M).

4.3. Animals

Male Wistar rats weighing 270–310 g (60 animals total, 5–10 per group), bred-in-house strain, were used throughout the study. Animals were housed five per cage in acrylic cages and provided with Rodent Chow (Purina, St. Louis, MO, USA) and water *ad libitum*. Animals were maintained under conditions of constant temperature (25 ± 3 °C), humidity ($50\pm10\%$) and lighting (12:12 1ight:dark cycle). All experimental manipulations were performed according to the "Guidelines for the Use of Animals in Neuroscience Research" from the Society of Neuroscience, the local Ethical Committees, and in compliance of the ARRIVE guidelines.

4.4. Isolation of striatal slices (in vitro experiments)

Striatal slices were obtained and collected according to a procedure previously described (Colín-González et al., 2014). Rats were decapitated and their brains were rapidly placed in ice-cold Krebs-bicarbonate dissection buffer pH 7.4 (120 mM NaCl, 2 mM KCl, 0.5 mM CaCl₂, 26 mM NaHCO₃, 10 mM MgSO₄, 1.18 mM KH₂PO₄, 11 mM glucose and 200 mM sucrose). Chamber solutions were pre-bubbled with 95% $O_2/5\%\ CO_2$ gas mixture, for at least 45 min before slice immersion, to ensure O2 saturation. Striata were quickly dissected, glued down leaning vertically against agar blocks in a small chamber, submerged in cold oxygenated dissection buffer and sectioned in 200 µm thick transverse slices using vibratome (TS1000 Leica; Heidelberg, Germany). Cutting parameters were 0.5 mm/s, 60 Hz and 0.8 mm amplitude. Immediately after vibratome sectioning, the slices were transferred to a vial of sucrose-free dissection buffer, and bubbled with 95% $O_2/5\%$ CO₂ at room temperature for 30 min to recover from slicing trauma. Then, slices were exposed to different concentrations of 3-HK (2-100 µM), for different times of incubation in a shaking water bath at 37 °C. Immediately after incubated, slices were placed on ice, collected and scheduled for measurement of different experimental parameters.

In additional experiments, some toxic agents were added to the slices (1 mM 3-NP and QUIN, and 50 μM FeSO4) and tested in the presence of 3-HK.

4.5. Lipid peroxidation

Lipid peroxidation was determined as the formation of thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances (TBARS), according to a previous report (García et al., 2008). Fifty µL aliquots of the homogenates obtained from striatal slices were added to 100 µL of the TBA reagent (0.75 g of TBA+15 g of trichloroacetic acid+2.54 mL of HCl) and incubated at 100 °C for 20 min. A pink chromophore was produced in samples in direct proportion to the amount of peroxidized products. Samples were then kept on ice for 5 min and centrifuged at 3000g for 15 min. The optical density from the supernatants was measured in a Thermo Spectronic Genesys 8 Spectrometer at 532 nm. Final amounts of TBA-RS - mostly malondialdehyde (MDA) - were calculated by interpolation of values in a constructed MDA standard curve, and results were calculated as nmoles of MDA per mg protein. This method was used for estimation of lipid peroxidation both in slices and striatal tissue.

4.6. Functional assessment of striatal slices by MTT reduction assay

In order to assess the viability of cells from the striatal slices, MTT reduction was measured as a current index of the functional status of the respiratory chain and mitochondrial function. This endpoint was estimated in striatal slices, according to a method previously described (Pérez-De La Cruz et al., 2007). Briefly, the slices already exposed to different treatments were added with $8 \,\mu$ l of MTT (5 mg/ml), and re-incubated at 37 $^\circ\text{C}$ for 60 min. The samples were then centrifuged at 15,300g for 15 min, and pellets were resuspended in 1 ml of isopropanol. During this first step of centrifugation, the aqueous phase was discarded. A second step of centrifugation was then performed at 1700g for 3 min. Quantification of formazan was estimated in supernatants in a Thermospectronic Genesys 8 spectrometer (Cole-Parmer, Vernon Hills, Ill., USA) by measuring optical density at a 570nm wavelength. The results were expressed as the percentage of MTT reduction with respect to control values.

4.7. Surgical lesion technique and treatment (in vivo experiments)

Rats were anesthetized with sodium pentobarbital (50 mg/kg, i.p.). 3-HK was dissolved in distilled water and adjusted to pH 7.4. Single unilateral injections were made with a Hamilton syringe into the right striatum at the stereotaxic coordinates 0.5 mm anterior to bregma, 2.6 mm lateral to bregma and 4.5 mm ventral to the dura, according to the brain Atlas of 3-HK was injected at different doses (5, 10, 20, and 80 nmol/µl). The needle was left in place for another 2 min and then, slowly withdrawn. Control animals were similarly injected with isotonic saline solution. Animals were sacrificed at 0.5 and 2 h; 7, 14 and 21 days.

4.8. Rotation behavior test

Motor alterations, assessed as rotation behavior, were evaluated in animals from all experimental groups, according to previous reports (Silva-Adaya et al., 2008). Six days after 3-HK (80 nmol) infusion, animals were administered with apomorphine (1 mg/kg, s.c.) and separated into individual acrylic box cages. Five minutes later, the number of ipsilateral rotations to the lesioned side was recorded for 1 h. Each rotation was evaluated as a complete turn (360°). Data are expressed as the total number of ipsilateral turns in 1 h.

4.9. Histological examination

Seven, 14 and 21 days after performing the striatal lesions, animals from all groups were anesthetized i.p. with 0.5 mL of sodium pentobarbital and perfused transcardially with 0.9% saline solution containing heparin (200/1 v/v), followed by 4% paraformaldehyde at 4 °C. Brains were removed, post-fixed in 4% p-formaldehyde for 7 days and embedded in paraffin. Fixed tissues were serially sectioned in an 820 HistoSTAT microtome (American Instrument Exchange, Inc., Haverhill, MA, USA). Striatal sections (5 μ m-thick) were obtained every 100 μ m, covering a total distance of 300 μ m (100 μ m anterior and 100 μ m posterior to the needle tract). All sections were stained with hematoxylin-eosin (H&E) to visualize cell bodies, using an image analyzer IM100 (Leica Cambridge, UK).

4.10. Protein carbonyl content

As an index of protein oxidation, protein carbonyl content in the striatal tissue (2 and 6 h, and 1 and 7 days post-lesion) was determined as previously described (Chevion et al., 2000). Assessment of carbonyls formation was done on the basis of formation of protein hydrazone by reaction with 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine (DNPH). Supernatants were incubated with 10% streptomycin sulfate to remove nucleic acids overnight, and centrifuged at 21,000g at 4 °C for 20 min. Then, supernatants were treated with 10 mM DNPH (in 2.5 M HCl) for 1 h at room temperature, and 10% TCA was added and centrifuged at 2500g at 4 $^\circ\text{C}$ for 10 min. Pellets were washed three times with ethanol/ethyl acetate (1:1), dissolved with 6 M guanidine hydrochloride (in phosphate buffer 20 mM, pH 7.4), and centrifuged at 5000g at 4 $^\circ \rm C$ for 3 min to remove insoluble material. Absorbance was measured at 370 nm. Protein carbonyl content is expressed as nmol DNPH/mg protein, using the molar absorption coefficient of DNPH (22,000 $M^{-1} cm^{-1}$). Total protein concentration was obtained by reading optical density at 280 nm in blank tubes prepared in parallel (treated only with 2.5 M HCl), using a standard curve of bovine serum albumin (0.25-2 mg/ml) prepared in 6 M guanidine hydrochloride.

4.11. Antioxidant enzymes activity assays

Striatal samples were homogenized in 500 ml of lysis buffer pH 7.4 (containing 10 mM Tris–HCl, 15 mM NaCl, 0.25 mM sucrose and proteases inhibitors), and centrifuged at 13,000*g* for 30 min. The supernatants were used to determine gluthatione peroxidase (GPx), glutathione reductase (GR),

gluthatione-S-transferase (GST), and glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase activities (G6PD).

4.11.1. Assessment of GPx activity

Reaction mixture consisted of 50 mM potassium phosphate (pH 7.0), 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM Sodium azide, 0.2 mM NADPH, 1 U/ml of glutathione reductase, and 1 mM GSH. One hundred microliters of homogenates were added to 0.8 ml of mixture and allowed to incubate for 5 min at room temperature before initiation of the reaction by the addition of 0.1 ml 0.25 mM H_2O_2 solution. Absorbance at 340 nm was recorded for 5 min, and the activity was calculated from the slope of these lines as moles of NADPH oxidized per min. Blank reactions with homogenates replaced by distilled water were subtracted from each assay. GPx activity was expressed as U/mg protein.

4.11.2. Assessment of GST Activity

In order to evaluate this enzyme activity, we employed the method described by Habig et al. (1974), with modifications. One hundred microliters of homogenates were added 50 mM potassium phosphate (pH 6.5), 20 mM 50 mM GSH, and 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene (CDNB) as substrate in a total volume 1 ml. Optical density was detected at 340 nm. The results were expressed as nmol CDNB conjugate formed/min/mg protein.

4.11.3. Assessment of GR Activity

The reaction mixture consisted of 100 mM potassium phosphate (pH 7.6), 0.5 mM EDTA, 1 mM NADPH, and 1.1 mM GSSG. One hundred microliters of homogenates were added to 0.9 ml of mixture. Absorbance at 340 nm was recorded for 3 min, and the activity was calculated from the slope of these lines as moles of NADPH oxidized per min. Blank reactions with homogenates replaced by distilled water were subtracted from each assay. GR activity was expressed as U/mg protein.

4.11.4. Assessment of G6PD Activity

The reaction mixture consisted of 50 mM Tris–HCl buffer (pH 7.8) containing 33 mM MgCl₂, 6 mM nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADP), and 100 mM G6P. One hundred fifty microliters of homogenates were added to 0.85 ml of mixture. Absorbance at 340 nm was recorded for 6 min, and the activity was calculated from the slope of these lines as moles of NADP per min. Blank reactions with homogenates replaced by distilled water were subtracted from each assay. G6PD activity was expressed as U/mg protein.

4.12. Statistical analysis

Results were expressed as mean values \pm S.E.M. All data were statistically analyzed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) for repeated measures, followed by post hoc Tukey's. All analytical procedures were performed using the scientific statistic software GraphPad Prism 5 (GraphPad Scientific, San Diego, CA, USA). Differences of P<0.05 were considered as statistically significant.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by CONACyT Grant 205648 (A.S.). Ana Laura Colín-González is scholarship holder of CONACyT-Mexico (239954). Authors wish to thank Dr. Irma González-Herrera for her technical support and to Dr. Enrique Pinzón and Dr. Ismael Torres for the technical assistance with the experimental animals.

REFERENCES

- Alarcón-Aguilar, A., Luna-López, A., Ventura-Gallegos, J.L., Lazzarini, R., Galván-Arzate, S., González-Puertos, V.Y., Morán, J., Santamaría, A., Königsberg, M., 2014. Primary cultured astrocytes from old rats are capable to activate the Nrf2 response against MPP+ toxicity after tBHQ pretreatment. Neurobiol. Aging 35, 1901–1912.
- Amaral, M., Outeiro, T.F., Scrutton, N.S., Giorgini, F., 2013. The causative role and therapeutic potential of the kynurenine pathway in neurodegenerative disease. J. Mol. Med. (Berl.) 91, 705–713.
- Backhaus, C., Rahman, H., Scheffler, S., Laatsch, H., Hardeland, R., 2008. NO scavenging by 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid and 3-hydroxykynurenine: N-nitrosation leads via oxadiazoles to o-quinone diazides. Nitric Oxide 19, 237–244.
- Benzie, I.F., Strain, J.J., 1996. The ferric reducing ability of plasma (FRAP) as a measure of "antioxidant power": the FRAP assay. Anal. Biochem. 239, 70–76.
- Braidy, N., Grant, R., Brew, B.J., Adams, S., Jayasena, T., Guillemin, G.J., 2009. Effects of kynurenine pathway metabolites on intracellular NAD synthesis and cell death in human primary astrocytes and neurons. Int. J. Tryptophan Res. 2, 61–69.
- Campesan, S., Green, E.W., Breda, C., Sathyasaikumar, K.V., Muchowski, P.J., Schwarcz, R., Kyriacou, C.P., Giorgini, F. 2011. The kynurenine pathway modulates neurodegeneration in a Drosophila model of Huntington's disease. Curr. Biol. 21, 961–966.
- Chen, Y., Stankovic, R., Cullen, K.M., Meninger, V., Garner, B., Coggan, S., Grant, R., Brew, B.J., Guillemin, G.J., 2010. The kynurenine pathway and inflammation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neurotox. Res. 18, 132–142.
- Chevion, M., Berenshtein, E., Stadtman, E.R., 2000. Human studies related to protein oxidation: protein carbonyl content as a marker of damage. Free Radic. Res. 33 (Suppl), S99–S108.
- Chiarugi, A., Meli, E., Moroni, F., 2001. Similarities and differences in the neuronal death processes activated by 3OH-kynurenine and quinolinic acid. J. Neurochem. 77, 1310–1318.
- Christen, S., Peterhans, E., Stocker, R., 1990. Antioxidant activities of some tryptophan metabolites: possible implication for inflammatory diseases. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87, 2506–2510.
- Colín-González, A.L., Maldonado, P.D., Santamaría, A., 2013. 3-Hydroxykynurenine: an intriguing molecule exerting dual actions in the central nervous system. Neurotoxicology 34, 189–204.
- Colín-González, A.L., Luna-López, A., Königsberg, M., Ali, S.F., Pedraza-Chaverrí, J., Santamaría, A., 2014. Early modulation of the transcription factor Nrf2 in rodent striatal slices by

quinolinic acid, a toxic metabolite of the kynurenine pathway. Neuroscience 260, 130–139.

- Dasuri, K., Zhang, L., Keller, J.N., 2013. Oxidative stress, neurodegeneration, and the balance of protein degradation and protein synthesis. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 62, 170–185.
- Duleu, S., Mangas, A., Sevin, F., Veyret, B., Bessede, A., Geffard, M., 2010. Circulating antibodies to IDO/THO pathway metabolites in Alzheimer's disease. Int. J. Alzheimer Dis., 501541.
- Eastman, C.L., Guilarte, T.R., 1989. Cytotoxicity of 3-hydroxykynurenine in a neuronal hybrid cell line. Brain Res. 495, 225–231.
- Eastman, C.L., Guilarte, T.R., 1990. The role of hydrogen peroxide in the in vitro cytotoxicity of 3-hydroxykynurenine. Neurochem. Res. 15, 1101–1107.
- García, E., Limón, D., Pérez-De La Cruz, V., Giordano, M., Díaz-Muñoz, M., Maldonado, P.D., Herrera-Mundo, M.N., Pedraza-Chaverrí, J., Santamaría, A., 2008. Lipid peroxidation, mitochondrial dysfunction and neurochemical and behavioural deficits in different neurotoxic models: protective role of S-allylcysteine. Free Radic. Res. 42, 892–902.
- Giorgini, F., Guidetti, P., Nguyen, Q., Bennett, S.C., Paul, J., 2005.
 A genomic screen in yeast implicates kynurenine
 3-monooxygenase as a therapeutic target for Huntington's disease. Nat. Genet. 37, 526–531.
- Goda, K., Hamane, Y., Kishimoto, R., Ogishi, Y., 1999. Radical scavenging properties of tryptophan metabolites. Estimation of their radical reactivity. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 467, 397–402.
- Goldstein, L.E., Leopold, M.C., Huang, X., Atwood, C.S., Saunders,
 A.J., Hartshorn, M., Lim, J.T., Faget, K.Y., Muffat, J.A., Scarpa,
 R.C., Chylack Jr., L.T., Bowden, E.F., Tanzi, R.E., Bush, A.I., 2000.
 3-Hydroxykynurenine and 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid generate
 hydrogen peroxide and promote alpha-crystallin cross-linking
 by metal ion reduction. Biochemistry 39, 7266–7275.
- Goshima, N., Wadano, A., Miura, K., 1986. 3-Hydroxykynurenine as O2-. scavenger in the blowfly, Aldrichina grahami. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 139, 666–672.
- Guidetti, P., Bates, G.P., Graham, R.K., Hayden, M.R., Leavitt, B.R., MacDonald, M.E., Slow, E.J., Wheeler, V.C., Woodman, B., Schwarcz, R., 2006. Elevated brain 3-hydroxykynurenine and quinolinate levels in Huntington disease mice. Neurobiol. Dis. 23, 190–197.
- Guidetti, P., Reddy, P.H., Tagle, D.A., Schwarcz, R., 2000. Early kynurenergic impairment in Huntington's disease and in a transgenic animal model. Neurosci. Lett. 283, 233–235.
- Guidetti, P., Schwarcz, R., 2003. 3-Hydroxykynurenine and quinolinate: pathogenic synergism in early grade Huntington's disease?. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 527, 137–145.
- Guidetti, P., Schwarcz, R., 1999. 3-Hydroxykynurenine potentiates quinolinate but not NMDA toxicity in the rat striatum. Eur. J. Neurosci. 11, 3857–3863.
- Habig, W.H., Pabst, M.J., Jakoby, W.B., 1974. Glutathione S-transferases: the first enzymatic step in mercapturic acid formation. J. Biol. Chem. 249, 7130–7139.
- Halliwell, B., 2006. Oxidative stress and neurodegeneration: where are we now?. J. Neurochem. 97, 1634–1658.
- Hiraku, Y., Inoue, S., Oikawa, S., Yamamoto, K., Tada, S., Nishino, K., Kawanishi, S., 1995. Metal-mediated oxidative damage to cellular and isolated DNA by certain tryptophan metabolites. Carcinogenesis 16, 349–356.
- Ishii, T., Iwahashi, H., Sugata, R., Kido, R., 1992. Formation of hydroxanthommatin-derived radical in the oxidation of 3-hydroxykynurenine. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 294, 616–622.
- Jeong, J.H., Kim, H.J., Lee, T.J., Kim, M.K., Park, E.S., Choi, B.S., 2004. Epigallocatechin 3-gallate attenuates neuronal damage induced by 3-hydroxykynurenine. Toxicology 195, 53–60.
Kensler, T.W., Wakabayashi, N., Biswal, S., 2007. Cell survival responses to environmental stresses via the Keap1-Nrf2-ARE pathway. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 47, 89–116.

Leipnitz, G., Schumacher, C., Dalcin, K.B, Scussiato, K., Solano, A., Funchal, C., Dutra-Filho, C.S., Wyse, A.T., Wannmacher, C.M., Latini, A., Wajner, M., 2007. In vitro evidence for an antioxidant role of 3-hydroxykynurenine and 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid in the brain. Neurochem. Int. 50, 83–94.

Massudi, H., Grant, R., Guillemin, G.J., Braidy, N., 2012. NAD+ metabolism and oxidative stress: the golden nucleotide on a crown of thorns. Redox Rep. 17, 28–46.

Nakagami, Y., Saito, H., Katsuki, H., 1996. 3-Hydroxykynurenine toxicity on the rat striatum in vivo. Jpn. J. Pharmacol. 71, 183–186.

Niranjan, R., 2014. The role of inflammatory and oxidative stress mechanisms in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease: focus on astrocytes. Mol. Neurobiol. 49, 28–38.

Ogawa, T., Matson, W.R., Beal, M.F., Myers, R.H., Bird, E.D., Milbury, P., Saso, S., 1992. Kynurenine pathway abnormalities in Parkinson's disease. Neurology 42, 1702–1706.

Okuda, S., Nishiyama, N., Saito, H., Katsuki, H., 1996. Hydrogen peroxide-mediated neuronal cell death induced by an endogenous neurotoxin, 3-hydroxykynurenine. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93, 12553–12558.

Okuda, S., Nishiyama, N., Saito, H., Katsuki, H., 1998.
3-Hydroxykynurenine, an endogenous oxidative stress generator, causes neuronal cell death with apoptotic features and region selectivity. J. Neurochem. 70, 299–307.

Pinelli, A., Ossi, C., Colombo, R., Tofanetti, O., Spazzi, L., 1984. Experimental convulsions in rats induced by intraventricular administration of kynurenine and structurally related compounds. Neuropharmacology 23, 333–337.

Pearson, S.J., Meldrum, A., Reynolds, G.P., 1995. An investigation of the activities of 3-hydroxykynureninase and kynurenine aminotransferase in the brain in Huntington's disease. J. Neural Transm. Gen. Sect. 102, 67–73.

Pérez-De La Cruz, V., González-Cortés, C., Pedraza-Chaverrí, J., Maldonado, P.D., Andrés-Martínez, L., Santamaría, A., 2007. Protective effect of S-allylcysteine on 3-nitropropionic acidinduced lipid peroxidation and mitochondrial dysfunction in rat brain synaptosomes. Brain Res. Bull. 68, 379–383.

Ramaswamy, S., Mcbride, J.L., Kordower, J.H., 2007. Animal models of Huntington's disease. ILAR 48, 356–373.

Reynolds, G.P., Pearson, S.J., 1989. Increased brain 3hydroxykynurenine in Huntington's disease. Lancet 2, 979–980. Sathyasaikumar, K.V., Stachowski, E.K., Amori, L., Guidetti, P., Muchowski, P.J., Schwarcz, R., 2010. Dysfunctional kynurenine pathway metabolism in the R6/2 mouse model of Huntington's disease. J. Neurochem. 113, 1416–1425.

Savvateeva, E., Popov, A., Kamyshev, N., Bragina, J., Heisenberg, M., Senitz, D., Kornhuber, J., Riederer, P., 2000. Age-dependent memory loss, synaptic pathology and altered brain plasticity in the Drosophila mutant cardinal accumulating 3hydroxykynurenine. J. Neural Transm. 107, 581–601.

Schwarcz, R., Bruno, J.P., Muchowski, P.J., Wu, H.Q., 2012. Kynurenines in the mammalian brain: when physiology meets pathology. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 13, 465–477.

Schwarcz, R., Foster, A.C., French, E.D., Whetsell Jr, W.O., Köhler, C., 1984. Excitotoxic models for neurodegenerative disorders. Life Sci. 35, 19–32.

Schwarcz, R., Whetsell Jr, W.O., Mangano, R.M., 1983. Quinolinic acid: an endogenous metabolite that produces axon-sparing lesions in rat brain. Science 219, 316–318.

Silva-Adaya, D., Pérez-De La Cruz, V., Herrera-Mundo, M.N., Mendoza-Macedo, K., Villeda-Hernández, J., Binienda, Z., Ali, S.F., Santamaría, A., 2008. Excitotoxic damage, disrupted energy metabolism, and oxidative stress in the rat brain: antioxidant and neuroprotective effects of L-carnitine. J. Neurochem. 105, 677–689.

Smith, A.J., Smith, R.A., Stone, T.W., 2009. 5-Hydroxyanthranilic acid, a tryptophan metabolite, generates oxidative stress and neuronal death via p38 activation in cultured cerebellar granule neurones. Neurotox. Res. 15, 303–310.

Stone, T.W., Forrest, C.M., Mackay, G.M., Stoy, N., Darlington, L.G., 2007. Tryptophan, adenosine, neurodegeneration and neuroprotection. Metab. Brain Dis. 22, 337–352.

Tan, L., Yu, J.T., Tan, L., 2012. The kynurenine pathway in neurodegenerative diseases: mechanistic and therapeutic considerations. J. Neurol. Sci. 323, 1–8.

Vazquez, S., Garner, B., Sheil, M.M., Truscott, R.J., 2000. Characterisation of the major autoxidation products of 3-hydroxykynurenine under physiological conditions. Free Radic. Res. 32, 11–23.

Yu, P., Di Prospero, N.A., Sapko, M.T., Cai, T., Chen, A., Melendez-Ferro, M., Du, F., Whetsell Jr, W.O., Guidetti, P., Schwarcz, R., Tagle, D.A., 2004. Biochemical and phenotypic abnormalities in kynurenine aminotransferase II-deficient mice. Mol. Cell. Biol. 24, 6919–6930.

9.2. EI QUIN ESTIMULA LA ACTIVACIÓN DEL NRF2 DE FORMA TRANSITORIA

Siguiendo el razonamiento expuesto anteriormente que postula a la 3-HK como una molécula inductora de respuestas antioxidantes y a los reportes que indican que es una neurotoxina, se creó la siguiente hipótesis: El QUIN es una molécula que en concentraciones elevadas induce efectos tóxicos en el SNC. La 3-HK se transforma en QUIN, por lo que los deletéreos observados podrían ser consecuencia de una mayor producción de QUIN.

El QUIN (µM) estimuló la translocación nuclear del Nrf2 de forma transitoria y aumentó la expresión proteica de la hemo-oxigenasa-1. A diferencia de lo ocurrido con la 3-HK, estos eventos no fueron suficientemente fuertes para disminuir el daño oxidante. Esto sugiere que el QUIN genera ambiente que estimula la activación del Nrf2 en un intento para disminuir su toxicidad, sin tener éxito.

Se ha sugerido la modulación del Nrf2 como estrategia terapéutica en diversos modelos tóxicos a través del empleo de antioxidantes y/o electrófilos. En el siguiente estudio demostró el efecto protector del ácido cafeico, un antioxidante de amplio espectro, en rebanadas incubadas con QUIN y en animales inyectados intraestriatalmente con la misma toxina. Como se esperaba, el ácida cafeico previno las alteraciones conductuales causadas por la administración de QUIN, mientras que en rebanadas estriatales disminuyó el daño oxidante.

EARLY MODULATION OF THE TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR NRF2 IN RODENT STRIATAL SLICES BY QUINOLINIC ACID, A TOXIC METABOLITE OF THE KYNURENINE PATHWAY

A. L. COLÍN-GONZÁLEZ, ^{a†} A. LUNA-LÓPEZ, ^b M. KÖNIGSBERG, ^c S. F. ALI, ^d J. PEDRAZA-CHAVERRÍ ^e AND A. SANTAMARÍA ^a*

^a Laboratorio de Aminoácidos Excitadores, Instituto Nacional de Neurología y Neurocirugía, S.S.A., Mexico City, Mexico

^b Instituto Nacional de Geriatría, S.S.A., Mexico City, Mexico

^c Departamento de Ciencias de la Salud, DCBS, Universidad Autónoma Metropolitana Iztapalapa, Mexico City, Mexico

^d Division of Neurotoxicology, National Center for Toxicological Research, FDA, Jefferson, AR, USA

^e Departamento de Biología, Facultad de Química, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Mexico City, Mexico

Abstract—Nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 (Nrf2) is a transcription factor involved in the orchestration of antioxidant responses. Although its pharmacological activation has been largely hypothesized as a promising tool to ameliorate the progression of neurodegenerative events, the actual knowledge about its modulation in neurotoxic paradigms remains scarce. In this study, we investigated the early profile of Nrf2 modulation in striatal slices of rodents incubated in the presence of the toxic kynurenine pathway metabolite, quinolinic acid (QUIN). Tissue slices from rats and mice were obtained and used throughout the experiments in order to compare inter-species responses. Nuclear Nrf2 protein levels and oxidative damage to lipids were compared. Time- and concentration-response curves of all markers were explored. Nrf2 nuclear activation was corroborated through phase 2 antioxidant protein expression. The effects of QUIN on Nrf2 modulation and oxidative stress were also compared between slices of wild-type (Nrf2^{+/+}) and Nrf2 knock-out (Nrf2^{-/-}) mice. The possible involvement of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAr) in the Nrf2 modulation and lipid peroxidation was further explored in

*Corresponding author. Address: Laboratorio de Aminoácidos Excitadores, Instituto Nacional de Neurología y Neurocirugía, S.S.A., Mexico City 14269, Mexico. Tel: +52-55-5606-3822x2013. E-mail address: absada@yahoo.com (A. Santamaría).

[†] Doctoral Program in Biomedical Sciences, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México (UNAM).

mice striatal slices. In rat striatal slices, QUIN stimulated the Nrf2 nuclear translocation. This effect was accompanied by augmented lipid peroxidation. In the mouse striatum, QUIN per se exerted an induction of Nrf2 factor only at 1 h of incubation, and a concentration-response effect on lipid peroxidation after 3 h of incubation. QUIN stimulated the striatal content of phase 2 enzymes. Nrf2^{-/-} mice were slightly more responsive than Nrf2^{+/+} mice to the QUINinduced oxidative damage, and completely unresponsive to the NMDAr antagonist MK-801 when tested against QUIN. Findings of this study indicate that: (1) Nrf2 is modulated in rodent striatal tissue in response to QUIN; (2) Nrf2 $^{-l-}$ striatal tissue was moderately more vulnerable to oxidative damage than the Wt condition; and (3) early Nrf2 up-regulation reflects a compensatory response to the QUIN-induced oxidative stress in course as part of a general defense system, whereas Nrf2 down-regulation might contribute to more intense oxidative cell damage. © 2013 IBRO. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Key words: kynurenine pathway, oxidative stress, antioxidant defense, excitotoxicity, Nrf2.

INTRODUCTION

Neurodegenerative processes represent the major cause of neurological disorders in human beings (Coyle and Puttfarcken, 1993; Santamaría and Jiménez, 2005). Disorders coursing with neurodegeneration, such as Huntington's disease (HD), share common key triggering factors that activate cell damage. These factors include excitotoxicity, mitochondrial energy depletion, oxidative stress and inflammation (Zádori et al., 2012). Together, these components establish a complex toxic scenario that is responsible for neuronal cell degeneration and death. Excitotoxicity, a toxic event defined as a persistent stimulation of membrane receptors in neuronal cells (Olney, 1990), is characterized by a cascade of processes comprising increased levels of intracellular calcium in response to a continuous opening of Ca²⁺ channels associated to glutamate receptors activation after sustained exposure to excitatory amino acids (reviewed by Essa et al. (2013), Mehta et al. (2013)). In turn, enhanced intracellular Ca2+ levels trigger lethal metabolic pathways, further leading to continuous enzyme activation, enhanced reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (ROS/RNS) formation, mitochondrial

0306-4522/13 $36.00\$ \odot 2013 IBRO. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.12.025

Abbreviations: y-GCL-C, gamma-glutamylcysteine ligase-C; ARE, antioxidant response element; DMF, dimethylfumarate; EDTA, ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid; EGTA, ethylene glycol tetraacetic HD, Huntington's disease; HEPES, hydroxyethyl acid: piperazineethanesulfonic acid; HO-1, heme oxygenase-1; KP, Kynurenine pathway; MDA, malondialdehyde; MK-801, dizocilpine; NAD(P)H, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate-oxidase; NMDAr, N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor; Nrf2, Nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2; QUIN, quinolinic acid; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SAC, S-allyl cysteine; SOD, superoxide dismutase; TBARS, thiobarbituric acid reactive substances; tBHQ, tertbutylhydroquinone.

dysfunction (Rami et al., 1997), and necrotic or apoptotic cell death.

Kynurenine pathway (KP), a metabolic pathway involved in tryptophan degradation to synthesize NAD⁺, has gained increasing attention because some of its intermediary metabolites possess neuroactive properties, exerting either excitatory or inhibitory actions in the CNS (reviewed by Pérez-De La Cruz et al. (2007)). Some KP metabolites have been involved in pathological conditions, triggering factors for degenerative events in neurological disorders (reviewed by Schwarcz et al. (2010, 2012)). One of these metabolites, quinolinic acid (QUIN or 2,3-pyridine dicarboxylic acid), is an endogenous glutamate agonist acting on selective populations of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDAr) (Stone et al., 2003). QUIN has been recognized as an experimental tool to produce excitotoxicity and oxidative stress under in vitro and in vivo conditions, and its toxic pattern includes enhanced intracellular Ca²⁺ levels, GABA depletion, increased ROS formation, decreased activity and expression of antioxidant systems, oxidative stress, increased protease activity and cell death (Rios and Santamaría, 1991; Rodríguez-Martínez et al., 2000; Braidy et al., 2009, 2010; Pérez-De La Cruz et al., 2010). Several studies have demonstrated that QUIN toxicity can be reduced or prevented by the use of antioxidants, including ebselen (Rossato et al., 2002), L-carnitine (Silva-Adaya et al., 2008), S-allylcysteine (Pérez-Severiano et al., 2004), guanosine (Dobrachinski et al., 2012), probucol (Colle et al., 2012), caffeic acid (Kalonia et al., 2009), polyphenolic compounds (Braidy et al., 2010), and the combination of non-effective concentrations of glutamatergic modulators plus antioxidants (Dobrachinski et al., 2012). Considering that increased levels of this toxic metabolite have been reported in several neurodegenerative disorders (Schwarcz et al., 2010), its role as a pathogenic factor in the brain is a matter under continuous investigation; therefore, the study of the pro-oxidant effects and mechanisms exerted by QUIN in the CNS is of major importance for biomedical research.

The nuclear transcription factor related to NF-E2 (also known as Nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 (Nrf2)) constitutes a promising tool to counteract the deleterious effects of oxidative stress through the upregulation of endogenous antioxidant genes. Nrf2 is considered a master regulator of redox homeostasis because it up-regulates the expression of more than 100 genes (phase 2 enzymes) involved in xenobiotic and ROS detoxification (Itoh et al., 1999; Kensler et al., 2007). Phase 2 enzymes share a common promoter enhancer known as antioxidant response element (ARE) that is regulated by Nrf2. Among many proteins encoded by this gene are heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1), superoxide dismutase (SOD), NAD(P)H quinone oxidoreductase 1 (NQO-1), glutathione peroxidase (GPx), glutathione reductase (GR), and γ -glutamyl cysteine ligase (γ -GCL), just to mention a few (Itoh et al., 1999; Johnson et al., 2002; Lee et al., 2003; Kensler et al., 2007).

This study was designed to investigate how Nrf2, a well-known orchestrator of antioxidant responses in mammals, is regulated by QUIN at early times of incubation. Its development emerges from the need to offer more accurate information on this topic because: (1) QUIN is a toxic metabolite with relevance for the explanation of neurodegenerative events in neurological disorders (Schwarcz et al., 2012); and (2) to date, there is only limited information available on this emerging issue. Precisely, one of the fewest reports dealing with this issue was published by our group (Tasset et al., 2010). In that report, we described positive actions of the antioxidant and well-known Nrf2 inducer, tertbutylhydroquinone (tBHQ) in this toxic model. tBHQ exerted protective effects in different markers of oxidative damage induced by QUIN. We also described a depleting effect of QUIN on the Nrf2 levels in rat striatal slices. However, this first approach was inaccurate because we described a form of Nrf2 corresponding to 57 kDa. Recently, a report by Lau et al. (2013) discussed evidence pointing out that the real biologically relevant molecular weight of mammalian Nrf2 is around 95-110 kDa, and this is due to the fact that multiple acidic residues in Nrf2 promote its gain in molecular weight. Derived from this observation, herein we characterized the effect of QUIN on the striatal levels of the \sim 98 kDa Nrf2 form, together with some related functional markers of oxidative stress. Therefore, striatal slices obtained from adult male rats and mice were challenged with this toxicant and further used throughout the study for comparative purposes.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Chemicals

QUIN, MK-801, HEPES, thiobarbituric acid (TBA), malondialdehyde (MDA), 2,3,5-triphenyltetrazolium chloride (TTC) and other reagents were obtained from Sigma Chemical Co. (St Louis, MO, USA). All other chemicals were obtained from other commercial sources. Antibodies employed along the study are described forward (in Section "Immunoblotting").

Animals – rats

Adult male Wistar rats (250–300 g) were used throughout the first part of the study. Animals (n = 25) were housed five per cage in acrylic cages and provided with food and water ad libitum. The housing rooms at the vivarium (facilities of the Instituto Nacional de Neurología y maintained under Neurocirugía) were constant conditions of temperature (25 ± 3 °C), humidity and light cycles (12:12 light:dark schedule). All experimental manipulations were performed according to the "Guidelines for the Use of Animals in Neuroscience Research" from the Society of Neuroscience, the local Ethics Committees, and in compliance with the ARRIVE quidelines.

Animals – mice

All animal protocols with mice followed Institutional and European guidelines (86/609/EEC, 2003/65/EC European Council Directives). Experimentation with mice was also in compliance with the ARRIVE guidelines. Mice (n = 24) were housed at room temperature under a 12-h light–dark cycle. Food and water were provided *ad libitum*. Mouse genotyping was done according to previous reports (Itoh et al., 1997; Tsuchihashi et al., 2006). Six-month-old male wild-type C57BL/6 mice (n = 6 per group) and Nrf2-knockout littermates (n = 6 per group) were kindly provided by Dr. Antonio Cuadrado and used throughout the study.

Isolation of striatal slices and treatments

Striatal slices were collected strictly according to procedures previously described (Rojo et al., 2008). Rats and mice were decapitated and their brains were rapidly dissected out. Striata were then isolated, sectioned using a vibratome (TS1000 Leica; Heidelberg, Germany), and kept in Krebs solution until the beginning of the experiments. Five slices per probe (250–300 μ m thickness) were used. Depending on the experimental design, slices were exposed to different concentrations of QUIN (25–100 μ M), MK-801 (50 μ M), H₂O₂ (100 μ M), FeSO₄ (50 μ M) or Krebs solution for different times of incubation in a shaking water bath at 37 °C. Immediately after incubation, slices were placed on ice, collected and scheduled for measurement of different experimental parameters.

Nuclear fractions preparation

To estimate nuclear Nrf2, striatal slices were washed once with cold PBS and lysed on ice with cold buffer A (250 mM sucrose, 20 mM HEPES (pH 7.0), 0.15 mM 10 mM EDTA. 0.015 mM EGTA, KCI, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 20 mM NaF, 1 mM sodium pyrophosphate, 1 mM Na₃VO₄ and 1 μ g/mL leupeptin plus 1% Nonidet P-40). Homogenates were centrifuged at 500g for 5 min. Nuclear pellets were washed in cold buffer B (10 mM HEPES (pH 8.0), 0.1 mM EDTA, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 20 mM NaF, 1 mM sodium pyrophosphate, 0.1 M NaCl, 1 µg/mL leupeptin and 1 mM Na₃VO₄ plus 25% glycerol). After centrifugation at 500g for 5 min, nuclei were resuspended in RIPA buffer (50 mM Tris-HCI (pH 7.6), 150 mM NaCl, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 1 µg/mL leupeptin, 20 mM NaF, 1 mM sodium pyrophosphate, and 1 mM Na₃VO₄). Proteins of both fractions were resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with the indicated antibodies (Espada et al., 2010).

Immunoblotting

Striatal slices were washed once with cold PBS and lysed on ice with lysis buffer (1% Nonidet P-40, 10% glycerol, 137 mM NaCl, 20 mM Tris–HCl (pH 7.5), 1 μ g/mL leupeptin, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 20 mM NaF, 1 mM sodium pyrophosphate, and 1 mM Na₃VO₄).

Cell lysates were pre-cleared by centrifugation and the protein concentration was quantified by Bradford's method (Bradford, 1976); then, protein extracts were resolved by SDS-PAGE using 80 µg (nuclear fraction) of protein per lane (see below the assay for separation fractions), and transferred to Immobilon-P of membranes (PVDF, Millipore, Corporation, Billerica, MA, USA). Blots were analyzed with the appropriate primary antibodies (1:1,000): anti-Nrf2, anti-Lamin B, anti-Actin, anti-Histone 1 and anti-GAPDH, all obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA, USA). Antibodies against antioxidant enzymes (gamma-glutamylcysteine ligase-catalytic subunit (γ -GCL-C), HO-1 and SOD) were from Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc. (Santa Cruz, CA, USA). Peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (1:10,000) were used to detect the proteins of interest by an enhanced chemiluminescence kit. Secondary antibodies were goat anti-rabbit HRP from Zymed (San Francisco, CA, USA) and goat anti-mouse HRP from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA, USA).

Lipid peroxidation

Lipid peroxidation was determined as the formation of thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances (TBARS), according to a previous report (García et al., 2008). Two hundred-µL aliquots of the homogenates obtained from striatal slices were added to 500 µL of the TBA reagent (0.75 g of TBA + 15 g of trichloroacetic acid + 2.54 mL of HCI) and incubated at 100 °C for 30 min. A pink chromophore was produced in samples in direct proportion to the amount of peroxidized products. Samples were then kept on ice for 5 min and centrifuged at 3000g for 15 min. The optical density from the supernatants was measured in a Thermo Spectronic Genesys 8 Spectrometer at 532 nm. Final amounts of TBARS-mostly MDA-were calculated by interpolation of values in a constructed tetramethoxypropane standard curve, and results were calculated as nmoles of MDA per mg protein.

Statistical analysis

Results were expressed as mean values \pm one S.E.M. All data were statistically analyzed using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) for repeated measures, followed by *post hoc* Tukey's test. All analytical procedures were performed using the scientific statistic software GraphPad Prism 5 (GraphPad Scientific, San Diego, CA, USA). Differences of P < 0.05 were considered as statistically significant.

RESULTS

QUIN induced an early increase of nuclear Nrf2 levels in rat striatal slices

First, we explored the modulation of the \sim 98-kDa Nrf2 form reported by Lau et al. (2013). We wanted to investigate whether this phenomenon is dependent on the presence of QUIN and if it can be modulated by tBHQ, a well-known Nrf2 modulator. For this purpose, rat striatal slices were incubated in the presence of

100 μ M QUIN at 6 h (short-term effect) and/or 25 or 50 μ M tBHQ. QUIN exerted a stimulatory effect on nuclear Nrf2 levels, reaching significant levels compared with control (42% of increase; Fig. 1A, B). Cytoplasmic Nrf2 levels were slightly stimulated by QUIN (18% above the control). In turn, tBHQ (25 μ M) increased the nuclear and cytoplasmic Nrf2 levels *per se* (25% and 43% above the control, respectively). Interestingly, when co-incubated with QUIN, 25 μ M tBHQ stabilized Nrf2 levels to basal values, but at the 50 μ M concentration, a significant stimulation in the nuclear levels of Nrf2 levels was induced by the coordinated action of these two agents (58% above the control).

QUIN increased lipid peroxidation in a concentrationdependent manner in rat striatal slices

Since nuclear Nrf2 translocation is also known to obey prooxidant stimuli, in order to further know if the changes in nuclear levels of Nrf2 induced by QUIN were related to markers of oxidative cell damage, we estimated the concentration-response effect of QUIN on lipid peroxidation (Fig. 2) in rat striatal slices at 6 h of incubation. The toxin exerted a concentration-response effect on lipid peroxidation, achieving a peak with the 100 µM concentration (71% of increase vs. control values), and this effect seems to be correlated with the increase in the levels of nuclear Nrf2 observed in Fig. 1. The changes in lipid peroxidation induced by QUIN in a concentration-dependent manner clearly suggest that the pro-oxidant environment in our experiments represent a potential triggering factor for the transactivation of Nrf2.



Fig. 2. Concentration–response effect of QUIN on lipid peroxidation in rat striatal slices. Lipid peroxidation was estimated at 6 h of incubation with increasing concentrations of QUIN (25–100 μ M). Data are expressed as mean values \pm S.E.M. of n = 6 experiments per group. One-way ANOVA followed by *post hoc* Tukey's test for comparisons against the control. Asterisks denote statistically significant differences (*P < 0.05) vs. control.

QUIN enhanced lipid peroxidation in striatal slices of wild-type (Wt) C57BL/6 mice

We then started our work with mice tissue. First, we characterized the ability of QUIN to induce oxidative damage to lipids in striatal slices of Wt mice that were incubated for 3 h in the presence of the toxin in order to establish a concentration-response effect. QUIN induced a maximum peroxidative effect at 50 μ M (233% above the control). The toxin also enhanced oxidative damage to lipids at 100 μ M (108% above the control). A positive control of oxidative damage (50 μ M FeSO₄) was included in the experiment, but the extent of lipid peroxidation induced by this condition was only moderate (Fig. 3).



Fig. 1. Effects of QUIN (100 μ M) and tBHQ (25 and 50 μ M) on nuclear and cytoplasmic Nrf2 levels in rat striatal slices. In (A), immunoblot for nuclear Nrf2 after 6 h of incubation with QUIN and/or tBHQ. In (B), densitometric analysis of immunoblot from (A). In (B), data are expressed as mean values \pm S.E.M. of n = 3 experiments per group. One-way ANOVA followed by *post hoc* Tukey's test for multiple comparisons. Asterisks denote statistically significant differences (*P < 0.05 and ***P < 0.01) vs. control.

QUIN augmented nuclear Nrf2 levels in an early manner in mice striatal slices

The striatal content of Nrf2 induced at different times of incubation of the slices in the presence of QUIN (50 μ M) is presented in Fig. 4. The time-course of Nrf2 induction by QUIN revealed a transitory and significant stimulation of this factor at short times of incubation (0.5–4 h), peaking at 1 h (231% above the control), and then returning to baseline. Thus, the early and transitory increase of Nrf2 induced by QUIN followed by its partial fall could be interpreted as an early compensatory attempt of cells to counteract oxidative toxicity already in course.

QUIN induced changes in HO-1, SOD and GCL-C protein levels in striatal slices

We further investigated whether the toxin *per se* could be able to induce redox alterations characterized by increased expression of representative phase 2 antioxidant enzymes (HO-1, SOD and GCL-C) in direct correlation to its stimulatory role in the Nrf2 regulation observed in Fig. 4. For this purpose, striatal slices were incubated for 3 h in the presence of QUIN, a time that was assumed to involve an early transactivation of Nrf2. QUIN (50 μ M) enhanced the HO-1 levels compared to control (1.5-fold). In the case of SOD regulation, QUIN stimulated the enzyme levels by 50% above the control. Under the same experimental conditions, QUIN induced an increase of GCL-C levels (28%) compared with the control (Fig. 5).

MK-801 inhibited the lipid peroxidation induced by QUIN in striatal slices of C57BL/6 Wt, but not in Nrf2^{-/-} mice

We then initiated experiments with Nrf2^{+/+} (Wt) and Nrf2^{-/-} mice, also investigating the possible contribution of the NMDAr to the toxic action mediated by QUIN, either in the presence or the absence of Nrf2, through



Fig. 3. Concentration–response effects of QUIN on lipid peroxidation in striatal slices from Wt C57BL/6 mice. Levels of lipid peroxidation generated by QUIN (25–100 μ) were compared against a positive control induced by 50 μ M FeSO₄. Lipid peroxidation is expressed as the percent of TBARS formation vs. control line. Bars correspond to mean values \pm S.E.M. of *n* = 6 experiments per group. One-way ANOVA followed by *post hoc* Tukey's test for comparisons among treatments. Asterisks denote statistically significant differences (**P* < 0.05 and ***P* < 0.01) vs. control.



Fig. 4. Time-course of Nrf2 induction by QUIN (50 μ M) in striatal slices of Wt C57BI/6 mice. In (A), immunoblots for nuclear Nrf2 levels. In (B), densitometric analysis of immunoblots from (A). Also in (B), data are expressed as mean values \pm S.E.M. of n = 6 experiments per group. One-way ANOVA followed by *post hoc* Tukey's test for comparisons among treatments. Asterisks denote statistically significant differences ("P < 0.05) vs. control (0).



Fig. 5. Effect of QUIN (50 μM) on the HO-1, SOD and γ-GCL-C protein levels at 3 h of incubation in striatal slices of Wt C57BL/6 mice. Protein levels (A) and (B) are expressed as the ratio of protein/ β-actin. Data are expressed as mean values ± S.E.M. of n = 6 experiments per group. One-way ANOVA followed by *post hoc* Tukey's test for comparisons among treatments. Asterisks denote statistically significant differences (*P < 0.05) vs. control.

the actions of MK-801. For this purpose, striatal slices from Wt and Nrf2^{-/-} mice were incubated for 3 h in the



Fig. 6. Effect of the NMDAr antagonist MK-801 (50 μ M) on the QUIN (50 μ M)-induced lipid peroxidation in striatal slices of Wt (A) and Nrf2^{-/-} (B) C57BL/6 mice at 3 h of incubation. Levels of lipid peroxidation were compared against a positive control (100 μ M H₂O₂). Lipid peroxidation is expressed as the percent of TBARS formation vs. control. In (C), the effects of QUIN and/or MK-801 on the Nrf2 and HO-1 protein levels. Data are expressed as mean \pm S.E.M. of *n* = 6 experiments per group. One-way ANOVA followed by *post hoc* Tukey's test for comparisons among treatments. Asterisks denote statistically significant differences (**P* < 0.05) vs. control.

presence of QUIN (50 µM) and/or MK-801 (50 µM), and then lipid peroxidation was estimated as the levels of TBARS formation (Fig. 6A, B). QUIN increased lipoperoxidation in slices from Nrf2^{+/+} and Nrf2^{-/-} mice (25% and 32% vs. control, respectively). The positive control (H₂O₂) exerted a pro-oxidant effect in the Wt and the Nrf2^{-/-} conditions. In turn, MK-801 per se produced no effects on lipid peroxidation in mice striatal slices (data not shown). However, when combined, QUIN + MK-801 returned the levels of lipid peroxidation induced by the toxicant alone to baseline in Wt mice (Fig. 6A), but not in the Nrf2^{-/-} condition (Fig. 6B). In slices from Wt mice, QUIN also induced increased protein levels of Nrf2 and HO, and MK-801 was unable to attenuate this effect (Fig. 6C). Once again, MK-801 per se produced no changes in these proteins.

DISCUSSION

Studying the role of the KP metabolite and reported neurotoxin QUIN in the transcription factor Nrf2 regulation in the brain is relevant because variations in the levels of QUIN are known to account for the etiological explanation of HD and other disorders; however, evidence available on this topic remains scarce. To date, some groups have described Nrf2 regulation patterns in HD experimental models. For instance, Li et al. (2007) overexpressed Nrf2 in astrocytes as an antioxidant gene therapy to counteract the lesion produced by the mitochondrial complex II inhibitor malonate in the striatum. In a further study, Nrf2 target genes were up-regulated in PC12 cells

expressing mutant huntingtin, possibly as a protective/ compensatory mechanism (van Roon-Mom et al., 2008). In parallel, these authors discovered alterations in some genes resulting in increased oxidative stress and damage. Shortly thereafter, Stack et al. (2010) showed that the triterpenoids CDDO-ethyl amide and CDDOtrifluoroethyl amide were able to improve the behavioral phenotype and brain pathology in the transgenic N171-82Q mouse model of HD. Both triterpenoids up-regulated Nrf2 and induced neuroprotective genes. In the same context, the fumaric acid ester dimethylfumarate (DMF), a drug commonly employed as a therapy for relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis, exerted neuroprotective effects via induction of Nrf2 and detoxification pathways (Ellrichmann et al., 2011). The effects of DMF in R6/2 and YAC128 HD transgenic mice revealed a significant improvement in different physiological markers (body weight, motor impairment, striatal morphology, etc.). DMF also increased the Nrf2 immunoreactivity in neuronal subpopulations. More recently, in STHdh (Q111/Q111) striatal cells, the mHtt expression resulted in reduced activity of Nrf2, whereas the activation of the Nrf2 pathway by the oxidant tBHQ was significantly impaired (Jin et al., 2013). Altogether, these studies provide biomedical evidence supporting the concept that Nrf2 transactivation and phase 2 antioxidant up-regulation in the brain represent a neuroprotective strategy with clinical relevance for HD therapy, although the role of KP metabolites in this regulation deserves more attention.

During the first part of this study, we demonstrated that rat striatal slices exposed to QUIN are sensitive to

the toxin. In contrast to our previous report (Tasset et al., 2010), the levels of Nrf2 were increased in response to QUIN. We assume that this event represents a compensatory action of the biological system to the toxicant, but not necessarily recruiting a major antioxidant strategy. Interestingly, also in rat striatal slices, QUIN exerted a concentration-response effect on an endpoint of oxidative damage, supporting our previous appreciation that, despite Nrf2 exhibited a tendency to increase after QUIN treatment, the prooxidant environment is propitious to exert oxidative cell damage beyond any effort to activate the endogenous antioxidant defense. Thus, compensatory mechanisms could involve adaptive responses of some specific cell types to oxidative modifications in an attempt to "reorganize" and "redirect" the redox activity if a toxic insult is present, albeit they could not be sufficient to counteract damage already in progress. Meanwhile, the consistent concentration-dependent response of the rat striatal slices to QUIN demonstrates the suitability of this preparation to explore the Keap-1/Nrf2/ARE axis using this toxic paradigm in this species.

We also explored Nrf2-associated responses in mice striatal slices. In this preparation, QUIN evoked a robust peroxidative action at 50 µM concentration, with a more moderate peroxidative action at 100 µM concentration. This result clearly establishes differences in the susceptibility of striatal tissue of these two different species if considering that concentrations typically employed by some groups (including us) for the induction of neurotoxic events in rat striatal slices are between 0.1 and 1 mM (Pérez-De La Cruz et al., 2010; Colle et al., 2012). The effect of QUIN on the striatal levels of Nrf2 in this preparation was stimulated at all times tested and reached a peak at 60 min, pointing out the differential responses to this toxic paradigm depending on the explored species. Nonetheless, this stimulation of Nrf2 by QUIN was likely to be sufficient to induce increased levels of phase 2 enzymes, including HO-1, SOD, and in a less extent, γ -GCL-C. Noteworthy, the magnitude of HO-1 protein levels clearly corresponded to the extent of Nrf2 induction by QUIN. Although Nrf2 is known to regulate the expression of HO-1 and SOD (Tufekci et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2012), it is also known that HO-1 can be regulated by other factors, including the transcriptional activators NF-KB and AP-1, and the transcription repressors BTB and CNC homolog 1 (Bach1), all controlling the inducible HO-1 gene expression (Paine et al., 2010). In turn, SOD and γ -GCL-C levels induced by QUIN were clearly more moderate, but still in line with an early and transitory induction of Nrf2.

Regarding the experiments in striatal slices of Wt and Nrf2^{-/-} mice, our findings revealed interesting features of the early oxidative pattern exerted by QUIN: while moderate differences in the QUIN-induced lipid peroxidation were found among Nrf2^{+/+} and Nrf2^{-/-} slices, the Nrf2^{-/-}, but not the Nrf2^{+/+} slices, were completely insensitive to MK-801, suggesting that Nrf2 regulation might also be subordinated to NMDAr. Altogether, these findings suggest that Nrf2 could be

more relevant as a concurrent physiological redox sensor and potentially concurrent mechanism of resistance against oxidative damage than a physiologically relevant first line of defense, where NMDAr might, somehow, regulate Nrf2 expression and function. These findings also support the concept that most of the actions exerted by QUIN are mediated by NMDAr (Stone et al., 2003).

The attenuation or mitigation of the deleterious actions of QUIN and other toxic KP metabolites emerges as a priority for basic and clinical research because this pathway has gain attention as a potential source of metabolites driving redox and neurochemical alterations in the CNS when the metabolic pathway is altered (Moroni, 1999; Chen and Guillemin, 2009; Zádori et al., 2012). The use of antioxidants with different profiles along several studies using QUIN as the paradigm of choice has demonstrated that its toxic effects can be reduced or even blocked by these agents (reviewed by Pérez-De La Cruz et al. (2012)). While an initial assumption on these findings has suggested that these agents are mostly acting as direct ROS scavengers, our actual perspective is changing to consider an additional, promising and not excluding mechanism: transcriptional Nrf2 regulation. Of note, one of the agents that have been successfully tested against QUIN toxicity is S-allyl cysteine (SAC), an antioxidant compound obtained from the aged garlic extract (Pérez-Severiano et al., 2004). SAC was shown to prevent the QUIN-induced oxidative damage and neurotoxicity, suggesting that oxidative stress is a major component of its toxic pattern. Whether SAC or other antioxidants already tested in the QUIN model can modulate the Nrf2 system to contribute to neuroprotection is a question to explore in further investigations. In addition, another well-known Nrf2 inducer, curcumin, has been recently tested against several markers of the toxic model induced by QUIN in the rat striatum (Carmona-Ramírez et al., 2013), thereby supporting the concept that Nrf2 modulation can constitute a key tool for the mitigation of the noxious actions of QUIN if properly stimulated, and a tool for consideration in the design of therapeutic strategies for those central and peripheral disorders exhibiting alterations in the KP metabolism.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Evidence presented herein suggests that QUIN can exert early redox modifications involving alterations in the Nrf2 modulation. These alterations depend on the time of exposure, the tested concentrations, and the extent of oxidative damage accompanying Nrf2 changes. In turn, these modifications can recruit the up-regulation of phase 2 enzymes, although this effect could merely represent a compensatory response induced by QUIN to the toxic events already in course. Two additional relevant points of this study are: (1) The moderate contribution of the Nrf2^{-/-} condition to stimulate oxidative damage, albeit the striatal slices from these mutant animals were more sensitive to the toxic actions of QUIN; and (2) the possible contribution of NMDAr to



Fig. 7. Schematic representation of the hypothetical mechanisms involved in the Nrf2 regulation by QUIN in the striatum of rodents. QUIN, an NMDAr agonist, is acting mostly through NMDAr overactivation, but also through direct stimulation of ROS formation, thereby accounting for extracellular oxidative damage. Increased levels of intracellular Ca²⁺ induced by opening of the NMDAr-channel complex will be responsible for persistent activation of Ca²⁺-dependent enzymes, including proteases, phospholipases, ATPases and neuronal nitric oxide synthase (NOS). These events will create a scenario of exacerbated intracellular ROS/RNS formation, which will contribute to an altered redox status and might be responsible for an early compensatory Nrf2 nuclear translocation after its dissociation from Keap-1. This effect, however, could not be enough to induce Nrf2 transactivation in terms of a lasting stimulation of phase two enzyme synthesis for cell defense, thereby surrendering to oxidative cell damage and death.

the modulation of the oxidative stress and the Nrf2-mediated responses, as well as its active role in the Nrf2^{+/+}, but not in the Nrf2^{-/-} condition. This first approach opens up more questions than unequivocal conclusions, but it serves as a platform to initiate more detailed studies on the effects of QUIN on the Nrf2 transcription factor, and its potential role as a therapeutic tool to reduce neurodegenerative events involving oxidative damage. A schematic representation of the mechanisms likely occurring in this study is summarized in Fig. 7.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARATION

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgments—This work was supported by CONACyT Grant 205648 (A.S.). We thank Dr. Antonio Cuadrado (Autonomous University of Madrid, Spain) for technical help to conduct the experiments with striatal mice slices. We are also grateful to Dr. Ismael Torres and Dr. Enrique Pinzón for the technical support with the experimental animals. Ana Laura Colín-González is scholarship holder of CONACyT-Mexico (239954).

REFERENCES

- Bradford MM (1976) A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of proteindye binding. Anal Biochem 72:248–254.
- Braidy N, Grant R, Adams S, Brew BJ, Guillemin GJ (2009) Mechanism for quinolinic acid cytotoxicity in human astrocytes and neurons. Neurotox Res 16:77–86.
- Braidy N, Grant R, Adams S, Guillemin GJ (2010) Neuroprotective effects of naturally occurring polyphenols on quinolinic acidinduced excitotoxicity in human neurons. FEBS J 277: 368–382.
- Carmona-Ramírez I, Santamaría A, Tobón-Velasco JC, Orozco-Ibarra M, González-Herrera IG, Pedraza-Chaverrí J, Maldonado PD (2013) Curcumin restores Nrf2 levels and prevents quinolinic acid-induced neurotoxicity. J Nutr Biochem 24:14–24.
- Chen Y, Guillemin GJ (2009) Kynurenine pathway metabolites in humans: disease and healthy states. Int J Tryptophan Res 2:1–19.
- Colle D, Hartwig JM, Soares FA, Farina M (2012) Probucol modulates oxidative stress and excitotoxicity in Huntington's disease models *in vitro*. Brain Res Bull 87:397–405.
- Coyle JT, Puttfarcken P (1993) Oxidative stress, glutamate, and neurodegenerative disorders. Science 262:689–695.
- Dobrachinski F, Bastos LL, Bridi JC, Corte CL, de Ávila DS, da Rocha JB, Soares FA (2012) Cooperation of non-effective concentration of glutamatergic system modulators and antioxidant against

oxidative stress induced by quinolinic acid. Neurochem Res 37:1993-2003.

- Ellrichmann G, Petrasch-Parwez E, Lee DH, Reick C, Arning L, Saft C, Gold R, Linker RA (2011) Efficacy of fumaric acid esters in the R6/2 and YAC128 models of Huntington's disease. PLoS One 6:e16172.
- Espada S, Ortega F, Molina-Jijón E, Rojo Al, Pérez-Sen R, Pedraza-Chaverrí J, Miras-Portugal MT, Cuadrado A (2010) The purinergic P2Y(13) receptor activates the Nrf2/HO-1 axis and protects against oxidative stress-induced neuronal death. Free Radic Biol Med 49:416–426.
- Essa MM, Braidy N, Vijayan KR, Subash S, Guillemin GJ (2013) Excitotoxicity in the pathogenesis of autism. Neurotox Res 23:393–400.
- García E, Limón D, Pérez-De La Cruz V, Giordano M, Díaz-Muñoz M, Maldonado PD, Herrera-Mundo MN, Pedraza-Chaverrí J, Santamaría A (2008) Lipid peroxidation, mitochondrial dysfunction and neurochemical and behavioural deficits in different neurotoxic models: protective role of S-allylcysteine. Free Radic Res 42:892–902.
- Itoh K, Chiba T, Takahashi S, Ishii T, Igarashi K, Katoh Y, Oyake T, Hayashi N, Satoh K, Hatayama I, Yamamoto M, Nabeshima Y (1997) An Nrf2/small Maf heterodimer mediates the induction of phase II detoxifying enzyme genes through antioxidant response elements. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 236:313–322.
- Itoh K, Ishii T, Wakabayashi N, Yamamoto M (1999) Regulatory mechanisms of cellular response to oxidative stress. Free Radic Res 31:319–324.
- Jin YN, Yu YV, Gundemir S, Jo C, Cui M, Tieu K, Johnson GV (2013) Impaired mitochondrial dynamics and Nrf2 signaling contribute to compromised responses to oxidative stress in striatal cells expressing full-length mutant huntingtin. PLoS One 8:e57932.
- Johnson DA, Andrews GK, Xu W, Johnson JA (2002) Activation of the antioxidant response element in primary cortical neuronal cultures derived from transgenic reporter mice. J Neurochem 81:1233–1241.
- Kalonia H, Kumar P, Kumar A, Nehru B (2009) Effects of caffeic acid, rofecoxib, and their combination against quinolinic acid-induced behavioral alterations and disruption in glutathione redox status. Neurosci Bull 25:343–352.
- Kensler TW, Wakabayashi N, Biswal S (2007) Cell survival responses to environmental stresses via the Keap1-Nrf2-ARE pathway. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 47:89–116.
- Lau A, Tian W, Whitman SA, Zhang DD (2013) The predicted molecular weight of Nrf2: it is what it is not. Antioxid Redox Signal 18:91–93.
- Lee JM, Calkins MJ, Chan K, Kan YW, Johnson JA (2003) Identification of the NF-E2-related factor-2-dependent genes conferring protection against oxidative stress in primary cortical astrocytes using oligonucleotide microarray analysis. J Biol Chem 278:12029–12038.
- Li J, Calkins MJ, Johnson DA, Johnson JA (2007) Role of Nrf2dependent ARE-driven antioxidant pathway in neuroprotection. Methods Mol Biol 399:67–78.
- Mehta A, Prabhakar M, Kumar P, Deshmukh R, Sharma PL (2013) Excitotoxicity: bridge to various triggers in neurodegenerative disorders. Eur J Pharmacol 698:6–18.
- Moroni F (1999) Tryptophan metabolism and brain function: focus on kynurenine and other indole metabolites. Eur J Pharmacol 375:87–100.
- Olney JW (1990) Excitotoxicity: an overview. Can Dis Wkly Rep 1E:47–58.
- Paine A, Eiz-Vesper B, Blasczyk R, Immenschuh S (2010) Signaling to heme oxygenase-1 and its anti-inflammatory therapeutic potential. Biochem Pharmacol 80:1895–1903.
- Pérez-De La Cruz V, Carrillo-Mora P, Santamaría A (2012) Quinolinic Acid, an endogenous molecule combining excitotoxicity, oxidative stress and other toxic mechanisms. Int J Tryptophan Res 5:1–8.
- Pérez-De La Cruz V, Elinos-Calderón D, Carrillo-Mora P, Silva-Adaya D, Konigsberg M, Morán J, Ali SF, Chánez-Cárdenas ME, Pérez-De La Cruz G, Santamaría A (2010) Time-course correlation of

early toxic events in three models of striatal damage: modulation by proteases inhibition. Neurochem Int 56:834–842.

- Pérez-De La Cruz V, Königsberg M, Santamaría A (2007) Kynurenine pathway and disease: an overview. CNS Neurol Dis Drug Targets 6:398–410.
- Pérez-Severiano F, Rodríguez-Pérez M, Pedraza-Chaverrí J, Maldonado PD, Medina-Campos ON, Ortíz-Plata A, Sánchez-García A, Villeda-Hernández J, Galván-Arzate S, Aguilera P, Santamaría A (2004) S-allylcysteine, a garlic-derived antioxidant, ameliorates quinolinic acid-induced neurotoxicity and oxidative damage in rats. Neurochem Int 45:1175–1183.
- Rami A, Ferger D, Krieglstein J (1997) Blockade of calpain proteolytic activity rescues neurons from glutamate excitotoxicity. Neurosci Res 27:93–97.
- Rios C, Santamaría A (1991) Quinolinic acid is a potent lipid peroxidant in rat brain homogenates. Neurochem Res 16:1139–1143.
- Rodríguez-Martínez E, Camacho A, Maldonado PD, Pedraza-Chaverrí J, Santamaría D, Galván-Arzate S, Santamaría A (2000) Effect of quinolinic acid on endogenous antioxidants in rat corpus striatum. Brain Res 858:436–439.
- Rojo AI, Rada P, Egea J, Rosa AO, López MG, Cuadrado A (2008) Functional interference between glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta and the transcription factor Nrf2 in protection against kainateinduced hippocampal cell death. Mol Cell Neurosci 39: 125–132.
- Rossato JI, Zeni G, Mello CF, Rubin MA, Rocha JB (2002) Ebselen blocks the quinolinic acid-induced production of thiobarbituric acid reactive species but does not prevent the behavioral alterations produced by intra-striatal quinolinic acid administration in the rat. Neurosci Lett 318:137–140.
- Santamaría A, Jiménez ME (2005) Oxidative/nitrosative stress, a common factor in different neurotoxic paradigms: an overview. Curr Top Neurochem 4:1–20.
- Schwarcz R, Bruno JP, Muchowski PJ, Wu HQ (2012) Kynurenines in the mammalian brain: when physiology meets pathology. Nat Rev Neurosci 13:465–477.
- Schwarcz R, Guidetti P, Sathyasaikumar KV, Muchowski PJ (2010) Of mice, rats and men: revisiting the quinolinic acid hypothesis of Huntington's disease. Prog Neurobiol 90:230–245.
- Silva-Adaya D, Pérez-De La Cruz V, Herrera-Mundo MN, Mendoza-Macedo K, Villeda-Hernández J, Binienda Z, Ali SF, Santamaría A (2008) Excitotoxic damage, disrupted energy metabolism, and oxidative stress in the rat brain: antioxidant and neuroprotective effects of L-carnitine. J Neurochem 105:677–689.
- Stack C, Ho D, Wille E, Calingasan NY, Williams C, Liby K, Sporn M, Dumont M, Beal MF (2010) Triterpenoids CDDO-ethyl amide and CDDO-trifluoroethyl amide improve the behavioral phenotype and brain pathology in a transgenic mouse model of Huntington's disease. Free Radic Biol Med 49:147–158.
- Stone TW, Mackay GM, Forrest CM, Clark CJ, Darlington LG (2003) Tryptophan metabolites and brain disorders. Clin Chem Lab Med 41:852–859.
- Tasset I, Pérez-De La Cruz V, Elinos-Calderón D, Carrillo-Mora P, González-Herrera IG, Luna-López A, Königsberg M, Pedraza-Chaverrí J, Maldonado PD, Ali SF, Túnez I, Santamaría A (2010) Protective effect of Tert-butylhydroquinone on the quinolinic-acidinduced toxicity in rat striatal slices: role of the Nrf2-antioxidant response element pathway. Neurosignals 18:24–31.
- Tsuchihashi S, Livhits M, Zhai Y, Busuttil RW, Araujo JA, Kupiec-Weglinski JW (2006) Basal rather than induced heme oxygenase-1 levels are crucial in the antioxidant cytoprotection. J Immunol 177:4749–4757.
- Tufekci KU, Civi-Bayin E, Genc S, Genc K (2011) The Nrf2/ARE pathway: a promising target to counteract mitochondrial dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. Parkinsons Dis 2011:314082.
- van Roon-Mom WM, Pepers BA, 't Hoen PA, Verwijmeren CA, den Dunnen JT, Dorsman JC, van Ommen GB (2008) Mutant huntingtin activates Nrf2-responsive genes and impairs dopamine synthesis in a PC12 model of Huntington's disease. BMC Mol Biol 9:45–84.

Zádori D, Klivényi P, Szalárdy L, Fülöp F, Toldi J, Vécsei L (2012) Mitochondrial disturbances, excitotoxicity, neuroinflammation and kynurenines: novel therapeutic strategies for neurodegenerative disorders. J Neurol Sci 322:187–191. Zhang R, Chae S, Lee JH, Hyun JW (2012) The cytoprotective effect of butin against oxidative stress is mediated by the up-regulation of manganese superoxide dismutase expression through a PI3K/ Akt/Nrf2-dependent pathway. J Cell Biochem 113:1987–1997.

(Accepted 11 December 2013) (Available online 19 December 2013)



Research Article **Protective Effects of Caffeic Acid on Quinolinic Acid-Induced Behavioral and Oxidative Alterations in Rats**

Ana Laura Colín-González,¹ Sayde Sánchez-Hernández,¹ Maria Eduarda de Lima,² Syed F. Ali,³ Anahí Chavarría,⁴ Juana Villeda,⁵ and Abel Santamaría¹

¹Laboratorio de Aminoácidos Excitadores, Instituto Nacional de Neurología y Neurocirugía, Mexico City 14269, Mexico

²Universidade Federal do Pampa, Uruguaiana, Brazil

³Neurochemistry Laboratory, Division of Neurotoxicology, National Center for Toxicological Research/FDA, Jefferson, AR 72079, USA

⁴Unidad de Medicina Experimental, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Mexico City 04510, Mexico

⁵Laboratorio de Patología Experimental, Instituto Nacional de Neurología y Neurocirugía, Mexico City 14269, Mexico

Address correspondence to Abel Santamaría, absada@yahoo.com

Received 30 October 2015; Revised 20 November 2015; Accepted 9 December 2015

Copyright © 2015 Ana Laura Colín-González et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Abstract *Study design*. The protective effects of the natural antioxidant caffeic acid (CA) on behavioral tasks and lipid peroxidation were tested in an excitotoxic model produced by unilateral intrastriatal injection of quinolinic acid (QUIN), and in striatal slices incubated in the presence of the same toxin. CA (20 mg/kg) was administered intraperitoneally to rats every day for five days; then, rats received QUIN (240 nmol/ μ L). Six days later, motor asymmetry was quantified by the preferential use of forelimbs and the circling behavior tests. Rat striatal slices (300 μ m thick) were incubated in the presence of CA (30–300 μ M) and/or QUIN (100 μ M) to estimate oxidative stress. *Results*. QUIN induced motor asymmetry in lesioned rats and increased lipid peroxidation in striatal slices when compared to control values. CA prevented the QUIN-induced toxic endpoints in a concentration-dependent manner. *Conclusion*. Our results support the neuroprotective role of CA in neurotoxic paradigms recruiting excitotoxic events.

Keywords motor asymmetry; antioxidant defense; excitotoxicity; oxidative stress; corpus striatum; caffeic acid; quinolinic acid

1. Introduction

The kynurenine pathway for tryptophan degradation is responsible for the formation of neuroactive metabolites in the CNS [1]. The alteration in the levels of these metabolites is involved in different neurological disorders [2]. One of these metabolites is quinolinic acid (QUIN), a glutamate agonist acting on NMDA receptors (NMDAr) [3]. Through excitotoxic events, QUIN induces oxidative stress, increased intracellular Ca²⁺ levels, enhanced levels of extracellular glutamate, augmented protease activity, and stimulated deadly cascades under different experimental conditions [4, 5]. In turn, excitotoxicity can be defined as a toxic mechanism affecting neurons that are continuously stimulated via overactivation of NMDAr and further increased intracellular Ca²⁺ levels triggering deadly cascades [6].

Caffeic acid (3,4-dihydroxycinnamic acid or CA) is a natural phenolic compound that has been shown to exert neuroprotective actions against different neurotoxic insults,



Figure 1: Schematic representation of the chemical structures of QUIN (a) and CA (b).

including ischemia and excitotoxic damage in rodents, and these effects have been related with its antioxidant and antiinflammatory properties [7,8,9,10]. Although some positive effects of CA on endpoints of behavioral (motor activity) and redox status (reduced glutathione/oxidized glutathione) alterations in the excitotoxic model induced by QUIN in rats have already been reported [9], key behavioral and oxidative stress markers denoting neuroprotection are still needed as complementary evidence. In particular for this toxic model, motor asymmetry and lipid peroxidation as an index of oxidative damage in the striatum are required. Therefore, the present study aims to evaluate the effects of CA on QUIN-induced behavioral and biochemical alterations in the rat brain. For comparative purposes, the effect of CA was also tested in the 3-nitropropionic acid (3-NP) model of striatal toxicity. The chemical structures of both CA and QUIN are represented in Figure 1.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Reagents

Apomorphine, CA, QUIN, 3-NP, thiobarbituric acid (TBA), and other reagents were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Other chemicals, including buffers, were obtained from other commercial sources.

2.2. Animals and treatments

Twenty eight bred-in-house male Wistar rats (280-320 g) were randomly separated into four groups (seven animals per group). Animals were placed into acrylic cages and provided with Rodent Chow (Purina, St. Louis, MO, USA) and water ad libitum. Constant conditions of temperature $(25^{\circ} \pm 1^{\circ}\text{C})$, humidity $(50\pm10\%)$, and lighting (12:12 light-dark cycle) were maintained throughout the experiments. All experimental procedures with animals were strictly carried out according to the "Guidelines for the Use of Animals in Neuroscience Research" from the Society for Neuroscience, the local ethical committees, and in compliance of the Animal Research: Reporting of In Vivo Experiments (ARRIVE) guidelines.

The dose employed for CA was close to that used in a previous report [9]. The experimental groups were injected intraperitoneally (IP) with sterile water as vehicle or CA (20 mg/kg) every day for five consecutive days. Shortly after the last CA administration (30 min), the animals were anesthetized with sodium pentobarbital (50 mg/kg, IP) and 30 min later infused for 2 min with a single intrastriatal injection of QUIN (240 nmol/ μ L). The dose employed for QUIN has been previously reported [11]. The striatal infusion was performed at the following stereotaxic coordinates: 0.5 mm anterior to bregma, -2.6 mm lateral to bregma, and 4.5 mm ventral to the dura [12]. Control rats received sterile saline intrastriatally and sterile water (pH 7.4) IP. Six days after the striatal lesion, animals from all groups were subjected to behavioral tests.

2.3. Behavioral tests

2.3.1. Circling behavior test

Rotation behavior was evaluated in rats from all groups, following a protocol previously reported by us [13]. Six days after the intrastriatal QUIN infusion, all rats were administered with apomorphine subcutaneously (1 mg/kg, SC) and placed in individual acrylic cages. The number of ipsilateral rotations (complete 360° turns) to the lesioned side was recorded for 60 min in periods of 5 min. Results are expressed as the total number of ipsilateral turns per 60 min. Largely known as a morphine decomposition product, apomorphine is a nonselective dopamine agonist that activates both D1 and D2 dopamine receptors.

2.3.2. Cylinder test

The cylinder test is a behavioral method providing accurate information on locomotor asymmetry in rodent models. Animals were placed into an open-top, clear plastic cylinder, and monitored in regard to their forelimb activity while rearing against the wall. The use of forelimb was defined as the preferential placement of the whole palm of a given limb on the wall of the device, therefore indicating its use for body support while rearing. The number of ipsilateral and contralateral forelimb contacts was calculated and expressed as the count in 5 min.

2.4. Isolation of striatal slices

Rat brains were collected after animal decapitation and placed in ice-cold Krebs-bicarbonate buffer pH 7.4 (120 mM NaCl, 2 mM KCl, 0.5 mM CaCl₂, 26 mM NaHCO₃, 10 mM MgSO₄, 1.18 mM KH₂PO₄, 11 mM glucose, and 200 mM sucrose). Striatal slices were dissected, glued down against agar blocks in small chambers, submerged in cold oxygenated dissection buffer, and sectioned in $300 \,\mu\text{m}$ thick transverse slices using a vibratome (TS1000 Leica; Heidelberg, Germany). Thereafter, the slices were transferred to a sucrose-free dissection buffer, and bubbled with 95% O₂/5% CO₂ at room temperature for 30 min to recover from the slicing procedure. Then, slices were incubated for 30 min, exposed to different concentrations of CA (30, 100 or 300 μ M) or vehicle for 30 min more, and added with QUIN (100 μ M) for 3 h in a shaking water bath at 37 °C. Immediately after incubation, slices were placed on ice, collected, and scheduled for measurement of oxidative damage to lipids. For comparative purposes, a positive control consisting of slices incubated with the mycotoxin 3-nitropropionic acid (3-NP, 1 mM) and preincubated with CA (100 μ M) was ran in parallel.

2.5. Assay of lipid peroxidation

The formation of thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances (TBARS) as an index of lipid peroxidation was determined in striatal slices, according to a previous report [14]. Briefly, 50 μ L aliquots of the homogenates were added to 100 μ L of the TBA reagent (0.75 g of TBA + 15 g of trichloroacetic acid + 2.54 mL of HCl) and incubated at 100 °C for 20 min. The pink chromophore produced after this reaction denoted the amount of peroxidized lipid products. Samples were kept on ice for 5 min and centrifuged at $3,000 \times g$ for 15 min. The optical density was measured in the supernatants in a CYT3MV Biotek Cytation 3 Imaging Reader at 532 nm. The amount of TBA-RS was calculated by interpolation of values in a constructed malondialdehyde (MDA) standard curve. Results were originally calculated as nmol of MDA per mg protein, and finally expressed as percent of lipid peroxidation versus control. The content of protein in samples was determined by Bradford's method [15].

2.6. Statistical analysis

Results were expressed as mean values \pm SEM. Behavioral data were analyzed by nonparametric ANOVA (Kruskal-Wallis) followed by comparison with Mann-Whitney's test. Biochemical data were analyzed with



Figure 2: Effect of CA (20 mg/kg, IP) on the behavioral alterations induced by QUIN (240 nmol/ μ L) in rats. Rats were administered with CA for five consecutive days prior a single infusion of QUIN into the right striatum. Both behavioral markers of motor asymmetry were explored six days after QUIN injection. The preferential use of forelimbs ((b) and (c)) was monitored for 5 min by placing the animals into a plastic cylinder. Immediately thereafter, rats were administered with apomorphine (1 mg/kg, SC) and the number of ipsilateral turns was recorded every 5 min for 60 min. Each bar represents mean values \pm one SEM of seven rats per group. ^aP < .05 different of control, ^bP < .05 different of QUIN. Data analysis was performed with a nonparametric ANOVA (Kruskal-Wallis) followed by a comparison with Mann-Whitney's test.

a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) for repeated measures, followed by post-hoc Tukey's test. The analytical procedures were performed using the scientific statistic software GraphPad Prism 5 (GraphPad Scientific, San Diego, CA, USA). Differences of P < .05 were considered as statistically significant.

3. Results

3.1. CA prevented the QUIN-induced behavioral alterations in rats

Figure 2 shows the behavioral results obtained from rats subjected to the rotation behavior test (Figure 2(a)) and the cylinder test (Figures 2(b) and 2(c)).

In Figure 2(a), the control animals—receiving apomorphine six days after intrastriatally infused with vehicle—displayed no rotations, although they exhibited excitement and hyperactivity during the evaluation time (data not shown). The group receiving CA displayed a moderate number of ipsilateral rotations (18 ± 9). The QUIN-lesioned rats displayed a considerable number of rotations in 60 min (121 ± 16 ; P < .05 vs. control) in response to apomorphine, whereas the group pretreated with CA and further infused with QUIN displayed a moderate number of rotations, similar to the CA group (22 ± 6 ; 82% below QUIN; P < .05 vs. QUIN).

Figures 2(b) and 2(c) depict the preferential use of forelimbs in the cylinder test for 5 min. Control rats showed, more or less, and equal use of the right $(7.5 \pm 2.3 \text{ times})$ versus the left forelimb $(6.2 \pm 1.7 \text{ times})$. This tendency was not significantly changed in animals receiving CA $(6.1 \pm 1.2$ for the right forelimb vs. 2.3 ± 0.2 for the left forelimb). In contrast, the group receiving QUIN exhibited a remarkable increased preference of the right forelimb $(21.0\pm3.3 \text{ times}; 180\% \text{ above the control}; P < .05)$ versus the left forelimb $(0.4\pm0.2; 83\% \text{ below the control}; P < .05)$. These tendencies were prevented in QUIN-lesioned rats by the pretreatment with CA $(7.8\pm2.1 \text{ for the right forelimb vs. } 1.7\pm0.3 \text{ for the left forelimb}; 63\% \text{ below and } 325\% \text{ above QUIN}, \text{resp.}; P < .05 \text{ against QUIN for both cases}).$

3.2. CA reduced the QUIN-induced oxidative damage to lipids in rat striatal slices in a dose-dependent manner

Figure 3 depicts the curve-response effects (as percent values vs. the control) of CA on QUIN-induced striatal lipid peroxidation. QUIN per se produced a significant increase in oxidative damage to lipids when compared to control (49.5 \pm 7.6% above the control; P < .05). CA per se, administered at different concentrations (30, 100, and 300 μ M), reduced the levels of lipid peroxidation below the control levels (39, 10, and 19% below the control, resp.), although none of these changes were statistically significant. When preadministered to QUIN-treated slices, CA reduced the oxidative damage to lipids by 18, 40 (P < .05) and 87% (P < .05) versus QUIN, respectively, in a concentration-dependent manner.

In the upper right panel, 3-NP per se increased the levels of lipid peroxidation by 735% above the control (P < .05). Once again, CA per se did not affect the oxidative damage when compared to the control (19% below the control), whereas when preadministered to 3-NP-treated slices, it reduced the 3-NP-induced lipid peroxidation by 32% (P < .05).



Figure 3: Curve-response effect of CA $(30-300 \,\mu\text{M})$ on the striatal oxidative damage to lipids (TBARS formation) induced by QUIN $(100 \,\mu\text{M})$ in tissue slices. For comparative purposes, the effect of CA $(100 \,\mu\text{M})$ was also tested on the lipoperoxidative effect induced by 3-nitropropionic acid (3-NP, 1 mM) in additional groups (small graph in the right corner). Bars represent mean values \pm SEM of seven experiments per group. ^a*P* < .05 statistically different of control, ^b*P* < .05 statistically different of QUIN or 3-NP. Data analysis was performed with a one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's test.

4. Discussion

In this simple study, we found evidence that the natural phenolic compound CA exerted neuroprotective properties against the excitotoxic damage induced by QUIN in the rat striatum. We achieved this conclusion through the positive effects of CA observed on both behavioral and biochemical endpoints of striatal toxicity induced by QUIN. CA was able to significantly attenuate the QUIN-induced circling behavior and the use of the right forelimb, thus confirming that enough degree of neuroprotection is achieved through this agent to prevent the motor asymmetry evoked by the neurotoxin. In addition, it can also be assumed that the preventive effect exerted by CA on QUIN- and 3-NPinduced striatal lipid peroxidation-a major indicator of oxidative damage-is due to the antioxidant properties previously reported for this phenolic compound [7,8,9,10], and this effect might strongly account for its neuroprotective action in the brain.

Our results are complementary to previous findings reported by Kalonia et al. [9], who demonstrated that CA administered per orally (5 mg/kg and 10 mg/kg, PO) was able to prevent alterations in locomotor activity in animals intrastriatally lesioned with QUIN. Despite the obvious experimental differences between Kalonia's report and ours (PO vs. IP administration of CA, range of dosage for CA, and the dose of QUIN employed [300 nmol vs. 240 nmol], all in regard to the in vivo approach), CA demonstrates to be a protective agent that can reduce behavioral and biochemical alterations in the toxic model evoked by QUIN.

Few reports have previously deal with the concept that CA and QUIN are opposite in their effects. Hirai and coworkers [16] described the effects of some natural iron chelators and derivatives on in vitro oxygen consumption rates and superoxide radical formation. Among the agents tested, QUIN and CA were compared. These authors found that QUIN repressed oxygen consumption, whereas CA accelerated it. In turn, these opposite effects establish relevant chemical basis to understand the mechanistic nature of these two different molecules in regard to the induction of superoxide formation (for the case of QUIN) or its repression (for the case of CA). More recently, Minakata et al. [17] tested the capacity of QUIN and CA to modulate the formation of radicals in the reaction mixtures of rat liver microsomes in the presence of ADP, Fe³⁺, and NADPH in order to provide information on the protective actions of CA and the neurotoxic actions of QUIN through a redox approach. They demonstrated that while CA inhibited the radical formation, QUIN enhanced their production. The conclusion achieved from these observations is that oxidative stress is part of the toxic pattern elicited by QUIN in the progression of several pathological conditions, whereas antioxidant activity is part of the protective profile of CA and other natural polyphenols. In addition, other groups have provided direct evidence on the in vivo protective effect of CA in other toxic paradigms. For example, Kumar et al. [10] demonstrated that CA is able to reduce different endpoints of oxidative damage and mitochondrial dysfunction in a murine model of chronic fatigue, once again emphasizing the relevance of the antioxidant profile of CA to exert its protective actions. Like this, other studies have provided relevant evidence that CA can prevent different deleterious events linked to oxidative stress and inflammation in chronic pathological conditions.

Of final consideration, phenolic acids, such as CA, may present or combine with other acids in its natural form. Through its combination with other acids, CA yields the formation of another important antioxidant compound, chlorogenic acid (CGA), and such biotransformation occurs by esterification of CA with a cyclic alcohol-acid, quinic acid [18]. Noteworthy, similar to CA, CGA has been also described to exert protective actions in a number of inflammatory and oxidative events [19]. CGA is the most abundant polyphenol found in food and plants [18,19], thus it can be hypothesized that the presence of both of these agents might induce a simultaneous action, thereby enhancing the protective effect of CA. Of course, this speculation deserves further and more detailed investigation.

In summary, CA is a promising antioxidant tool to investigate the role of oxidative stress in toxic models of neurodegenerative disorders coursing with excitotoxic events. However, more detailed studies are needed to characterize the precise mechanisms underlying the antioxidant and neuroprotective properties of this naturally occurring agent.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by CONACyT grant 205648 (A.S., Mexico). Ana Laura Colín-González is a doctoral student from the Programa de Doctorado en Ciencias Biomédicas, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México (UNAM) and received fellowship 239954 from CONACyT.

Conflict of interest The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- V. Pérez-De La Cruz, M. Königsberg, and A. Santamaría, Kynurenine pathway and disease: an overview, CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets, 6 (2007), 398–410.
- [2] R. Schwarcz, J. P. Bruno, P. J. Muchowski, and H. Q. Wu, *Kynurenines in the mammalian brain: when physiology meets pathology*, Nat Rev Neurosci, 13 (2012), 465–477.

- [3] T. W. Stone, G. M. Mackay, C. M. Forrest, C. J. Clark, and L. G. Darlington, *Tryptophan metabolites and brain disorders*, Clin Chem Lab Med, 41 (2003), 852–859.
- [4] V. Pérez-De La Cruz, P. Carrillo-Mora, and A. Santamaría, Quinolinic acid, an endogenous molecule combining excitotoxicity, oxidative stress and other toxic mechanisms, Int J Tryptophan Res, 5 (2012), 1–8.
- [5] G. J. Guillemin, Quinolinic acid, the inescapable neurotoxin, FEBS J, 279 (2012), 1356–1365.
- [6] M. M. Essa, N. Braidy, K. R. Vijayan, S. Subash, and G. J. Guillemin, *Excitotoxicity in the pathogenesis of autism*, Neurotox Res, 23 (2013), 393–400.
- [7] A. Kart, Y. Cigremis, M. Karaman, and H. Ozen, Caffeic acid phenethyl ester (CAPE) ameliorates cisplatin-induced hepatotoxicity in rabbit, Exp Toxicol Pathol, 62 (2010), 45–52.
- [8] D. Sul, H. S. Kim, D. Lee, S. S. Joo, K. W. Hwang, and S. Y. Park, Protective effect of caffeic acid against beta-amyloidinduced neurotoxicity by the inhibition of calcium influx and tau phosphorylation, Life Sci, 84 (2009), 257–262.
- [9] H. Kalonia, P. Kumar, A. Kumar, and B. Nehru, Effects of caffeic acid, rofecoxib, and their combination against quinolinic acidinduced behavioral alterations and disruption in glutathione redox status, Neurosci Bull, 25 (2009), 343–352.
- [10] A. Kumar, A. Vashist, and P. Kumar, Potential role of pioglitazone, caffeic acid and their combination against fatigue syndrome-induced behavioural, biochemical and mitochondrial alterations in mice, Inflammopharmacology, 18 (2010), 241–251.
- [11] F. Pérez-Severiano, M. Rodríguez-Pérez, J. Pedraza-Chaverrí, P. D. Maldonado, O. N. Medina-Campos, A. Ortíz-Plata, et al., S-Allylcysteine, a garlic-derived antioxidant, ameliorates quinolinic acid-induced neurotoxicity and oxidative damage in rats, Neurochem Int, 45 (2004), 1175–1183.
- [12] G. Paxinos and C. Watson, *The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates*, Academic Press, New York, 4th ed., 1998.
- [13] D. Silva-Adaya, V. Pérez-De La Cruz, M. N. Herrera-Mundo, K. Mendoza-Macedo, J. Villeda-Hernández, Z. Binienda, et al., *Excitotoxic damage, disrupted energy metabolism, and oxidative* stress in the rat brain: antioxidant and neuroprotective effects of L-carnitine, J Neurochem, 105 (2008), 677–689.
- [14] E. Garcia, D. Limon, V. Perez-De La Cruz, M. Giordano, M. Diaz-Muñoz, P. D. Maldonado, et al., *Lipid peroxidation*, *mitochondrial dysfunction and neurochemical and behavioural deficits in different neurotoxic models: protective role of Sallylcysteine*, Free Radic Res, 42 (2008), 892–902.
- [15] M. M. Bradford, A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding, Anal Biochem, 72 (1976), 248–254.
- [16] T. Hirai, K. Fukushima, K. Kumamoto, and H. Iwahashi, *Effects of some naturally occurring iron ion chelators on in vitro superoxide radical formation*, Biol Trace Elem Res, 108 (2005), 77–85.
- [17] K. Minakata, K. Fukushima, M. Nakamura, and H. Iwahashi, Effect of some naturally occurring iron ion chelators on the formation of radicals in the reaction mixtures of rat liver microsomes with ADP, Fe³⁺ and NADPH, J Clin Biochem Nutr, 49 (2011), 207–215.
- [18] M. R. Olthof, P. C. Hollman, and M. B. Katan, *Chlorogenic acid and caffeic acid are absorbed in humans*, J Nutr, 131 (2001), 66–71.
- [19] Y. Sato, S. Itagaki, T. Kurokawa, J. Ogura, M. Kobayashi, T. Hirano, et al., *In vitro and in vivo antioxidant properties of chlorogenic acid and caffeic acid*, Int J Pharm, 403 (2011), 136–138.

9.3. EXISTE UN SINERGISMO TÓXICO ENTRE EL QUIN Y LOS METABOLITOS QUE SE ACUMULAN EN LAS ACIDEMIAS ORGÁNICAS

¿Puede el QUIN generar sinergismos tóxicos con otras moléculas para inducir neurotoxicidad y favorecer así procesos patológicos que expliquen diversas enfermedades neurodegenerativas? La incubación de sinaptosomas (terminales nerviosas) con ácidos orgánicos en concentraciones subtóxicas no produjo efectos deletéreos; sin embargo, la co-incubación de estos metabolitos con QUIN disminuyó la función mitocondrial, aumentó la formación de especies reactivas y la lipoperoxidación. Interesantemente, para todos los casos este efecto fue parcialmente prevenido por el ácido kinurénico, un antagonista de los rNMDA, y por la L-NAME, un inhibidor de la sintasa de óxido nítrico, lo que sugiere que este nuevo modelo sinérgico involucra mecanismos de excitotoxicidad y de estrés nitrérgico. Más aún, los efectos tóxicos fueron completamente prevenidos por la acción antioxidante de la SAC, proporcionando un papel central al estrés oxidante en este modelo. En general, estos hallazgos sugieren que el daño causado un aumento en los niveles de ácidos orgánicos en acidemias metabólicas puede ser magnificado por la presencia del QUIN, un proceso que es principalmente mediado por estrés oxidante.

En apoyo a estos resultados, se realizaron experimentos *in vivo* para confirmar el posible sinergismo encontrado *in vitro*. La administración intraestriatal de QUIN a animales gcdh^{-/-} alimentados con una dieta alta en lisina produjo una disminución en la actividad de la creatina cinasa y del complejo IV de la cadena respiratoria, aumentó marcadores de estrés (lipoperoxidación, formación de nitrito/nitrato), y disminuyó los niveles de glutatión reducido. Todos estos cambios pueden deberse al efecto aditivo del QUIN con AG y 3-OHAG, y confirman el sinergismo tóxico y el papel central del estrés oxidante en este modelo combinado.

TOXIC SYNERGISM BETWEEN QUINOLINIC ACID AND ORGANIC ACIDS ACCUMULATING IN GLUTARIC ACIDEMIA TYPE I AND IN DISORDERS OF PROPIONATE METABOLISM IN RAT BRAIN SYNAPTOSOMES: RELEVANCE FOR METABOLIC ACIDEMIAS

A. L. COLÍN-GONZÁLEZ, ^{a†} A. L. PAZ-LOYOLA, ^{a†} I. SERRATOS, ^b B. SEMINOTTI, ^{c†} C. A. J. RIBEIRO, ^{c†} G. LEIPNITZ, ^c D. O. SOUZA, ^c M. WAJNER^{c,d*} AND A. SANTAMARÍA^{a*}

^a Laboratorio de Aminoácidos Excitadores, Instituto Nacional de Neurología y Neurocirugía, S.S.A., Mexico City, Mexico

^b Departamento de Química, Universidad Autónoma

Metropolitana-Iztapalapa, Mexico City, Mexico

^c Departamento de Bioquímica, Instituto de Ciências Básicas da Sáude, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil

^d Serviço de Genética Médica, Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil

Abstract—The brain of children affected by organic acidemias develop acute neurodegeneration linked to accumulation of endogenous toxic metabolites like glutaric (GA), 3-hydroxyglutaric (3-OHGA), methylmalonic (MMA) and propionic (PA) acids. Excitotoxic and oxidative events are involved in the toxic patterns elicited by these organic acids. although their single actions cannot explain the extent of brain damage observed in organic acidemias. The characterization of co-adjuvant factors involved in the magnification of early toxic processes evoked by these metabolites is essential to infer their actions in the human brain. Alterations in the kynurenine pathway (KP) – a metabolic route devoted to degrade tryptophan to form NAD⁺ – produce increased levels of the excitotoxic metabolite quinolinic acid (QUIN), which has been involved in neurodegenerative disorders. Herein we investigated the effects of subtoxic con-

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.09.002

0306-4522/© 2015 IBRO. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

centrations of GA, 3-OHGA, MMA and PA, either alone or in combination with QUIN, on early toxic endpoints in rat brain synaptosomes. To establish specific mechanisms, we pre-incubated synaptosomes with different protective agents, including the endogenous N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor antagonist kynurenic acid (KA), the antioxidant S-allylcysteine (SAC) and the nitric oxide synthase (NOS) inhibitor nitro-L-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME). While the incubation of synaptosomes with toxic metabolites at subtoxic concentrations produced no effects, their co-incubation (QUIN + GA, +3-OHGA, +MMA or +PA) decreased the mitochondrial function and increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) formation and lipid peroxidation. For all cases, this effect was partially prevented by KA and L-NAME, and completely avoided by SAC. These findings suggest that early damaging events elicited by organic acids involved in metabolic acidemias can be magnified by toxic synergism with QUIN, and this process is mostly mediated by oxidative stress, and in a lesser extent by excitotoxicity and nitrosative stress. Therefore, QUIN can be hypothesized to contribute to the pathophysiology of brain degeneration in children with metabolic acidemias. © 2015 IBRO. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Key words: organic acidemias, excitotoxicity, oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, cell damage, toxic synergism.

INTRODUCTION

The hereditary metabolic disorders known as organic acidemias (OA) are characterized by a blockage of the aberrant catabolism of amino acids and lipids due to a deficient activity of specific enzymes. These alterations are responsible for the accumulation and high urinary excretion of potentially toxic organic acids (Bodamer et al., 2006). Neurological symptoms and brain abnormalities are seen in patients suffering from OA. Glutaric acidemia type I (GA I), methylmalonic acidemia (MMAcidemia) and propionic acidemia (PAcidemia) have a relatively high prevalence in the population, all with a severe clinical presentation in the neonatal period.

GA I is known to be caused by a deficiency of glutaryl-CoA dehydrogenase (GDD, McKusick 23167; OMIM # 231670) activity, resulting in the accumulation of glutaric (GA, 500–5000 μ mol/L) and 3-hydroxyglutaric (3-OHGA, 40–200 μ mol/L) acids in the CNS (Kölker et al., 2004; Sauer et al., 2006). Among its pathological features are

^{*}Corresponding authors. Address: Departamento de Bioquímica, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Rua Ramiro Barcelos, 2600 Anexo, CEP 90035-003, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil. Tel: +55-5133085571; fax: +55-5133085540 (M. Wajner). Laboratorio de Aminoácidos Excitadores, Instituto Nacional de Neurología y Neurocirugía, SSA, Mexico City 14269, Mexico. Tel: +52-55-5606-3822x2013 (A. Santamaría).

E-mail addresses: mwajner@ufrgs.br (M. Wajner), absada@yahoo. com (A. Santamaría).

[†] These authors equally contributed to this work.

Abbreviations: GA, glutaric acid; GA I, glutaric acidemia type I; GDD, glutaryI-CoA dehydrogenase; HEPES, 4-(2-hydroxyethyI)-1-piperazi neethanesulfonic acid; KA, kynurenic acid; KP, kynurenine pathway; L-NAME, L-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester; MDA, Malondialdehyde; MMA, methylmalonic acid; MMAcidemia, methylmalonic acidemia; MTT, 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yI)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide; NMDA, N-methyl-D-aspartate; NMDAr, NMDA receptors; NOS, nitric oxide synthase; OA, organic acidemias; PA, propionic acid; PAcidemia, propionic acidemia; QUIN, quinolinic acid; RNS, reactive nitrogen species; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SAC, S-allylcysteine; TBA, thiobarbituric acid; 3-OHGA, 3-hydroxyglutaric acid.

a fronto-temporal cortical atrophy at birth, progressive spongy formation, leukoencephalopathy and acute damage of the caudate/putamen occurring between 6 months and 4 years of age (Amir et al., 1987; Hoffmann and Zschocke, 1999). Experimental evidence suggests that accumulating organic acids induce excitotoxicity, oxidative stress and energy metabolism impairment (Flott-Rahmel et al., 1997; Latini et al., 2002; de Oliveira Marques et al., 2003; Kölker et al., 2004; Wajner et al., 2004; Sauer et al., 2005; Latini et al., 2005a,b; Ferreira et al., 2007; Rosa et al., 2007), although the precise pathogenic mechanisms occurring in GA I have not been fully described.

In turn, MMAcidemia and PAcidemia are caused by severe deficiencies of methylmalonyl-CoA mutase (EC 5.4.99.2) and propionyl-CoA carboxylase (EC 6.4.1.3) activities, respectively. MMAcidemia is biochemically characterized by accumulation of methylmalonic acid (MMA) (1-2.5 mmol/L), whereas PAcidemia by propionic acid (PA) (5 mmol/L) in blood. Clinical manifestations of these two OA comprise lethargy, psychomotor delay/mental retardation, focal and generalized vomiting, dehydration, hepatomegaly, convulsions, hypotonia, and encephalopathy further leading to coma and death (Deodato et al., 2006; Hauser et al., 2011). Disrupted myelination revealing progressive cortical atrophy, as well as histopathological injury of the basal ganglia can be observed (Brismar and Ozand, 1994; Chemelli et al., 2000; Harting et al., 2008). For both acidemias, brain damage has been related to the toxic actions produced by their corresponding accumulating metabolites. This suggestion is based on experimental evidence demonstrating that MMA can cause brain mitochondrial energy metabolism disruption, as well as redox status and glutamatergic transmission alterations (Kölker et al., 2006; Sauer et al., 2006, 2010; Stellmer et al., 2007), whereas PA has also been shown to exert toxic effects in the rat brain (Wyse et al., 1998; Brusque et al., 1999; de Mattos-Dutra et al., 2000; Fontella et al., 2000; Pettenuzzo et al., 2002; Trindade et al., 2002; Rigo et al., 2006; Ribas et al., 2010a,b).

Tryptophan catabolism and NAD⁺ synthesis occur in cells from different tissues through the kynurenine pathway (KP). This metabolic route is relevant for biomedical research as neuroactive intermediary metabolites are synthesized throughout (reviewed by Pérez-De La Cruz et al. (2007)), some of which are involved in pathogenic processes of neurological disorders, including Huntington's disease (HD) (reviewed by Schwarcz et al., 2010, 2012). One of these KP metabolites, quinolinic acid (QUIN or 2,3-pyridine dicarboxylic acid) is an endogenous N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAr) agonist (Stone et al., 2003). QUIN induces excitotoxicity in animal models and cell cultures, provoking enhanced intracellular [Ca2+], augmented levels of extracellular glutamate, increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) formation, decreased activity and expression of antioxidant systems, oxidative stress, stimulated protease activity and cell death (Rios and Santamaría, 1991; Rodríguez-Martínez et al., 2000; Tavares et al., 2000; Braidy et al., 2009,

2010; Pérez-De La Cruz et al., 2010). Moreover, QUIN could exert a pathogenic role in different neurodegenerative disorders since increased levels of this metabolite have been described in these pathological conditions (Schwarcz et al., 2010).

When considered separately, the toxic profiles characterized at the experimental level for the organic acids accumulating in OA and for QUIN in human neurological disorders could be not sufficient to explain the extent of cell and tissue damage produced by them *per se*, yielding the assumption that additional and additive mechanisms could account for the toxic profiles of these metabolites. Therefore, the aim of this work was to investigate whether GA, 3-OHGA, MMA or PA can exert synergic toxic effects with QUIN when tested in rat brain synaptosomes at subtoxic concentrations, upon the hypothesis that QUIN might eventually contribute to neurodegenerative processes in OA.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

Reagents

GA, MMA, PA, QUIN, HEPES, thiobarbituric acid (TBA), kynurenic acid (KA), L-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME), malondialdehyde (MDA), 3-(4,5-dimethylthia zol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT), and other reagents were obtained from Sigma–Aldrich Chemical Co. (St Louis, MO, USA). Dr. Ernesto Brunet (Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, Spain) kindly supplied 3-OHGA. Other reagents were obtained from other well-known commercial sources. S-allylcysteine (SAC) was synthesized according to previous reports (García et al., 2008, 2014).

Animals

Male Wistar adult (250–300 g) rats were used throughout the study. Animals (N = 40) were obtained from the vivarium of the Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México. All rats were housed five per cage and provided with food and water *ad libitum* under constant conditions of temperature ($25 \pm 3 \,^{\circ}$ C), humidity and light (12:12-h light:dark schedule). All animal manipulations were carried out following the "Guidelines for the Use of Animals in Neuroscience Research" from the Society of Neuroscience, the local Ethics Committees, and in compliance with the ARRIVE guidelines.

Isolation of brain synaptosomal P2 fractions and treatments

Isolation of synaptosomal P2 fractions from rat brains was carried out according to Lopachin et al. (2009), with modifications (Rangel-López et al., 2015). All brains (without cerebellum) were surgically removed, weighted, transferred to ice-cooled PBS (pH 7.4), and homogenized in 10 volumes (g/ml) of sucrose (0.32 M). The cerebellum was excluded because this brain region is generally not altered in GA I, MMAcidemia and PAcidemia, whose accumulating metabolites were tested in our work. Homogenates were centrifuged for 10 min at $1073 \times g$ (4 °C) and



Fig. 1. Effects of kynurenic acid (KA, 50 μ M) on the quinolinic acid (QUIN, 50 μ M) plus glutaric acid (GA, 500 μ M)-, 3-hydroxyglutaric acid (3-OHGA)-, methylmalonic acid (MMA)- or propionic acid (PA)-induced changes in mitochondrial function (A), reactive oxygen species (ROS) formation (B) and lipid peroxidation (C) in rat brain synaptosomal fractions. KA was added to synaptosomes in incubation 30 min before the simultaneous addition of QUIN and/or organic acids. The total incubation time was 60 min. All data are expressed as mean values \pm S.E.M. of n = 6-8 experiments per group. One-way ANOVA followed by *post hoc* Duncan's test for comparisons among treatments. Symbols denote statistical differences vs. control ($^{2}P < 0.05$), and vs. QUIN plus each organic acid ($^{b}P < 0.05$).

the supernatants were re-centrifuged for 15 min at $17,000 \times g$ (4 °C). The resulting pellets were resuspended in 40 volumes (ml) of HEPES-buffer containing 0.1 M NaCl, 0.001 M NaH₂PO₄, 0.005 M NaHCO₃, 0.001 M CaCl₂, 0.006 M glucose, and 0.01 M HEPES (pH 7.4). Aliquots were briefly stored at -70 °C until employed for the experiments. Total protein quantifications were estimated using the technique reported by Bradford (1976).

Synaptosomal fractions were pre-incubated for 30 min at 37 °C with O₂ supply, and immediately thereafter coincubated for 30 min with GA, 3-OHGA, MMA or PA (all at 500 μ M) plus QUIN (50 μ M). These concentrations were assumed to be subtoxic as revealed by the estimation of toxic endpoints with the different agents added separately. Effective concentrations of other agents (50 μ M KA, an endogenous NMDAr antagonist; 100 μ M SAC, a potent antioxidant; 100 μ M L-NAME, a nitric oxide synthase (NOS) inhibitor; 0.05 U/mL catalase (CAT), an antioxidant and detoxifying enzyme; and 500 μ M creatine (CREAT), a well-known metabolic precursor) were added as pretreatments 30 min before the addition of toxic metabolites in order to explore possible mechanisms involved in these models since a pharmacological perspective. Data of 6–8 experiments per group (three probes per condition per experiment) were collected for each endpoint evaluated. After exposed to the mentioned treatments, synaptosomal fractions were assigned to the different analytical procedures described as follows.

The assay of ROS formation

The formation of ROS was estimated according to previous reports (Santamaría et al., 2001; Rangel-López et al., 2015). After incubating in the presence of the different treatments, the synaptosomal fractions were diluted in nine volumes of 40 mM Tris plus HEPES buffer. Then, samples were incubated with 5 μ M 2',7'-dichlorofluores cein diacetate (DCFH-DA) for 60 min at 37 °C. Fluorescent signals were recorded at 488 nm of excitation and



Fig. 2. Effects of S-allyl cysteine (SAC, 100 μ M) on the quinolinic acid (QUIN, 50 μ M) plus glutaric acid (GA, 500 μ M)-, 3-hydroxyglutaric acid (3-OHGA)-, methylmalonic acid (MMA)- or propionic acid (PA)-induced changes in mitochondrial function (A), reactive oxygen species (ROS) formation (B) and lipid peroxidation (C) in rat brain synaptosomal fractions. SAC was added to synaptosomes in incubation 30 min before the simultaneous addition of QUIN and/or organic acids. The total incubation time was 60 min. All data are expressed as mean values \pm S.E.M. of n = 6-8 experiments per group. One-way ANOVA followed by *post hoc* Duncan's test for comparisons among treatments. Symbols denote statistical differences vs. control ($^{a}P < 0.05$), and vs. QUIN plus each organic acid ($^{b}P < 0.05$).

525 nm of emission wavelengths in a CYT3MV Biotek Cytation 3 Imaging Reader. Results were expressed as micromoles of 2',7'-dichlorofluorescein (DCF)/g wet tissue.

Assay of lipid peroxidation

The formation of thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances (TBARS) in synaptosomes was used as an index of lipid peroxidation, according to a previous report (García et al., 2008). After homogenized, the synaptosomal fractions (200 μ L) were added with 500 μ L of the TBA reagent containing 0.75 g of TBA + 15 g of trichloroacetic acid + 2.54 mL of HCI. The pink chromophore indicating the amount of peroxidized lipids was formed in samples after incubated in a water bath at 100 °C for 30 min. To stop the reaction, samples were kept on ice for 5 min and further centrifuged at $3000 \times g$ for 15 min. A CYT3MV Biotek Cytation 3 Imaging Reader was used to estimate the optical density of the supernatants at 532 nm. A standard curve was constructed in parallel with

tetramethoxypropane and served for interpolation and calculation of the amounts of TBARS – mostly MDA – formed in samples. Final results were estimated as nanomoles of MDA per mg protein, and finally expressed as the percent of lipid peroxidation vs. control.

The MTT reduction assay for functional assessment of synaptosomes

The functional status of the respiratory chain and mitochondrial function was estimated in synaptosomes by the MTT reduction assay, according to a method previously described (Rangel-López et al., 2015). Briefly, the synaptosomes were added with 8 μ l of MTT (5 mg/ml) and re-incubated for 60 min at 37 °C. Samples were centrifuged at 15,300×g for 15 min and the pellets resuspended in 1 ml of isopropanol. The aqueous phase was discarded after the first centrifugation. The second centrifugation was performed at 1700×g for 3 min. A CYT3MV Biotek Cytation 3 Imaging Reader was used to estimate the content of formazan at a 570 nm wavelength.



Fig. 3. Effects of L-nitro-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME, 100 μ M) on the quinolinic acid (QUIN, 50 μ M) plus glutaric acid (GA, 500 μ M)-, 3-hydroxyglutaric acid (3-OHGA)-, methylmalonic acid (MMA)- or propionic acid (PA)-induced changes in mitochondrial function (A), reactive oxygen species (ROS) formation (B) and lipid peroxidation (C) in rat brain synaptosomal fractions. L-NAME was added to synaptosomes in incubation 30 min before the simultaneous addition of QUIN and/or organic acids. The total incubation time was 60 min. All data are expressed as mean values ± S.E.M. of n = 6-8 experiments per group. One-way ANOVA followed by *post hoc* Duncan's test for comparisons among treatments. Symbols denote statistical differences vs. control (^aP < 0.05), and vs. QUIN plus each organic acid (^bP < 0.05).

Results were expressed as the percent of MTT reduction vs. control values.

Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as mean values \pm S.E.M. All results were statistically analyzed by a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), followed by *post hoc* Duncan's test. Statistical significance was assigned to comparison of treatments reaching values of P < 0.05. The statistical procedures were performed using the scientific statistic software GraphPad Prism 5 (GraphPad Scientific, San Diego, CA, USA).

RESULTS

GA, 3-OHGA, MMA and PA exerted a synergism with QUIN on different toxic endpoints

As above mentioned, in this study we used concentrations of organic acids that could be considered as subtoxic on the basis of previous studies and our own experience. The 500 μ M concentration of GA, 3-OHGA,

MMA and PA used herein represents the half of their toxic concentration (1 mM) previously used in synaptosomal fractions in a recent study (Colin-González et al., 2015).

While most of the toxic metabolites tested (QUIN, GA, 3-OHGA, MMA and PA) did not produce per se significant changes in mitochondrial function (3% below the control for QUIN, 6% below the control for GA, 5% below the control for 3-OHGA, 8% below the control for MMA, and 3% below the control for PA), ROS formation (2% below the control for QUIN, 3% above the control for GA, 4% above the control for 3-OHGA, 3% above the control for MMA, and 1% above the control for PA) or lipid peroxidation (2% above the control for QUIN, 10% above the control for GA, 14% above the control for 3-OHGA, 22% above the control for MMA [P < 0.05], and 20% above the control for PA [P < 0.05]) (Figs. 1–3), the simultaneous incubation of synaptosomes with QUIN and the organic acids produced a toxic synergism evidenced by decreased levels of MTT reduction (30% below the control for QUIN + GA [P < 0.05], 42% below the control for QUIN + 3-OHGA [P < 0.05], 9%

below the control for QUIN + MMA [P < 0.05], and 22% below the control for QUIN + PA [P < 0.05]), moderate but still significant changes in ROS formation (8% above the control for QUIN + GA [P < 0.05], 9% above the control for QUIN + 3-OHGA [P < 0.05], 7% above the control for QUIN + MMA [P < 0.05] and 29% above the control for QUIN + PA [P < 0.05], and more prominent increases in lipid peroxidation (32% above the control for QUIN + GA [P < 0.05], 28% above the control for QUIN + GA [P < 0.05], 34% above the control for QUIN + 3-OHGA [P < 0.05], 34% above the control for QUIN + 3-OHGA [P < 0.05], 34% above the control for QUIN + MMA [P < 0.05], 34% above the control for QUIN + MMA [P < 0.05], and 31% above the control for QUIN + PA [P < 0.05], (Figs. 1–3).

The toxic markers stimulated by the co-incubation of synaptosomes with QUIN + organic acids were partially sensitive to KA

The pre-conditioning of synaptosomal fractions for 30 min with the NMDAr antagonist KA resulted in partial and moderate but still significant prevention of mitochondrial dysfunction induced by QUIN + GA (10% above the toxic treatment and 20% below the control [P < 0.05]), QUIN + 3-OHGA (6% above the toxic treatment and 36% below the control [P < 0.05]), QUIN + MMA (13% above the toxic treatment and 3% above the control [P < 0.05]), and QUIN + PA (7% above the toxic treatment and 15% below the control [P < 0.05]). When tested *per se* or when challenging each toxic metabolite separately, KA had no effect on MTT reduction (Fig. 1A).

KA also moderately but significantly reduced the ROS formation induced by QUIN + GA (8% below the toxic treatment [P < 0.05] and 6% above the control), QUIN + 3-OHGA (26% below the toxic treatment and 17% below the control [P < 0.05]), QUIN + MMA (5% below the toxic treatment [P < 0.05] and 3% above the control), and in a more prominent manner by QUIN + PA (53% below the toxic treatment and 37% below the control [P < 0.05]) (Fig. 1B).

In regard to oxidative damage to lipids, this marker was moderately but still significantly reduced by KA (19% below, comparing KA + QUIN + GA vs. QUIN + GA [P < 0.05]; 5% below, comparing KA + QUIN + 3-OHGA vs. QUIN + 3-OHGA [P < 0.05]; 15% below, comparing KA + QUIN + MMA vs. QUIN + MMA [P < 0.05]; 14% below, comparing KA + QUIN + PA vs. QUIN + PA [P < 0.05]) (Fig. 1C). In addition, KA moderately reduced the levels of lipoperoxidation induced by the metabolic acids *per se* (data not shown).

The effects exerted by the combination of QUIN + organic acids were prevented by SAC

The antioxidant SAC, added as pretreatment to synaptosomes, completely prevented the mitochondrial dysfunction induced by the combination of QUIN plus all organic acids (30% above and 5% below when comparing SAC + QUIN + GA vs. QUIN + GA [P < 0.05] and Control, respectively; 23% above and 3% below when comparing SAC + QUIN + 3-OHGA vs. QUIN + 3-OHGA [P < 0.05] and Control, respectively; 17% above and 2% above when comparing SAC + QUIN + MMA [P < 0.05] and

Control, respectively; 14% above and 3% below when comparing SAC + QUIN + 3-PA vs. QUIN + PA [P < 0.05] and Control, respectively) (Fig. 2A).

When SAC was tested in the ROS formation assay, the antioxidant was able to significantly reduce the QUIN + organic acids-induced DCFH oxidation even below the control values (44% below and 38% below when comparing SAC + QUIN + GA vs. QUIN + GA and Control, respectively [P < 0.05]; 55% below and 47% below when comparing SAC + QUIN + 3-OHGA vs. QUIN + 3-OHGA and Control, respectively [P < 0.05]; 28% below and 19% above when comparing SAC + QUIN + 3-MMA vs. QUIN + MMA and Control, respectively; 72% below and 59% below when comparing SAC + QUIN + 3-PA vs. QUIN + PA and Control, respectively [P < 0.05]) (Fig. 2B).

The TBARS formation induced by QUIN + organic acids was decreased by SAC in all cases (50% below and 39% below when comparing SAC + QUIN + GA vs. QUIN + GA and Control, respectively [P < 0.05]; 37% below and 15% below when comparing SAC + QUIN + 3-OHGA vs. QUIN + 3-OHGA and Control, respectively [P < 0.05]; 45% below and 21% below when comparing SAC + QUIN + 3-MMA vs. QUIN + MMA and Control, respectively [P < 0.05]; 21% below and 15% above when comparing SAC + QUIN + 3-PA vs. QUIN + PA and Control, respectively [P < 0.05]) (Fig. 2C).

L-NAME exerted differential effects on the toxic endpoints stimulated by QUIN + organic acids

The NOS inhibitor L-NAME slightly improved the QUIN + GA- and QUIN + PA-induced MTT reduction (14% and 20% above, respectively [P < 0.05]). More prominent prevention of mitochondrial dysfunction was produced by L-NAME on QUIN + 3-OHGA (55% above [P < 0.05]) (Fig. 3A). No effect of L-NAME was found on QUIN + MMA. L-NAME *per se* had no effect on MTT reduction. L-NAME *per se* did not induce any effect on MTT reduction.

Despite that L-NAME did not prevent the levels of ROS formation induced by none of the QUIN + organic acids conditions (Fig. 3B), this agent was able to significantly reduce the levels of DCFH oxidation induced by all toxic metabolites *per se* (data not shown).

Regarding lipid peroxidation (Fig. 3C), L-NAME reduced the oxidative damage induced by QUIN + GA (13% below, [P < 0.05]), QUIN + 3-OHGA (18% below [P < 0.05]), QUIN + MMA (21% below [P < 0.05]), and QUIN + PA (20% below [P < 0.05]). Finally, L-NAME per se did not induce any effect on TBARS production (data not shown).

Neither CAT, nor CREAT, was able to prevent the mitochondrial dysfunction induced by QUIN + organic acids

The antioxidant and metabolic modulators CAT and CREAT were tested in synaptosomes challenged with the combination of QUIN + organic acids. The only endpoint evaluated was MTT reduction capacity. None



Fig. 4. Schematic representation of the toxic events stimulated by the synergic action of glutaric acid (GA), 3-hydroxyglutaric acid (3-OHGA), methylmalonic acid (MMA) or propionic acid (PA) plus quinolinic acid (QUIN) in the rat brain synaptosomes, and their prevention by agents with different protective profiles like kynurenic acid (KA, endogenous NMDAr antagonist), S-allyl cysteine (SAC, antioxidant and redox modulatory agent) and L-nitro-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME, NOS inhibitor). All toxic metabolites *per se* can stimulate excitotoxic processes, reactive oxygen/nitrogen species (ROS/RNS) formation and mitochondrial respiratory chain disruption, further leading to cell death via apoptotic/necrotic events. When simultaneously present at subtoxic concentrations, metabolic acids and QUIN might potentiate toxic events by synergic actions, as demonstrated herein with synaptosomal fractions. The efficacy that the different protective agents tested exerted on these models suggests that these synergic patterns can be interrupted at different levels, thus revealing the active role of several toxic mechanisms in these models.

of these agents prevented at all the alterations produced by the toxic combinations (data not shown). In light of this lack of effects, no further endpoints were tested for these agents.(see Fig. 4).

DISCUSSION

To date, the precise mechanisms underlying neurodegeneration in GA I remain poorly unknown, despite the many studies available that have been published so far investigating the pathophysiology of this disorder.

Based on a previously proposed hypothesis (Varadkar and Surtees, 2004), our group has recently addressed the issue of a possible active role of the KP in the neuropathology of GAI through the concerted action of two pathological events comprising the in vivo knockout of GDD (Gcdh, the key degradation enzyme for GA) followed by an intrastriatal infusion of QUIN in mice (Seminotti et al., 2015). These animals (Gcdh^{-/-}) were fed a high lysine diet to stimulate GA production. QUIN exerted an acute synergic action with the stimulated Gcdh^{-/-} condition to decrease energetic markers like creatine kinase activity and the respiratory chain complex IV, while it increased oxidative stress endpoints like oxidative damage to lipids, nitrite/nitrate formation and depleted levels of reduced glutathione in striatal tissue. Despite that this first contribution clearly establishes hard basis to support the hypothesis that the KP (through QUIN) may be involved in the neuronal damage observed in GA I and other acidemias, specific toxic mechanisms underlying neuronal degeneration and occurring at the level of synaptic structures (the nerve communication functional unit) are still needed. Therefore, in the present study we aimed to challenge synaptic terminals with QUIN and different toxic organic acids (GA, 3-OHGA, MMA and PA) accumulating in common OA, and evaluated endpoints of oxidative toxicity and mitochondrial dysfunction to provide more specific information on the role of synergic actions between these molecules as initiators of deleterious events in the brain. The sensitivity of the markers evaluated to different pharmacological agents acting at different mechanistic levels was also assessed to complement the *in vitro* acute toxic paradigms developed.

Our results revealed that there is an acute toxic synergism exerted by QUIN + organic acids in all the three toxic endpoints evaluated herein, but this effect differentially expressed among the organic was metabolite tested: in the case of mitochondrial dysfunction, the order of magnitude was QUIN + 3-OHGA > QUIN + GA = QUIN + PA > QUIN + MMA.This result clearly suggests that the first three models recruit in a more prominent manner mitochondrial alterations than that produced by the combination of QUIN + MMA. In contrast, regarding ROS formation, the order of magnitude for this effect was as follows: QUIN + PA > QUIN + 3-OHGA = QUIN + GA = QUIN + MMA. These tendencies suggest that the toxic model exerted by QUIN + PA is more prompt to oxidative

damage; however, when the biological consequence of ROS formation was estimated (oxidative damage to lipids), the order of magnitude tells another story: QUIN + GA = QUIN + MMA = QUIN + PA = QUIN + 3-OHGA. Therefore, it seems evident that, although all models involved the active formation of precursors for oxidative damage in a differential manner, the levels of oxidative damage in all of them are more or less similar, thus supporting the concept that oxidative stress is a major component of the toxic pattern induced by these synergic models.

We also found a moderate, but still significant prevention of mitochondrial dysfunction induced by KA in all the toxic models tested, which contrasted with a potent reduction of ROS formation for all cases – including the toxins *per se* – reaching values even below the basal levels. Once again, the response represented by ROS formation seems to be disproportional when compared to its biological consequence, lipid peroxidation, which for the case of KA, was modestly but still significantly reduced in all models. Altogether, these results clearly suggest that there is a glutamatergic component involved in the initiation of the toxic events produced in all the synergic models tested, but the precise contribution of this component remains to be characterized in further studies.

While KA was employed in these models to evidence the degree of participation of the glutamatergic component (as above mentioned), SAC was used as a tool to emphasize the oxidative component involved in these models. In contrast to KA, the effect of SAC on the mitochondrial dysfunction induced by QUIN + organic acids was more intense. The order of magnitude of protection by SAC on the toxic models QUIN + GA = QUIN + 3-OHGA = QUINwas + PA > QUIN + MMA. In addition, SAC was a potent inhibitor of ROS formation, not only in all synergic models, but also when tested against the toxins per se, as well as in the basal condition. The order of magnitude of protection induced by SAC in the synergic models was QUIN + PA > QUIN + 3-OHGA = QUIN + GA > QUIN + MMA. This effect was confirmed through the action of SAC on the QUIN + organic acids-induced lipid peroxidation, in which SAC not only reduced this marker even below the control levels in all synergic models, but also when tested against the toxins per se. The order of magnitude of SAC efficacy among the synergic models was QUIN + GA > QUIN + MMA = QUIN + 3-OHGA > QUIN + PA. The relevance of these findings is laying in the evidence collected that oxidative stress is playing a major role in the alterations evoked by the combined actions of QUIN + all organic acids, as evidenced by the robust inhibitory effects that SAC exerted on all toxic endpoints, which in magnitude were more prominent than those of KA, thus leaving the glutamatergic component as an convergent mechanism to the already-in-progress damage induced by oxidative stress.

Moreover, as part of the oxidative damage in course, another converging subordinated mechanism is nitrosative stress. The characterization of the actions of

nitric oxide and other nitrogen species on diverse markers of cell dysfunction and oxidative damage is crucial for the estimation of the degree of participation of nitrosative stress in these models. We made this approach through the use of the NOS inhibitor L-NAME, which produced partial prevention of mitochondrial dysfunction in three of the four synergic models. The order of magnitude of the preventive action of L-NAME among the models was QUIN + 3-OHGA > QUIN + PA > QUIN + GA. Noteworthy, despite L-NAME reduced the levels of ROS/RNS formation induced by all the toxins per se even below the control levels, it was unable to reduce this endpoint at all in the synergic models tested. In contrast, L-NAME partially reduced lipid peroxidation in all the synergic models. The order of magnitude of this effect among the models was QUIN + 3-OHGA > QUIN + GA = QUIN + MMA = QUIN + PA. In addition, this agent reduced the oxidative damage to lipids when tested against all organic acids per se. Therefore, the effects of L-NAME on these markers and models suggest that, as expected, nitrosative stress is also participating in the acute pattern of toxicity elicited by the synergic condition produced by QUIN and the organic acids, being responsible of part of the mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative damage to lipids, but not in ROS formation.

QUIN-induced neurodegeneration has been shown to involve the activation of different signaling pathways and transcription factors. So far, the most relevant mechanism recruited by QUIN in the CNS is excitotoxicity, an overstimulation of glutamatergic NMDAr mainly acting on subunits NR2A and NR2B. thus leading to an increased Ca2+ influx through and the consequent pathological cascade resulting in neuronal death (Pérez-De La Cruz et al., 2012). Recent data of our group show that QUIN stimulates the mitochondrial dysfunction *in vivo* in GDD knockout (Gcdh^{-/-}) mice subjected to a high Lys dietary intake, which is probably occurring because of the additive effect of QUIN, GA and 3-OHGA (Seminotti et al., 2015). Therefore, although the precise mechanisms by which QUIN and the metabolic acids exerted a synergic action in this study remain to be solved in further studies, in our previous work we found support to our present findings since Gcdh^{-/-} mice under a high Lys dietary intake were more susceptible to the effects of QUIN. It can be hypothesized that increased amounts of the accumulating organic acids GA and 3-OHGA may be participating in these effects. A clue to solve this issue appeared recently in a report showing that NMDAr, specifically NR2A and NR2B subunits, are highly expressed in Gcdh^{-/-} animals receiving a high Lys overload (Lagranha et al., 2014). Given that QUIN stimulates these NMDA receptor subunits, as some of the organic metabolites are supposed to do, it can be suggested that the increased stimulation of these receptors by these neurotoxic metabolites in a synergic action may play a crucial role in both mutant mice and synaptosomes.

Of major consideration is the fact that the concept of synergism is not new at all for metabolic acids. Recently, a toxic interaction between azaspiracid (50 nM) – a toxin found in shellfish harvested in Ireland

- and GA (1 mM) was shown to produce a significant inhibition of sodium channels in in vitro experiments, while when added separately, these two compounds had no effects on these channels (Chevallier et al., 2015). Moreover, GA was found as a component of the same shellfish used in the study. Furthermore, the synergic action of QUIN and glutamate to induce and exert neurotoxicity has been well documented through the stimulation of glutamate release from the presynaptic terminals and the inhibition of reuptake by astrocytes, both leading to a recruited excitotoxicity (Tavares et al., 2002). It can be then assumed that chemical or biological interactions like those described above can potentiate the toxic features of endogenous toxic agents, thus giving support to our hypothesis that an interaction of QUIN and the organic acids involved in acidurias at the biological, chemical and/or molecular levels may contribute to the understanding of toxic mechanisms occurring in these and other neurological disorders coursing with neurodegeneration. In addition, our study might also have implications for cancer research and could bring an additional dimension of translational relevance since it has been shown that both GA metabolism (Quincozes-Santos et al., 2010; Vissers et al., 2011) and kynurenine metabolism (Sahm et al., 2013; Adams et al., 2014) through events like QUIN uptake by tumor cells (Saito et al., 1993; Müller and Schwarz, 2007), have been demonstrated to be involved partially in tumor growth in gliomas.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Our present results show that the combination of QUIN plus GA, 3-OHDA PA or MMA impairs mitochondrial function and enhances oxidative damage in rat brain synaptic terminals. In addition, we found that this damage was primarily linked to ROS formation, and to a lesser extent, to RNS formation and acute excitotoxicity. As proposed in a previous study of our group (Seminotti et al., 2015), our present results also support the hypothesis that increased concentrations of QUIN produced after the KP activation occurring during inflammatory and other toxic events, could play a crucial role in the magnification of the striatal degeneration that follows alterations in patients affected by GA I (Varadkar and Surtees, 2004), MMAcidemia and PAacidemia through a synergic action with the accumulating metabolites GA, 3-OHGA, MMA or PA, which may turn the striatum more vulnerable during pathologic episodes commonly occurring in OA. Hence, the identification of new toxic mechanisms recruiting the deleterious actions produced by neurotoxins with different profiles represent an alternative with potential application for the design of more effective therapeutic approaches.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARATION

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgements—This work was supported by CNPq Grant 404883/2013-3 (M.W., Brazil) and CONACYT Grant 205648 (A. S., Mexico). Ana Laura Colín-González is scholarship holder of CONACyT-Mexico (239954). We appreciate the generosity of Drs. Enrique Pinzón and Ismael Torres (Departamento de Bioterio, UNAM) for supplying animals for some experiments.

REFERENCES

- Adams S, Teo C, McDonald KL, Zinger A, Bustamante S, Lim CK, Sundaram G, Braidy N, Brew BJ, Guillemin GJ (2014) Involvement of the kynurenine pathway in human glioma pathophysiology. PLoS One 9:e112945.
- Amir N, el-Peleq O, Shalev RS, Christensen E (1987) Glutaric aciduria type I: clinical heterogeneity and neuroradiologic features. Neurology 37:1654–1657.
- Bradford MM (1976) A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of proteindye binding. Anal Biochem 72:248–254.
- Bodamer OA, Hussein K, Morris AA, Langhans CD, Rating D, Mayatepek E, Leonard JV (2006) Glucose and leucine kinetics in idiopathic ketotic hypoglycaemia. Arch Dis Child 91:483–486.
- Braidy N, Grant R, Adams S, Brew BJ, Guillemin GJ (2009) Mechanism for quinolinic acid cytotoxicity in human astrocytes and neurons. Neurotox Res 16:77–86.
- Braidy N, Grant R, Adams S, Guillemin GJ (2010) Neuroprotective effects of naturally occurring polyphenols on quinolinic acidinduced excitotoxicity in human neurons. FEBS J 277:368–382.
- Brismar J, Ozand PT (1994) CT and MR of the brain in the diagnosis of organic acidemias. Experiences from 107 patients. Brain Dev 16:104–124.
- Brusque AM, Mello CF, Buchanan DN, Terracciano ST, Rocha MP, Vargas CR, Wannmacher CM, Wajner M (1999) Effect of chemically induced propionic acidemia on neurobehavioral development of rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 64:529–534.
- Chemelli AP, Schocke M, Sperl W, Trieb T, Aichner F, Felber S (2000) Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) in five patients with treated propionic acidemia. J Magn Reson Imaging 11:596–600.
- Chevallier OP, Graham SF, Alonso E, Duffy C, Silke J, Campbell K, Botana LM, Elliott CT (2015) New insights into the causes of human illness due to consumption of azaspiracid contaminated shellfish. Sci Rep 5:9818.
- Colín-González AL, Paz-Loyola AL, Serratos IN, Seminotti B, João Ribeiro CA, Leipnitz G, Souza DO, Wajner M, Santamaría A (2015) WIN 55,212-2 suggests a cannabinoid-sensitive component in the early toxicity induced by organic acids accumulating in glutaric acidemia type I and in related disorders of propionate metabolism in rat brain synaptosomes. Neuroscience. submitted.
- de Mattos-Dutra A, Meirelles R, Bevilaqua da Rocha B, Kommers T, Wofchuk ST, Wajner M, Pessoa-Pureur R (2000) Methylmalonic and propionic acids increase the in vitro incorporation of 32P into cytoskeletal proteins from cerebral cortex of young rats through NMDA glutamate receptors. Brain Res 856:111–118.
- de Oliveira Marques F, Hagen ME, Pederzolli CD, Sgaravatti AM, Durigon K, Testa CG, Wannmacher CM, de Souza Wyse AT, Wajner M, Dutra-Filho CS (2003) Glutaric acid induces oxidative stress in brain of young rats. Brain Res 964:153–158.
- Deodato F, Boenzi S, Santorelli FM, Dionisi-Vici C (2006) Methylmalonic and propionic aciduria. Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet 142C:104–112.
- Ferreira GC, Tonin A, Schuck PF, Viegas CM, Ceolato PC, Latini A, Perry ML, Wyse AT, Dutra-Filho CS, Wannmacher CM, et al. (2007) Evidence for a synergistic action of glutaric and 3hydroxyglutaric acids disturbing rat brain energy metabolism. Int J Dev Neurosci 25:391–398.
- Flott-Rahmel B, Falter C, Schluff P, Fingerhut R, Christensen E, Jakobs C, Musshoff U, Fautek JD, Ludolph A, Ullrich K (1997) Nerve cell lesions caused by 3-hydroxyglutaric acid: a possible mechanism for neurodegeneration in glutaric acidaemia I. J Inherit Metab Dis 20:387–390.

- Fontella FU, Pulrolnik V, Gassen E, Wannmacher CM, Klein AB, Wajner M, Dutra-Filho CS (2000) Propionic and ∟-methylmalonic acids induce oxidative stress in brain of young rats. Neuroreport 11:541–544.
- García E, Limón D, Pérez-De La Cruz V, Giordano M, Díaz-Muñoz M, Maldonado PD, Herrera-Mundo MN, Pedraza-Chaverrí J, Santamaría A (2008) Lipid peroxidation, mitochondrial dysfunction and neurochemical and behavioural deficits in different neurotoxic models: protective role of S-allylcysteine. Free Radical Res 42:892–902.
- García E, Santana-Martínez R, Silva-Islas CA, Colín-González AL, Galván-Arzate S, Heras Y, Maldonado PD, Sotelo J, Santamaría A (2014) S-allyl cysteine protects against MPTP-induced striatal and nigral oxidative neurotoxicity in mice: participation of Nrf2. Free Radical Res 48:159–167.
- Harting I, Seitz A, Geb S, Zwickler T, Porto L, Lindner M, Kölker S, Hörster F (2008) Looking beyond the basal ganglia: the spectrum of MRI changes in methylmalonic acidaemia. J Inherit Metab Dis 31:368–378.
- Hauser NS, Manoli I, Graf JC, Sloan J, Venditti CP (2011) Variable dietary management of methylmalonic acidemia: metabolic and energetic correlations. Am J Clin Nutr 93:47–56.
- Hoffmann GF, Zschocke J (1999) Glutaric aciduria type I: from clinical, biochemical and molecular diversity to successful therapy. J Inherit Metab Dis 22:381–391.
- Kölker S, Koeller DM, Okun JG, Hoffmann GF (2004) Pathomechanisms of neurodegeneration in glutaryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency. Ann Neurol 55:7–12.
- Kölker S, Sauer SW, Surtees RA, Leonard JV (2006) The aetiology of neurological complications of organic acidaemias-a role for the blood–brain barrier. J Inherit Metab Dis 29:701–704.
- Lagranha VL, Matte U, de Carvalho TG, Seminotti B, Pereira CC, Koeller DM, Woontner M, Goodman SI, de Souza DO, Wajner M (2014) Increased glutamate receptor and transporter expression in the cerebral cortex and striatum of gcdh-/- mice: possible implications for the neuropathology of glutaric acidemia type I. PLoS One 9:e90477.
- Latini A, Borba Rosa R, Scussiato K, Llesuy S, Bello-Klein A, Wajner M (2002) 3-Hydroxyglutaric acid induces oxidative stress and decreases the antioxidant defenses in cerebral cortex of young rats. Brain Res 956:367–373.
- Latini A, Rodriguez M, Borba Rosa R, Scussiato K, Leipnitz G, Reis de Assis D, da Costa Ferreira G, Funchal C, Jacques-Silva MC, Buzin L (2005a) 3-Hydroxyglutaric acid moderately impairs energy metabolism in brain of young rats. Neuroscience 135:111–120.
- Latini A, Scussiato K, Leipnitz G, Dutra-Filho CS, Wajner M (2005b) Promotion of oxidative stress by 3-hydroxyglutaric acid in rat striatum. J Inherit Metab Dis 28:57–67.
- Lopachin RM, Geohagen BC, Gavin T (2009) Synaptosomal toxicity and nucleophilic targets of 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal. Toxicol Sci 107:171–181.
- Müller N, Schwarz MJ (2007) The immune-mediated alteration of serotonin and glutamate: towards an integrated view of depression. Mol Psychiatry 12:988–1000.
- Pérez-De La Cruz V, Königsberg M, Santamaría A (2007) Kynurenine pathway and disease: an overview. CNS Neurol Dis Drug Targets 6:398–410.
- Pérez-De La Cruz V, Elinos-Calderón D, Carrillo-Mora P, Silva-Adaya D, Konigsberg M, Morán J, Ali SF, Chánez-Cárdenas ME, Pérez-De La Cruz G, Santamaría A (2010) Time-course correlation of early toxic events in three models of striatal damage: modulation by proteases inhibition. Neurochem Int 56:834–842.
- Pérez-De La Cruz V, Carrillo-Mora P, Santamaría A (2012) Quinolinic acid, an endogenous molecule combining excitotoxicity, oxidative stress and other toxic mechanisms. Int J Tryptophan Res 5:1–8.
- Pettenuzzo LF, Schuck PF, Fontella F, Wannmacher CM, Wyse AT, Dutra-Filho CS, Netto CA, Wajner M (2002) Ascorbic acid prevents cognitive deficits caused by chronic administration of propionic acid to rats in the water maze. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 73:623–629.

- Quincozes-Santos A, Rosa RB, Leipnitz G, de Souza DF, Seminotti B, Wajner M, Gonçalves CA (2010) Induction of S100B secretion in C6 astroglial cells by the major metabolites accumulating in glutaric acidemia type I. Metab Brain Dis 25:191–198.
- Rangel-López E, Colín-González AL, Paz-Loyola AL, Pinzón E, Torres I, Serratos IN, Castellanos P, Wajner M, Souza DO, Santamaría A (2015) Cannabinoid receptor agonists reduce the short-term mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress linked to excitotoxicity in the rat brain. Neuroscience 285:97–106.
- Ribas GS, Manfredini V, de Marco MG, Vieira RB, Wayhs CY, Vanzin CS, Biancini GB, Wajner M, Vargas CR (2010a) Prevention by Lcarnitine of DNA damage induced by propionic and Lmethylmalonic acids in human peripheral leukocytes in vitro. Mutat Res 702:123–128.
- Ribas GS, Manfredini V, de Mari JF, Wayhs CY, Vanzin CS, Biancini GB, Sitta A, Deon M, Wajner M, Vargas CR (2010b) Reduction of lipid and protein damage in patients with disorders of propionate metabolism under treatment: a possible protective role of L-carnitine supplementation. Int J Dev Neurosci 28:127–132.
- Rigo FK, Pasquetti L, Malfatti CR, Fighera MR, Coelho RC, Petri CZ, Mello CF (2006) Propionic acid induces convulsions and protein carbonylation in rats. Neurosci Lett 408:151–154.
- Rios C, Santamaría A (1991) Quinolinic acid is a potent lipid peroxidant in rat brain homogenates. Neurochem Res 16:1139–1143.
- Rodríguez-Martínez E, Camacho A, Maldonado PD, Pedraza-Chaverrí J, Santamaría D, Galván-Arzate S, Santamaría A (2000) Effect of quinolinic acid on endogenous antioxidants in rat corpus striatum. Brain Res 858:436–439.
- Rosa RB, Dalcin KB, Schmidt AL, Gerhardt D, Ribeiro CA, Ferreira GC, Schuck PF, Wyse ATS, Porciúncula LO, Wofchuk S, Salbego CG, Souza DO, Wajner M (2007) Evidence that glutaric acid reduces glutamate uptake by cerebral cortex of infant rats. Life Sci 81:1668–1676.
- Sahm F, Oezen I, Opitz CA, Radlwimmer B, von Deimling A, Ahrendt T, Adams S, Bode HB, Guillemin GJ, Wick W, Platten M (2013) The endogenous tryptophan metabolite and NAD + precursor quinolinic acid confers resistance of gliomas to oxidative stress. Cancer Res 73:3225–3234.
- Saito K, Chen CY, Masana M, Crowley JS, Markey SP, Heyes MP (1993) 4-Chloro-3-hydroxyanthranilate, 6-chlorotryptophan and norharmane attenuate quinolinic acid formation by interferongamma-stimulated monocytes (THP-1 cells). Biochem J 291:11–14.
- Santamaría A, Galván-Arzate S, Lisý V, Ali SF, Duhart HM, Osorio-Rico L, Ríos C, St'astný F (2001) Quinolinic acid induces oxidative stress in rat brain synaptosomes. NeuroReport 12:871–874.
- Sauer SW, Okun JG, Schwab MA, Crnic LR, Hoffmann GF, Goodman SI, Koeller DM, Kölker S (2005) Bioenergetics in glutaryl-coenzyme A dehydrogenase deficiency: a role for glutaryl-coenzyme A. J Biol Chem 280:21830–21836.
- Sauer SW, Okun JG, Fricker G, Mahringer A, Müller I, Crnic LR, Mühlhausen C, Hoffmann GF, Hörster F, Goodman SI, Harding CO, Koeller DM, Kölker S (2006) Intracerebral accumulation of glutaric and 3-hydroxyglutaric acids secondary to limited flux across the blood–brain barrier constitute a biochemical risk factor for neurodegeneration in glutaryI-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency. J Neurochem 97:899–910.
- Sauer SW, Opp S, Mahringer A, Kamiński MM, Thiel C, Okun JG, Fricker G, Morath MA, Kölker S (2010) Glutaric aciduria type I and methylmalonic aciduria: simulation of cerebral import and export of accumulating neurotoxic dicarboxylic acids in in vitro models of the blood–brain barrier and the choroid plexus. Biochim Biophys Acta 1802:552–560.
- Schwarcz R, Guidetti P, Sathyasaikumar KV, Muchowski PJ (2010) Of mice, rats and men: revisiting the quinolinic acid hypothesis of Huntington's disease. Prog Neurobiol 90:230–245.
- Schwarcz R, Bruno JP, Muchowski PJ, Wu HQ (2012) Kynurenines in the mammalian brain: when physiology meets pathology. Nat Rev Neurosci 13:465–477.

- Seminotti B, Umpierrez Amaral A, Teixeira Ribeiro R, Nunes Rodrigues MD, Colín-González AL, Leipnitz G, Santamaría A, Wajner M (2015) Oxidative stress, disrupted energy metabolism and altered signaling pathways in glutaryl-CoA dehydrogenase knockout mice: potential implications of quinolinic acid toxicity in the neuropathology of glutaric acidemia type I. Free Radical Biol Med. submitted.
- Stellmer F, Keyser B, Burckhardt BC, Koepsell H, Streichert T, Glatzel M, Jabs S, Thiem J, Herdering W, Koeller DM, Goodman SI, Lukacs Z, Ullrich K, Burckhardt G, Braulke T, Mühlhausen C (2007) 3-Hydroxyglutaric acid is transported via the sodiumdependent dicarboxylate transporter NaDC3. J Mol Med (Berl) 85:763–770.
- Stone TW, Mackay GM, Forrest CM, Clark CJ, Darlington LG (2003) Tryptophan metabolites and brain disorders. Clin Chem Lab Med 41:852–859.
- Tavares RG, Tasca CI, Santos CE, Wajner M, Souza DO, Dutra-Filho CS (2000) Quinolinic acid inhibits glutamate uptake into synaptic vesicles from rat brain. NeuroReport 11:249–253.
- Tavares RG, Tasca CI, Santos CE, Alves LB, Porciúncula LO, Emanuelli T, Souza DO (2002) Quinolinic acid stimulates synaptosomal glutamate release and inhibits glutamate uptake into astrocytes. Neurochem Int 40:621–627.

- Trindade VM, Brusque AM, Raasch JR, Pettenuzzo LE, Rocha HP, Wannmacher CM, Wajner M (2002) Ganglioside alterations in the central nervous system of rats chronically injected with methylmalonic and propionic acids. Metab Brain Dis 17:93–102.
- Varadkar S, Surtees R (2004) Glutaric aciduria type I and kynurenine pathway metabolites: a modified hypothesis. J Inherit Metab Dis 27:835–842.
- Vissers LE, Fano V, Martinelli D, Campos-Xavier B, Barbuti D, Cho TJ, Dursun A, Kim OH, Lee SH, Timpani G, Nishimura G, Unger S, Sass JO, Veltman JA, Brunner HG, Bonafé L, Dionisi-Vici C, Superti-Furga A (2011) Whole-exome sequencing detects somatic mutations of IDH1 in metaphyseal chondromatosis with p-2-hydroxyglutaric aciduria (MC-HGA). Am J Med Genet A 155A:2609–2616.
- Wajner M, Kölker S, Souza DO, Hoffmann GF, Mello CF (2004) Modulation of glutamatergic and GABAergic neurotransmission in glutaryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency. J Inherit Metab Dis 27:825–828.
- Wyse AT, Brusque AM, Silva CG, Streck EL, Wajner M, Wannmacher CM (1998) Inhibition of Na+, K+-ATPase from rat brain cortex by propionic acid. NeuroReport 9:1719–1721.

(Accepted 1 September 2015) (Available online 4 September 2015) 

Bng had ej c Bl a e S j j j J j ocW j haS 4 Sa A a j hRi J ajf S f e ha c C e Sjafe e Fe S L na j a Ojh i æ N j 5 h æ Obe gjfifd i 3 K m : f el hWe WJ S e a d i

4 e I I h : foçe D fept cip r 4 haie I apRij Mipil fof cir J hy B I h I al I r Ofea D id te 4 hpij i r 5 ale S O id æfjja¹ r : wi h 4 Wijf Ffvf NaRahf¹ r D aciale I Iageajp¹ r Aaf W Lef h Of Ipi¹ r J f Sah P he h¹² r 4 R c O ej id hy

MVW/W W□ 7 H ShU 1/05 . MW ûW□ 2 H So 1/05 . : UWF W□ 0 HcdW1/05 q Nfhd Wi NUW/UW □ ki dWi H W□ S I Wn Reha 1/05

4 Rijh Sj 2, H W lob lk Sh U SU 2H B: (i Sd eh Sd U SUIII IIS SUkc kbSW Id I Sheki eh SdUSUIW ISi m eiW fSINd i fhwwd dwre wwwwsied wwa i dubhwd uekhi, d m c WSTebU SU kh Si - Gc W W W WUW WUh TW WenUcWISdici WUW To 2HB: d WThSd-CWWd+mWWfbehW IIWWWWIieY2HB: ed IIWWW Ien U Walfeldi d iodSfleiec Sb Sd c leUed hSb Wahlu W YSUTEdi eYS kb hS ThS di e fhel Wdel W dYehr Sted ed WShbo c W_Sdfic i WeaWi To IIIî c WSTebIW: □0 Sd□ 4 c H UedUVdfhSfed+2HB: dUVVSiW bff f f Vven f Sfed+ Tk Whw W c IEU ed h Sb KdU ed edbo S 4 c H Ued, UWITISTED- WIT IN WWI DUVI WWWUI mWWETISTEW S 0 c H UedUWIfiSTed+ Ti Ue, STc diffiSTed mTI TWaod, khWd dWf S \square mSo \square F K(c WSTeb \square WSd \square \square , c W \square ob, D, Sif Sh, \mathbb{S} WhWW ch \mathbb{I} H \square : h \mathbb{S} cd \mathbb{I} + gk debd \mathbb{U} SU \mathbb{I} P \mathbb{D} + 4/ Sd□0// □H(+fhe □kUW) en UiodWi⊡ic ed c ShaWi eY

: dS GSkhS \square bd, Bedpt bW+: hSdS G \square TW \square KSp, GeoelS+H ShS @kSh \square S \square WG \square S + \square SdUS NW de \square Sd \square yi Sh: k \square ki \square Eeve MTWhe \square Sl WýkStbo Léd fhTk \square \square im meha-

□ : TW/NSd Sc Sh S STi S S9 oS ee-Uec

- ⁰ GSTehSiehe LW c det UIIei @hUISLehW+IQi IIke I SUedSb LW Whete IS o I Whe UIk IS+NN: -+03157 H Wille IIe+ H Wille
- ¹ $P d \square W_{h} \square S \square WAW W S b \square e KSc f S+P lk \square k S \square S d S+ \square h S p \square b$
- ² WShSc Wie DW Whegkic US+Di IIke I SUedSbDW I Whete IS o I WheUtk IS+NN: -+H Wille IIo+H Wille
- ³ WShSc Wie Weegkc US+Dii like WoldUSi tiUSi SNk WP dii Wi IS-WAWMSbe Me BhSd We Nkb+ Kehe: bWhWMN+-hSptb
- ⁴ NMI xe □WB Wly□US H y□US+Ceif □Sb □W□bd USi □WKehē : bWh₩Kehē : bWh₩MN+□hSp1b

en ISII Wi hWi Sd c IEU ed hSb KdU Ed-O Wen UI io eY 2H B: f Wi i WI c H (mSi fhW WI W To IIWUSddSTde II hWW Eh S ed ii Q D 44+101,1 Sd IIWI H : h Sd S ed ii aodkhWI U SUII F RI : (+ik IWI d USddSTde II Sd Ik, Sc SIWI U Uc fed Wi i d IIW2H B: f SIWi d eY En UIo-O Wi od WI U c e W 2H B: LP D (mSi Ste i Wi III WE F RI : Sd IIWSd En ISd , Stobbi WdW Tk de Ie IW d hU en IWi od ISi Wd IT Eh L, d he Sh Id dWc WI ob WW IIII d IIWW En UIo eY2H B: ISIC So fei I Tb Ued hTk We IWdW he WWWS Ed eTi WI WI d SUIIW Si-

G comfh i Jh Sd U SUIkh Sir Oen Ueh Sd U SUI i r @nUle en Ulor Jn IISII WithWir H IeU ed h Sb coi Ykd Uled r Sdd ST de II i oi Wrr 2, H Wlob Ik Sh U SUII

Fejhf □□Sjafe

9 e gf] la 🗆 Watf bWd e Uf boll klubg f k hub f lk U[W Y Vq 1BGA UWY le bu lpabyd e llUgdwUWygktk o bla aqhgc l lglbWaqhg] djWe UlaqhglgfUldlaU] qlVgf nmddgf k Uf Y We US \square T B \square Uge \square Ut Uf \vee d \square U \square H d ke U \square H d ke b fUkodīnāk Unoukg Wge e gfdų kof bi laohUbflkokh Weldthy Ymfbf] e 🗆 UVgdWWbk 🛛 k 1 🗗] 💷 Y Vq ktimUlbgf k g[pWkkbn WIUVgdke S, -3 -3 -3ab|ad|al dkbgfk bf W□Udoabl e Ul□□bf UYybbgf lg YUE U bf WhYU fnWink YflU q nk dy Vnk hUddYnk If Y $\forall g \exists b \forall g kh f U \exists \exists U W S \exists T G k V d n Y a U a aqhg d,$ We UUkkgWU Yo ba YmWYh gYmWbgf g[c lgf VgYbk \blacksquare YnWk la \Box f \blacksquare q kmhdq g la \Box VUff \Box ank \Box phd ff b la \Box f mgdg] bWd Wi (f] ik Wi (U (W) iki bWg[lakk Ytk (k) mila , e g III a aqhg] d We Ue U b Yb Wd h gngc la] f IU lbgf g[□UWm kh Wk Ym lg la UWmUbgf g[] driUe U Whig k (k Vg YUq pWg gp Wg) d UYf] ig b W k Y

1G A9 VgfWf1UbgfkUIIUkg bfWIUkIYbf lbkmik [ge hUbflkU[WVq la bfa b Y] gmhg[YkgYak cfgo f Uk 1,e □laqd driUWgf bW UWbYm bU (GAN9) - Na □ kg, Wdd Y WILKKOWCOG AND KUUCIMWE WIUVgdke Ykg Y Whk Yvq dUYk lg la UWW mullbgf g[1,e lagd driUWgf bWUWgY Uf Yg] Y k WbV Y kg [U] (: Ula kqf Y ge $\Box G \Box A \Box \Box F$ kqf Y ge \Box $gkl [[kqf Y ge \square H9 D 7 Y] W Uf Y NG G 5. Y] W$ U Wgfkby V k WgfYU GAN9 gfW la V by W e bWdY [, [Wk bf la k Ybkg Y k e bf mfcfgo f S 77 Bgo n e blgWagf Yibld Yokinf Wogf bk lagm al lg Vii UWze e gf WaU UW IB k BWg Ut lqh k g GAN9 S T df bWd [Um k g] [ge e bf be Udlg k n □ kqe hlge k Uf Y VUbf Uvf g ie Uddb k laU bf WhY Y dlq Ykh W Ye flbUhg] kkm dmgf, Whatthe a fruit where a start of the start o e bWgWhaUdq UfY h[g] Ikkbn f mgdg] bWd be hUbe fl o bla khUklbWaq UfYkfbrmTk aUh Udkg VIIf ThgflfYbf kfn, IIIIII THE INTERNATION IN THE INFORMATION INTERVALUE IN

 $e \Box aqde UdgfbWUWY(GG9) UfYh <math>\Box h \Box f bWUWY(J9) U kmV,$ lgpbWWgfWfl $\Box h \Box f a U WY la \Box gpbYUhn \Box YUe U \Box UfY$ e $h \Box W \Box f Y \Box U A Uff kqf UhlbW \Box e h Uk-$

$\square B \square E \square \square$

B J Mlatg VUV mit WVW (N: 9) e Utgf YU dY aqY (G 9) = 1,(23, Yte laqdat f gd),qd,03, Ytha f qd ll f gdne Vge by (G NN) kmWgk lla : Ug f tkl Q CH3300,0 la HG 9 = U U gf tkl Uf Y E J e UVgd cqf mit f b WUW (ERH9) la o cd cf go f Uflygb YUf Q U dy dy (ERH9) la f ti b W gbY kqf la Uk (HI M) tf ab Mg L, f th gU] tf t e laqd kl (L, H9 G) Uf Y 1G A9 o g WU f Y [ge Mj e U 9 dy b W a e b Wd g- (M F gnt k G I OM9) -9 d g la We b Wd k o ll g WU f Y [ge g la lo cd cf go f We e Wd d kgmWk-

Q nk Y U'nd e U Q klU Uk (03. v1..]) [g a Wd W lbgf g[kqf Uhlgkge U UY e bg W gf Y b d] f bW Y [UWlgf k-9 fbe Uk (H o.) o g VUf Y [ge la nhu Uhre g[la Of ln kbYUY HUWgf U 9 ml f ge UY G xpbW L k UYgf U bgf-LUk o magnk Y f khUU] gnhk U U Wf l gd Y gge le h Um (03 1) Uf Yane bYbq (4. v6. %) f Y nf Y U Ov 0 a d al vYU e W W (d) alk gf U . 58. Ue -)- ggY Uf Y o U o m Uhld V d UY dW me ff la agnkt] gge k U la nhu Uhre g[la G kl bing HUWgf U Y H mg g] zJ q H mg W n] zJ Na ph fbe f1 U e U fhnd U bf k o m h m, [ge YUWg Yff] lg la SAnbY df k [g a Ok g[9 fbe Uk f H mg kW f W L k UWu [ge la Mg W 1 q g[H mg kW, f W la g W d abW d ge e bl k Uf Y bf W e hd f W g[la 9 LL P] nby L fk-

YLKWBVLY Vq LUF] dFuh Ir I UH SD7T I di mglk o IIII kIhU $\mathbb{U} \subseteq \mathbb{Y} \subseteq \mathbb{Z} \mathbb{Z} \mathbb{Y} \subseteq \mathbb{Z} \mathbb{Z} \mathbb{Z} \mathbb{Z} \mathbb{Z} \mathbb{Z} \mathbb{$ blgdJ Y kqfUhlgkge Ud Uf Y e blgWagfYbUd f bWa Y [UW lbgfk o 💷 bf WrMU Y bf la 🛛 h 🖾 k 🗗 W g[la 🗆 🖂; 🗆 U gf bkl $Q DH44 \Box 01, 1 (0 \Box G) [g \Box 2 / e bf Uf Y.g \Box 2G B \Box (0 g \Box 4 e G)]$ $[g \square a \square f \square p] 2/e bf - ERH \square (4/\square G) \square M \square (0//\square G) UfY$ $F,H \square G \square (0// \square G)$ o $\square \square Udkg mk \square Y bf kge \square \square bh \square be \square flk$ lg l kl la bf ngch e fl g[HG 🗆 🗉 la gd g[gpbYUbn kl⊡kk UfY la□hU1bWahUbgf g[fb1bWgpbY□(HI) kh□Wb1k bf la [[Wk dWd Y Vq la lgpbWkqf]] bke h gYmWY Vq $2GB \square (0 e G) \square KODH (4/ g \square 0// \square G) - ERH \square \square M \square UfY$ $F, H \square G \square o \square U d kg U Y \square Y lg kq f U h lg kg e \square k 2/e b f V \square g \square$ la UYYdbgf g[la IgpbWU] If lk- Na IkUe Ibf WnWUbgf Wgf Yb lbgf k o $\square mk \square$ la [gm] agml la \square klmYq [g \square Udl e $\square c \square k$ - Na \square $(-) + (\mathbf{F} + (-)) + (-) + ($ e blgWagfYbUd, ff bWa lY [UWbgfk o Uk Ikbe U lY UWbg lYbf] $\lg \lg \exists \Box; \Box M \lg \Box k e \exists ag Y SO8T$

UVVK Sec WKQWb 5 ffO

Na dhbYh gpbYUbgf UkUq o UkWIIb Ygmbf kqf Uhlgkge Ud UfYeblgWigfYbUd, If DWa IY [□UWbgfk Vq la □ [g Ie Ubgf g] $labgVUVdmbWUWy, \squareUWm \square kmWklUfWk (N; \squareLM \squareUWg \square),$ bf] lg Uh Inbgnk Ibg 1305 TNo g, anf YIY F, age g] fU k o III gMUf IY [ge la kqfUhlgkge Ud Uf Y e blgWgfYBUd $f \square Wa \square Y [\square W hgfk \square Y [m \square \square U Y \square Y]g 4// \square F g[la \square N; \square$ □U [f1 (/-64] g[N; □ 04] g[1.6₩adg gUW16₩U₩9 1-43 e F g[C \square d)- M& hd k o $\square\square$ bf WhU \square Y[g \square 2/ e bf U 0/ / \square -Na http://www.warge.ghag http://www.ghag http://www.warge.ghag http://www.ghag http://www.warge.ghag http://www.warge.ghag http://www.warge.ghag http://www.ghag http://wwww.ghag http://www.ghag http://www.ghag htt Ue gnfl g[h gpbYr Y dhbYk- Me hd k o \square c hl gf bW $[g \square 4 e bf]g \square [m]a \square Wf] \square m]Y _ 2/// \square [g \square 04 e bf-$ Na □ghlbWdYfkblq g[la □kmh □fUUflk o Uk □klbe U□Ybf U $\square RN2GP$; $bgl \square c \square qlUbgf 2 De U bf] L \square V \square U 421 fe -$ Me mdUf Ignk lg la [g Ie Ubgf g N; LMIo UU Uthr YU kltfYUY Wnn□o bla l□tte □agpqhtghtf□tk tf bfYtp g[$G \square \square h g YmWbgf laU o Uk WdWndU \square Y Vq bfl \square hgdUbgf g[$ nUdm k- Abf Ud \square kmdk o \square WdWndU \square Y Uk fe gdg[G \square h \square e] h gl tf UY ph kk Y k h Wfl g dbb h gpb Ubgf nk-Wgflgd-

□SO gWS I □□Sb LdS \%f (□I L) Bcea Q\$\b 5 ffO

F Yc :::cbReWEBhb gWbO 5 ffSffa Sbg P g S F MM SRh gWb 5 ffO

Ng Ukk kk la [nf Whgf UdklUnk g[la :: khb Ug q WiUf Uf Y e blg Wigf Y bld [nf Whgf \Box h :: [g e Y la : G NN :: Yn Whgf Ukk la bf : U V Ubf kqf Uhlg kge k: UWWg Ybf] lg Ue : lag Y h :: nbgnkdq Y kWbV Y Vq SD5T :: RN2GP; blc : qlU lbgf 2 De U bf] L : UY::: o Uk nk: Y lg : klbe U : la :: Wgf I fl g[[g e Uf f U U 46/ fe o Uh : df] la : Na :: : kmdk o :::: ph:: kk: Y Uk la : h :: Wf IU] : g[G NN :: : Yn Wbgf nk :: Wgf I gd n Ubn k-

LgQgWgWO_5 bOIIfW

□Sfhgf

2F = 5 Db eSOFSR = WW =Sec = WOydb W: eOW L=bOlgcfca Sf == eSi SbgWb P=N DG33,1 =1 -1 =eSgeSQa Sbg

Fluby h gpbyUlbgf o Uk klue U Y Vq la N; U I I U I I Uk U e Ue I g gpbyUlba Y te U lg dhbyk (Abj - 0) - 2G B (0 Uf Y 4 e G) tf YmWY dhby h gpbyUlbgf tf kqf Ulgkge Ud U Y e Ug Wagf Y Ud ff bWa Y [UWbgf k (12 Uf Y 20% Uvgn la Wf l gd kh Whn dq 9 / -/4) - Na h II Ue I f [g 2/ e tf o Ua Q DH44 I 01, 1 (0 G) I YmWY la 2G B , tf YmWY dhby h gpbyUlbgf U 0 e G (00% V dgo 2G B 9 / -/4) - Vah fg U 4 e G Wf Wf I Ulbgf - Q DH44 I 01, 1 h kh fg, YmWY fg Wu f k tf gpbyUlbn Y te U i g dhbyk-

2F = 5 - DBRh SR F V& = cbRe VOA f Thb gVb W : eOW L=bOlgcfca Sf ==eSi SbgVb P=N DG33,1 ==1 =eSgeSQa Sbg



 $\label{eq:started_st$



 $\label{eq:states} \begin{array}{c} \blacksquare \end{tabular} \mathbb{D} \end{tabular} \end{tabular} \mathbb{D} \end{tabular} \end{tabular} \mathbb{D} \end{tabular} \end{tabular} \mathbb{D} \end{tabular} \end{t$

 1 □Kc iVhi @Y i □V WWIi dW□NIØ Ri RidmT Tdc TkeigRidc dc

 b idT dc UgRa WcTi dc (AIY- 2) ii □h b VRSdaiV TR hW e Vg

 hVhdb Vakk Va dWb idT dc UgRa UhhWcTi dc (07% SVall i □V

 Tdcigdæ I □/-/4)- Ia TdcigRhi □2F B; e Vg hVRi 0 b F Tdc Tk,

 □III, □IIII, □III, □IIII, □III, □IIII, □III, □IIIII, □IIIIII, □III, □III, □IIII, □III, □III, □III, □IIII



 $\label{eq:started_st$





Bby. \Box KWI gbk YR fl a TeVY \Box QIg \Box TTa 2D \Box (0 \Box D) PaS dh'ab Ya YR PKS ($\Box LAE$, 4 \Box hD) Y celi TagIS Pg SYIIETag \Box i Tif Q KYNA \Box a-heTa YR PKS, $SAC \Box$ -P \Box I RI fgYaT PaS L-NAME C-a Ygb PeVa YAT \Box TgW \Box TfgTe \Box n TCY S cTebk YSPgba, ROS eIPRgY T bkl VTa fc TRYIF Ube Pgba

□G C 3 - De U□TVU G bf Tafe Uhb□c □ oi □□e T⊔fe m□i K□h□b□cco KhV Vé □VU So E oe □hVé bГ 3 THU (E QI 3) be □h□be Mbe □g fifd Vi

Na VNf nbT Moe VhYid De UTIVU So EG C3 E U L OH mi KhYl Ve LU IP hb ScV VhVi So E QI 3, aV 3 e Df nbU e LW 5 E e U a VI MDe alsbf h F-I 3 G A

CY S c Tebk SPgBa (W. 4P), I F Ube PgBa (W. 4Q) PaS D KK eTShRgBa (W. 4R) TET TfgY PgIS Pf TaScbYagf bUgW gbk YYg TkTegIS Q gWT fl a TeVYR PRgBa bU2D D PaS D L Æ $\label{eq:constraint} \begin{array}{c} \mbox{Ued} \mbox{Iteb}(06 \mbox{ } \mbox{TWeem} \mbox{Ite} \ -. \ 3)\mbox{-} \mbox{Id} \mbox{WII} \mbox{WiDP} \mbox{G9} \mbox{Cd} \mbox{WII} \mbox{G1} \mbox{G1}$

Cl □]i i lk □ o mW[Sl WLebbWLW] W] □WdUWikffeh□d□ □W LedUW □ □ S□ □ YYWW □ Sd □ i odW □ U den]eki c W [Sd]ic i Uekb□TWfSh□eY@Wen]UfS□Wid WojU[W] To 1F A9]d @W ThS]d- M hek [i]c fbWWafWajc WallSbSffheSU W SffbJW] @ iodSfeiec SbSd c]eU ed hSb WahU W YSU edi mSi We edited with a solar A9 WW in en Uo thek to WW sho SUI SIed eYc W Sdic bawen SI W fiwi (KHL Yebc S, [d Sd b]f = f Wen [S]ed Sd c]eU ed hSb oi VkdU]ed(F MMhWkU]ed)- MemSh [] WWW [fe]di [S USddST]de]] iWai]□IWUecfedWa□mSihWWSbW□To □Wiod□WIU;:h S $ed_i \odot G3300, 0i dW_i$ be fekd fhWW Wiec W eY[]WWWWIi WiWi To 1F A9 - Cd S□][]ed S aodkhWd]dW Lec fedWal Whi]d]US []d □ S □Hx [Sc S[Wh]]U Lec fedWal □ mSi h₩V\$5b₩2 To IF A9 Sd □ ↓ WWAU een]d □NCG ed ↓ Wen]Uc Sha Wai □Si mWab Si ↓ W fhWWIIIWSUJedi eYIIWGF □9h SdiScedji □DPG9 ed @WIF A9,]d□kUWI @n]UIo- M WSUJI Wf Sh]Uf SIed eY@W en] S[] WLec fed Wa] d [] Wiod Wa] U c e Wo fhe kUW To \square hek \square \square Wki WeY \square Wf e Wd \square Sd \square en \square Sd \square L9; - M \square i W], WollWSbeemi ki lē ik ⊡W □ [IS□ [IWc W] Sd]ic i]dleblW □]d II Wien]UWWWIi eY1F A9 ShWc WISIW S⊡bWsi II]d fSh□ To GF 09 hc WISIW WUE en Uom U bws i i Wed]dUhV8i W/d hV8U]I Weno Wa Sd d] The Wa if W/W WaW8 fed-9 be W W We Ukh W UWe Y WW c W [Sd]ic i Si f Sh e Y ↓ WWShbo en UW Wati Way W To 1F A9 ik W □↓ Wh fei, i]TbWeUkhWdUW kh]d 🗆 🕸 Wf he hWi]ed eY 🕸 WIBF A Sd 🗆 [[W1, c W[ob:]k:[SUed]USU[We]]Si]d U]b:hWel Si fe [Wel[]Sb hi ⊥ Majd VSUehi Yeh ↓ W dWkhe WWdWS ↓ ed- GedW W bWi □□]i [ofe □W]i hVgk]hW Ykh□W edi IbS□ed S□Te □ [□] WWaf Wajc Wa Sb Sd □ Ubjd JUSb bWWa - HY de W □ Wf he W I WWWW edbo ed 1F A9 \Box N(G,]d k(W) c]eU ed h]Sb \Box oi kd(U)ed ik \Box Wi [SSSd]fhei SI Wec fedWa i edbo f Sh Stbo]dl et W]d □]i @n]Uc e We LWai]d □ d] thei S□I Wi thWi]i]c feh Sd □]d [en]UfShS] [c i @ W] [WdUWS hebWeYGH]d [] W[en]U c W[Sd]ic i Wo[U]W] To []YYWW []dikbi-

M Wen Uc e W d k W To 1F A9 Sd k W d W hW, Wol meha mSi fhW]ekibo lSb[SW]]d iodSf @iec W To KTWhe WSb Q. R Cl [] i i k o ki ld i odSf eiec WeYUWW The Solution of the second state of the second U ed □h]Sb ¥kdU]ed □dUhWSi W1KHL Yehr S0ed Sd □]d[]T]0ed $eY \oplus WGS^{\Box}D^{\Box}, 9 M Si WW apoc WSU = 10 Tk de U Sd W d$ b]f] fWen] S]ed mWWeTiWW W+ M ki = ekh fhWW = i k o hWhWWd i S be U Wi Wdi]ed eY U WedWYec K TWhe W Sb $\bigcirc .$ Yeh [] Wen]Uf SIMMa eY1F A9 - Col MAW []d [bo]]d Ued itsi 🗆 e [□]S[□] Ik[□]o mWékd[□]U Sd[□]W]d [□]WWW eYM 9 KL S[□]Led, UNA ITS Jedi eY Sd 3 c F - M We Ti VA W JYYAWAUW Uekb eTWØ @ S []YYWWA[]SbikiUWP []T]b[o eY[] WiodSf @iec SbSd] c] @U ed [h]Sb, Wdh]U W YhSU]edi We fbeoW]d ∏WW me hWehil7edUWS[S]d[K]TWhe WSb Q. RkiW]UehilUSbiodSf, eiec W Yfec oekd□hSū m WWSi mWWWiodSf eiec W eTIS]dWIYhec II Wm[ebWThS]d eYSIkbIhSii Im[]U] d Ikhd Sd To kdademd hWSiedi Uekb TWc ehW kbdWSTbWe en], □S□I W□Sc S□WeYbJf]□i - Cl Sdo USi WhWthe □kUJTJb]0 eY[]W en]Uc e WømSi SU]WW]d ekhfhWWa hWfehIII ki l Sb S. $d \square \mathbb{E}$]d kUW] en SII WISC SIWSd c] EU ed h]Sb [oi YkdU]ed mWww.ehws.w.edbo Soft W] Wowey [□] Wc WSTeb [□]W(3 c F)- Cl [□]WW [□]d [□]bo [□]□ [□]WWmSi S UWSh Leh, hWbs field TWmWWd en] Sfill W Sc S WSd c] eU ed hisb bi. YkdUled d kUW To 1F A9 S c F LedUM IS ded m Wa [] i c WSTeb[WmSi Ue,]dUkTS[W] m][] \Box NCG \Box ik \Box W][d \Box IS Welle Weleki S Welli Lekb SUTiod Will USbo e fe Well S W UWb Sc SCW/Yf Stebe CUSbUed Cledi f hWSb

□] WIUWJd @WbJWKSkhWik WWî @S□@WJd[]T]@ed eY GS[®]D[®],9 M Si Wji]dl etł W]d WWWJeki WWWJî bWS@d © dWkhedSb ©i YkdU]ed Sd dWkhe WWWWS@ed]d c Sdo f S@, ete]USbUed]@edi @. q00R 9 b[ek[]]d @]i i Ik© mW] de WV@WSUJI]© eY@]i Wlpoc WmWUSd Siikc W@S□@W i Sc WWWWDi eUkhh]d]d iodSf @iec W eYS□kb=hSû-

 khjd
 Wf he hWi jed eY SU W jsi f Wi ji W SUk,

 c kbS[ed eY en]U eh Sd]U SU i SaW fbSUW Sd
 WW

 c WSTebjWr Wf WjSbo
 UShTenobJUSU i ikU Si 1F A9,

 SUkc kbSI%c ehWjd (1 WThSjd (1 Sd)d i Wkc
 KWe (1 WThSf,

 f]d eY (1 WWc WSTebj W To dWkhSb UMbi ITWSki WeY (1 Wh

 B
 01 02R M WW

 YehWi jdUW1F A9 Sd
 NGG ShW [UShTenobJU SU]i (1 W

 en]U iodWici c UWS[W] To (1 WWme c WSTebjW Lekb]TW

 f ShjSbbo
 WifbSjdW [1 hek [(1 Wh Willo e SUkc kbSIW)

 ShjSbbo
 WifbSjdW [1 hek [(1 Wh Willo e SUkc kbSIW)

Ge Wineh [lo]d hWW h hW ehî Sd]d Ykh [Wi ikffeh [] i ikomW SI W ShSU M pW SUSdST]de] Uec fed W]d eh W]d [! W]d 1] fle en]U W W i VyU W To e[! Wi en]U eh Sd]U SU i]dUk]d Ek ShJU SU 1, [o heno fk ShJU SU F F 9 Sd 19 [] S ShWékd ST][Wi UedUW fh St]edi]d [! WUeh W fed]d eh Sd]U SU kh]Si Q S R Cd i kU hW eh mW Ueb WUW W [wi UW We edi fh St]d [] S [! Wi od [! W]U ZWi Widj q R D ZW Widji pWoj α] q s dZ] aa] Zm ZWjn][Yt α] WZph pgWidji ja α]n] ZWhYj st gZ WZq n, D W[[dtq]i) d Wj α] mnop[t j a j pmbnjnpk U 4 Vjr] cWij []h ji nonWoj[W q s dZ nti]mbdh j ZZpmod b Y] α]]i njh] ja α]n] jmbWdZ WZq n W[LPD) npkkj mod b WbgpoWi Woj mbdZ Zjh kji]io d α]n] ijq]g q s dZ h j []gn, Oc] ZWi Widj q Zjh kji]io c Wi Waj Y]]i Zc WMZQ mdu][d α] q s dZ h j []gknjq j f][Yt LPD k]mn] U 6 V: gj b] α]nj α c]n] ncp[d]n Zg Wag mobb]no α Wij s Zdtj q s dZdt) j s q Widt] [Wi Wij W[h dtj Zcji[moWg [t napi Zoqi i Zj pg pi []ngc] α] q s dZdt j a 1HB: W[dn njgWij[ZWhYj st gZ WZq n [pmt] b α] knjbnjnndj i ja jmbWdZ WZq pmdWid Zcdf nji g] W(d b q i] pnji[]b]i]mWaji, Apmc]mi h j nj) dor Wi c]mj []h ji nonWoj[α Wis wa [h dz j pg Y] Waji pWj[α j pbc α] kc Wih WZ gj bdZWgh W dkpgWaji j a α] F KW[α] \Box N,

 $\label{eq:constraint} \begin{array}{c} \square \mbox{CLE} \square$

ت المالية المالية عنه عنه 100 من المالية مالية 100 من المالية 100 م

- 0, BdYnji FH) □n]p]mE)ItcWRG ☑766(1 ⊡Ct[njst □ h] œ □ I □ □24 □ 6[8]JI 8]4 □14[8] 8]6[8]6[8]6[1 □18]8 □ 9]118 □ 18] kWd]ion, □pmEK][dWin/268/6, w/64
- 1, G]dxidu B) QWab Wa □M) R Wa]mH □0./3(? dropmYWZ] ja m][js cjh]jnoWach Wa WZjiondYpod b pi[]mg d b kWejh]Zc W dh ja YmWal W[gdh]mWajmWajin d 1 ⊡t[mist □ fh]octgbgpoWahg □]j: □1418-186618-61 □□ = 8 □D0 81245 = □□ = □ = □
- 2, Stgh Wi S) Ju[]h dnl) □fd ZdB) □Wf WgO) Fj ZWi W □ (0..4(□j mdZj]nkd Vgơn WZơd qj gj]h]i ơd Wk Waji ơr đe 1 ℃ HB Zj]i □ JI □ 8/4 □14 (8 □ 8 ⊂6 (8 ⊂61 □ 28 □ 4D□1 8 □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □
- 3, TWaldadjp ? D) QWabdMaid □) HWWaldjf □) : pbjpnadjp ⊡NMaj qjkjpgip K) HdZc]gg B: □0..5(1⊡Ct[mjst □ □h]actgbgpoWabg

- 4, Not be K) EWai :) F WømB 10..2(Dak WZoja et kjbet Z]h dWW[[dW] Y]o]n ji ⊡IN8Zjman]gWadji ja hotjZeji[nodWgjsd[Wadt] nom)nn rote ? I: [WaiWø], Hjg⊡]gg ⊡djZe]h 04.8/31w/37
- 5, Npc NR) Bph □O/CWa Yi: H) □cW KC) Nr Wnji Mt 10..5(Ctkj bg Z]h dZ i]pnji Wg []Wac dh ondob]nj[Yt bgpZj n] njk]map □ ndji W[WZodhWaji ja i]pnji Wg I: ? C jsd[Wa], E □gd Diq]no //587/. w7/6
- 6, Rjmoh Wi N⊡) Fgodeth Wn G:) ⊡ib]gf] PAC) R]q]ma Mi) HjmWijW⊡ 10. /0(Oc] 1⊡h]octgbgooWZjidZWZd[pmdWi8r cWani]r 9 EDic]mobH]oWY? dh 138′1w00
- 7, R j moh Wi N) F godech Wn G: E) N] l p] dwWN R] q] m M) H j nWi W \square \square . / 2(G] pZd] gi W(d b o] no ch j i gi [dxZmh d Wedt] aj ml \square] \square t gb go WZ j i dZ WZ [pmW[p] gi : PC [] a] Z_0 HDH? M] k / 48' w4
- /., R j mh Wi N□)? pnW H): i dfno]nS) □Wac KB)Nk]ngR)TnZcjZf] B)H j nWjW□)R]q]m M □0. / 1(D Yj mi]mjnm j a h]oWj ghh r dc 1 lh] oct g)gpoWj i dZ WZ[pndW Wi [drZnch d Watq] a] Wipnj8 knjk]m 6/4□□164D□14□□18[6/4D18□1.]8 □D0 8/45□ □10] □11111
- //, R j måh Wi N□) Fn≬h] m□C) Bn₩eWi :) R dggh n]i H:)Gjpk Wat AĐ C j bb NG) □ b]gf] P A) F godah Wn G:) R W[]m MĐ Dggad b]m N) R dg2f]i □) □mpt nY]nb EM) ? Wi : H) H j n₩ejW□ R]q]m M □□□□ 0 8DI □ □D46□ 6[46□□□4]DD 8□ 88□ 8□ 8□ 44 □1 □□□ 80 r da: gWej jin]og]pfj]iZ]kc Wgik Wat, I]pnjng bt 538 . 57w . 61
- /0, Bogo G) Gjpk Wat AE) Modo] mHKI)? pnW/H) G] ci]m R) R W[]m ME ⊡0..0(1⊡H] oct gbgo W2 jidZ W2d[pndW otk] D dh ZW2n][Yt h poWadjin di: PC,: h ECph B]i] o5/8/241w/244
- /1, : mi K) ApiWW9 QG 10...4(1 lh] cet gbgpdW2 i dZ W24 [pmdW[dbj mī []mn8 ce] Zgd dZWg nk]Zonph d Zn]W1]n, EK][dWmC]h W9 g J i Z g 06840w41
- /2, Ng i] OR) H W2f W BH) Aj mn]no ⊡H) ⊡gWafi ⊡Đ? Wagai boj i GB [0..1(Ontakoj kc W h]oW2j gdo]n W[YmWai [daj m[j]mn, ⊡gai ⊡c]h GW7H][2/8630w637
- /3, OW(Wn/n MB) OW/ZW□D NW g n □□): gn]n G□) Kj nZd□ ZpgWGJ) □h Wp]ggd O) Nj puW? J □0..0(Lpd j gd dZ WZ[noch pgW]n nt i □ Wkg nj h Wg bgpoW/i W] nhg] Wi] W[d cdYdtn bgpoW/i Wi] pkoW?] d g Wkonj Zt o]n, I] pnji Zc]h D o2. 840/w405
- /4, □jgîi Bjiuygju: G) KWa[GjtjgW: G) N]mWyjn D) N]h đjaad □) MtM]dnja □: B) G]dkidu B) NjpuW? J) R WajmH) NWoWa WnW: [0./3(OjsdZ nti]nbdhh Y]or]]i lpdjgaldZ WZd[W[jnbWdZ WZd[n WZzph pgWaib di bgpoWaiZ WZW]]h dWtk] DW[di [dnjn[]mnja knjnkdji Wo] h]oWyjgbh di mWoYmWainti Wkojnjh]n8njng]qWZ] ajm h]oWyjgzZ WZd[]h dWi,I]pnjnZdjiZ] 1.6842w52
- /5, □jgîn Bjiuyglu: G) KWarCjitjgW: G) NjmWyjn D) Njh djœd □) MtMjdnjn □: Đ G]dkidtu B) NjpuW? J) R WajmH) NW ơ Mi WnW:
 (0, /3(Oc]]aa]Zoja R D 33)0/00 npbb]non WZWi Widjd[n]i □ ndtdŋ] Zjh kji]iod œ]]Wag qisdZdt d[pZ][Yt jmbWdZ WZd[n WZph pgWaib di bgodWatZ WZd[]h dWitk] DW[di nhgW][[dŋ nh]m ja knjnkdji Wajh] o Wijghh di mWiYmWainti Wkqinjh]n, I]pnjnZd□ liZ] 1/. 8356w366
- /6, MWb]gG-k]u □) □jgîi □bji uyglu: G) KWu⊡ji tjgW: G) Kdu-i
 □) Ojmnjn D) NjmnWijn D) □WoojggWjn K) R WajmH) NjpuW? J) NWoWi WnW: □0./3(□Wi Wrdij q] nhZ]kojmWeji chon nh[pZ] cc] ncjmo⊡jnh h djZcji [mdVg[tnapiZodji W[jsq[Wedt] nonjnn gdlf][q] sZdjojsoZdt d] cc]mWejYnWaj, I]pnjnZdji Z] 063875w/.4
- /7, □nW[ajn[h H H □ 754(: nWkd[W[n]indadh]h] cej[ajmce]lpW□ cdWudji jah dZnjibnWi lpWcdto]n ja knjuo]di podpdud b ce] knod Zdkgl ja knjuo]di [t]Ydi[dib,: i Vg□djZc]h 508026w032
- 0., McM]dnja ⊟: EjC dZ²h Wi AC)R Wa]mH ⊡0.//(I]pnja Zo]h dZWg]qd[]iZ] ccWi1lih]cctgbgp oW MdZ WZd[dic dYdm ntiWkadZ IW)F □ : OKWa]WZ adqdat kmjiYW %g ccnja pbc jsd[Wadq][WiWa]di YmWaiZjm]dsjatjpib mWan, Dio E?]qI]pnjan Zd078 w 5
- 0/, [] AnhobNi MH ⊡./.(Gokj dZ Wzd[Vyd]m []g)WVNi djg]qpgd dZ []ct[mNwNi])bgpoNwicdji]k]misd[Wi] W[I Ŵ)F⊡ OKWi] WZαhd⊡ αd]n W[bgpoNwicdji]m][pZ][g]q]gn d mNwicdskj ZNi kpn Wao]mkdgi ZWnkad] ad [pZ][n]dupn]n, □]ggHjgI]pmjrYdjg1.816/w165
- □ JOEad A) Ka S8 ROI) SVadO:) RS Jaf O) SU) RS CSVA01) BacRO B . - (DVVa WOW PZ Id dSWf cSd WRf SR Pi b Va Odb WS gW0 CSOdSd W RSZOO Wa Zsgf ZWW RSI RCOOK O R F O)C 8 KHOIS O ¢YAW W cQ PCOW, HIQ: O a Z 9 WIS 9 SEQ 62755k6.

 $O\ cadd e S\ PZa\ Rk\ PcOW\ POc Wc \ a \ de W e S\ OPW S \ WZeW TO eac BF\ Sf\ ca \ S \ 647566 k6. -$



Oxidative Stress, Disrupted Energy Metabolism, and Altered Signaling Pathways in Glutaryl-CoA Dehydrogenase Knockout Mice: Potential Implications of Quinolinic Acid Toxicity in the Neuropathology of Glutaric Acidemia Type I

Bianca Seminotti¹ • Alexandre Umpierrez Amaral¹ • Rafael Teixeira Ribeiro¹ • Marília Danyelle Nunes Rodrigues¹ • Ana Laura Colín-González² • Guilhian Leipnitz¹ • Abel Santamaría² • Moacir Wajner^{1,3}

Received: 23 June 2015 / Accepted: 17 November 2015 © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2015

Abstract We investigated the effects of an acute intrastriatal QUIN administration on cellular redox and bioenergetics homeostasis, as well as on important signaling pathways in the striatum of wild-type ($Gcdh^{+/+}$, WT) and knockout mice for glutaryl-CoA dehydrogenase ($Gcdh^{-/-}$) fed a high lysine (Lys, 4.7 %) chow. QUIN increased lactate release in both $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice and reduced the activities of complex IV and creatine kinase only in the striatum of $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice. QUIN also induced lipid and protein oxidative damage and increased the generation of reactive nitrogen species, as well as the activities of the antioxidant enzymes glutathione peroxidase, superoxide dismutase 2, and glutathione-S-transferase in WT and Gcdh^{-/} animals. Furthermore, QUIN induced DCFH oxidation (reactive oxygen species production) and reduced GSH concentrations (antioxidant defenses) in $Gcdh^{-/-}$. An early increase of Akt and phospho-Erk 1/2 in the cytosol and Nrf2 in the nucleus was also observed, as well as a decrease of cytosolic Keap1caused by QUIN, indicating activation of the Nrf2 pathway mediated by Akt and phospho-Erk 1/2, possibly as a compensatory protective mechanism against the ongoing QUIN-induced toxicity. Finally, QUIN increased NF-KB and

Moacir Wajner mwajner@ufrgs.br diminished IkB α expression, evidencing a pro-inflammatory response. Our data show a disruption of energy and redox homeostasis associated to inflammation induced by QUIN in the striatum of $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice submitted to a high Lys diet. Therefore, it is presumed that QUIN may possibly contribute to the pathophysiology of striatal degeneration in children with glutaric aciduria type I during inflammatory processes triggered by infections or vaccinations.

Keywords Glutaric acidemia · Quinolinic acid · Inflammatory response · Redox homeostasis · Energy metabolism · Signaling pathways

Introduction

Glutaric acidemia type I (GA I) is a neurometabolic recessive disease caused by glutaryl-CoA dehydrogenase (GCDH, EC 1.3.99.7) deficiency, which participates in the catabolism of lysine, hydroxylysine, and tryptophan. Blockage of this enzyme activity leads to accumulation of high amounts of glutaric (GA) and 3-hydroxyglutaric (3HGA) acids in tissues and biological fluids (blood, urine, and cerebrospinal fluid) of the affected patients [1, 2]. GA I is considered a cerebral organic acidemia because affected individuals present predominantly neurological symptoms. At birth, macrocephaly and frontotemporal cortical atrophy are observed. Between 3 and 36 months of age, patients suffer acute bilateral striatal degeneration during or following encephalopathic episodes triggered by catabolic events, such as infections, fever, or prolonged fasting, in which the concentrations of the accumulating metabolites dramatically increase reaching millimolar concentrations [3]. Thereafter, they present dyskinesia and

¹ Departamento de Bioquímica, Instituto de Ciências Básicas da Saúde, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Rua Ramiro Barcelos N° 2600-Anexo, CEP 90035-003 Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil

² Laboratorio de Aminoácidos Excitadores, Instituto Nacional de Neurología y Neurocirugía, Manuel Velasco Suárez, SSA, México, DF, México

³ Serviço de Genética Médica, Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil

dystonia, hypotonia, seizures, muscle stiffness, and spasticity [2, 4–6].

Inflammatory processes contribute to the appearance and progression of various neurodegenerative disorders. Neuroinflammation can change various parameters of cerebral energy metabolism and induce oxidative stress and excitotoxicity in these diseases [7-9]. Although excessive release of inflammatory cytokines by macrophages and microglia in the central nervous system (CNS) has been associated with the pathogenesis of neurodegeneration, the exact role of these molecules is not yet well established [10]. The kynurenine pathway (KP), the most important route of tryptophan catabolism, is stimulated by inflammatory cytokines resulting in the production of metabolites capable of modulating different redox systems in various physiological functions. In the brain, some metabolites formed in this pathway, including kynurenic acid, kynurenine, and quinolinic acid (QUIN), are important for normal functioning [11–13]. However, when in excess, they may play a toxic role in CNS disorders mainly associated to excitotoxicity, such as Parkinson's and Huntington's diseases and in GA I [13–15]. QUIN (2,3-pyridine-dicarboxylic acid) is a metabolite of KP that is capable of inducing neurotoxic effects by different mechanisms [16]. The primary mechanism exerted by this excitotoxin in the CNS has been largely related with overactivation of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDAr) and increased cytosolic Ca²⁺ concentrations that may be accompanied by free radical formation and oxidative damage, mitochondrial dysfunction, cytochrome c release, and ATP exhaustion [17, 18].

As regards to GA I, various in vitro and in vivo studies demonstrated that GA and 3HGA, the metabolites that most accumulate in this disorder, induce excitotoxicity, oxidative stress, and impairment of cellular energy metabolism in rat brain [19-41]. Despite the great deal of work carried out with these toxic organic acids, the pathomechanisms underlying the acute degeneration of the striatum that occurs in the affected patients during episodes of metabolic decompensation are not yet well established. However, it has been postulated that QUIN, a key KP metabolite whose biosynthesis is stimulated during these situations, may potentially contribute to striatal GA I pathogenesis and potentially precipitate severe neurological symptoms during these crises [15]. Indeed, the symptomatology of glutaric acidemic patients suddenly worsens during or after infection or immunization. So, it is possible that the high accumulation of organic acids (GA and 3HGA) during crises, associated with increased concentrations of QUIN, may play an important role in the pathophysiology of striatal damage in GA I patients.

Therefore, in the present study, we investigated the effects of QUIN intrastriatal administration on cellular bioenergetics and redox homeostasis in the brain of $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice submitted to a high dietary lysine (Lys) chow. Central components of mitochondrial energy production, transfer and

utilization, as well as important parameters of redox homeostasis and finally signaling pathways were evaluated in the striatum of 30-day-old $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice. Lactate production, the activities of the electron transfer chain complexes and creatine kinase (CK), as well as malondialdehyde (MDA) levels, sulfhydryl content, 2',7'-dihydrodichlorofluorescein (DCFH) oxidation, nitrite and nitrate generation, reduced glutathione (GSH) concentrations, and the activities of glutathione peroxidase (GPx), glutathione reductase (GR), superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PDH), and glutathione-S-transferase (GST) were determined. We also assessed the protein content of nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 (Nrf2), Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1 (Keap 1), nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-κB), NF-kappa-B inhibitor alpha ($I\kappa B\alpha$), protein kinase B (Akt), and Erk 1/2 (extracellular signal-regulated kinase).

Material and Methods

Chemicals

All chemicals were of analytical grade and purchased from Sigma (St Louis, MO, USA) unless otherwise stated. Solutions were prepared on the day of the experiments and the pH was adjusted to 7.2–7.4 in the appropriate buffer for each technique.

Animals

 $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ littermates, both of C129SvEv background, were generated from heterozygotes and maintained at Unidade Experimental Animal of the Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre (Porto Alegre, Brazil). The animals were maintained on a 12:12-h light/dark cycle (lights on 07:00– 19:00 h) in air-conditioned constant temperature (22 ± 1 °C) colony room, with free access to water and 20 % (w/w) protein commercial chow containing 0.9 % Lys (SUPRA, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil). Thirty-day-old $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice were used in all experiments.

Ethical Statement

This study was performed in strict accordance with the Principles of Laboratory Animal Care, National Institute of Health of United States of America, NIH, publication no. 85-23, revised in 2011, the International Guiding Principles for Biomedical Research Involving Animals and approved by the Ethical Committee for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals of the Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre (n° 26967). All efforts were made to minimize suffering, discomfort, stress, and the number of animals necessary to produce reliable scientific data.

High Dietary Lys Treatment and QUIN Striatal Infusion

Thirty-day-old $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ animals were submitted to a high dietary Lys intake (4.7 % Lys) for 48 h. This diet was shown to provoke an increase of GA and 3HGA similar to those found in GA I patients and lead to striatal damage in $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice [42]. Animals (six per group) were randomly assigned to four experimental groups: groups I ($Gcdh^{+/+}$ -NaCl) and III ($Gcdh^{-/-}$ -NaCl) received a single intrastriatal infusion of 50 nmol NaCl (1 µL) dissolved in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4), whereas groups II ($Gcdh^{+/+}$ -QUIN) and IV ($Gcdh^{-/-}$ -QUIN) received 50 nmol QUIN (1 µL) dissolved in PBS, pH 7.4 (dose selected on the basis of the study of Ignarro and coworkers [43].

After 48 h of Lys overload, NaCl or QUIN was injected into the striatum of the mice previously anesthetized with isoflurane (45 mg/kg, i.p.) and placed on a stereotaxic frame (Stoelting Co., Wood Dale IL, USA), using the following coordinates: 0.0 mm anterior to bregma, +2.6 mm lateral to bregma, and -2.4 mm ventral to the dura [44]. Drugs were injected for 3 min using a 10-µL Hamilton microsyringe. The needle was left in place for an additional 1 min after the administration and then slowly withdrawn. $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice were euthanized 24 h after QUIN infusion, and the striatum was immediately removed for the determination of the biochemical parameters (oxidative stress and bioenergetics). After QUIN injection, the animals received a moderately high dietary Lys (2.8 %) chow. Samples for immunoblotting experiments were obtained from animals killed 30 min after QUIN intrastriatal infusion and prepared as described below.

Bioenergetics Parameters

Striatum Preparation for Lactate Production

The striatum was dissected, weighed, and cut into 400 μ m slices, which were incubated in Krebs–Ringer bicarbonate buffer, pH 7.4. Briefly, 50 mg of striatal slices was added to small flasks (11 cm³), pre-incubated at 37 °C for 15 min in Krebs–Ringer bicarbonate buffer, pH 7.4, followed by the addition of 5 mM glucose. After 60 min incubation at 37 °C in a metabolic shaker, the reaction was stopped by the addition of one volume of 0.6 N perchloric acid to the medium. Striatal slices were then homogenized and the excess of perchloric acid was precipitated as a potassium salt with the addition of one volume of 3 M potassium bicarbonate. After centrifugation at 10,000×g for 5 min at 4 °C, lactate concentrations were measured in the supernatants by the lactate peroxidase method [45]. Results were expressed as micromole lactate/hour/gram tissue.

Striatal Preparation for Respiratory Chain Complex and Creatine Kinase (CK) Activities

For the determination of the respiratory chain complex and CK activities, the striatum was homogenized in 19 volumes (1:20, w/v) of SETH buffer (250 mM sucrose, 2.0 mM EDTA, 10 mM Trizma base, and 50 UI mL⁻¹ heparin), pH 7.4. Homogenates were centrifuged at 800×g for 10 min at 4 °C to discard nuclei and cell debris. The pellet was discarded and the supernatant, a suspension of mixed and preserved organelles, including mitochondria, was separated and used to measure these parameters.

Respiratory Chain Complex I-IV Activities

The activities of the complexes of the respiratory chain were measured in the presence of approximately 30 µg of protein. Succinate-2,6-dichloroindophenol (DCIP)-oxidoreductase (complex II) and succinate:cytochrome c oxidoreductase (complex II-III) activities were determined according to Fischer et al. [46]. Cytochrome c oxidase (complex IV; COX) was assayed according to Rustin et al. [47]. The activities were calculated as nanomole/minute.milligram protein.

Creatine Kinase (CK) Activity

CK activity was measured in total homogenates according to Hughes [48] with slight modifications. Briefly, the reaction mixture consisted of 50 mM Tris buffer, pH 7.5, containing 7.0 mM phosphocreatine, 7.5 mM MgSO₄, and 0.5–1.0 µg protein in a final volume of 0.1 mL. The reaction was started by addition of 4.0 mM ADP and stopped after 10 min by addition of 50 mM p-hydroxy-mercuribenzoic acid. The creatine formed was estimated according to the colorimetric method of Hughes. The color was developed by the addition of 0.1 mL of 20 % α -naphtol and 0.1 mL of 20 % diacetyl in a final volume of 1.0 mL and read after 20 min at λ = 540 nm. Results were calculated as micromole of creatine/ minute.milligram protein.

Oxidative Stress Parameters

Striatal Preparation

To measure the oxidative stress parameters (except for DCFH oxidation), striatum was homogenized in 9 volumes (1:10, w/v) of 20 mM sodium phosphate buffer, pH 7.4, containing 140 mM KCl and centrifuged at 750×g for 10 min at 4 °C to discard nuclei and cell debris [49]. The pellet was discarded and the supernatant, a suspension of mixed and preserved organelles, including mitochondria, was separated and used to quantify these parameters. Striatum slices were also prepared (400 µm) for DCFH oxidation measurement.

Malondialdehyde (MDA) Levels

We evaluated lipid oxidative damage by measuring malondialdehyde (MDA) levels through the thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances (TBA-RS) method. TBA-RS levels were measured according to the method described by Yagi [50] with slight modifications. Briefly, 200 µL of 10 % trichloroacetic acid and 300 µL of 0.67 % TBA in 7.1 % sodium sulfate were added to 100 µL of tissue supernatants containing 0.3 mg of protein and incubated for 2 h in a boiling water bath. The mixture was allowed to cool on running tap water for 5 min. The resulting pink-stained complex was extracted with 400 μ L of butanol. Fluorescence of the organic phase was read at 515 and 553 nm as excitation and emission wavelengths, respectively. Calibration curve was performed using 1,1,3,3-tetramethoxypropane and subjected to the same treatment as supernatants. TBA-RS levels were calculated as nanomole MDA/milligram protein.

Sulfhydryl Content

Protein oxidative damage was tested by measuring the sulfhydryl content, which is based on the reduction of 5,5-dithio-bis (2-nitrobenzoic acid) (DTNB) by thiols, generating a yellow derivative (TNB) whose absorption is measured spectrophotometrically at 412 nm [51]. Briefly, 30 μ L of 10 mM DTNB and 980 μ L of PBS were added to 50 μ L of tissue supernatants containing 0.3 mg of protein. This was followed by 30 min incubation at room temperature in a dark room. Absorption was measured at 412 nm. Sulfhydryl content is inversely correlated to oxidative damage (sulfhydryl oxidation). Results were calculated and expressed as nanomole thiol/milligram protein.

2',7'-Dihydrodichlorofluorescein (DCFH) Oxidation

Reactive oxygen species production (ROS) was assessed according to LeBel et al. [52] by using 2', 7'-dihydrodichlorofluorescein diacetate (DCF-DA). DCF-DA was prepared in 20 mM sodium phosphate buffer pH 7.4, also containing 140 mM KCl and incubated together with tissue slices (30 mg) during 30 min at 37 °C. DCF-DA is enzymatically hydrolyzed by intracellular esterases to form non-fluorescent DCFH, which is then rapidly oxidized to form highly fluorescent 2',7'-dichlorofluorescein (DCF) in the presence of ROS. The DCF fluorescence intensity parallels the amount of reactive species present. Fluorescence was measured using excitation and emission wavelengths of 480 and 535 nm, respectively. A calibration curve was prepared with DCF (0.25–10 mM). The levels of ROS were calculated as picomole DCF formed/milligram protein.

Nitrate and Nitrite Content

Nitrate and nitrite concentrations were evaluated according to Navarro-Gonzálvez et al. [53] with some modifications. One hundred and fifty microliters of tissue supernatants (containing approximately 1.2 mg of protein) was deproteinized by adding 125 µL of 75 mM ZnSO4 solution, followed by centrifugation at 9000×g for 2 min at 25 °C. The supernatant obtained was neutralized with 55 mM NaOH solution and diluted in 5 volumes of glycine buffer solution, pH 9.7. Copper-coated cadmium granules (600-1000 mg) were added to the supernatants to convert all nitrates into nitrite in the biological samples. Aliquots of 200 µL were then treated with 200 µL of Griess reagent (2 % sulfanilamide in 5 % HCl and 0.1 % N-1-(naphtyl)ethylenediamine in H2O) and incubated at room temperature by 10 min. The absorbance was read at 505 nm. A calibration curve was prepared with NaNO₂ at concentrations ranging from 1 to 125 µM. The final results were expressed as micromole nitrate and nitrite/milligram of protein.

Antioxidant Defenses

Reduced Glutathione (GSH) Concentrations

GSH concentrations were measured according to Browne and Armstrong [54]. A hundred and fifty microliters of metaphosphoric acid was added to an equal volume of tissue supernatants containing 30 µg protein and centrifuged for 10 min at 7000×g. Then 30 µL from the supernatants were diluted with 70 µL of 100 mM sodium phosphate buffer, pH 8.0, containing 5 mM EDTA. This preparation was incubated with o-phthaldialdehyde (1 mg/mL in methanol) at room temperature for 15 min. Fluorescence was measured using excitation and emission wavelengths of 350 and 420 nm, respectively. Concentrations were calculated from a calibration curve of a GSH standard (0.001–1 mM) and expressed as nanomole GSH/milligram protein.

Enzymatic Antioxidant Enzymes

Glutathione Peroxidase (GPx) Activity

GPx activity was measured according to Wendel [55] using tert-butyl hydroperoxide as substrate. The enzyme activity was determined by monitoring the NADPH disappearance at 340 nm in a medium containing 100 mM potassium phosphate buffer/1 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid, pH 7.7, 2 mM GSH, 0.1 U/mL glutathione reductase, 0.4 mM azide, 0.5 mM tert-butyl hydroperoxide, 0.1 mM NADPH, and tissue supernatants (approximately 3 μ g of protein). One GPx unit (U) is defined as 1 μ mol of NADPH consumed per minute. The specific activity was calculated and expressed as unit/milligram protein.

Glutathione Reductase (GR) Activity

GR activity was measured according to Carlberg and Mannervik [56] using oxidized glutathione (GSSG) and NADPH as substrates. The enzyme activity was determined by monitoring the NADPH disappearance at 340 nm in a medium with 200 mM sodium phosphate buffer, pH 7.5, containing 6.3 mM EDTA, 1 mM GSSG, 0.1 mM NADPH, and tissue supernatants (approximately 0.065 mg of protein). The results were calculated and expressed as unit/milligram protein.

Superoxide Dismutase (SOD) Activity

Total SOD activity was assayed according to Marklund [57] and is based on the capacity of pyrogallol to autooxidize, a process highly dependent on superoxide, which is a substrate for SOD. The inhibition of autoxidation of pyrogallol occurs in the presence of SOD, whose activity can be then indirectly assayed spectrophotometrically at 420 nm. The reaction medium contained 50 mM Tris buffer/1 mM ethylenediaminetet-raacetic acid, pH 8.2, 80 U/mL catalase, 0.38 mM pyrogallol, and tissue supernatant (approximately 1 μ g of protein).

We also determined SOD1 (cytosolic isoform) and SOD2 (mitochondrial isoform) activities in the presence or absence of KCN (1.0 mM). SOD2 corresponds to the activity obtained in the presence of KCN, whereas SOD1 activity was calculated by subtracting the CN-sensitive activity from total SOD activity. Corrections were made for direct effects of CN⁻ on pyrogallol autoxidation [58]. Calibration curves were performed with purified SOD as standard to calculate SOD activities present in the samples. The results were expressed as unit/milligram protein.

Catalase (CAT) Activity

CAT activity was assayed according to Aebi [59] by measuring the absorbance decrease at 240 nm in a reaction medium containing 20 mM H_2O_2 , 0.1 % Triton X-100, 10 mM potassium phosphate buffer, pH 7.0, and tissue supernatants (approximately 1 µg of protein). One unit (U) of the enzyme is defined as 1 µmol of H_2O_2 consumed per minute. The specific activity was calculated and expressed as unit/milligram protein.

Glucose-6-Phosphate Dehydrogenase (G6PDH) Activity

G6PDH activity was measured by the method of Leong and Clark [60] in a reaction mixture containing 100 mM Tris–HCl, pH 7.5, 10 mM MgCl₂, 0.5 mM NADP⁺, and tissue supernatants (approximately 0.035 mg of protein). The reaction was started by the addition of 1 mM glucose-6-phosphate and was followed in a spectrophotometer at 340 nm. The results were calculated and expressed as unit/milligram protein.

Glutathione S-Transferase (GST) Activity

The activity of GST was measured according to Guthenberg and Mannervik [61] with slight modifications. GST activity was measured by the rate of formation of dinitrophenyl-Sglutathione at 340 nm in a medium containing 50 mM potassium phosphate, pH 6.5, 1 mM GSH, 1 mM 1-chloro-2,4dinitrobenzene (CDNB) as substrate, and tissue supernatants (approximately 0.045 mg of protein). The results were calculated and expressed as unit/milligram protein.

Western Blot Assays

Nuclear and Cytosolic Fraction Preparation for the Measurement of Transcription Factors and Inhibitors

Striatum was washed with cold PBS and lysed with a pre-cooled homogenizer in 300 µL cold buffer (10 mM HEPES, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 1 mM KCl, and 1 mM DTT) plus 1 µg/µL protease, phosphatase inhibitor cocktail, 1 mM PMSF, and 0.5 % Nonidet P-40, and incubated on ice for 15 min. The homogenates were centrifuged at $850 \times g$ for 10 min at 4 °C, and the supernatants (cytoplasmic extracts, SN1) were collected and stored at -80 °C. The pellets were resuspended in 200 µL of cold buffer, transferred to pre-cooled microcentrifuge tubes, and incubated on ice for 15 min. Then, 0.5 % Nonidet P-40 was added and the samples were incubated on ice for 5 min and mixed for 10 s. The suspensions were centrifuged at 14,000×g for 30 s at 4 °C, and the supernatants were collected in SN1. Then, the pellets were resuspended in 50 µL of complete lysis buffer (20 mM HEPES, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 mM EDTA, 20 % glycerol, 420 mM NaCl, and 1 mM DTT), plus 1 µg/mL protease, phosphatase inhibitor cocktail, and 1 mM PMSF, mixed for 10 s, and incubated on ice for 40 min (mixed for 10 s each 5 min). Finally, the suspensions were mixed for 30 s and centrifuged at 14,000×g for 10 min at 4 °C. The supernatants (nuclear extracts, SN2) were collected and stored at -80 °C. Inmunodetection was performed using the following primary antibodies, according to datasheet specifications: anti-Nrf2 (1:500, Abcam[®] ab31163), anti-Keap1 (1:500, Cell Signaling[®] D6B12), anti-NF-KB p-65 (1:500, Cell Signaling® D14E12), and anti-IkBa (1:500, Cell Signaling® L35A5).

Striatal Preparation for the Measurement of Akt and Erk 1/2 Protein Levels

Striatum was homogenized in Laemmli sample buffer (62.5 mM Tris–HCl, pH 6.8, 1 % SDS (w/v), 10 % glycerol (v/v)) and normalized by quantifying protein content. Inmunodetection was performed using the anti-Akt antibody (1:1,000, R&D Systems[®] MAB2055) and anti-Erk 1/2 and anti-phospho-Erk 1/2 (1:1000; Cell Signaling[®] p44/42 MAPK and Phospho-p44/42 MAPK), according to datasheet specifications.

Immunoblotting

To perform immunoblot experiments, equal amounts of protein (30 µg/well) were fractionated by SDS-PAGE and electroblotted onto nitrocellulose membranes. After verifying protein loading and electroblotting efficiency through Ponceau S staining, the membrane was blocked in Tween-Tris buffered saline (TTBS: 100 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 0.9 % NaCl, and 0.1 % Tween-20) containing 5 % albumin. Membranes were then incubated overnight at 4 °C with each antibody separately in TTBS, at different working dilutions as suggested by the manufacturers, and afterwards washed with TTBS. Anti-rabbit or anti-mouse IgG peroxidase-linked secondary antibody (1:10,000; Santa Cruz®, sc-2030 and sc-2031, respectively) was incubated with the membranes for an additional 2 h, washed again, and the immunoreactivity was detected by enhanced chemiluminescence. Densitometric analysis was performed with ImageJ software. Blots were developed to be linear in the range used for densitometry. All results were expressed as a ratio relative to the β-actin (1:1000, Sigma-Aldrich® A1978) or lamin B1 (1:1000, Abcam[®] ab133741) internal control.

Protein measurement

Protein content in samples was quantified for data normalization according to Lowry et al. [62].

Statistical Analysis

Results are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. Assays were performed in triplicate and the mean was used for statistical calculations. Duplicate or triplicate experiments were always carried out and the mean used for the calculations. Statistical analysis was performed with GraphPad 5.0 software. Student's *t* test (independent) was applied for simple comparisons between groups. Differences were considered significant when *P* < 0.05. Only significant results are presented.

Results

We first observed that $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice receiving 4.7 % dietary Lys for 48 h and injected intrastriatally with NaCl did not have apparent motor or behavioral alterations. In contrast, generalized convulsions were observed in all animals injected with QUIN.

Intrastriatal QUIN Administration Increases Lactate Release in the Striatum of $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ Mice

We evaluated the influence of a single intrastriatal injection of QUIN to $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice submitted to Lys overload (4.7 %) for 48 h on lactate release in the striatum, in an attempt to evaluate mitochondrial oxidative metabolism. Our results demonstrated that QUIN provoked a significant increase of lactate production in both $Gcdh^{+/+}$ [$t_{(7)}$ =4.941; P < 0.01] and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice [$t_{(6)}$ =3.303; P < 0.05] (Fig. 1), indicating a disruption of oxidative metabolism.

Intrastriatal QUIN Administration Decreases Complex IV Activity in the Striatum of *Gcdh^{-/-}* Mice

Since QUIN impaired oxidative mitochondrial respiration, we next investigated the effects of in vivo QUIN administration on the activities of complexes II, II-III, and IV of the respiratory chain in striatum of $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice. We found that complex IV activity was significantly reduced in $Gcdh^{-/-}$ but not in $Gcdh^{+/+}$ mice injected with QUIN [$t_{(9)} = 2.150$; P < 0.05] (Table 1). It can be also seen in the table that no significant differences were found in the activities of complexes II and II-III in striatum of both genotypes. The data indicate a failure of electron transfer through the respiratory chain at the COX activity step.



Fig. 1 Lactate release in the striatum of $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice on a high Lys (4.7 %) diet. Lactate concentrations were measured 24 h after a single intrastriatal injection of NaCl or QUIN (50 nmol). Results are represented as mean ± standard deviation for five independent experiments (animals) per group. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, compared to $Gcdh^{-/-}$ injected with NaCl (Student's *t* test for unpaired samples)

Intrastriatal QUIN Administration Decreases CK Activity in the Striatum of *Gcdh*^{-/-} Mice

A significant reduction of CK activity in the striatum of $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice injected with QUIN and submitted to a high Lys diet (4.7 %) was also observed as compared to NaCl-injected $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice [$t_{(9)}$ = 8.781; P < 0.001] (Fig. 2).

Intrastriatal QUIN Administration Induces Lipid Peroxidation in the Striatum of *Gcdh*^{+/+} and *Gcdh*^{-/-} Mice

QUIN intrastriatal infusion caused a significant increase of MDA levels in the striatum of $Gcdh^{+/+}$ [$t_{(7)} = 4.493$; P < 0.01] and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice [$t_{(8)} = 4.265$; P < 0.01] as compared to animals injected with NaCl (Fig. 3). Furthermore, it can be observed that the increase of MDA concentrations was higher in knockout animals when compared to wild-type (WT) animals injected with QUIN [$t_{(8)} = 3.351$; P < 0.05].

Intrastriatal QUIN Administration Reduces Sulfhydryl Content in the Striatum of *Gcdh*^{+/+} and *Gcdh*^{-/-} Mice

Figure 4 shows that sulfhydryl content was markedly reduced in the striatum of $Gcdh^{+/+}$ [$t_{(6)}$ = 3.164; P < 0.05] and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ [$t_{(8)}$ = 3.837; P < 0.01] mice after QUIN injection.

Intrastriatal QUIN Administration Increases DCFH Oxidation in the Striatum of *Gcdh^{-/-}* Mice

Next, we assessed DCFH oxidation in the striatum of $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice injected with QUIN. We observed that DCFH oxidation was significantly increased only in $Gcdh^{-/}$ animals [$t_{(10)} = 4.989$; P < 0.001] (Fig. 5), indicating increased ROS generation in the mutant mice.

Table 1 Respiratory chain complex II, II-III, and IV activities in striatum from $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice under a high Lys (4.7%) diet and measured 24 h after a single intrastriatal injection of NaCl or QUIN (50 nmol)

	<i>Gcdh</i> ^{+/+} plus NaCl	<i>Gcdh</i> ^{+/+} plus QUIN	<i>Gcdh⁻∕−</i> plus NaCl	<i>Gcdh^{−/−}</i> plus QUIN
Complex II	2.06 ± 0.51	2.10 ± 0.40	1.92 ± 0.16	2.06 ± 0.21
Complex II-III	10.1 ± 1.51	9.50 ± 0.98	9.62 ± 0.74	9.12 ± 0.76
Complex IV	45.6 ± 6.40	39.1 ± 6.39	48.6 ± 12.5	$34.0 \pm 9.95^{*}$

Results are represented as mean \pm standard deviation for five independent experiments (animals) per group

*P < 0.05, compared to $Gcdh^{-/-}$ injected with NaCl (Student's *t* test for unpaired samples). Results are expressed as nanomole per minute per milligram protein



Fig. 2 Creatine kinase (CK) activity in the striatum of $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice on a high Lys (4.7 %) diet. CK activity was measured 24 h after a single intrastriatal injection of NaCl or QUIN (50 nmol). Results are represented as mean ± standard deviation for five independent experiments (animals) per group. ***P<0.001, compared to $Gcdh^{-/-}$ injected with NaCl; ###P<0.001, compared to $Gcdh^{+/+}$ injected with QUIN (Student's *t* test for unpaired samples)

Intrastriatal QUIN Administration Increases Nitrate and Nitrite Production in the Striatum of *Gcdh*^{+/+} and *Gcdh*^{-/-} Mice

We next verified that QUIN in vivo administration provoked a significant increase of nitrate and nitrite levels in the striatum of $Gcdh^{+/+}$ [$t_{(7)}$ =3.55; P<0.01] and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ [$t_{(5)}$ =4.071; P<0.01] mice as compared to animals injected with NaCl (Fig. 6). It can be also seen in the figure that nitrate and nitrite production was slightly higher in $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice relative to $Gcdh^{+/+}$ mice.

GSH Concentrations Are Decreased in the Striatum of *Gcdh^{-/-}* Mice Fed a High Lys Diet

Figure 7 shows that GSH concentrations were significantly lower in $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice receiving Lys overload, as compared to $Gcdh^{+/+}$ mice [NaCl: $t_{(8)} = 4.262$; P < 0.01; QUIN: $t_{(8)} = 2.448$; P < 0.05]. In contrast, QUIN injection had no effect on this parameter.



Fig. 3 Malondialdehyde (MDA) concentrations in the striatum of $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice on a high Lys (4.7 %) diet. MDA concentrations were measured 24 h after a single intrastriatal injection of NaCl or QUIN (50 nmol). Results are represented as mean ± standard deviation for five independent experiments (animals) per group. **P < 0.01, compared to $Gcdh^{-/-}$ injected with NaCl; ${}^{#}P$ < 0.05, compared to $Gcdh^{+/+}$ injected with QUIN (Student's *t* test for unpaired samples)



Fig. 4 Sulfhydryl content in the striatum of $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice on a high Lys (4.7 %) diet. Thiol oxidation was measured 24 h after a single intrastriatal injection of NaCl or QUIN (50 nmol). Results are represented as mean ± standard deviation for five independent experiments (animals) per group. **P < 0.01, compared to $Gcdh^{-/-}$ injected with NaCl (Student's *t* test for unpaired samples)

Intrastriatal QUIN Administration Alters the Antioxidant Enzyme Activities in the Striatum of *Gcdh*^{-/-} Mice

As regards to the enzymatic antioxidant defenses, we observed a reduction of GST activity in $Gcdh^{-/-}$ animals (Fig. 8f) $[t_{(7)} =$ 3.75; P < 0.01]. Moreover, QUIN injection increased GPx (Fig. 8a) and SOD2 (Fig. 8d) activities in both $Gcdh^{+/+}$ [GPx: $t_{(8)} = 13.34$; P < 0.001; SOD2: $t_{(8)} = 2.824$; P < 0.05] and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice [GPx: $t_{(8)} = 6.298$; P < 0.001; SOD2: $t_{(8)} =$ 3.108; P < 0.05], whereas GST activity was increased in the knockout mice [$t_{(7)} = 3.512$; P < 0.01] (Fig. 8a), with no changes of GR, SOD1, CAT, and G6PDH activities (Fig. 8b, c, e, g). It is also important to emphasize that the increase of GPx activity was more pronounced in the knockout animals relative to the WT animals [$t_{(8)} = 4.079$; P < 0.01] (Fig. 8a).

Intrastriatal QUIN Administration Induces Early Nrf2, Akt, and Erk 1/2 Expression in the Striatum of *Gcdh*^{-/-} Mice

Figure 9 depicts the effects of QUIN injection into the striatum on Nrf2, Keap1, Akt, and Erk 1/2 protein levels of mouse striatum 30 min after its infusion. QUIN administration



Fig. 5 2',7'-Dihydrodichlorofluorescein (DCFH) oxidation in the striatum of $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdn^{-/-}$ mice under a high Lys (4.7 %) diet. DCFH oxidation was measured 24 h after a single intrastriatal injection of NaCl or QUIN (50 nmol). Results are represented as mean ± standard deviation for five independent experiments (animals) per group. ***P < 0.001, compared to $Gcdh^{-/-}$ injected with NaCl; ###P < 0.001, compared to $Gcdh^{+/+}$ injected with QUIN (Student's *t* test for unpaired samples)



Fig. 6 Nitrate and nitrite production in the striatum of $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice on a high Lys (4.7 %) diet. Nitrate and nitrite concentrations were measured 24 h after a single intrastriatal injection of NaCl or QUIN (50 nmol). Results are represented as mean ± standard deviation for five independent experiments (animals) per group. **P<0.01, compared to $Gcdh^{-/-}$ injected with NaCl (Student's *t* test for unpaired samples)

induced an increase of Nrf2 expression in both $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice [$Gcdh^{+/+}$: $t_{(4)} = 5.519$; P < 0.01; $Gcdh^{-/-}$: $t_{(4)} = 3.988$; P < 0.05] (Fig. 9a). QUIN also provoked a significant decrease of the Nrf2 inhibitor protein Keap1 in $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice [$t_{(4)} = 3.127$; P < 0.05] (Fig. 9b). Furthermore, QUIN-induced increase of Nrf2 and decrease of Keap 1 were more pronounced in $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice [$t_{(4)} = 5.635$; P < 0.05]. We also found that QUIN injection associated with high Lys dietary intake significantly increased Akt [$t_{(4)} = 3.518$; P < 0.05] (Fig. 9c) and phospho-Erk 1/2 [$t_{(4)} = 7.627$; P < 0.01] (Fig. 9d) expression in $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice.

Intrastriatal QUIN Administration Induces Early NF- κ B Expression in the Striatum of $Gcdh^{-/-}$ Mice

Figure 10a shows a moderate increase of NF-κB-p65 expression in the nuclear fraction caused by QUIN in $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice fed a high Lys diet [$t_{(4)}$ = 3.255; P<0.05]. QUIN injection also augmented the content of cytosolic NF-κB-p65 in $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice relatively to knockout mice injected with NaCl [$t_{(4)}$ = 5.694; P<0.05] and to WT mice that received QUIN [$t_{(4)}$ = 3.224; P<0.05] (Fig. 10b). Furthermore, it can be observed that QUIN caused a strong decrease of the cytosolic IκBα



Fig. 7 Reduced glutathione (GSH) concentrations in the striatum of $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice on a high Lys (4.7 %) diet. GSH concentrations were measured 24 h after a single intrastriatal injection of NaCl or QUIN (50 nmol). Results are represented as mean \pm standard deviation for five independent experiments (animals) per group. ${}^{\#}P < 0.05$, ${}^{\#}P < 0.01$, compared to $Gcdh^{+/+}$ injected with QUIN (Student's *t* test for unpaired samples)

Fig. 8 Glutathione peroxidase (GPx, a), glutathione reductase (GR, b), superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1, c), superoxide dismutase 2 (SOD2, d), catalase (CAT, e), glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PDH, f), and glutathione-S-transferase (GST, g) activities in the striatum of $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-}$ mice on a high Lys (4.7 %) diet. The enzyme activities were measured 24 h after a single intrastriatal injection of NaCl or QUIN (50 nmol). Results are represented as mean \pm standard deviation for five independent experiments (animals) per group. *P < 0.05, ***P* < 0.01, ****P* < 0.001 compared to Gcdh-/- injected with NaCl; $^{\#}P < 0.01$, compared to $Gcdh^{+/+}$ injected with OUIN (Student's t test for unpaired samples)



content in both $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice $[Gcdh^{+/+}: t_{(4)} = 3.667; P < 0.05; Gcdh^{-/-}: t_{(4)} = 3.238; P < 0.05]$ (Fig. 10c).

Discussion

Although much work has been performed investigating the molecular mechanisms implicated in the neuropathology of GA I, the exact processes responsible for the acute striatal degeneration characteristic of this disorder are still poorly established. It is of note that destruction of the basal ganglia follows catabolic events during encephalopathic crises that are triggered by infections or immunizations associated with inflammatory processes [2, 22].

In a previous report, it was postulated that the KP pathway, and more particularly QUIN, is activated during infections contributing to the neuropathology of GA I [15], although to the best of our knowledge so far no work investigated this hypothesis. QUIN is a neurotoxin associated to neurodegeneration through activation of distinct signaling pathways and transcription factors [17]. The most important mechanism for QUIN deleterious effects towards the CNS is excitotoxicity because this metabolite is a glutamatergic agonist of NMDA receptors, preferentially activating the subunits NR2A and NR2B. Through this mechanism, QUIN causes an augment of Ca²⁺ influx that leads to a pathological cascade resulting in neuronal death [17].

Considering that chronic and acute Lys overload to GA I knockout mice give rise to increased GA and 3HGA





Fig. 9 Immunoblot and densitometric analysis for nuclear Nrf2 (a), cytosolic Keap1 (b), Akt (c), and phospho-Erk 1/2 (d) protein content in the striatum of $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice on a high Lys (4.7 %) diet. Protein levels were measured 30 min after a single intrastriatal injection of NaCl or QUIN (50 nmol). Lamin B1 and β -actin were used as endogenous controls. Results are represented as mean \pm standard

deviation for three independent experiments (animals) per group. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, compared to $Gcdh^{-/-}$ injected with NaCl; #P < 0.05, ##P < 0.01, compared to $Gcdh^{+/+}$ injected with QUIN (Student's *t* test for unpaired samples). Protein levels are expressed as arbitrary units (AU)

concentrations in tissues and body fluids, as well as striatal degeneration [63–65], in the present work we submitted $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice to a high Lys dietary intake for 48 h followed by a single intrastriatal injection of QUIN to simulate an acute neuroinflammatory process. We thereafter evaluated bioenergetics and oxidative stress parameters, as well as the content of proteins involved in critical cellular signaling pathways.

QUIN significantly increased lactate production in both $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice, implying an impairment of oxidative metabolism. Elevated lactate concentrations were probably secondary to a blockage of the respiratory chain since COX activity was decreased by this treatment in $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice. We cannot however exclude that a disturbance in the glycolytic pathway and/or citric acid cycle functioning was also involved in lactate production increase.

QUIN also significantly reduced CK activity in the striatum of $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice, indicating that intracellular energy transfer is impaired in the knockout mice. This is in line with previous data showing that the activity of CK is markedly diminished in brain and skeletal muscle from $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice that received intraperitoneal Lys administration [66]. Consistent with this observation, Zinnanti and colleagues found markedly decreased concentrations of phosphocreatine in the brain of $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice on a high Lys diet [63, 64]. Our findings are also in accordance with a previous study showing that QUIN intrastriatal injection induced a decrease of CK activity in rat striatum [18].

Taken together, our data strongly indicate that oxidative phosphorylation and intracellular energy transfer are compromised by QUIN in vivo in the striatum of $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice. We also verified that QUIN-induced disruption of energy



Fig. 10 Immunoblot and densitometric analysis for nuclear (**a**) and cytosolic (**b**) NF-κB, and cytosolic IκBα (**c**) protein content in the striatum of $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice on a high Lys (4.7 %) diet. Protein levels were measured 30 min after a single intrastriatal injection of NaCl or QUIN (50 nmol). Lamin B1 and β-actin were used as

endogenous controls. Results are represented as mean \pm standard deviation for three independent experiments (animals) per group. *P < 0.05, compared to $Gcdh^{-/-}$ injected with NaCl; ${}^{\#}P < 0.05$, compared to $Gcdh^{+/+}$ injected with QUIN (Student's *t* test for unpaired samples). Protein levels are expressed as arbitrary units (AU)

metabolism was more evident in $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice under a high Lys dietary intake and this may have happened because of the additive effects of QUIN, GA, and 3HGA [35, 66, 67]. Regarding to the mechanisms by which QUIN disturbs bioenergetics, it was previously shown that activation of glutamate receptors by QUIN leads to impairment of energy production via free radical formation [18, 68–71]. Thus, it is conceivable that the inhibition of CK activity observed in the present work could be due to oxidative attack to the enzyme protein structure [72–77].

Therefore, we evaluated important redox homeostasis parameters after QUIN injection and observed that this neurotoxin increased MDA levels reflecting lipid peroxidation, in both $Gcdh^{-/-}$ and $Gcdh^{+/+}$ mice, although knockout mice was more susceptible to this oxidative damage. Noteworthy, previous results showed that GCDH knockout mice submitted to Lys overload present enhanced MDA levels that was attributed to the increased production of GA and 3HGA [63, 78]. Our results are not surprising because QUIN was previously demonstrated to induce lipid peroxidation in animal tissues [79]. It was suggested that QUIN is able to combine with Fe^{2+} , inducing the formation of the highly reactive hydroxyl radical through the Fenton reaction. Therefore, although we cannot at the present establish the mechanisms by which QUIN caused lipid peroxidation, it is feasible that this compound could induce reactive species formation by stimulating the Fenton reaction or secondarily via other mechanisms including overstimulation of NMDA receptors.

QUIN instrastriatal administration also reduced sulfhydryl content that implies increased sulfhydryl oxidation. Considering that two thirds of thiol groups are associated with protein cysteine residues, it is assumed that QUIN induced protein oxidative damage. We cannot however rule out the possibility that part of these thiol groups belong to unbound cysteine or cysteine derivative molecules, including GSH, so that decreased sulfhydryl content could be alternatively attributed to a reduction of antioxidant defenses. However, since QUIN was not able to change GSH concentrations in both $Gcdh^{-/-}$ and WT mice, the reduction of thiol groups caused by QUIN was more likely due to protein oxidation. On the other hand, although QUIN did not change GSH levels, it was observed that $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice had lower concentrations of this antioxidant in the striatum relatively to WT animals. Similar findings were demonstrated previously in GA I knockout mice on an enriched Lys chow for 60 h or after an acute Lys injection [63, 78].

We also found a reduction of GST activity in $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice. The mechanisms by which GST activity was reduced in our work is so far unknown; however, it is feasible that this decrease could be due to reactive species attack causing modifications in the enzyme protein structure as previously shown for GST and other antioxidant enzymes [80-82]. In fact, this was probably the case since QUIN also induced reactive oxygen and nitrogen species in our model in Gcdh^{-/-} mice. As regards to the consequences of the decreased GST activity, it may compromise detoxification of xenobiotics, as well as conjugates of hydrogen peroxide and lipid peroxidation products with GSH, helping their excretion [83, 84]. It was also observed that QUIN increased GPx and SOD2 activities in the striatum of both $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and $Gcdh^{-/-}$ animals treated with dietary supplementation of Lys, but did not alter GR, SOD1, CAT, and G6PDH activities. The increase of SOD2 and GPx activities provoked by QUIN suggests that superoxide and hydrogen peroxide are probably involved in its pro-oxidant effects because these reactive species are scavenged by SOD and GPx, respectively. Furthermore, the fact that GPx also detoxifies lipid peroxides and that GST metabolizes lipid peroxides, 4-hydroxynonenal, and isoprostanes reinforces the view that lipid peroxidation occurs in brain of $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice, especially during inflammation.

Our results showing lipid and protein oxidative damage as well as reduction of GSH are likely due to QUIN-induced reactive nitrogen species generation that could be secondary to NMDA receptor overstimulation leading to high calcium influx and activation of nitric oxide synthase [85]. Furthermore, since COX is markedly inhibited by nitric oxide, the QUIN-induced decrease of this activity could be similarly due to the production of nitric oxide, a classical COX inhibitor. Otherwise, ROS may also contribute to the effects caused by QUIN especially in $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice, since this neurotoxin provoked DCFH oxidation, a probe that is mainly oxidized by ROS. ROS generation in striatum of $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice may also explain the higher effects detected in the knock out animals.

Considering that QUIN increased the activities of SOD2 and GPx that may result from a compensatory mechanism triggered by cellular signaling pathways, we investigated the effect of this metabolite on the Nrf2/antioxidant response element (ARE) pathway. Nrf2 is a transcription factor behaving as a primary

sensor of oxidative stress and a master regulator of the antioxidant system due to its ability to modulate the expression of numerous antioxidant and detoxifying genes [86–92]. We found that QUIN administration increased nuclear Nrf2 protein levels in $Gcdh^{+/+}$ and more markedly in $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice. Furthermore, the content of cytosolic Keap1, an Nrf2-binding protein that hampers the translocation of this transcription factor to the nucleus and promotes Nrf2 ubiquitination-proteasomal degradation (Gan and Johnson, 2014), was significantly decreased by QUIN only in $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice, and this may explain the augmented content of nuclear Nrf2.

We cannot at the present establish the mechanisms by which QUIN induced prominent alterations of Nrf2 and Keap1 in $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice. However, since oxidative stress was induced in $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice submitted to high Lys overload leading to increased brain concentrations of GA and 3HGA [63, 64, 78], it may be presumed that QUIN acted synergistically with GA and 3HGA inducing these oxidative stress-sensitive signaling proteins in striatum of GCDH-deficient mice. Furthermore, Nrf2 translocation into the nucleus where it binds to ARE to further transactivate cytoprotective enzymes may represent an early attempt to protect cells against the ongoing oxidative damage. Our present results are in accordance with previous findings showing that QUIN provokes an early up-regulation of Nrf2 in rodent striatal slices [79].

A mechanism of Nrf2 activation is disruption of the interaction between Keap1 and Nrf2 by oxidation of critical cysteine thiols in Keap1 [93-95] induced by oxidants and/or reactive species. Thus, once QUIN is able to induce RNS and ROS production, as well as sulfhydryl oxidation in striatum of $Gcdh^{-/-}$, we presume that QUIN activated Nrf2 translocation by oxidation of thiol groups releasing this transcription factor from its inhibitor. Nrf2 can be also regulated by other signal transduction pathways, such as Akt (also called PKB) that mediates Nrf2 phosphorylation. Our results also showed that QUIN increased Akt protein content in the striatum of GA I knockout mice, implying that this kinase was also involved in Nrf2 activation. Phospho-Erk 1/2 protein levels were also found to be augmented by QUIN treatment. Since Nrf2 can also be regulated by this mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) favoring the release of Nrf2 from its inhibitory protein Keap1 [90, 96], our results indicate the participation of this pathway in QUIN-induced Nrf2 activation.

QUIN also increased the protein content of NF- κ B in striatal nuclear and cytosolic fractions of $Gcdh^{-/-}$ and $Gcdh^{+/+}$ mice and decreased the NF- κ B inhibitor IkBa in the cytosol, implying that NF- κ B was translocated into the nucleus. This signaling pathway was previously shown to be activated under pathological conditions associated with intracellular redox state disturbances and inflammatory processes [97, 98]. Therefore, we cannot rule out this additional Fig. 11 Schematic representation of underling mechanisms involved in the toxicity of quinolinic acid (QUIN) in striatum of *Gcdh*^{-/-} mice. QUIN activates N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors, provoking cytotoxic mechanisms, including oxidative stress and bioenergetics dysfunction. Nrf2 and NF-kB signaling pathways are stimulated as a compensatory response to the pro-inflammatory/oxidative stress elicited by QUIN



mechanism elicited to overcome the pro-oxidant cellular status in our animal model.

On the other hand, Akt- and Erk 1/2-mediated signaling pathways that were stimulated by QUIN may also be involved in the transactivation of NF- κ B in *Gcdh*^{-/-} mice since these pathways are interconnected [99, 100]. As regards to Erk, this MAPK protein induces dissociation of I κ B α from NF- κ B, allowing nuclear translocation and DNA-binding of NF- κ B [101].

Taken together, we demonstrate that multiple signaling pathways participate in QUIN toxic effects leading to redox homeostasis alterations in striatum of $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice submitted to high Lys overload. It is also emphasized that QUIN stimulates NMDA receptors, particularly the NR2A and NR2B subunits [17], that may secondarily result in RNS generation and Erk signaling pathway activation [102, 103]. Noteworthy, a recent report described that NR2A and NR2B receptor subunits are highly expressed in $Gcdh^{-/-}$ animals receiving Lys overload [104] so that these observations may signalize a mechanism of QUIN neurotoxicity in our $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mouse model of GA I.

Conclusions

The present work shows for the first time that QUIN impairs energy and redox homeostasis in striatum of

 $Gcdh^{-/-}$ mice submitted to Lys overload. Furthermore, QUIN activated Nrf2 and NF-kB that may possibly represent compensatory mechanisms that take place during oxidative stress/inflammation induced by OUIN as an attempt to protect the striatum from these deleterious pathological mechanisms (Fig. 11). Our findings support the hypothesis that activation of KP that occur during inflammatory processes, resulting in increased concentrations of QUIN, may play a role in the acute striatal degeneration that follows infections in patients affected by GA I as previously hypothesized [15]. It is also conceivable that QUIN may act synergistically with the accumulating organic acids GA and 3HGA, whose concentrations dramatically increase during these crises of metabolic decompensation, leading to destruction of the striatum.

Acknowledgments We are grateful to the financial support of Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq, # 404883/2013-3), Pró-Reitoria de Pesquisa/Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul (PROPESQ/UFRGS, # PIBITI 18489), Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Rio Grande do Sul (FAPERGS, # 10/0031-1), PRONEX, FINEP Rede Instituto Brasileiro de Neurociência (IBN-Net, # 01.06.0842-00), and Instituto Nacional de Ciência e Tecnologia-Excitotoxicidade e Neuroproteção (INCT-EN, # 573677/2008-5).

Compliance with the Ethical Standard

Conflict of Interest The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest.

References

- Brismar J, Ozand PT (1995) CT and MR of the brain in glutaric aciduria type I: a review of 59 published cases and a report of 5 new patients. Am J Neuroradiol 16:675–83
- Goodman S, Frerman F (2001) Organic acidemias due to defects in lysine oxidation: 2-ketoadipic acidemia and glutaric acidemia. In: Scriver CR, Beaudet AL, Sly WS, Valle D (eds) The metabolic and molecular bases of inherited disease. McGraw-Hill Inc., New York, pp 2195–204
- Goodman SI, Norenberg MD, Shikes RH, Breslich DJ, Moe PG (1977) Glutaric aciduria: biochemical and morphologic considerations. J Pediatr 90:746–50
- Heringer J, Boy SP, Ensenauer R, Assmann B, Zschocke J, Harting I, Lücke T, Maier EM et al (2010) Use of guidelines improves the neurological outcome in glutaric aciduria type I. Ann Neurol 68:743–52. doi:10.1002/ana.22095
- Hoffmann GF, Zschocke J (1999) Glutaric aciduria type I: from clinical, biochemical and molecular diversity to successful therapy. J Inherit Metab Dis 22:381–91
- Kölker S, Sauer SW, Hoffmann GF, Müller I, Morath MA, Okun JG (1999) Pathogenesis of CNS involvement in disorders of amino and organic acid metabolism. J Inherit Metab Dis 31:194–204. doi:10.1007/s10545-008-0823-z
- Hensley K, Mhatre M, Mou S, Pye QN, Stewart C, West M, Williamson KS (2006) On the relation of oxidative stress to neuroinflammation: lessons learned from the G93A-SOD1 mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Antioxid Redox Signal 8:2075–87. doi:10.1089/ars.2006.8.2075
- Hunter RL, Dragicevic N, Seifert K, Choi DY, Liu M, Kim HC, Cass WA, Sullivan PG et al (2007) Inflammation induces mitochondrial dysfunction and dopaminergic neurodegeneration in the nigrostriatal system. J Neurochem 100:1375–86. doi:10.1111/j. 1471-4159.2006.04327.x
- Tilleux S, Hermans E (2007) Neuroinflammation and regulation of glial glutamate uptake in neurological disorders. J Neurosci Res 85:2059–70. doi:10.1002/jnr.21325
- Muhl H, Pfeilschifter J (2003) Endothelial nitric oxide synthase: a determinant of TNFalpha production by human monocytes/macrophages. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 310:677–80. doi:10. 1016/j.bbrc.2003.09.039
- Maddison DC, Giorgini F (2015) The kynurenine pathway and neurodegenerative disease. Semin Cell Dev Biol 40:134–41. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2015.03.002
- Reyes Ocampo J, Lugo Huitrón R, González-Esquivel D, Ugalde-Muñiz P, Jiménez-Anguiano A, Pineda B, Pedraza-Chaverri J, Ríos C et al (2014) Kynurenines with neuroactive and redox properties: relevance to aging and brain diseases. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2014:646909. doi:10.1155/2014/646909
- Schwarcz R, Bruno JP, Muchowski PJ, Wu HQ (2012) Kynurenines in the mammalian brain: when physiology meets pathology. Nat Rev Neurosci 13:465–77. doi:10.1038/nrn3257
- Heyes MP (1987) Hypothesis: a role for quinolinic acid in the neuropathology of glutaric aciduria type I. Can J Neurol Sci 14: 441–3
- Varadkar S, Surtees R (2004) Glutaric aciduria type I and kynurenine pathway metabolites: a modified hypothesis. J Inherit Metab Dis 27:835–42
- Lugo-Huitrón R, Ugalde Muñiz P, Pineda B, Pedraza-Chaverrí J, Ríos C, Pérez-de La Cruz V (2013) Quinolinic acid: an endogenous neurotoxin with multiple targets. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2013:104024. doi:10.1155/2013/104024
- Pérez-De La Cruz V, Carrillo-Mora P, Santamaría A (2012) Quinolinic acid, an endogenous molecule combining

excitotoxicity, oxidative stress and other toxic mechanisms. Int J Tryptophan Res 5:1–8. doi:10.4137/IJTR.S8158

- Ribeiro CAJ, Grando V, Dutra CS, Wannmacher CMD, Wajner M (2006) Evidence that quinolinic acid severely impairs energy metabolism through activation of NMDA receptors in striatum from developing rats. J Neurochem 99:1531–42
- Dalcin KB, Rosa RB, Schmidt AL, Winter JS, Leipnitz G, Dutra-Filho CS, Wannmacher CM, Porciúncula LO et al (2007) Age and brain structural related effects of glutaric and 3-hydroxyglutaric acids on glutamate binding to plasma membranes during rat brain development. Cell Mol Neurobiol 27:805–18. doi:10.1007/ s10571-007-9197-2
- de Oliveira MF, Hagen ME, Pederzolli CD, Sgaravatti AM, Durigon K, Testa CG, Wannmacher CM, de Souza Wyse AT et al (2003) Glutaric acid induces oxidative stress in brain of young rats. Brain Res 964:153–8. doi:10.1016/S0006-8993(02) 04118-5
- Fighera MR, Royes LF, Furian AF, Oliveira MS, Fiorenza NG, Frussa-Filho R, Petry JC, Coelho RC et al (2006) GM1 ganglioside prevents seizures, Na+, K+–ATPase activity inhibition and oxidative stress induced by glutaric acid and pentylenetetrazole. Neurobiol Dis 22:611–23. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2006.01.002
- Jafari P, Braissant O, Bonafé L, Ballhausen D (2011) The unsolved puzzle of neuropathogenesis in glutaric aciduria type I. Mol Genet Metab 104:425–37. doi:10.1016/j.ymgme.2011.08. 027
- Kölker S, Ahlemeyer B, Krieglstein J, Hoffmann GF (1999) 3-Hydroxyglutaric and glutaric acids are neurotoxic through NMDA receptors in vitro. J Inherit Metab Dis 22:259–62
- Kölker S, Ahlemeyer B, Krieglstein J, Hoffmann GF (2001) Contribution of reactive oxygen species to 3-hydroxyglutarate neurotoxicity in primary neuronal cultures from chick embryo telencephalons. Pediatr Res 50:76–82. doi:10.1203/00006450-200107000-00015
- Kölker S, Ahlemeyer B, Hühne R, Mayatepek E, Krieglstein J, Hoffmann GF (2001) Potentiation of 3-hydroxyglutarate neurotoxicity following induction of astrocytic iNOS in neonatal rat hippocampal cultures. Eur J Neurosci 13:2115–22. doi:10.1046/ j.0953-816x.2001.01595.x
- Kölker S, Okun JG, Ahlemeyer B, Wyse AT, Hörster F, Wajner M, Kohlmüller D, Mayatepek E et al (2002) Chronic treatment with glutaric acid induces partial tolerance to excitotoxicity in neuronal cultures from chick embryo telencephalons. J Neurosci Res 68: 424–31. doi:10.1002/jnr.10189
- Kölker S, Köhr G, Ahlemeyer B, Okun J, G, Pawlak V, Hörster F, Mayatepek E, Krieglstein J (2002b) Ca(2+) and Na(+) dependence of 3-hydroxyglutarate-induced excitotoxicity in primary neuronal cultures from chick embryo telencephalons. Pediatr Res 52:199–206. doi: 10.1203/00006450-200208000-00011.
- Kölker S, Koeller DM, Sauer S, Hörster F, Schwab MA, Hoffmann GF, Ullrich K, Okun JG (2004) Excitotoxicity and bioenergetics in glutaryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency. J Inherit Metab Dis 27:805–12
- Kölker S, Sauer SW, Okun JG, Hoffmann GF, Koeller DM (2006) Lysine intake and neurotoxicity in glutaric aciduria type I: towards a rationale for therapy? Brain 129:e54, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ brain/awl137
- Latini A, Rosa RB, Scussiato K, Llesuy S, Belló-Klein A, Wajner M (2002) 3-Hydroxyglutaric acid induces oxidative stress and decreases the antioxidant defenses in cerebral cortex of young rats. Brain Res 956:367–73. doi:10.1016/S0006-8993(02)03573-4
- Latini A, Scussiato K, Leipnitz G, Dutra-Filho CS, Wajner M (2005) Promotion of oxidative stress by 3-hydroxyglutaric acid in rat striatum. J Inherit Metab Dis 28:57–67
- Latini A, Ferreira GC, Scussiato K, Schuck PF, Solano AF, Dutra-Filho CS, Vargas CR, Wajner M (2007) Induction of oxidative

stress by chronic and acute glutaric acid administration to rats. Cell Mol Neurobiol 27:423–38. doi:10.1007/s10571-006-9134-9

- 33. Magni DV, Furian AF, Oliveira MS, Souza MA, Lunardi F, Ferreira J, Mello CF, Royes LF et al (2009) Kinetic characterization of l-[(3)H]glutamate uptake inhibition and increase oxidative damage induced by glutaric acid in striatal synaptosomes of rats. Int J Dev Neurosci 27:65–72. doi:10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2008.09.004
- Olivera-Bravo S, Fernández A, Sarlabós MN, Rosillo JC, Casanova G, Jiménez M, Barbeito L (2011) Neonatal astrocyte damage is sufficient to trigger progressive striatal degeneration in a rat model of glutaric acidemia-I. PLoS ONE 6:e20831. doi:10. 1371/journal.pone.0020831
- Olivera S, Fernandez A, Latini A, Rosillo JC, Casanova G, Wajner M, Cassina P, Barbeito L (2008) Astrocytic proliferation and mitochondrial dysfunction induced by accumulated glutaric acidemia I (GAI) metabolites: possible implications for GAI pathogenesis. Neurobiol Dis 32:528–34. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2008.09. 011
- 36. Porciúncula LO, Dal-Pizzol AJ, Coitinho AS, Emanuelli T, Souza DO, Wajner M (2000) Inhibition of synaptosomal [³H]glutamate uptake and [³H]glutamate binding to plasma membranes from brain of young rats by glutaric acid in vitro. J Neurol Sci 173: 93–6, 10.1016/S0022-510X(99)00307-X
- Porciúncula LO, Emanuelli T, Tavares RG, Schwarzbold C, Frizzo ME, Souza DO, Wajner M (2004) Glutaric acid stimulates glutamate binding and astrocytic uptake and inhibits vesicular glutamate uptake in forebrain from young rats. Neurochem Int 45: 1075–86. doi:10.1016/j.neuint.2004.05.002
- Rosa RB, Schwarzbold C, Dalcin KB, Ghisleni GC, Ribeiro CA, Moretto MB, Frizzo ME, Hoffmann GF et al (2004) Evidence that 3-hydroxyglutaric acid interacts with NMDA receptors in synaptic plasma membranes from cerebral cortex of young rats. Neurochem Int 45:1087–94. doi:10.1016/j.neuint.2004.05.001
- 39. Rosa RB, Dalcin KB, Schmidt AL, Gerhardt D, Ribeiro CA, Ferreira GC, Schuck PF, Wyse AT et al (2007) Evidence that glutaric acid reduces glutamate uptake by cerebral cortex of infant rats. Life Sci 81:1668–76. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2007.09.021
- 40. Stokke O, Goodman SI, Moe PG (1976) Inhibition of brain glutamate decarboxylase by glutarate, glutaconate, and betahydroxyglutarate: explanation of the symptoms in glutaric aciduria? Clin Chim Acta 66:411–5
- Wajner M, Kölker S, Souza DO, Hoffmann GF, de Mello CF (2004) Modulation of glutamatergic and GABAergic neurotransmission in glutaryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency. J Inherit Metab Dis 27:825–8
- Zinnanti WJ, Lazovic J, Wolpert EB, Antonetti DA, Smith MB, Connor JR, Woontner M, Goodman SI et al (2006) A diet-induced mouse model for glutaric aciduria type I. Brain 129:899–910, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/brain/awl009
- Ignarro RS, Vieira AS, Sartori CR, Langone F, Rogério F, Parada CA (2013) JAK2 inhibition is neuroprotective and reduces astrogliosis after quinolinic acid striatal lesion in adult mice. J Chem Neuroanat 48–49:14–22. doi:10.1016/j.jchemneu.2013. 02.005
- 44. Paxinos G, Franklin KBJ (2012) The mouse brain in stereotaxic coordinates. 4th ed. Academic Press, San Diego
- Shimojo N, Naka K, Nakajima C, Yoshikawa K, Okuda K, Okada K (1989) Test-strip method for measuring lactate in whole blood. Clin Chem 35:1992–4
- Fischer JC, Ruitenbeek W, Berden JA, Trijbels JMF, Veerkamp JH, Stadhouders AM, Sengers RCA, Janssen AJM (1985) Differential investigation of the capacity of succinate oxidation in human skeletal muscle. Clin Chim Acta 153:23–36
- Rustin P, Chretien D, Bourgeron T, Gerard B, Rotig A, Saudubray JM, Munnich A (1994) Biochemical and molecular investigations in respiratory chain deficiencies. Clin Chim Acta 228:35–51

- Hughes BP (1962) A method for estimation of serum creatine kinase and its use in comparing creatine kinase and aldolase activity in normal and pathological sera. Clin Chim Acta 7:597–603
- Evelson P, Travacio M, Repetto M, Escobar J, Llesuy S, Lissi EA (2001) Evaluation of total reactive antioxidant potential (TRAP) of tissue homogenates and their cytosols. Arch Biochem Biophys 388:261–6. doi:10.1006/abbi.2001.2292
- Yagi K (1998) Simple procedure for specific assay of lipid hydroperoxides in serum or plasma. Methods Mol Biol 108:107–10
- Aksenov MY, Markesbery WR (2001) Changes in thiol content and expression of glutathione redox system genes in the hippocampus and cerebellum in Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci Lett 302:141–5. doi:10.1016/S0304-3940(01)01636-6
- LeBel CP, Ischiropoulos H, Bondy SC (1992) Evaluation of the probe 2',7'-dichlorofluorescin as an indicator of reactive oxygen species formation and oxidative stress. Chem Res Toxicol 5:227– 31
- Navarro-Gonzálvez JA, García-Benayas C, Arenas J (1998) Semiautomated measurement of nitrate in biological fluids. Clin Chem 44:679–81
- Browne RW, Armstrong D (1998) Reduced glutathione and glutathione disulfide. Methods Mol Biol 108:347–52
- 55. Wendel A (1981) Glutathione peroxidase. Methods Enzymol 77: 325–33
- Carlberg I, Mannervik B (1985) Glutathione reductase. Methods Enzymol 113:484–90
- Marklund SL (1985) Pyrogallol autoxidation. In: Handbook for oxygen radical research. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, pp 243–7
- Dameron CT, Harris ED (1987) Regulation of aortic CuZnsuperoxide dismutase with copper. Biochem J 248:663–8
- 59. Aebi H (1984) Catalase in vitro. Methods Enzymol 105:121-6
- Leong SF, Clark JB (1984) Regional development of glutamate dehydrogenase in the rat brain. J Neurochem 43:106–11
- Guthenberg C, Mannervik B (1981) Glutathione S-transferase (transferase pi) from human placenta is identical or closely related to glutathione S-transferase (transferase rho) from erythrocytes. Biochim Biophys Acta 661:255–60
- Lowry OH, Rosebrough NJ, Farr AL, Randall RJ (1951) Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J Biol Chem 193: 265–75
- Seminotti B, da Rosa MS, Fernandes CG, Amaral AU, Braga LM, Leipnitz G, de Souza DOG, Woontner M et al (2012) Induction of oxidative stress in brain of glutaryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficient mice by acute lysine administration. Mol Genet Metab 106:31–8. doi:10.1016/j.ymgme.2012.03.002
- Zinnanti WJ, Lazovic J, Housman C (2007) Mechanism of agedependent susceptibility and novel treatment strategy in glutaric acidemia type I. J Clin Invest 117:3258–70. doi:10.1172/ JCI31617
- Zinnanti WJ, Lazovic J (2010) Mouse model of encephalopathy and novel treatment strategies with substrate competition in glutaric aciduria type I. Mol Genet Metab 1:S88–91. doi:10. 1016/j.ymgme.2010.02.022
- 66. Amaral AU, Seminotti B, Cecatto C, Fernandes CG, Busanello EN, Zanatta Â, Kist LW, Bogo MR et al (2012) Reduction of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and expression in cerebral cortex of glutaryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficient mice: a possible mechanism for brain injury in glutaric aciduria type I. Mol Genet Metab 107: 375–82. doi:10.1016/j.ymgme.2012.08.016
- Ferreira GC, Tonin A, Schuck PF, Viegas CM, Ceolato PC, Latini A, Perry ML, Wyse AT et al (2007) Evidence for a synergistic action of glutaric and 3-hydroxyglutaric acids disturbing rat brain energy metabolism. Int J Dev Neurosci 25:391–8. doi:10.1016/j. ijdevneu.2007.05.009
- Bordelon YM, Chesselet MF, Nelson D, Welsh F, Erecińska M (1997) Energetic dysfunction in quinolinic acid-lesioned rat

striatum. J Neurochem 69:1629–39. doi:10.1046/j.1471-4159. 1997.69041629.x

- Cabrera J, Reiter RJ, Tan DX, Qi W, Sainz RM, Mayo JC, Garcia JJ, Kim SJ et al (2000) Melatonin reduces oxidative neurotoxicity due to quinolinic acid: in vitro and in vivo findings. Neuropharmacology 39:507–14. doi:10.1016/S0028-3908(99) 00128-8
- Ganzella M, Jardim FM, Boeck CR, Vendite D (2006) Time course of oxidative events in the hippocampus following intracerebroventricular infusion of quinolinic acid in mice. Neurosci Res 55:397–402. doi:10.1016/j.neures.2006.05.003
- Pérez-Severiano F, Escalante B, Ríos C (1998) Nitric oxide synthase inhibition prevents acute quinolinate-induced striatal neurotoxicity. Neurochem Res 23:1297–302
- Arstall MA, Bailey C, Gross WL, Bak M, Balligand JL, Kelly RA (1998) Reversible S-nitrosation of creatine kinase by nitric oxide in adult rat ventricular myocytes. J Mol Cell Cardiol 30:979–88. doi:10.1006/jmcc.1998.0662
- Burmistrov SO, Mashek AP, Kotin AM (1992) The action of acute alcoholic intoxication on the antioxidant system and creatine kinase activity in the brain of rat embryos. Eksp Klin Farmakol 55: 54–6
- Konorev EA, Hogg N, Kalyanaraman B (1998) Rapid and irreversible inhibition of creatine kinase by peroxynitrite. FEBS Lett 427:171–4. doi:10.1016/S0014-5793(98)00413-X
- Stachowiak O, Dolder M, Wallimann T, Richter C (1998) Mitochondrial creatine kinase is a prime target of peroxynitriteinduced modification and inactivation. J Biol Chem 273:16694–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.273.27.16694
- Wallimann T, Dolder M, Schlattner U, Eder M, Hornemann T, O'Gorman E, Ruck A, Brdiczka D (1998) Some new aspects of creatine kinase (CK): compartmentation, structure, function and regulation for cellular and mitochondrial bioenergetics and physiology. Biofactors 8:229–34
- Wolosker H, Panizzutti R, Engelender S (1996) Inhibition of creatine kinase by S-nitrosoglutathione. FEBS Lett 392:274–6. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(96)00829-0
- Seminotti B, Amaral AU, da Rosa MS, Fernandes CG, Leipnitz G, Olivera-Bravo S, Barbeito L, Ribeiro CA et al (2013) Disruption of brain redox homeostasis in glutaryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficient mice treated with high dietary lysine supplementation. Mol Genet Metab 108:30–9. doi:10.1016/j.ymgme.2012.11.001
- Colín-González AL, Luna-López A, Königsberg M, Ali SF, Pedraza-Chaverrí J, Santamaría A (2014) Early modulation of the transcription factor Nrf2 in rodent striatal slices by quinolinic acid, a toxic metabolite of the kynurenine pathway. Neuroscience 260:130–9. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.12.025
- Alfawaz HA, Bhat RS, Al-Ayadhi L, El-Ansary AK (2014) Protective and restorative potency of vitamin D on persistent biochemical autistic features induced in propionic acid-intoxicated rat pups. BMC Complement Altern Med 25:14–416. doi:10.1186/ 1472-6882-14-416
- Arenas A, López-Alarcón C, Kogan M, Lissi E, Davies MJ, Silva E (2013) Chemical modification of lysozyme, glucose 6phosphate dehydrogenase, and bovine eye lens proteins induced by peroxyl radicals: role of oxidizable amino acid residues. Chem Res Toxicol 26:67–77. doi:10.1021/tx300372t
- Halliwell B, Gutteridge JMC (2007) Cellular responses to oxidative stress: adaptation, damage, repair, senescence and death. In: Halliwell B, Gutteridge JMC (eds) Free radicals in biology and medicine. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp 187–340
- Alam J, Killeen E, Gong P, Naquin R, Hu B, Stewart D, Ingelfinger JR, Nath KA (2003) Heme activates the heme oxygenase-1 gene in renal epithelial cells by stabilizing Nrf2. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 284:F743–52. doi:10.1152/ajprenal. 00376.2002

- Itoh K, Wakabayashi N, Katoh Y, Ishii T, O'Connor T, Yamamoto M (2003) Keap1 regulates both cytoplasmic-nuclear shuttling and degradation of Nrf2 in response to electrophiles. Genes Cells 8: 379–91. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2443.2003.00640.x
- Pérez-De La Cruz V, Gonzalez-Cortes C, Galvan-Arzate S, Medina-Campos ON, Perez-Severiano F, Ali SF, Pedraza-Chaverri J, Santamaria A (2005) Excitotoxic brain damage involves early peroxynitrite formation in a model of Huntington's disease in rats: protective role of iron porphyrinate Fe(TPPS). Neuroscience 135:463–74. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2005.06. 027
- Gan L, Johnson JA (2014) Oxidative damage and the Nrf2-ARE pathway in neurodegenerative diseases. Biochim Biophys Acta 1842:1208–18. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.12.011
- Itoh K, Ishii T, Wakabayashi N, Yamamoto M (1999) Regulatory mechanisms of cellular response to oxidative stress. Free Radic Res 31:319–24
- Johnson DA, Andrews GK, Xu W, Johnson JA (2002) Activation of the antioxidant response element in primary cortical neuronal cultures derived from transgenic reporter mice. J Neurochem 81: 1233–41. doi:10.1046/j.1471-4159.2002.00913.x
- Johnson JA, Johnson DA, Kraft AD, Calkins MJ, Jakel RJ, Vargas MR, Chen PC (2008) The Nrf2-ARE pathway: an indicator and modulator of oxidative stress in neurodegeneration. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1147:61–9. doi:10.1196/annals.1427.036
- Kensler TW, Wakabayashi N, Biswal S (2007) Cell survival responses to environmental stresses via the Keap1-Nrf2-ARE pathway. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 47:89–116. doi:10.1146/ annurev.pharmtox.46.120604.141046
- Lee JM, Calkins MJ, Chan K, Kan YW, Johnson JA (2003) Identification of the NF-E2-related factor-2-dependent genes conferring protection against oxidative stress in primary cortical astrocytes using oligonucleotide microarray analysis. J Biol Chem 278:12029–38. doi:10.1074/jbc.M211558200
- 92. Shih AY, Johnson DA, Wong G, Kraft AD, Jiang L, Erb H, Johnson JA, Murphy TH (2003) Coordinate regulation of glutathione biosynthesis and release by Nrf2-expressing glia potently protects neurons from oxidative stress. J Neurosci 23:3394–406
- He X, Ma Q (2009) NRF2 cysteine residues are critical for oxidant/electrophile- sensing, Kelch-like ECH-associated protein-1-dependent ubiquitination-proteasomal degradation, and transcription activation. Mol Pharmacol 76:1265–78. doi:10. 1124/mol.109.058453
- Huang HC, Nguyen T, Pickett CB (2002) Phosphorylation of Nrf2 at Ser-40 by protein kinase C regulates antioxidant response element-mediated transcription. J Biol Chem 277:42769–74. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M206911200
- 95. Wakabayashi N, Dinkova-Kostova AT, Holtzclaw WD, Kang MI, Kobayashi A, Yamamoto M, Kensler TW, Talalay P (2004) Protection against electrophile and oxidant stress by induction of the phase 2 response: fate of cysteines of the Keap1 sensor modified by inducers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:2040–5. doi:10. 1073/pnas.0307301101
- Son TG, Camandola S, Mattson MP (2008) Hormetic dietary phytochemicals. Neuromol Med 10:236–46. doi:10.1007/s12017-008-8037-y
- Muriach M, Flores-Bellver M, Romero FJ, Barcia JM (2014) Diabetes and the brain: oxidative stress, inflammation, and autophagy. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2014:102158. doi:10.1155/ 2014/102158
- Ringseis R, Eder K, Mooren FC, Krüger K (2015) Metabolic signals and innate immune activation in obesity and exercise. Exerc Immunol Rev 21:58–68
- Sizemore N, Leung S, Stark GR (1999) Activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in response to interleukin-1 leads to

phosphorylation and activation of the NF-kappaB p65/RelA subunit. Mol Cell Biol 19:4798-805

- 100. Sizemore N, Lerner N, Dombrowski N, Sakurai H, Stark GR (2002) Distinct roles of the Ikappa B kinase alpha and beta subunits in liberating nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kappa B) from Ikappa B and in phosphorylating the p65 subunit of NF-kappa B. J Biol Chem 277:3863–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110572200
- 101. Bhat NR, Feinstein DL, Shen Q, Bhat AN (2002) p38 MAPKmediated transcriptional activation of inducible nitric-oxide synthase in glial cells. Roles of nuclear factors, nuclear factor kappa B, cAMP response element-binding protein, CCAAT/enhancerbinding protein-beta, and activating transcription factor-2. J Biol Chem 277:29584–92. doi:10.1074/jbc.M204994200
- Poddar R, Paul S (2009) Homocysteine-NMDA receptor-mediated activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase leads to neuronal cell death. J Neurochem 110:1095–106. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06207.x
- Poddar R, Paul S (2013) Novel crosstalk between ERK MAPK and p38 MAPK leads to homocysteine-NMDA receptor-mediated neuronal cell death. J Neurochem 124:558–70. doi:10.1111/jnc. 12102
- 104. Lagranha VL, Matte U, de Carvalho TG, Seminotti B, Pereira CC, Koeller DM, Woontner M, Goodman SI et al (2014) Increased glutamate receptor and transporter expression in the cerebral cortex and striatum of Gcdh-/- mice: possible implications for the neuropathology of glutaric acidemia type I. PLoS ONE 9, e90477. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0090477

10. DISCUSIÓN

En este trabajo se exploraron los efectos ejercidos por la 3-HK en ensayos *in vitro* e *in vivo*. En un principio la hipótesis se orientaba a declarar al metabolito como una molécula pro-oxidante y neurotóxica. Sin embargo, los resultados colectados demuestran que es una molécula con actividad dual (antioxidante y pro-oxidante), dependiendo de las condiciones experimentales, que no debe ser considerada como tóxica, la cual denotó un posible perfil neuroprotector que requiere ser explorado con más detalle. Los efectos pro-oxidantes de la molécula evaluados no fueron capaces de producir daño tisular o celular alguno en ninguno de los dos modelos estudiados, mientras que sus efectos antioxidantes *in vitro* previnieron la falla mitocondrial y el estrés oxidante producidos por el QUIN, el 3-NP y FeSO₄. La activación compensatoria de enzimas antioxidantes y la activación del Nrf2 parecen ser los mecanismos mediante los cuales la 3-HK previene los efectos de estas toxinas en una estrategia que se enfoca a disminuir las ERO, ERN y el estrés oxidante general.

Varios reportes indican que la 3-HK induce muerte celular en diferentes cultivos neuronales de cerebelo, estriado e hipocampo (revisado por Colín-González et al., 2013). La ausencia de toxicidad observada en este trabajo puede deberse a que se utilizó un sistema más complejo compuesto de neuronas, astrocitos y microglia. La KMO, la enzima encargada de producir la 3-HK, se encuentra preferentemente en células gliales, por lo que las neuronas al estar aisladas y al no tener la maquinaria necesaria para degradarla podrían sufrir en su presencia (Guidetti et al., 1995), pero nuestros resultados sugieren que éste no es el caso.

Por su otro lado, la inyección intraestriatal de la 3-HK produjo un aumento en los marcadores de estrés en tiempos tempranos (6 y 24 h) y estimuló las actividades de las enzimas glutatión reductasa y glutatión-S-tranferasa, sin mostrar efectos conductuales ni morfológicos en los animales tratados. De acuerdo con lo anterior, Guidetti y Schwarcz (1999) no encontraron diferencia significativa en los volúmenes de lesión de animales inyectados intraestriatalmente

con la 3-HK (10 nmol). Por lo tanto, se puede concluir que niveles incrementados de esta molécula (10 - 80 nmol) en el estriado no están relacionados con procesos de neurodegeneración.

La falta de toxicidad de la 3-HK en el estriado puede deberse a su permanencia limitada o transitoria en el tejido. La 3-HK es metabolizada rápidamente y su presencia en el cerebro sano induce la activación de mecanismos de sobrevivencia mediante una respuesta adaptativa que parece ser suficiente para neutralizar la generación de los radicales formados (Guidetti y Schwarcz, 1999).

Dado que la toxicidad de la 3-HK no logró ser comprobada podría asumirse que sus efectos deletéreos comienzan cuando es transformada en el QUIN. En concentraciones que exceden el rango fisiológico, este metabolito se relaciona con procesos patológicos tanto a nivel periférico como central (Pérez De la Cruz et al., 2012). El estudio de esta hipótesis requiere de métodos con los que no contamos actualmente. Por tal razón, se consideró incluir los estudios realizados en paralelo con el QUIN y así proveer de más información sobre el papel de la VK en procesos neurodegenerativos.

El primer punto a investigar fue el papel del Nrf2, un factor de transcripción que regula funciones de protección antioxidantes, en el modelo tóxico producido por el QUIN. El ensayo permitió establecer un patrón de regulación temprana sobre este factor, al favorecer su sobre-regulación en tejido neuronal como una respuesta adaptativa de protección ante el inminente efecto de este metabolito. Desde este punto de vista, el estrés oxidante es una respuesta importante que contribuye al patrón de daño ejercido por el QUIN, sugiriendo así que la estimulación temprana del Nrf2 podría ser una estrategia terapéutica para prevenir el desarrollo de procesos neurodegenerativos (**Figura 6**).

El aumento de la cantidad proteica de la hemo-oxigenasa-1, en presencia del QUIN, demuestra la activación del Nrf2. Este evento, a diferencia de lo visto con la 3-HK, representa una acción compensatoria del sistema biológico que no es suficiente para evitar el daño que está en progreso. Entonces, el nivel de protección deseado para el modelo solo podría ser alcanzado a través de un estímulo externo provisto por un inductor de la activación de Nrf2 y/o un

antioxidante. A este respecto, y confirmando lo anterior, el ácido cafeico previno el daño excitotóxico inducido por QUIN en el estriado de rata. Este efecto claramente está relacionado con sus propiedades antioxidantes demostradas y su capacidad para inducir al Nrf2 (Kalonia et al., 2009; Pang et al., 2016).

Una vez caracterizados estos mecanismos se investigó mediante que otros procesos el QUIN amplifica su toxicidad en el SNC. El cerebro de personas afectadas con acidemias orgánicas desarrolla una degeneración aguda relacionada con la acumulación de metabolitos tóxicos tales como AG, 3-OHGA, AMM, AP, AMG, entre otros; sin embargo, su acción aislada no justifica el grado de daño que se observa en estas patologías. Varadkar y Surtees (2004) propusieron que la VK tiene un papel activo en la neurodegeneración observada en estos desordenes. En este trabajo se obtuvo evidencia no solo in vitro, sino también in vivo del efecto sinérgico entre el QUIN y los ácidos orgánicos: Los ratones gcdh^{-/-} cuando son alimentados con una dieta alta en lisina tienen niveles aumentados de las subunidades NR2A y NR2B (Lagranka et al., 2014). Estos animales cuando son administrados intraestriatalmente con el QUIN, el cual interactúa también con los rNMDA a través de las mismas subunidades, exhibieron efectos tóxicos más intensos en comparación con aquellos que solo acarrearon la mutación. Por consiguiente, la interacción del QUIN con los ácidos orgánicos en puede contribuir a entender el mecanismo tóxico que ocurre en estos y en otros desórdenes neurológicos.

Finalmente, el descubrimiento de que la combinación de ácidos orgánicos con QUIN puede agravar la pérdida de células en el SNC sugiere que una disminución del flujo de la VK enfocada a inhibir la producción de QUIN podría ser utilizada como estrategia terapéutica en éste y otro tipo de enfermedades.

91



11. CONCLUSIÓN

Los efectos de la 3-HK en el estriado de roedores dependen de las condiciones experimentales empleadas. La presencia de la 3-HK en concentraciones elevadas en el cerebro normal podría constituir una señal de defensa para contrarrestar el estrés oxidante por activación de señales de sobrevivencia. Las especies reactivas producidas por la 3-HK activan las defensas antioxidantes, y de esta forma la célula es capaz de contrarrestar los efectos deletéreos de otros agentes tóxicos. Por lo tanto, la 3-HK podría ser una molécula que regula del ambiente redox en condiciones fisiológicas con acciones neuroprotectoras u homeostáticas.

De la misma forma que la 3-HK, el QUIN modula el ambiente redox mediante el factor Nrf2. La activación del factor depende del tiempo de exposición, de las concentraciones probadas y del daño oxidante generado. Sin embargo, esta modulación es solo un evento compensatorio en un intento de la célula para disminuir el daño que está en progreso. La protección observada con antioxidantes sugiere que el daño causado por el QUIN pude ser prevenido o disminuido.

El sinergismo del QUIN con otros metabolitos tóxicos y otras de sus acciones caracterizadas en este estudio ayudan a comprender los mecanismos por los cuales la neurodegeneración ocurre. En consecuencia, la identificación de mecanismos tóxicos producidos por neurotoxinas endógenas con diferentes perfiles podría ser útil para el diseño de estrategias terapéuticas más efectivas.

93

12. PERSPECTIVAS

Elaborar un diseño experimental que permita identificar si las acciones protectoras de la 3-HK son suficientes para prevenir el daño *in vivo* de toxinas conocidas.

Investigar mediante marcadores bioquímicos, de falla energética, conductuales y morfológicos si el uso de inhibidores de la VK (con especial atención en moléculas que eviten la producción de QUIN) puede conferir protección en ratones *knockout* para la glutaríl-CoA deshidrogenasa alimentados con una dieta alta de lisina.

13. **ANEXO**

NeuroToxicology 34 (2013) 189-204



Review

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

NeuroToxicology



3-Hydroxykynurenine: An intriguing molecule exerting dual actions in the Central Nervous System

Ana Laura Colín-González^{a,b,1,*}, Perla D. Maldonado^b, Abel Santamaría^{a,*}

^a Laboratorio de Aminoácidos Excitadores, Instituto Nacional de Neurología y Neurocirugía, Insurgentes Sur 3877, Mexico City 14269, Mexico ^b Laboratorio de Patología Vascular Cerebral, Instituto Nacional de Neurología y Neurocirugía, Mexico City 14269, Mexico

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 20 September 2012 Accepted 27 November 2012 Available online 3 December 2012

Keywords: 3-Hydroxykynurenine Kynurenine pathway Neurological diseases Oxidative stress Brain damage Redox modulation

ABSTRACT

Kynurenine pathway is gaining attention due to the many metabolic processes in which it has been involved. The tryptophan conversion into several other metabolites through this pathway provides neuronal and redox modulators useful for maintenance of major functions in the brain. However, when physiopathological conditions prevail – i.e. oxidative stress, excitotoxicity, and inflammation – preferential formation and accumulation of toxic metabolites could trigger factors for degeneration in neurological disorders. 3-Hydroxykynurenine has been largely described as one of these toxic metabolites capable of inducing oxidative damage and cell death; consequently, this metabolite has been hypothesized to play a pivotal role in different neurological and psychiatric disorders. Supporting evidence has shown altered 3-hydroxykynurenine levels in samples of patients from several disorders. In contrast, some experimental studies have provided evidence of antioxidant and scavenging properties inherent to this molecule. In this review, we explored most of literature favoring one or the other concept, in order to provide an accurate vision on the real participation of this tryptophan metabolite in both experimental paradigms and human brain pathologies. Through this collected evidence, we provide an integrative hypothesis on how 3-hydroxykynurenine is exerting its dual actions in the Central Nervous System and what will be the course of investigations in this field for the next years.

© 2012 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Oxida	ative stress in neurodegenerative disorders	190
2.	The K	Kynurenine pathway (KP)	190
	2.1.	Overview	190
	2.2.	KP neuroactive metabolites	191
	2.3.	KP in neurodegenerative diseases	192
3.	3-Hyo	rdroxykynurenine (3-HK)	192
	3.1.	Sources for 3-HK in the brain	192
	3.2.	3-HK chemical properties	192
	3.3.	Effects of 3-HK in biological systems: anti-oxidative activity vs. oxidative damage	193
	3.4.	Other effects linked to 3-HK	195
	3.5.	Effects of 3-HK-related compounds	196
		3.5.1. Xanthurenic acid	196
		3.5.2. Anthranilic acid:3-hydroxyanthranilic acid ratio	197
	3.6.	3-HK in brain disorders	197
		3.6.1. Huntington's disease	198
		3.6.2. Alzheimer's disease	198
		3.6.3. Parkinson's disease	199

E-mail address: absada@yahoo.com.

^{*} Corresponding authors at: Laboratorio de Aminoácidos Excitadores, Instituto Nacional de Neurología y Neurocirugía, Insurgentes Sur 3877, Mexico City 14269, Mexico. Tel.: +52 55 5606 3822x2013.

E-mail address: absada@yahoo.com (A. Santamaría).

¹ Doctoral Program in Biomedical Sciences, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México.

⁰¹⁶¹⁻⁸¹³X/\$ - see front matter © 2012 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuro.2012.11.007

A.L. Colín-González et al. / NeuroToxicology 34 (2013) 189-204

	3.6.4.	Microbial chronic infections	199
	3.6.5.	Cerebral ischemia	199
	3.6.6.	Convulsive disorders	199
	3.6.7.	Depression	200
	3.6.8.	Multiple sclerosis.	200
4.	Concluding ren	narks	200
	Acknowledgem	ents	202
	References		202

1. Oxidative stress in neurodegenerative disorders

Neurodegeneration is the result of pathological processes producing severe and specific patterns of brain cell damage in a concerted manner (Coyle and Puttfarcken, 1993; Santamaria and Jimenez, 2005). Neurodegenerative events constitute a major cause for the development of neurological disorders. Human diseases coursing with neurodegeneration involve excitotoxicity as a triggering event for deadly cascades (Halliwell, 2006; Brouillet et al., 1999; Cowan and Raymond, 2006). In turn, excitotoxicity is currently defined as a toxic process characterized by a sustained stimulation of excitatory amino acids receptors (Schwarcz et al., 1978; Nicholls et al., 2007), mainly involving N-methyl-Daspartate receptors (NMDAR). Different toxic events derived from excitotoxicity have been characterized in experimental models, including upregulation of detrimental signaling pathways, disrupted Ca²⁺ homeostasis, and recruitment of reactive oxygen/ nitrogen species (ROS/RNS), with further oxidative/nitrosative stress (Santamaria and Jimenez, 2005; Halliwell, 2006; Nicholls et al., 2007; Beal, 2004; Lin and Beal, 2006; Sas et al., 2007), ultimately leading to cell death (see below).

Although oxidative damage to proteins, DNA and lipids has been characterized in different experimental models (reviewed by Halliwell, 2006; Jimenez-Del-Rio and Velez-Pardo, 2012) and in *post mortem* brain tissue of patients with neurodegenerative diseases (reviewed by Ischiropoulos and Beckman, 2003), it still remains difficult to determine whether oxidative stress is a primary causal event or merely a secondary end-stage epiphenomenon.

Actually, it is recognized that oxidative stress is one of the most important mechanisms involved in deadly events observed in neuronal cells in different neurodegenerative disorders. It is also accepted that the brain is particularly sensitive to oxidative stress as 20% of the total oxygen consumed by the body is employed by this organ, which constitutes only 2% of the total body weight. This feature makes the brain the major generator of ROS/RNS when compared with other organs. Moreover, the brain is rich in numerous conditions favoring ROS/RNS production, including: (1) high content of unsaturated lipids, (2) chemical reactions involving dopamine oxidation, (3) high concentrations of iron in various regions, and (4) lower activity of antioxidant systems as compared with other organs (including kidney and liver) (Halliwell, 2006).

Oxidative stress in the CNS recruits the following events: interrupted mitochondrial functions in neuronal cells induced by toxins, together with a failure to supply O₂ or substrates for energy production that will generate an impairment of ATP production and a rapid brain damage due to oxidative and excitotoxic components. The decrease in ATP synthesis disrupts Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase and Ca²⁺/H⁺-ATPase pumps and reverses the Na⁺/Ca²⁺-transporter. Upon these conditions, cells are unable to maintain membrane potential and then, voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels are activated, leading to depolarization of cellular membranes. Once depolarized, membranes are more vulnerable to the action of excitatory amino acids – mostly glutamate – even at normal concentrations. Glutamate then activates NMDAR, α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid (AMPA) receptors, and metabotropic glutamate receptors, thereby increasing intracellular Ca^{2+} and Na^+ levels. In turn, voltage-gated Ca^{2+} channels, together with reverse operation of the Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchanger, are responsible for the increased levels of intracellular Ca^{2+} . Once in the cytoplasmic domain at high concentrations, Ca^{2+} activates a variety of Ca^{2+} -dependent enzymes, including protein kinase C, phospholipase A2, phospholipase C, proteases, endonucleases, and a variety of pro-oxidant enzymes that trigger protein phosphorylation, proteolysis, mitochondrial damage, and oxidative stress (Hardingham and Bading, 2001).

In cells from different tissues, the predominant ROS/RNS produced are superoxide anion $(O_2^{\bullet-})$, hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) , hydroxyl radical (°OH), nitric oxide (°NO), peroxynitrite anion (ONOO⁻) and nitrogen dioxide (•NO₂). Under "normal" physiological conditions, natural defense against ROS/RNS is provided by endogenous antioxidant molecules such as glutathione (GSH), ascorbic acid, α -tocopherol, and a number of antioxidant enzymes, including superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione peroxidase (GPx), and catalase (CAT). SOD converts $O_2^{\bullet-}$ into H_2O_2 , whereas GPx and CAT convert H₂O₂ into H₂O. However, an imbalance in the formation and clearance of ROS/RNS leads to oxidative stress and subsequent changes affecting the cell dynamics (Halliwell, 2006). Main sources of ROS/RNS are: (a) mitochondrial respiratory chain that generates $O_2^{\bullet-}$ (Schon and Area-Gomez, 2012); (b) xanthine oxidase that produces $O_2^{\bullet-}$ when it catalyzes oxidation of hypoxhantine to uric acid (Fatokun et al., 2007); (c) cyclooxygenase 2 that produces O2. during oxidative metabolism of arachidonic acid (Teismann, 2012); (d) NADPH oxidase that produces $O_2^{\bullet-}$ during NADPH oxidation (Maldonado et al., 2010); and (e) Ca²⁺dependent nitric oxide synthase (NOS) that, under normal conditions, produces •NO, which in turn can react with O₂•- to generate the strong oxidant ONOO⁻ (Aguilera et al., 2007). Tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) is an important regulator of NOS function because it is required to maintain enzymatic coupling. Loss or oxidation of BH4 to 7,8-dihydrobiopterin (BH2) is associated with NOS uncoupling, resulting in the production of O2^{•-} rather than •NO (Crabtree and Channon, 2011). ROS/RNS produce cellular damage through lipid peroxidation, membrane injury, nucleic acid alteration and enzyme inactivation. These species also modify cellular signaling and gene regulation, contributing to breakdown of the blood-brain barrier, and allowing the infiltration of neutrophils and other cells that activate multiple neuroinflammatory cascades (Mollica et al., 2012). Ultimately, oxidative stress induces cell damage, leading to neuronal death by apoptosis or necrosis (Loh et al., 2006).

2. The Kynurenine pathway (KP)

2.1. Overview

Kynurenine pathway (KP) is the most prominent metabolic pathway for degradation of tryptophan into a series of metabolites with relevance for the modulation of different redox functions in different physiological systems. It has been largely assumed that the main goal of KP is to endorse the formation of coenzyme NAD⁺, which is relevant for the modulation of major physiological processes (Massudi et al., 2012). In particular, in the CNS, some

190

metabolites formed toward this pathway are relevant for the functioning of nerve tissue, as they exhibit neuromodulatory properties. Recently, KP has also gain attention due to two additional characteristics: (1) it metabolizes more than 90% of the peripheral tryptophan in mammals, and (2) many of its metabolites could play a causative role in disorders of the CNS (recently reviewed by Schwarcz et al., 2012). KP is known to be mostly active in glial cells, and the concentration range of its metabolites varies from nanomolar to low micromolar concentrations. Key limiting enzymes in KP are indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) and tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase (TDO), and pivotal metabolite for triggering KP is kynurenine (KYN) (reviewed by Schwarcz et al., 2012).

In regard to tryptophan metabolism and 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK), it is well-known that KP activation yields the formation of KYN from tryptophan with the enzymatic participation of IDO or TDO and formamidase. On one hand, KYN can form kynurenic acid (KYNA) in a side terminal arm of the pathway through an irreversible transamination catalyzed by kynurenine aminotransferases (KATs). On the other hand, KYN is converted into 3-HK through the catalytic intervention of kynurenine 3-monooxygenase (KMO), which similarly to 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid (3-HANA), is more related to some functions on redox modulatory activity than to neuronal activity (recently reviewed by Schwarcz

et al., 2012). 3-HK is then converted into 3-HANA by kynureninase. Picolinic acid formation corresponds to another side arm of KP and involves the participation of 2-amino-3-carboxymuconic-6-semialdehyde decarboxylase to convert 3-HK into this metabolite. The neuroactive metabolite quinolinic acid (QUIN) is also formed from 3-HK with the enzymatic participation of 3-hydroxyanthranilate oxygenase (3-HAO). Finally, transiently formed QUIN yields the formation of NAD⁺ in a step involving the enzyme quinolinate phosphorobosyltransferase. A simplified representation of KP is presented in Fig. 1, giving relevance to 3-HK formation.

Despite KP is responsible for the formation of a number of neuroactive and redox active metabolites, in this review we will focus our attention on 3-HK, one of the most relevant metabolites for redox modulatory activity in the tryptophan metabolism. Therefore, neuroactive metabolites will be just briefly mentioned as follows.

2.2. KP neuroactive metabolites

KYNA was the first characterized kynurenine derived from tryptophan. KYNA, an endogenous competitive antagonist of ionotropic glutamate receptors, acts at micromolar concentrations and is synthesized as a terminal metabolite of the short arm of KP after KYN is irreversibly transaminated by KATs (Yu et al., 2004). In NMDAR, this metabolite binds to the glycine co-agonist site,



Fig. 1. Simplified schematic representation of the tryptophan metabolism pathway known as the kynurenine pathway (KP). Scheme shows 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK) formation and location within KP. Some intermediate metabolites were omitted. Abbreviations: IDO, indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase; TDO, tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase; KATs, kynurenine aminotransferases.

blocking the receptor. It has also been reported that KYNA to inhibit α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (α 7nAChR) at central level (reviewed by Schwarcz et al., 2012). In addition, recent evidence supports a role for KYNA as an antioxidant agent and free radical scavenger (Lugo-Huitrón et al., 2011).

QUIN is another KP metabolite exerting activity at central level. QUIN is synthesized from 3-HANA through the activation of 3-HAO (Stachowski and Schwarcz, 2012). The primary mechanism of action reported for this metabolite is through direct activation of NMDAR, preferentially those receptors expressing the NR2B subunits (reviewed by Schwarcz et al., 2012). QUIN may also exert its effects through the stimulation of oxidative stress (Rios and Santamaria, 1991).

As aforementioned, several studies have reveal that other metabolites of KP – including kynurenine, 3-HK, 3-HANA and anthranilic acid – seem to lack of direct effects on neuronal activity (Stone, 1993). For the purposes of this review, these metabolites will not occupy our attention.

2.3. KP in neurodegenerative diseases

The concept that KP metabolites could be involved in neurodegenerative disorders came in first place from studies describing the toxic effects of QUIN in animals, resembling the pathological characteristics of Huntington's disease (HD) (Schwarcz et al., 1983). Later on, evidence on the protective and antagonistic actions exerted by KYNA served to hypothesize that changes in the QUIN:KYNA ratio might be responsible for excitotoxic brain damage (Schwarcz et al., 1984). Increased levels of QUIN in *post mortem* brains of HD patients at the initial stages of the disease helped to establish a role for this metabolite in neurodegeneration (Guidetti et al., 2004). In further support for this concept, reduced KYNA levels were seen in HD, suggesting that the QUIN:KYNA ratio could be relevant for this disorder.

Further evidence for a role of KP in neurodegenerative disorders emerged from studies demonstrating decreased levels of KYN and KYNA in the basal ganglia of patients with Parkinson's disease (PD) (Ogawa et al., 1992). In addition, QUIN seems to be increased in those glial cells surrounding amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Guillemin et al., 2005). Abnormal KP metabolism is also present in animal models of hypoglycaemia, ischemia, perinatal hypoxia and traumatic spinal cord injury (reviewed by Schwarcz et al., 2012), supporting a role of this metabolic pathway as a physiological and physiopathological modulator in the CNS. Altogether, this evidence supports an active role of an altered KP metabolism in different pathological conditions in the CNS; however, more detailed studies are needed to demonstrate this hypothesis.

3. 3-Hydroxykynurenine (3-HK)

3-HK is an intriguing and puzzling compound found at increased levels in pathological conditions; thus, characterizing and identifying the basic and clinical relevance of this tryptophan metabolite in brain disorders may help to elucidate toxic mechanisms involved in cell dysfunction and death. A summary of the chemical properties of 3-HK is presented in Table 1.

Table 1

Chemical properties of 3-HK.	
Average molecular weight	224.213
Predicted water solubility	3.33 mg/mL [Predicted by ALOGPS]
log P	–2.09 [Predicted by ALOGPS]
logS	-1.771
H-bond donor	4
H-bond acceptor	6
Molar extinction coefficient	3650 M ⁻¹ cm ⁻¹ at 368 nm (Bando et al., 1981)

3.1. Sources for 3-HK in the brain

Brain levels of 3-HK can be enriched by two manners: either from systemic origin, or through local production. Interesting circumstances create contrasting scenarios for both of these conditions. For instance, it seems that under normal conditions, the most important contributor to enhance the extracellular striatal 3-HK levels (50 nM) comes from the circulating kynurenine (KYN) when this precursor is systemically administered to rats (Notarangelo et al., 2012). However, it must be taken into consideration that 3-HK detection specifically corresponded to extracellular levels, which do not reflects the total content of this metabolite, therefore allowing no major inferences on this phenomenon. In contrast, in another study carried out by Bellac et al. (2006), these authors compared the plasma, cortical and hippocampal levels of 3-HK in animals subjected to Pneumococcal meningitis, and found that this metabolite was significantly increased locally under pathological conditions in both brain regions, and this increase was accompanied by an augmented mRNA and activity of kynurenine 3-hydroxylase, supporting the concept that glial cells responsive to infectious/inflammatory processes could be responsible for these effects. This topic points out to important differences in 3-HK sources when either normal or pathological conditions prevail. Although it is likely that local formation of 3-HK is more prominent in toxic conditions, these differences deserve further confirmation.

3.2. 3-HK chemical properties

3-HK is a hydrophilic yellow compound commonly found in lens of primates (man and baboon), sciuridae, sheep, and in some fish (Van Heyningen, 1971; Bando et al., 1981; Truscott et al., 1992; Truscott and Wood, 1994). In primates, it is present as 3-hydroxy-L-kynurenine $O-\beta$ -D-glucoside (3-HKG) in a micro molar range, it decreases linearly with age over the period from birth to the age of 30-40, and subsequently it remains at a constant level (Bando et al., 1981; Wood and Truscott, 1994). 3-HK has also been found in squirrel and insect eyes as xanthomatin (3-HK dimer), N-acetyl and sulphate derivatives, and glucoside conjugates (Van Heyningen, 1971; Han et al., 2007). 3-HK and its glucoside interact with lysyl residues of lens proteins and may function as a shortwave ultraviolet light filter absorbing maximally at approximately 365 nm (Goldstein et al., 2000). A summarized list of the basal levels of 3-HK in different tissues and fluids of different species is depicted in Table 2.

In a neutral pH solution, in presence of oxygen, 3-HK easily oxidizes (autooxidation). The oxidation of 3-HK forms an osemiaminoquinone which reacts with oxygen to yield an oaminoquinone and a large production of $O_2^{\bullet-}$ and H_2O_2 ; consequently, there is •OH formation via Fenton reaction (Vazquez et al., 2000; Eastman and Guilarte, 1990; Okuda et al., 1996; Ishii et al., 1992; Hiraku et al., 1995) (Fig. 2). Trace metals, such as Cu²⁺ and Fe ³⁺, strongly catalyze the oxidation of 3-HK (Goldstein et al., 2000). Moreover, iron chelators like potassium ferricyanide, hematin, and haemoglobin are effective oxidizing agents of 3-HK. The heme enzyme horseradish peroxidase, in the presence of H₂O₂, acts in the same manner, suggesting that •OH may be involved in its oxidation (Ishii et al., 1992). A change in the UV-vis spectrum of the autoxidized solutions indicates that some autoxidation products of 3-HK, which are formed initially, may be susceptible to further oxidation (Stutchbury and Truscott, 1993).

The characterization of the major autooxidation products of 3-HK under physiological conditions shows that 3-HK dimerizes to hydroxyxanthommatin and xanthommatin, which in turn generate at least four different compounds – including the *p*-quinone 4,6-dihydroxyquinolinequinonecarboxylic acid – and at least two minor species that were unable to be identified (Vazquez et al., A.L. Colín-González et al. / NeuroToxicology 34 (2013) 189-204

Levels of 3-HK in different tissues.		
Tissues and fluids	Concentrations	References
Iris/ciliary body (bovine)	0.07 µg/g	Malina and Martin (1995)
Retina (bovine)	0.19 µg/g	Malina and Martin (1995)
Transparent lenses (bovine)	1.14 µg/g	Malina and Martin (1995)
Urine (human)	2.2 (1.0-3.4) µmol/mmol creatinine	http://www.hmdb.ca/metabolites/HMDB11631
Serum (human)	0.001–0.4 µM	Pearson and Reynolds (1992), Heyes et al. (1994), Chiarugi et al. (1996), Hervé et al. (1996)
Human lens	70,000 μM (3-HKG)	Luthra and Balasubramanian (1992)
Basal brain extracellular levels (rat)	<0.002 µM	Notarangelo et al. (2012)
Whole brain (rat)	0.000008 µM	Gál and Sherman (1978, 1980)

Table 2	
Levels of 3-HK in different	tissue

2000; Ishii et al., 1992) (Fig. 2). Moreover, 3-HK oxidation is effectively inhibited by the inclusion of thiols such as glutathione, cysteine and ascorbate.

3-HK is also a reducing agent that participates in redox reactions by donating electrons; thus, it can be an antioxidant and restore the oxidative balance in the cellular environment (Christen et al., 1990; Luthra and Balasubramanian, 1992; Goshima et al., 1986). However, under oxidative conditions, 3-HK can bind to protein amino groups to further yield cross-linked polypeptide chains (Aquilina et al., 1999). Furthermore, during the oxidation of 3-HK: (1) ROS $(O_2^{\bullet-}, H_2O_2, \bullet OH)$ are produced which promote modification of proteins, oxidation of lipids, DNA strand breaks and modification of nucleic acids, modulation of gene expression through activation of redox-sensitive transcription factors, and modulation of inflammatory responses through signal transduction, to name a few events (Goldstein et al., 2000; Ishii et al., 1992; Hiraku et al., 1995); (2) transition metal ions (Cu^{2+}, Fe^{3+}) are reduced, turning themselves into pro-oxidants (Cu^+, Fe^{2+}) , to further participate in the formation of more radicals toward a Fenton reaction-like mechanism (Goldstein et al., 2000); (3) the

quinone-imine formed is highly reactive, favoring further oxidative reactions; and (4) reactivity of oxidized 3-HK toward amino acid functional groups is similar to DOPA, catecholamines, catechol, and other aminophenols (Foye, 1979; Lévay et al., 1997; Bindoli et al., 1992).

3.3. Effects of 3-HK in biological systems: anti-oxidative activity vs. oxidative damage

ROS production and their scavenging are both processes with particular relevance to maintain the cellular homeostasis; thereby, small molecules such as certain vitamins and metabolites show this double behavior. Among these, 3-HK may be physiologically and pathologically relevant. 3-HK may function as a modulator of synaptic neurotransmission in the prenatal brain. During the last week of gestation, 3-HK levels are remarkably high, to further decrease dramatically around the time of birth. In adulthood, 3-HK concentrations gradually change, exhibiting alterations during the occurrence of pathological conditions; these effects appear to be determined by the timing and mature of the pathogenic challenge



Fig. 2. 3-HK is oxidized at lower potentials. The oxidation of 3-HK under physiological conditions, generates several compounds such as the unstable xanthommatin formed by the oxidative dimerization of 3-HK in the presence of H₂O₂. This compound is degraded into other products: p-quinone (not shown), 4,6-dihydroxyquinolinequinonecarboxylic acid (not shown) and hydroxyxanthommatin. Superoxide anion and hydrogen peroxide are also formed rapidly upon oxidation of 3-HK.

(Ceresoli-Borroni and Schwarcz, 2000). However, 3-HK could play a dual role at higher levels, showing a beneficial role in the initial stages of development and shifting to a detrimental phase under prolonged exposure. The molecular mechanisms underlying these activities remain to be determined.

Another role suggested for 3-HK is related with its preventive properties on oxidative damage through scavenging activity. Goshima et al. (1986) demonstrated that 3-HK (1 µg) is able to scavenge O2^{•-} in Malpighian tubules of blowfly (Aldrichia graham). In addition, this metabolite (1-100 µM) scavenged *OH, exhibiting scavenging capacity similar to 500 µM melatonine, a classical °OH scavenger. Furthermore, 3-HK significantly decreased the peroxyl radicals induced by the thermolysis of 2,2'-azo-bis-(2-aminopropane)-derived peroxyl radicals in a higher degree than trolox, a wellknown peroxyl scavenger, as well as ascorbate (Christen et al., 1990; Leipnitz et al., 2007; Goda et al., 1999). Interestingly, compelling evidence has shown that 3-HK can easily undergo reactions with •NO and may be classified as a potent •NO scavenger. Intensely colored yellow products are rapidly formed from 3-HK in presence of two different donors of \bullet NO: nitrite at pH 5, and NO $^{+}$ SbF₆⁻ at pH 2.0. Nitrosation of 3-HK leads, presumably via a nitrosamine intermediate, to a diazonium ion, which forms an oxadiazole, tautomerizing to a yellow o-quinone diazide and other additional substances of different color, depending on the 'NO source (Backhaus et al., 2008). Hence, 3-HK is able to scavenge ROS such as O₂^{•-}, •HO, and peroxyl radical and •NO; consequently, 3-HK can prevent lipid oxidation and protein oxidation and nitration.

Leipnitz et al. (2007) showed that 3-HK inhibits spontaneous lipid peroxidation in supernatants from cerebral cortex of rats. 3-HK (1 h, 100 µM) reduced the thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances (TBARS) formation in the absence and presence of Fe³⁺ and Fe²⁺, which in turn stimulate 3-HK auto-oxidation and •OH formation, respectively. The same authors also demonstrated that 3-HK (1 h, 100 μ M) increased up to 400% the total antioxidant reactivity of C6 glioma cells, and these values gradually decreased as incubation time advanced. Treatment with 3-HK in these cells also decreased the basal TBARS when incubated for 1 and 6 h, but not at longer incubation times (Leipnitz et al., 2007). Additionally, it has been demonstrated that 3-HK (3 mM) inhibits the oxidative covalent cross-linking of crystallins, using riboflavin, a compound known to produce a variety of oxyradicals when used as a photocrosslinking agent of proteins (Luthra and Balasubramanian, 1992).

3-HK avoided the increased free radical production induced by glutaric acid in supernatants from cerebral cortex of rats, the major metabolite accumulating in glutaric acidemia type 1, an autosomal recessive disorder of lysine, hydroxylisine, and tryptophan metabolism. Patients with this disorder exhibit brain atrophy, macro-

Table 3

Concentrations of 3-HK tested in in vitro studies.

cephaly, and acute dystonia secondary to striatal degeneration (Viau et al., 2012). 3-HK fully prevented and attenuated the increased levels of TBARS and 2',7'-dihydrodichlorofluorescein oxidation produced by glutaric acid (1 mM) administration (Leipnitz et al., 2007) respectively.

Altogether, the aforementioned evidence serves to suggest that 3-HK could act as an endogenous natural antioxidant in a variety of diseases. However, in other studies, 3-HK has also shown to be a powerful generator of reactive species and a potential endogenous neurotoxin. A large body of literature has characterized its *in vitro* neurotoxicity (Table 3). Nonetheless, as the same table shows, most of the concentrations tested correspond to supraphysiological (pharmacologic) concentrations.

Data collected and described in Table 2 clearly show that concentrations used in most of in vitro studies are far higher than those described as normal brain concentrations (\sim 0.08–0.3 μ M, cited by Okuda et al., 1996), reaching considerably higher concentrations upon diverse pathological conditions (0.3-1.2 µM), including Huntington's disease, AIDS/dementia and hepatic encephalopathy. The issue of pharmacological vs. normal brain functions of 3-HK raises a relevant consideration. Fundamentally, use of high concentrations of this molecule to evoke cell toxicity suggest that most of these studies could be describing pharmacological (non-physiological) effects, thereby strengthening the concept that, under normal conditions, 3-HK could be more a modulatory metabolite mostly responsible for maintaining cellular redox homeostasis than a prooxidant, a feature that could be shared with other KP metabolites. Despite this key consideration, it is pertinent to describe neurotoxic actions exerted by 3-HK, since dual effects for this metabolite still remain in literature.

In primary cultured striatal neurons, 3-HK (10 μ M) induced cell death with apoptotic features. 3-HK-induced apoptosis involved generation of ROS that were suppressed by antioxidants (catalase, allopurinol, α -tocopherol, trolox, N-acetylcysteine, ascorbic acid and 3,3,5,5-tetramethyl-1-pyrroline-1-oxide, xanthine oxidase inhibitor, and deferoxamine, a chelating agent). Furthermore, it was demonstrated that 3-HK toxicity in these cells depends on both its cellular uptake via transporters for large neutral amino acids in a sodium-dependent process, and the intracellular increase of ROS (Okuda et al., 1996, 1998).

Cerebellar granule neurons are likely to be more resistant to 3-HK-induced cell death than striatal cells, requiring much higher concentrations of the toxin (250 μ M) to provoke the same degree of toxicity. The co-application of catalase caused a significant reduction in its neurotoxic effect, whereas SOD, allopurinol and the neutral amino acid transporter blockade failed to provide protection; likewise, 3-HK did not induce caspase-3 activation but produced p38 MAPK activation (Smith et al., 2009; Wei et al., 2000). Similar to

Calla	2 UIV tested concentration	Douiodo	% Callular death	Defenence
Cells	3-HK tested concentration	Periods	% Cellular death	Reference
Cerebellar granule neurons	10 μM-1 mM	1–9 h	20-80%	Smith et al. (2009)
	250–500 μM	7 days	50-90%	Jeong et al. (2004)
Striatal neurons	1– 10μM	24-48 h	50-65%	Jeong et al. (2004)
	50 µM	48 h	75%	
Neuronal hybrid cell line	200 µM	24 h	80%	Eastman and Guilarte (1989)
Hippocampal neurons	10 µM	48 h	50%	Okuda et al. (1998)
Cortical neurons	10 µM	48-72 h	-	Chiarugi et al. (2001a,b)
	100 µM	24 h		
Human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y	240 µM	24 h	40%	Jeong et al. (2004)
PC-12 pheochromocytoma cells	500-600 μM	24 h	53-23%	Jeong et al. (2004)
GT1-7 hypothalamic neurosecretory cells	400 µM	24 h	38%	Jeong et al. (2004)
C6 glioma	100 µM	1–48 h	0% ^a	Leipnitz et al. (2007)

^a C6 cell morphology did not change in the presence of 3-HK at all incubation times.

cerebellar granule cells, immortalized cells, PC-12 pheochromocytoma cells and GT1-7 hypothalamic neurosecretory cells required pharmacological concentrations of 3-HK to show apoptotic features, whereas 3-HK-induced toxicity was unaffected by the neutral amino acid transporter. Of note, dantrolene, an inhibitor of calcium release from the endoplasmic reticulum, protected these cells. The protection exerted by dantrolene was associated with a marked increase in the protein levels of a prominent anti-apoptotic gene product, Bcl-2, suggesting that other mechanisms are likely involved in 3-HK toxicity (Wei et al., 2000). Neuronal hybrid cell line and human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells treated with 3-HK showed an increase in ROS concentration, alteration in the catalase activity and enhanced apoptotic features (Eastman and Guilarte, 1990, 1989; Jeong et al., 2004).

Noteworthy, treatment of human astrocytes with 3-HK at concentrations below 100 nM significantly augmented intracellular NAD⁺ levels compared to non-treated cells. However, higher doses (>100 nM) decreased intracellular NAD⁺ levels and increased extracellular LDH activity (Brandy et al., 2009). NAD⁺ is an important co-factor of many enzymes and, as a molecule, is involved in several metabolic processes. For instance, NAD⁺ is a substrate for mono- and poly-ADP-ribosylation of proteins, and a precursor for calcium mobilizing agents that regulates the functions of NAD⁺-dependent enzymes such as the protein deacetylase SIRT1, which in turn modulates target gene transcription through the modification of chromatin-associated proteins (Zhang et al., 2009; Berger et al., 2004) Hence, changes in 3-HK concentrations may indirectly alter: (i) DNA repair mechanisms, (ii) intracellular free Ca²⁺ levels, and (iii) general patterns of gene expression.

On the other hand, it has been reported that sodium-dependent 3-HK uptake in slices from separate brain regions was in the following order: cortex > striatum = hippocampus > cerebellum (Eastman et al., 1992). In a similar manner, sodium-dependent KYN uptake activity reported by Speciale and Schwarcz (1990) was as follows: cortex > striatum > hippocampus > cerebellum, suggesting that 3-HK toxicity may be dependent on cellular uptake (Okuda et al., 1998).

Remarkably, there are only a few studies with 3-HK in in vivo models in the CNS; neither of them have characterized in a detailed manner its mechanisms of toxicity. For instance, intraventricular administration of 3-HK (634.21 µg/rat) caused convulsive attacks in rats (Pinelli et al., 1984). Moreover, the intrastriatal injection of 3-HK (50 nmol) induced only tissue damage around the injected site, without abnormal behavior in rats (Nakagami et al., 1996). Later on, it was suggested that 3-HK could potentiate QUIN toxicity through a possible synergic interaction with a combination of direct NMDA receptor activation and free radical production. Guidetti and Schwarcz (1999) evaluated this effect in the rat brain in vivo using an intrastriatal co-injection of 5 nmol 3-HK plus 15 nmol QUIN, doses which, when injected separately, caused no or minimal neurodegeneration. Co-injection of 3-HK and QUIN caused substantial increases in the lesion volumes and altered rotation behavior. However, these authors were unable to find de novo production of QUIN, suggesting that potentiation of QUIN toxicity by 3-HK was not due to the in vivo conversion of 3-HK to QUIN (Guidetti and Schwarcz, 1999). The authors proposed then that the failure of 3-HK to cause cellular damage is the result of the radical scavenging capacity of the normal brain, which may be sufficient to neutralize 3-HK-induced free radical generation and to prevent cell death (Schwarcz et al., 2010). Nonetheless, it is also pertinent to consider that the experimental design employed in this work did not assume possible chemical interactions between these two molecules, a process that could ultimately modify the reactive identity of each agent. Therefore, optimal conditions to test these agents should imply a separate administration. In the meantime, these findings might indicate that the mild effects exerted by 3-HK upon in vivo conditions could recruit free radicals generated from the autoxidation process, with no deleterious consequences to nerve tissue, as it can be assumed that defense systems are capable to counteract 3-HK toxic signals.

3.4. Other effects linked to 3-HK

Neurodegenerative diseases such as AD, PD, and HD, are likely to share common cellular and molecular deleterious mechanisms, including protein aggregation and mitochondrial dysfunction (Ross and Poirier, 2004; Coyle and Puttfarcken, 1993; Santamaria and Jimenez, 2005). Several reports suggest that high concentrations of 3-HK might promote these events.

As previously mentioned, IDO catalyzes the transformation of tryptophan into N-formylkynurenine; the hydrolysis of N-formylkynurenine produces KYN, which is hydroxylated and glycosylated, yielding 3-HK and 3-HKG (Snytnikova et al., 2008). At physiological conditions, 3-HK and 3-HKG undergo spontaneous deamination, and the resulting deaminated kynurenines-carboxyketoalkenes are highly reactive species susceptible to nucleophilic attack via Michael addition, forming an unstable adduct with amino acid residues such as cysteine, histidine, and lysine (Garner et al., 1999, 2000) (Fig. 3).

In the presence of oxygen, 3-HK attaches to several sites on the crystallins, especially in cysteine residues (γ S crystallin and β B1 crystallin) (Aquilina and Truscott, 2002). 3-HK binding is accompanied by crystalline aggregation, and its inclusion with GSH results in a delayed onset of crystalline modification (Stutchbury and Truscott, 1993; Garner et al., 2000; Aquilina and Truscott, 2002). Another protein target for 3-HK is bovine serum albumin (Goldstein et al., 2000). 3-HK also interacts with zinc/thiolate coordination environments such as metallothionein (Giles et al., 2003).

The formation of cysteine adduct with 3-HK was confirmed using a preparation of bovine calf lens protein at pH 7.2, whereas His and Lys residues only became modified when the incubation was performed at pH 9.5, conditions under which the polypeptides are likely to be unfolded (Korlimbinis and Truscott, 2006). On the contrary, Staniszewska and Nagaraj (2005) showed that lysine adducts can be generated in human lens proteins treated with 3-HK using a monoclonal antibody.

Appropriate GSH levels are crucial for minimizing polypeptide modification by 3-HK. GSH acts as an oxidant scavenger; thus, GSH possesses the ability to prevent covalent modification of proteins (Aquilina et al., 1997). Binding of 3-HK to crystallins in the lens may be a dynamic process, with binding and release, both taking place. If there is sufficient GSH, the reactive deamination product would most likely react with GSH. In contrast, if there is a decrease in GSH levels, the deaminated 3-HK may oxidize and bind irreversibly to proteins (Korlimbinis and Truscott, 2006).

The deposition of proteins also takes place when proteins and lipids are exposed to sugars, forming advanced glycation-end products (AGEs). Sugars, ascorbate, and dicarbonyl compounds react with amino groups of lysine and arginine residues of proteins through the formation of ketoamine adducts; these adducts further produce ROS. Several proteins implicated in neurodegenerative diseases, such as amyloid β , tau, α -synuclein, and prions are glycated and the extent of glycation is correlated with the pathologies seen in patients, contributing to the development of neurodegenerative diseases. Nagaraj et al. (2010) demonstrated that 3-HK may exert a stimulatory effect on pentoside synthesis from ascorbate and ribose, two AGEs that have been detected in the human lens, suggesting that 3-HK may modulate AGE formation. Therefore, 3-HK could play a pivotal role in protein damage due to the following considerations: (1) this molecule is highly susceptible to oxidize and produce formation of extremely toxic reactive species (o-aminoquinone and ROS) (Okuda et al., 1996; Eastman and Guilarte, 1990; Vazquez et al., 2000; Aquilina et al., 1997, 1999; Aquilina and Truscott, 2002); (2) the formation of these A.L. Colín-González et al. / NeuroToxicology 34 (2013) 189-204



Fig. 3. Deamination of 3-HK and its covalent attachment to amino acid residues. Under physiological conditions, the carbonyl group acidifies the adjacent H atom, resulting in the elimination of ammonia from the β -carbon and bound rearrangement to form an α , β -unsaturated carbonyl. The β -carbon atom is highly susceptible to non-stereoselective nucleophilic attack, resulting in the formation of an enolate intermediate that becomes protonated to form the 3-HK-protein adduct.

species could decrease the concentration of GSH and other antioxidants (Berry and Truscott, 2001); (3) protein radicalization, adduct formation, cross-linking and fragmentation occur when 3-HK concentrations increase because this metabolite can react with polypeptides at neutral pH via modification of amino acid residues (Stutchbury and Truscott, 1993; Goldstein et al., 2000); (4) the interaction of 3-HK with proteins may affect the cellular redox status, causing the release of metal ions (Giles et al., 2003; Aquilina et al., 1999; Backhaus et al., 2008; Viau et al., 2012); and (5) it is also possible that the o-aminophenol moiety of 3-HK may act as a site for chelation of redox-active metals such as Fe²⁺ or Cu⁺, metals that could contribute to •OH-induced damage to protein (Goldstein et al., 2000). Altogether, this evidence suggests that these processes could modify the enzymatic activity of several proteins, as occurs with the creatinine kinase activity, which is inhibited by 3-HK in a time- and dose-dependent manner. This inhibition was prevented, but not reversed, by incubation with reduced glutathione, dithiothreitol, ascorbic acid and trolox. Nevertheless, under nitrogen atmosphere, the enzyme was not inhibited by 3-HK, indicating that the inhibition was caused by products of autoxidation of 3-HK, and not by 3-HK itself (Cornelio et al., 2006). Thus, protein modification exerted by 3-HK could be carried out by multiple mechanisms, including a direct interaction of 3-HK with proteins, together with further reactions of the 3-HK autoxidation-derived reactive species with a variety of macromolecules.

In addition, 3-HK can modify mitochondrial function and trigger DNA damage. Mitochondria have several important functions in the cell. Mitochondrial dysfunction causes abatement in ATP production, oxidative damage, excitotoxicity, and the induction of apoptosis, all of which are involved in the pathogenesis of numerous disorders (Lin and Beal, 2006; Beal, 2004). Lee et al. (2004) showed that 3-HK causes neuronal cell death by inducing mitochondrial dysfunction. 3-HK induced the collapse of mitochondrial membrane

potential and cytochrome c release. Interestingly, inhibition of the Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase (ERK) dramatically increased mitochondrial malfunction and enhanced caspase activity under conditions of cellular stress. 3-HK (>2.5 mM) also affected the respiratory parameters of heart mitochondria in a dose-dependent manner. This metabolite significantly decreased respiratory control index and the ADP:oxygen ratio of glutamate/malate respiring rat heart mitochondria. However, the high concentrations of 3-HK used in this work are difficult to achieve under physiological conditions (Baran et al., 2003). Finally, DNA damage by 3-HK has also been studied. 3-HK induced DNA double-strand breaks in cultured human cells. Hiraku et al. (1995) suggested that this damage is mediated by an increase in the production of H₂O₂ and the presence of Mn²⁺ or Cu²⁺. Therefore, high concentrations of 3-HK observed in pathological events could be related to protein, mitochondria and DNA modifications.

Of consideration, Krause et al. (2011) have recently described anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective effects for 3-HK and 3hydroxyanthranilic acid (3-HAA), and these effects involved the suppression of cytokine-induced neuronal death and associate antioxidant responses in primary human fetal central nervous system cultures treated with cytokines (IL-1 with or without interferon- γ) or with Toll-like receptor ligands mimicking the proinflammatory environment of the CNS. These findings raise the controversy on the real role exerted by 3-HK and related metabolites in the brain, as described in the following section.

3.5. Effects of 3-HK-related compounds

3.5.1. Xanthurenic acid

Interestingly, 3-HK metabolism proffers complementary concepts to the effects already reported for this metabolite in the CNS. Xanthurenic acid (XA), another metabolite of KP, is formed after

transamination of 3-HK (Fig. 1). Since 3-HK autooxidation is assumed to be involved in oxidative damage, XA formation is believed to be part of a detoxification process (Gobaille et al., 2008) as it prevents 3-HK accumulation. In turn, XA synthesis from 3-HK seems to involve the same kynurenine transmaninase isoenzymes that catalyze the transamination of KYN to KYNA (Urenjak and Obrenovitch, 2000). Besides of its sedative actions at high concentrations (Heyliger et al., 1998), XA has been demonstrated to be present in different brain regions at concentrations about 1 µM; therefore, this molecule has been proposed to exert physiological actions in the brain (Gobaille et al., 2008). Moreover, XA can penetrate de blood-brain barrier and its distribution in the brain is heterogeneous, being particularly accumulated in the frontal cortex. Indeed, some physiological actions exerted by XA have been attributed to its potential role as a neurotransmitter-like molecule (Gobaille et al., 2008), an issue that still deserves investigation. In the meantime, being the major catabolic product of 3-HK, XA requires special attention. While some reports describing antioxidant properties for this metabolite might serve to confirm its formation in the brain as a major detoxification route for 3-HK production (Murakami et al., 2001: López-Burillo et al., 2003), only a few of them describe pro-oxidant actions (Murakami et al., 2006); hence, whether the role of this molecule on the effects of 3-HK is oriented to detoxify or to exert synergic toxic actions through its redox modulatory actions is a question needing experimental approaches to be elucidated, and so, no scenario should be ruled out so far for the actions of XA and 3-HK.

3.5.2. Anthranilic acid:3-hydroxyanthranilic acid ratio

An alternative arm of the KP converts KYN into anthranilic acid (AA). The enzyme responsible for this alternative metabolic step is kynureninase. In turn, AA is responsible for 3-HAA formation, without involving 3-HK in the process (Fig. 1). This part of KP metabolism is relevant when trying to understand those physiological and physiopathological processes linked to 3-HK (Darlington et al., 2010). In fact, since 3-HAA can be formed either directly from 3-HK or from AA, only part of the toxic actions of 3-HAA could be related with 3-HK. Moreover, 3-HAA yields the formation of a more toxic metabolite, QUIN. It has been demonstrated that QUIN levels are increased after 3-HAA is topically administered into the rat striatum (Notarangelo et al., 2012; reviewed by Schwarcz et al., 2010). This effect was assessed by biochemical and microscopic assays; thereby, enhanced levels of 3-HAA – and probably 3-HK too

Table 4

3-HK levels (mean \pm se.mean) in normal and pathological conditions

- would lead to the formation of a potent excitotoxic/pro-oxidant KP metabolite (QUIN) that might contribute to a more complex toxic pattern in the brain.

Noteworthy, the chemical structures of 3-HAA and 3-HK are quite similar, as they have hydroxyl and amino groups in ortho positions to each other, both are good electron donors and their oxidation lead to the formation of a highly reactive quinoneimine. Nonetheless, 3-HAA, similar to 3-HK and other KP redox metabolites, carries out the same duality, since on one hand it has been shown to induce ROS-mediated cell damage in different cell cultures (Goldstein et al., 2000; Brandy et al., 2009), and on the other hand, this metabolite is responsible for antioxidant responses by diminishing TBARS in cerebral cortex supernatants (Leipnitz et al., 2007), scavenging peroxyl radicals, and protecting β -phycoerythrin from these species (Christen et al., 1990). Furthermore, 3-HAA might exert a relevant role during inflammatory conditions since it has shown to suppress the activation of the proinflammatory transcription factor NFkB while inhibiting nitric oxide synthase (reviewed by Darlington et al., 2010). Altogether, this contrasting evidence encourages the study of 3-HAA and the 3-HAA:AA ratio since these two elements could be relevant to understand the actions of 3-HK at central level.

3.6. 3-HK in brain disorders

3-HK is known to be a neuroactive metabolite that may produce damage by overproduction of reactive species, direct protein interaction and mitochondrial dysfunction, although its extracellular levels, determined by *in vivo* microdialysis in the rat brain, are below 2 nM (Notarangelo et al., 2012). Nevertheless, in a number of different pathological conditions – possibly as a consequence of enzyme induction –, the amounts of 3-HK in the CNS are increased in astrocytes, macrophages, microglia and other cells of the immune system. Thus, this tryptophan metabolite may play an important role in neurodegenerative diseases, psychiatric disorders, and seizures (Chiarugi et al., 2001a,b), as shown in Table 4.

Excitotoxic mechanisms are believed to play a central role in the pathogenesis of a broad spectrum of neurological diseases. Ceresoli et al. (1997) showed that both the developing and adult brains respond to an acute excitotoxic insult by shifting brain KP metabolism, and provided evidence that an excitotoxic brain lesion in rats of 7 days of age causes a preferential increase in KYNA formation, while an increase in 3-HK levels was more pronounced

Pathological conditions; Disorder/experimental model	Mean 3-HK levels (controls)	Mean 3-HK levels (pathological conditions)	References
PD			
CFS	$6.1\pm2.8~nM$	$1.1\pm0.1~nM$	Tohgi et al. (1993a,b)
HD			Pearson and Reynolds (1992)
Temporal cortex	$0.29\pm0.22\ nmol/g$	$0.49\pm0.21nmol/g$	
Frontal cortex	$0.15\pm0.12\ nmol/g$	$0.41\pm0.27nmol/g$	
Putamen	$0.08\pm0.01~nmol/g$	$0.29\pm0.21nmol/g$	
Infant pneumococcal meningitis model in rats			
Cortex	$42\pm15nM$	$590\pm237nM$	Bellac et al. (2006)
Experimental encephalomyelitis in rats			Chiarugi et al. (2001a,b)
Spinal cord	$0.14\pm0.03nmol/g$	1.2 ± 0.2 nmol/g	
Forebrain	$0.12\pm0.02nmol/g$	$0.2\pm0.02nmol/g$	
Infantile spasms			
CSF	0.57-85 nM	1.56-3.26 nM	Yamamoto (1991), Yamamoto et al. (1994)
Rats with experimental allergic encephalomyelitis			
Spinal cord	0.14 nM	1.21 nM	Chiarugi et al. (2001a,b)
Forebrain	0.12 nM	0.20 nM	
Blood	0.08 nM	0.11 nM	

in adult animals, demonstrating that age-dependent changes in cerebral KP metabolism occur in response to an excitotoxic insult (Ceresoli et al., 1997). In another work, the basal levels of 3-HK in rat brains were unchanged after receiving intrastriatal injections of NMDA a week earlier, while tryptophan, kynurenine and QUIN showed increased levels. Animals receiving intrastriatal injections of NMDA (8 μ g/2 μ l) plus systemic administration of kynurenine (100 mg/kg, i.p.) reached a peak in 3-HK of approximately 50 nM 2 h following kynurenine injection (100 mg/kg, i.p.). Notably, 3-HK levels decreased 7 h later. These authors suggested that 3-HK enters the brain from the circulation and once there, it is rapidly sequestered and degraded into QUIN (Notarangelo et al., 2012).

Inflammation processes contribute to the progression and manifestation of a broad spectrum of disorders in the CNS. Excessive release of IFN- γ has been associated with the pathogenesis of chronic inflammatory and autoimmune diseases (Mühl and Pfeilschifter, 2003). IFN- γ induces the expression of IDO and so, it enhances the production of kynurenines from tryptophan, including 3-HK. The induction of IDO by IFN- γ triggers an increase in intracellular ROS, cytosolic cytochrome c and caspase-3 activity, along with a decrease in protein-free thiol content and apoptotic cell death. IDO (1-methyl-DL-tryptophan) and kynurenine 3-hydroxylase inhibitors (Ro61-8048) effectively inhibited IFN- γ -mediated apoptosis (Mailankot and Nagaraj, 2010). These data suggest that increased levels of 3-HK could play a role in diseases related to excitotoxic and inflammatory processes such as HD, AD, PD, convulsive and depressive disorders, to name a few.

3.6.1. Huntington's disease

HD is a fatal inherited neurodegenerative disorder characterized by abnormal motor movements, personality changes and dementia. Cellular toxicity, which initially affects the striatum and progressively the cortex -, has been attributed to a polyglutamine expansion in the huntingtin protein. Oxidative stress, protein oxidation, and consecutively, aberrant inactivation/ or degradation of proteins, can aggravate molecular damage (Sorolla et al., 2012). New studies carried out in HD brains, genetic model organisms, and mouse models suggest that this disease may in fact be causally related to early abnormalities in KP (Schwarcz et al., 2010). In support to this concept, it has been demonstrated that neurolopathological features in HD can be reproduced in experimental animals by an intrastriatal injection of QUIN. Further evidence indicates that expression of a mutant huntingtin fragment induces transcription of KP in yeast, which is abrogated by impairing the activity of the histone deacetylase Rpd3. Histone deacetylase-dependent regulation of the KP was also observed in a mouse model of HD, in which the treatment with a neuroprotective histone deacetylase inhibitor, suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid, blocked KP activation in microglia expressing a mutant huntingtin fragment in vitro and in vivo, thereby suggesting that this pathway plays a critical downstream role in mediating mutant huntingtin toxicity (Giorgini et al., 2008).

Previous reports have indicated abnormalities in the concentration of tryptophan metabolites in the HD brain, including an increase in 3-HK levels (Schwarcz et al., 1984; Reynolds and Pearson, 1989; Pearson et al., 1995; Pearson and Reynolds, 1992; Guidetti and Schwarcz, 2003). Concentrations of 3-HK were determined in brain tissues taken from *post mortem* brains from patients with HD in the early stages (Guidetti and Schwarcz, 2003; Schwarcz et al., 2012). 3-HK was significantly increased in frontal and temporal cortex and putamen of these patients (Pearson and Reynolds, 1992), while others at very advanced stages, and in a state of severe disability, showed lower levels (Stoy et al., 2005).

Several models have been developed in order to elucidate the toxic mechanisms leading to neuronal damage, their possible interactions in HD, and potential therapies. Among these, genetic models using invertebrates, such as fruit flies and yeast, as well as genetic mice, have been the most commonly used (Ramaswamy et al., 2007). Using lower model organisms, it has been demonstrated that the toxic effects of mutant huntingtin could be related to an increase in KP metabolites. In a transgenic Drosophila melanogaster model of HD, genetic or pharmacological KMO inhibition ameliorated neurodegeneration. Importantly, this effect was reduced by feeding flies with 3-HK (Campesan et al., 2011). In a similar manner, 3-HK levels increased around 2.2-fold in yeast cells that expressed a mutant hutingtin. The genetic deletion and pharmacologic inhibition of KMO in these cells suppressed the toxicity caused by a mutant huntingtin fragment, suggesting that 3-HK levels could play a role in the observed toxic effects. In addition, pharmacologic inhibition of KMO reduced ROS levels (Giorgini et al., 2005); thereby, the polyQ toxicity mechanisms in Drosophila melanogaster, yeasts and HD patients might involve upregulation of KP to form 3-HK, and consequently, overproduction of ROS.

Transgenic models have also been used to determine the 3-HK role in HD. The brain levels of this compound are increased in several mouse models. R6/2 mice are the most commonly used transgenic murine model of HD; these animals possess a 1.9 kB fragment derived from the 5' end of the human huntingtin gene inserted into the mouse genome, and they express approximately 144 CAG repeats. R6/2 mice received an intrastriatal injection of tryptophan in order to evaluate the production of 3-HK in vivo. No effect of genotype was observed between 4 and 12 weeks of age. In contrast, intrastriatally applied kynurenine resulted in an increased neosynthesis of 3-HK, but no in other KP metabolites. Subsequent ex vivo studies in striatal, cortical and cerebellar tissue revealed substantial increases in the activity KMO and significant reductions in the activity of the 3-HK degradative enzyme, kynureninase, in HD mice, this changes starting at 4 weeks of age. Decreased kynureninase activity was most evident in the cortex and preceded the increase in KMO activity. The activities of other KP enzymes showed no consistent brain abnormalities in the mutant mice. These findings suggest that impairment in KP metabolic enzymes jointly account for the abnormally high brain levels of 3-HK in the R6/2 model of HD, and are related to symptoms developed in these animals (Sathyasaikumar et al., 2010; Guidetti et al., 2006).

YAC 128 and the chimeric HdhQ lines (HdhQ92 and HdhQ111) are models that express the entire human huntingting gene and contain a mutated exon 1 with 111 or 92 CAG repeats, respectively. These models, together with heterozygous transgenic mice containing 89 CAG repeats, have also shown a substantial elevation of 3-HK content in both the striatum and cortex (Guidetti et al., 2000). No changes were seen in 13-month-old shortstop mutant mice for HTT (Guidetti et al., 2006).

Altogether, this information supports the concept that cerebral KP is affected in the HD brain, showing differences between early and late stages of the disease. Increased 3-HK levels might contribute to cell damage in early phases of illness. Perhaps, in response to mitochondrial impairment and/or a plethora of other abnormalities, dysfunctional cells then create a pro-inflammatory environment, leading to the activation of surrounding microglia. This, in turn, would lead to an up-regulation of microglial KP metabolism, enhanced release of 3-HK and QUIN, and, finally, the demise of already weakened neurons by a combination of excessive ROS production and NMDA receptor activation (Schwarcz et al., 2010).

3.6.2. Alzheimer's disease

AD is a complex neurodegenerative disease characterized by hippocampal neuronal loss and severe dementia in later stages, resulting in a gradual and irreversible loss of memory and cognitive functions. The severity of AD depends on the dysfunction of two molecules: Amyloid protein precursor and Tau protein. Protein aggregation results in senile plaque formation and neurofibrillary degeneration, which together trigger a cascade of toxic events, including oxidative stress, glutamate-induced excitotoxicity and inflammation.

Through its neuroactive products - especially QUIN -, KP is considered to be involved in the neuropathogenesis of AD. However, in regard to 3-HK, different results have been found. Using circulating antibodies directed against tryptophan derivatives conjugated to proteins in serum samples from AD patients, it was demonstrated that the overproduction of 3-HK is associated with hyperactivation of IDO-1 (Duleu et al., 2010). In support to this concept, in another assay with post mortem hippocampal sections of AD patients using immunocytochemical methods, elevated 3-HK levels were demonstrated. Western blot analysis showed 3-HK to be slightly elevated, although statistical significance was not reached (Bonda et al., 2010). Similar to this, in post mortem brains of AD patients, 3-HK was slightly increased in temporal cortex, although once again, this was not significantly changed from matched controls (Pearson and Reynolds, 1992). In the cerebrospinal fluid and plasma from patients with Alzheimertype dementia. 3-HK levels decreased 81% when compared with controls, with no marked increases in 3-HK levels in plasma concentrations (Bonda et al., 2010; Tohgi et al., 1992).

Although there is no experimental evidence demonstrating an increase of 3-HK levels in AD phenotype, the elevated expression and activity of IDO-1 and the presence of increased levels of QUIN indicate that there is an increase in 3-HK production that is rapidly catabolized. Moreover, in Drosophila mutants it was also observed that cytotoxicity of 3-HK is relevant to produce memory alterations similar to AD (Savvateeva et al., 2000), whereas chronic administration of a KMO inhibitor in a transgenic mouse model of AD prevented spatial memory deficits, anxiety-related behavior, and synaptic loss (Zwilling et al., 2012), suggesting that increased levels of 3-HK may participate in the cellular damage observed in AD. Therefore, it is likely that amyloid- β activates microglial and astrocytic cells in the brain following accumulation and aggregation; consequently, it also may induce enhanced levels of the toxic intermediates of KP, whereby reducing the formation of toxic KP metabolites may emerge as a new therapeutic strategy against AD.

3.6.3. Parkinson's disease

PD is a disabling neurodegenerative disease which involves several interacting toxic mechanisms: mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress and cell energy insufficiency (Beal, 2004). Alterations in KP have been demonstrated in this disorder. Serum and cerebral spinal fluid samples of PD patients have shown increased levels in the KYN: tryptophan ratio in comparison with controls. Furthermore, KATI and KATII activities in serum of PD patients are reduced (Szabó et al., 2011). The cerebrospinal fluid of parkinsonian patients shows a reduction in 3-HK concentrations (Tohgi et al., 1993a,b). In contrast, 3-HK levels were increased in putamen of PD brains of patients without L-DOPA therapy, as well as in the frontal cortex, putamen, and substantia nigra of patients treated with L-DOPA (Ogawa et al., 1992). Therefore, it can be assumed that a shift in the tryptophan metabolism towards 3-HK and QUIN, and consequently, a fall in KYNA concentrations, are related to the alterations observed in PD.

3.6.4. Microbial chronic infections

3-HK levels are elevated in viral and microbial infections such as VIH and Pneumococcal meningitis. VIH-associated dementia is a frequent consequence of HIV infection and relates to neuronal damage. IDO activity is increased in *post mortem* brain tissues (frontal cortex) from AIDS patients; as a result, 3-HK concentrations were increased (over three-fold) (Sardar and Reynolds, 1995; Sardar et al., 1995; Heyes et al., 1989). Thus, elevated 3-HK levels may contribute to the neuronal deficits underlying HIV-associated dementia.

On the other hand, Pneumococcal meningitis is characterized by an intense inflammatory host reaction that contributes to the development of cortical necrosis and hippocampal apoptosis. Inflammatory conditions in the brain are known to induce tryptophan degradation along KP, resulting in accumulation of neurotoxic metabolites. In the late phase of acute Pneumococcal meningitis, it was found a transcriptional upregulation of kynurenine-3-hydroxylase and a 3-HK accumulation in cortex (590 nM) and hippocampus (313 nM), while in plasma (115 nM), no increases were observed. In line with this concept, enhanced 3-HK levels were associated with KMO upregulation (Bellac et al., 2006). Therefore, under inflammatory conditions, it is likely that KP could be metabolically oriented to form 3-HK at central level, instead of other metabolites.

3.6.5. Cerebral ischemia

Cerebrovascular disease is the second cause of death and the most frequent cause of non-traumatic disability in adults worldwide, according to the World Health Organization. Nowadays, there is no effective treatment to reverse the morphological and behavioral alterations induced by stroke. Moreover, inflammatory cytokines and protease secretion by microglia, leukocytes and resident cells of the neurovascular unit, are pivotal factors for cerebral injury, which in turn might induce upregulation of the KP, as that found in animal models of focal cerebral ischemia and patients with this disorder (Saito et al., 1993); however, the role of 3-HK in acute ischemic stroke remains uncertain.

Carpenedo et al. (2002) used *m*NBA and Ro 61-8048, two different KMO inhibitors, in organotypic hippocampal slice cultures exposed to 30 min of oxygen and glucose deprivation. 3-HK and QUIN neo-synthesis decreased, hence facilitating kynurenine metabolism towards KYNA formation, and reducing tissue damage. The addition of 3-HK and QUIN to oxygen and glucose-deprived hippocampal slices prevented the neuroprotective activity of these KMO inhibitors. However, 3-HK administration ($300 \ \mu$ M) was non-toxic since it did not exacerbated oxygen and glucose deprivation-induced damage. Thus, the reduced tissue damage observed under these conditions may be the consequence of KYNA overproduction.

3.6.6. Convulsive disorders

Seizures are characterized by sudden and unusually unprovoked attacks as a result of abnormal brain electric activity. Not all seizures imply epilepsy; they can be the consequence of hepatic encephalopathy and Vitamin B6 deficiency. KP metabolites have been hypothetically linked to the occurrence of seizure phenomena because 3-HK and QUIN administration into the lateral ventricle caused convulsive attacks in rats (Pinelli et al., 1984; Yokoi et al., 1998).

Cortical 3-HK concentrations were substantially increased in *post mortem* brain tissues of patients with hepatic encephalopathy. On the other hand, accumulation of 3-HK was observed in urine and plasma of rats and mice with induced vitamin B6 deficiency (Kimoto et al., 1991; Pearson and Reynolds, 1991; Bender et al., 1990). Moreover, increased concentrations of this metabolite were found in different brain regions of vitamin B6 deficient neonatal rats: cerebellum, striatum, frontal cortex, and pons/medulla at 14 and 18 days of age (Guilarte and Wagner, 1987a,b). The elevation of brain 3-HK levels is likely occurring simultaneously with the onset of neurological signs, suggesting that the accumulation of this metabolite in the brain may be a putative endogenous convulsant in hepatic encephalopathy and vitamin B6 deficiency.
Another cause of seizures is cerebral infection. Intracerebral injection of hamster neurotropic measles virus to weanling Balb/C mice leads to encephalitis, which is characterized by seizures, selective neurodegeneration, and, after approximately 7 days, death. To provide a better understanding of the underlying molecular pathology, the brain content of KP metabolites was evaluated. 3-HK and QUIN levels increased in CA1 and CA3 areas, and these changes preceded the onset of electroencephalographic seizures; thus, excess formation of 3-HK and QUIN caused seizures and eventually neurodegeneration, whereby a decrease in the 3-HK:QUIN ratio might be of benefit in preventing or arresting seizure-induced neuronal damage (Lehrmann et al., 2008).

Infantile spasms are a form of age-dependent intractable epilepsy in childhood and are often associated with mental retardation. Cerebrospinal fluid from patients with symptomatic infantile spasms showed increased 3-HK levels (Yamamoto, 1991; Yamamoto et al., 1994). Moreover, infants and children with high fevers can also produce febrile seizures. Yamamoto et al. (1994) found an imbalance in the tryptophan metabolites during convulsions in this disorder. These findings suggest that seizures in hepatic encephalopathy, vitamin B6 deficiency, cerebral infection, infantile spasms, and febrile seizures could be attributable to an altered 3-HK production. Additionally, 3-HK could act as a competitive inhibitor at benzodiazepine receptor in GABA receptor complex; thus, the putative endogenous convulsant activity of 3-HK may be exerted by modulation of the GABA/BDZ receptor complex (Guilarte et al., 1988). Therefore, 3-HK might contribute to the pathogenesis of convulsive disorders.

3.6.7. Depression

Depressed patients show peripheral changes of circulating levels of proinflammatory cytokines and altered neurotransmission, resulting in a KP up-regulation. This phenomenon has been reported in patients suffering from various types of depressive disorders, including major depression, bipolar disorders, major/ minor depressive states related to immunotherapeutic treatments, pre- and post-partum depression, and cardiovascular diseaserelated depression. Indeed, this phenomenon is positively correlated with the intensity of depressive symptoms (Zunszain et al., 2011; Leonard and Myint, 2006; Miura et al., 2008).

Several attempts have been assaved to determine the role of tryptophan metabolites in brain abnormalities taking place in depression. Firstly, the Unpredictable Chronic Mild Stress model is an informative paradigm to study depression in animals. Laugeray et al. (2010) demonstrated that 3-HK levels are increased preferentially at the subcortical level (amygdala/striatum) in this model, whereas it is decreased at a cortical level (cingulate cortex). Interestingly, no KP changes were observed in hippocampus (Laugeray et al., 2010). Secondly, fractalkine receptor (CX(3)CR1)deficient mice following lipopolysaccharide (LPS) challenge showed prolonged depressive-like behavior associated with exaggerated microglial activation and induction of the tryptophan degrading enzyme IDO. In these animals, the levels of 3-HK were increased in the brain 72 h after LPS injection. The depressive-like behavior evidenced in CX(3)CR1(-/-) mice 72 h after LPS injection was abrogated by inhibition of IDO, suggesting that IDO activation and subsequent generation of neuroactive kynurenine metabolites may exert a pivotal role in the development of depression (Corona et al., 2012). Thirdly, physiological stressors are consistently associated to depression; thus, a mild electrical shock administered to feet of laboratory animals can be used as a model. In these conditions, 3-HK is increased in plasma and several cerebral regions (cerebellum, medulla, hypothalamus, striatum, midbrain, hippocampus and cortex) (Pawlak et al., 2000). Finally, it is possible that antidepressants may change the KYNA:3-HK ratio. In primary astroglial cultures, fluoxetine, citalopram, amitriptyline and imipramine $(1-10 \mu$ M) increased the *de novo* production of KYNA and diminished 3-HK synthesis. At 24 and 48 h the expression of KAT1 and KAT2 was enhanced, whereas KMO was diminished by all these drugs. These findings indicate that tricyclic antidepressants could correct the behavioral depression through the re-establishment of the beneficial ratio KYNA:3-HK (Kocki et al., 2012).

3.6.8. Multiple sclerosis

Experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in rats represents an autoimmune inflammatory disorder of the CNS characterized by demyelination, paralysis and histopathology similar to multiple sclerosis. 3-HK levels in the spinal cord of these animals increased 10-fold over control. IDO and KMO largely increased in the spinal cord, with not changes in the forebrain, but a decrease in the spleen (Chiarugi et al., 2001a,b).

4. Concluding remarks

Increased levels of 3-HK in a variety of neurological disorders would initially suggest an active role of this KP metabolite in the development and progression of degenerative events; however, we cannot discard that its enhanced levels could also correspond to a mere increase in metabolic activation of KP as an epiphenomenon related with inflammatory processes or other toxic mechanisms. Thus, despite a large body of evidence points out to a neurotoxic/pro-oxidative profile for this molecule, antioxidant properties are not discarded at all. Indeed, it is likely that the very nature of the effects evoked by 3-HK will depend on several circumstances and/or experimental conditions. While in some specific paradigms 3-HK acts as a pro-oxidant throughout direct or indirect reactions - when high doses or concentrations are tested -, under other conditions this metabolite has been shown to scavenge free radicals and prevent oxidative damage. This dual evidence leads us to consider that there are more than one possible scenario for the actions of this agent: (1) If the signals recruited by 3-HK are noxious enough to trigger toxic cascades, if its concentrations are in a supraphysiopathological rank, or if the redox conditions for the formation of toxic derivatives (i.e., toxic quinones or other KP metabolites) prevail in the environment, then cells and tissues will suffer from injury and degeneration via oxidative stress and inflammation; in contrast, if 3-HK exerts moderate oxidative stress, then cells will be able to sense and counteract the deleterious effects of ROS/ RNS by activating antioxidant systems, and so, they will be able to initiate concerted antioxidant and anti-inflammatory responses, thereby leading to survival signals. In this point, and in consideration to the collected and discussed evidence, we propose the following hypothesis: objectively, as a transitory metabolite of the KP, 3-HK seems to be a molecule which, under physiological conditions represents a candidate to be claimed as a redox modulatory agent, and its actions in this regard whether scavenging ROS or even inducing moderate oxidative stress by toxic derivatives - would be accounting for a sensed response of the brain tissue to counteract any further major attack, expressed as chronic or intense acute damage. In favor of this concept, basic experimental evidence for a toxic role of this molecule considers so far the use of extremely high concentrations of 3-HK, whereas clinical evidence on the increased levels of this metabolite in different pathologies could be reflecting secondary and late scenarios of the real causal components of these disorders. Evidently, this is only a speculative statement aimed at objectively direct the efforts of different groups interested in this topic for further experimental considerations. So, to be fair, we suggest a series of possible experiments to be carried out in order to discard or accept neurotoxic or

neuroprotective actions of 3-HK in the brain. To our concept, in an ideal experimental scenario, comparisons between in vivo an in vitro effects of 3-HK should be explored using different solvents, concentrations, and volumes of infusion to animals, as well as routes of administration. In addition to these controlled conditions, metabolically handling and modifying KP function to generate a more "natural" manner to induce 3-HK accumulation would represent a more reliable model to explore its actions. Either through pharmacological agents oriented to selectively block KATs and kynureninases, and the unequivocal determination of 3-HK levels, or by mean of selective mutations in cells and animals on these key enzymes, our knowledge on the role of 3-HK in the brain will be enhanced. Moreover, specific and more detailed determination of the roles exerted by the 3-HK derivatives (toxic guinones and the metabolites 3-HAA and QUIN) under different experimental conditions, require more attention. In the meantime, the dual actions of 3-HK in the CNS resemble the dual behavior of KP. A schematic representation of the mechanisms by which 3-HK may exert its effects in the brain is summarized in Fig. 4.

Further considerations must be taken in regard to the possible involvement of signaling pathways and their role in the integral pattern of toxicity evoked by this metabolite, in order to elucidate in a more detailed manner all those mechanisms involved in the effects of 3-HK. Of further consideration is the proven interaction of 3-HK with proteins and other biological molecules. Particularly, the cost of these interactions is high as it comprises protein cross-linking, as well as depletion of thiol pools, mostly GSH. Furthermore, a possible role of 3-HK as a neurotransmitter-like molecule, as it has been suggested for XA, should be explored in a near future. One question emerges at this specific point: is 3-HK directly responsible for damage in the CNS, or are its derivatives, such as o-aminoquinone, the inducers of cell demise? Trying to answer this question through the reviewed evidence is difficult. One clue could be related with the valuable report of Guidetti and Schwarcz (1999) in which 3-HK was tested under in vivo conditions. Once again, when administered alone, this metabolite was unable to extend the lesion area of the striatum. Because authors declared that 3-HK did not yield QUIN synthesis, then the metabolite itself is assumed to be unable of inducing toxicity. The question now is whether oxidative damage, as mild as it can be, could recruit survival responses. In this regard, it is also known that some antioxidants and electrophilic compounds act through the induction of integrative antioxidant responses, comprising the activation of signaling pathways, such as the Nrf2/Keap1/Are axis, a master modulator of antioxidant responses (Lee and Johnson, 2004). Either as a Michael acceptor or as an electrophilic compound, 3-HK could recruit this resource. In addition, since one of the most important components of neurodegenerative events involves



Fig. 4. Schematic representation of the mechanisms underlying 3-HK formation and its effects in the brain. Tryptophan (TRP), kynurenine (KYN), and 3-HK can directly cross the blood-brain barrier to reach glial cells, where they will be inserted into KP. Under physiological conditions, KP is activated to form the metabolic precursor NAD⁺; however, under inflammatory, oxidative or neurotoxic attack, there is an increased activation of indoleamine dioxygenase (IDO), tryptophan dioxygenase (TDO) and kynurenine monoxygenase (KMO), yielding a preferential formation of putative toxic metabolites, including 3-HK and quinolinic acid (QUIN). Whether 3-HK is then toxic, is the topic discussed in this review. Both metabolites can be released to the extracellular cleft to reach near targets. Particularly, 3-HK can cross neuronal cell membranes through the Neutral Amino Acid Transporter (NAT), and once inside, it can follow two routes: (1) if this molecule displays scavenging/antioxidant properties, then it would be able to counteract the deleterious actions of preformed ROS/RNS either through a direct scavenging effect or by means of triggering integral antioxidant responses evoked by transcription signaling pathways, such as the Nrf2/Keap1/ARE axis, a master modulator of antioxidant responses in the brain. (2) If 3-HK undergoes autooxidation, then it would yield the formation of highly reactive molecules, such as *o*-aminoquinone, which in turn could be the real responsible for exacerbated oxidative damage, activation of deadly cascades, and massive cell death. An alternative explanation for the toxic pattern exerted by this molecule comprises the formation of other toxic metabolites from 3-HK metabolism. Being a direct precursor of 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid, 3-HK might eventually account for QUIN formation. The latter is responsible not only for excitotoxicity, but also for oxidative stress. Therefore, in a scenario where both 3-HK and QUIN could be present, neurodegeneration is expected to be potentiated. For further

Author's personal copy

A.L. Colín-González et al. / NeuroToxicology 34 (2013) 189-204

inflammatory processes, the precise role of 3-HK in the induction/modulation of the NFkB pro-inflammatory signaling needs detailed characterization. This is particularly relevant as a cross-talk between these two pathways cannot be ruled out in physiological and physiopathological events in the brain. These key considerations shall be explored in a near future in order to provide 3-HK with its real position in the KP modulatory actions on the CNS: a redox sensitive modulator or a toxic intermediate metabolite.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgments

Ana Laura Colín-González is a CONACyT scholarship holder (239954). She belongs to the Doctoral Program in Biomedical Sciences from the Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México.

References

- Aguilera P, Chánez-Cárdenas ME, Floriano-Sánchez E, Barrera D, Santamaría A, Sánchez-González DJ, et al. Time-related changes in constitutive and inducible nitric oxide synthases in the rat striatum in a model of Huntington's disease. Neurotoxicology 2007:28:1200-7.
- Aquilina JA, Carver JA, Truscott RJ. Oxidation products of 3-hydroxykynurenine bind to lens proteins: relevance for nuclear cataract. Exp Eye Res 1997;64:235-727.
- Aquilina JA, Carver JA, Truscott RJW. Elucidation of a novel polypeptide cross-link involving 3-hydroxykynurenine. Biochemistry 1999;38:11455-64. Aquilina JA, Truscott RJW. Identifying sites of attachment of UV filters to proteins in
- older human lenses. Biochim Biophys Acta 2002;1596:6-15.
- Backhaus C, Rahman H, Scheffler S, Laatsch H, Hardeland R. NO scavenging by 3hydroxyanthranilic acid and 3-hydroxykynurenine: N-nitrosation leads via oxadiazoles to o-quinone diazides. Nitric oxide 2008:19:237-44. Bando M, Nakajima A, Satoh K. Spectrophotometric estimation of 3-OH L-kynurenine
- O-beta-glucoside in the human lens. J Biochem 1981;89:103-9.
- Baran H, Staniek K, Kepplinger B, Stur J, Draxler M, Nohl H. Kynurenines and the respiratory parameters on rat heart mitochondria. Life Sci 2003;72:1103–15.
- Beal MF. Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative damage in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases and coenzyme Q10 as a potential treatment. J Bioenerg Biomembr 2004;36:381-6.
- Bellac CL, Coimbra RS, Christen S, Leib SL. Pneumococcal meningitis causes accumulation of neurotoxic kynurenine metabolites in brain regions prone to injury. Neurobiol Dis 2006;24:395-402.
- Bender DA, Njagi EN, Danielian PS. Tryptophan metabolism in vitamin B6-deficient mice. Br J Nutr 1990;63:27-36.
- Berger F, Ramírez-Hernández MH, Ziegler M. The new life of a centenarian: signaling functions of NAD(P). Trends Biochem Sci 2004;29:111–8.
- Berry Y, Truscott RJ. The presence of a human UV filter within the lens represents an oxidative stress. Exp Eye Res 2001;72:411-21.
- Bindoli A, Rigobello MP, Deeble DJ. Biochemical and toxicological properties of the oxidation products of catecholamines. Free Radic Biol Med 1992;13:391–405. Bonda DJ, Mailankot M, Stone JG, Garrett MR, Castellani RJ, Siedlak SL, et al. Indolea-
- mine 2,3-dioxygenase and 3-hydroxykynurenine modifications are found in the neuropathology of Alzheimer's disease. Redox Rep 2010;15:161-8.
- Brandy N, Grant R, Brew BJ, Adams S, Jayasena T, Guillemin GJ. Effects of kynurenine pathway metabolites on intracellular NAD synthesis and cell death in human primary astrocytes and neurons. Int J Tryptophan Res 2009;2:61-9.
- Brouillet E, Condé F, Beal MF, Hantraye P. Replicating Huntington's disease phenotype in experimental animals. Prog Neurobiol 1999;59:427-68.
- Campesan S, Green EW, Breda C, Sathyasaikumar KV, Muchowski PJ, Schwarcz R, et al. The kynurenine pathway modulates neurodegeneration in a Drosophila model of Huntington's disease. Curr Biol 2011;21:961-6.
- Carpenedo R, Meli E, Peruginelli F, Pellegrini-giampietro DE. Kynurenine 3-monooxygenase inhibitors attenuate post-ischemic neuronal death in organotypic hippocampal slice cultures. J Neurochem 2002;82:1465-71.
- Ceresoli G, Guidetti P, Schwarcz R. Metabolism of [5-(3)H]kynurenine in the developing rat brain in vivo: effect of intrastriatal ibotenate injections. Brain Res 1997;100:73-81.
- Ceresoli-Borroni G, Schwarcz R. Perinatal kynurenine pathway metabolism in the normal and asphyctic rat brain. Amino Acids 2000:19:311-23.
- Chiarugi A, Carpenedo R, Moroni F. Kynurenine disposition in blood and brain of mice: effects of selective inhibitors of kynurenine hydroxylase and of kynureninase. J Neurochem 1996;67:692-8.
- Chiarugi A, Cozzi A, Ballerini C, Massacesi L, Moroni F. Kynurenine 3-mono-oxygenase activity and neurotoxic kynurenine metabolites increase in the spinal cord of rats with experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Neuroscience 2001a;102:687-95.

- Chiarugi A, Meli E, Moroni F. Similarities and differences in the neuronal death processes activated by 3OH-kynurenine and quinolinic acid. J Neurochem . 2001b:77:1310-8.
- Christen S, Peterhans E, Stocker R. Antioxidant activities of some tryptophan metabolites: possible implication for inflammatory diseases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1990.87.2506-10
- Cornelio AR, Rodrigues-Junior VD, Rech VC, de Souza WAT, Dutra-Filho CS, Wajner M, et al. Inhibition of creatine kinase activity from rat cerebral cortex by 3-hydroxykynurenine. Brain Res 2006;1124:188-96.
- Corona AW, Norden DM, Skendelas JP, Huang Y, O'Connor JC, Lawson M, et al. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase inhibition attenuates lipopolysaccharide induced persistent microglial activation and depressive-like complications in fractalkine receptor (CX(3)CR1)-deficient mice. Brain Behav Immun 2012 [Epub ahead].
- Cowan CM, Raymond LA. Selective neuronal degeneration in Huntington's disease. Curr Top Dev Biol 2006:75:25-71.
- Coyle JT, Puttfarcken P. Oxidative stress, glutamate, and neurodegenerative disorders. Science 1993;262:689-95.
- Crabtree MJ, Channon KM. Synthesis and recycling of tetrahydrobiopterin in endothe-
- lial function and vascular disease. Nitric oxide 2011;25:81–8. Darlington LG, Forrest CM, Mackay GM, Smith RA, Smith AJ, Stoy N, et al. On the biological importance of the 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid:anthranilic acid ratio. Int J Tryptophan Res 2010;3:51–9.
- Duleu S, Mangas A, Sevin F, Veyret B, Bessede A, Geffard M. Circulating antibodies to IDO/THO pathway metabolites in Alzheimer's disease. Int J Alzheimer Dis 2010:501541.
- Eastman CL, Guilarte TR. Cytotoxicity of 3-hydroxykynurenine in a neuronal hybrid cell line. Brain Res 1989;495:225-31.
- Eastman CL, Guilarte TR. The role of hydrogen peroxide in the in vitro cytotoxicity of 3hydroxykynurenine. Neurochem Res 1990:15:1101-7.
- Eastman CL, Guilarte TR, Lever JR. Uptake of 3-hydroxykynurenine measured in rat brain slices and in a neuronal cell line. Brain Res 1992;584:110-6.
- Fatokun AA, Stone TW, Smith RA. Hydrogen peroxide mediates damage by xanthine and xanthine oxidase in cerebellar granule neuronal cultures. Neurosci Lett 2007:416:34-8.
- Foye WO. In: Barton D, Ollis WD, editor. Comprehensive organic chemistry. England: Pergamon, Oxford; 1979.
- Gál EM, Sherman AD. L-kynurenine: its synthesis and possible regulatory function in brain. Neurochem Res 1980:5:223-39.
- Gál EM, Sherman AD. Synthesis and metabolism of L-kynurenine in rat brain. J Neurochem 1978;30:607-13.
- Garner B, Shaw DC, Lindner RA, Carver JA, Truscott RJ. Non-oxidative modification of lens crystallins by kynurenine: a novel post-translational protein modification with possible relevance to ageing and cataract. Vision Res 2000;1476:265-78.
- Garner B, Vazquez S, Griffith R, Lindner RA, Carver JA, Truscott RJW. Identification of glutathionyl-3-hydroxykynurenine glucoside as a novel fluorophore associated with aging of the human lens. J Biol Chem 1999;274:20847-54.
- Giles GI, Collins CA, Stone TW, Jacob C. Electrochemical and in vitro evaluation of the redox-properties of kynurenine species. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2003;300:719-24.
- Giorgini F, Guidetti P, Nguyen Q, Bennett SC, Paul J. A genomic screen in yeast implicates kynurenine 3-monooxygenase as a therapeutic target for Huntington's disease. Nat Genet 2005;37:526-31.
- Giorgini F, Möller T, Kwan W, Zwilling D, Wacker JL, Hong S, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibition modulates kynurenine pathway activation in yeast, microglia, and mice expressing a mutant huntingtin fragment. J Biol Chem 2008;283:7390-400.
- Gobaille S, Kemmel V, Brumaru D, Dugave C, Aunis D, Maitre M. Xanthurenic acid distribution, transport, accumulation and release in the rat brain. J Neurochem 2008:105:982-93.
- Goda K, Hamane Y, Kishimoto R, Ogishi Y. Radical scavenging properties of tryptophan metabolites. Estimation of their radical reactivity. Adv Exp Med Biol 1999:467:397-402
- Goldstein LE, Leopold MC, Huang X, Atwood CS, Saunders AJ, Hartshorn M, et al. 3-Hydroxykynurenine and 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid generate hydrogen peroxide and promote alpha-crystallin cross-linking by metal ion reduction. Biochemistry 2000:39:7266-75.
- Goshima N. Wadano A. Miura K. 3-Hvdroxykynurenine as O2-, scavenger in the blowfly, Aldrichina grahami. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1986;139:666-72.
- Guidetti P, Bates GP, Graham RK, Hayden MR, Leavitt BR, MacDonald ME, et al. Elevated brain 3-hydroxykynurenine and quinolinate levels in Huntington disease mice. Neuropiol Dis 2006:23:190-7.
- Guidetti P, Luthi-Carter RE, Augood SJ, Schwarcz R. Neostriatal and cortical quinolinate levels are increased in early grade Huntington's disease. Neurobiol Dis 2004;17:455-61
- Guidetti P, Reddy PH, Tagle DA, Schwarcz R. Early kynurenergic impairment in Huntington's disease and in a transgenic animal model. Neurosci Lett 2000:283:233-5.
- Guidetti P, Schwarcz R. 3-Hydroxykynurenine potentiates quinolinate but not NMDA toxicity in the rat striatum. Eur J Neurosci 1999;11:3857-63.
- Guidetti P, Schwarcz R. 3-Hydroxykynurenine and quinolinate: pathogenic synergism in early grade Huntington's disease? Adv Exp Med Biol 2003;527:137–45.
- Guilarte TR, Block LD, Wagner HN Jr. The putative endogenous convulsant 3-hydroxykynurenine decreases benzodiazepine receptor binding affinity: implications to seizures associated with neonatal vitamin B-6 deficiency. Behav Pharmacol Biochem 1988:30:665-8.
- Guilarte TR, Wagner HN Jr. Increased concentrations of 3-hydroxykynurenine in vitamin B6 deficient neonatal rat brain. J Neurochem 1987a;49:1918–26.

202

A.L. Colín-González et al. / NeuroToxicology 34 (2013) 189-204

- Guilarte TR, Wagner HN Jr. Effects of perinatal vitamin B6 deficiency on dopaminergic neurochemistry. J Neurochem 1987b;48:432–9.
- Guillemin GJ, Brew BJ, Noonan CE, Takikawa O, Cullen KM. Indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase and quinolinic acid immunoreactivity in Alzheimer's disease hippocampus. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 2005;31:395–404.
- Guillemin GJ, Cullen KM, Lim CK, Smythe GA, Garner B, Kapoor V, et al. Characterization of the kynurenine pathway in human neurons. J Neurosci 2007;27(47 Nov 21):12884–92.
- Halliwell B. Oxidative stress and neurodegeneration: where are we now? J Neurochem 2006;97:1634–58.
- Han Q. Beerntsen BT, Li J. The tryptophan oxidation pathway in mosquitoes with emphasis on xanthurenic acid biosynthesis. J Insect Physiol 2007;53:254–63.
- Hardingham GE, Bading H. Synaptic versus extrasynaptic NMDA receptor signalling: implications for neurodegenerative disorders. Nat Rev Neurosci 2001;11:682–96.
 Hervé C, Beyne P, Jamault H, Delacoux E. Determination of tryptophan and its kynurenine pathway metabolites in human serum by high-performance liquid
- chromatography with simultaneous ultraviolet and fluorimetric detection. J Chromatogr B Biomed Appl 1996;675:157–61. Heyes MP, Quearry BJ, Markey SP. Systemic endotoxin increases L-tryptophan, 5-
- hydroxyindoleacetic acid, 3-hydroxykynurenine and quinolinic acid content of mouse cerebral cortex. Brain Res 1989;491:173–9.
- Heyes MP, Saito K, Devinsky O, Nadi NS. Kynurenine pathway metabolites in cerebrospinal fluid and serum in complex partial seizures. Epilepsia 1994;35:251–7. Heyliger SO, Goodman CB, Ngong JM, Soliman KF. The analgesic effects of tryptophan
- Heyliger SO, Goodman CB, Ngong JM, Soliman KF. The analgesic effects of tryptophan and its metabolites in the rat. Pharmacol Res 1998;38:243–50.
- Hiraku Y, Inoue S, Oikawa S, Yamamoto K, Tada S, Nishino K, et al. Metal-mediated oxidative damage to cellular and isolated DNA by certain tryptophan metabolites. Carcinogenesis 1995;16:349–56.
- Ischiropoulos H, Beckman JS. Oxidative stress and nitration in neurodegeneration: cause, effect, or association? J Clin Invest 2003;111:163–9.
- Ishii T, Iwahashi H, Sugata R, Kido R. Formation of hydroxanthommatin-derived radical in the oxidation of 3-hydroxykynurenine. Arch Biochem Biophys 1992;294:616– 22.
- Jeong JH, Kim HJ, Lee TJ, Kim MK, Park ES, Choi BS. Epigallocatechin 3-gallate attenuates neuronal damage induced by 3-hydroxykynurenine. Toxicology 2004;195:53–60. Jimenez-Del-Rio M, Velez-Pardo C. The bad, the good, and the ugly about oxidative
- stress. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2012;2012:163913.Kimoto M, Ogawa T, Sasaoka K. Accumulation of 3-hydroxy-L-kynurenine sulfate and ethanolamine in urine of the rat injected with 1-aminoproline. Tokushima J Exp Med 1991;38:37–44.
- Kocki T, Wnuk S, Kloc R, Kocki J, Owe-Larsson B, Urbanska EM. New insight into the antidepressants action: modulation of kynurenine pathway by increasing the kynurenic acid/3-hydroxykynurenine ratio J Neural Transm 2012;119:235–43.
- Korlimbinis A, Truscott RJ. Identification of 3-hydroxykynurenine bound to proteins in the human lens. A possible role in age-related nuclear cataract. Biochemistry 2006;45:1950–60.
- Krause D, Suh HS, Tarassishin L, Cui QL, Durafourt BA, Choi N, et al. The tryptophan metabolite 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid plays anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective roles during inflammation: role of hemeoxygenase-1. Am J Pathol 2011;179:1360–72.
- Laugeray A, Launay JM, Callebert J, Surget A, Belzung C, Barone PR. Peripheral and cerebral metabolic abnormalities of the tryptophan-kynurenine pathway in a murine model of major depression. Behav Brain Res 2010;210:84–91.
- Lee HJ, Bach JH, Chae HS, Lee SH, Joo WS, Choi SH, et al. Mitogen-activated protein kinase/extracellular signal-regulated kinase attenuates 3-hydroxykynurenine-induced neuronal cell death. J Neurochem 2004;88:647–56.
 Lee JM, Johnson JA. An important role of Nrf2-ARE pathway in the cellular defense
- Lee JM, Johnson JA. An important role of Nrf2-ARE pathway in the cellular defense mechanism. J Biochem Mol Biol 2004;37:139–43.
- Lehrmann E, Guidetti P, Löve A, Williamson J, Bertram EH, Schwarcz R. Glial activation precedes seizures and hippocampal neurodegeneration in measles virus-infected mice. Epilepsia 2008;49:13–23.
- Leipnitz G, Schumacher C, Dalcin KB, Scussiato K, Solano A, Funchal C, et al. In vitro evidence for an antioxidant role of 3-hydroxykynurenine and 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid in the brain. Neurochem Int 2007;50:83–94.
- Leonard BE, Myint A. Inflammation and depression: is there a causal connection with dementia? Neurotox Res 2006;10:149–60.
- Lévay G, Ye Q, Bodell WJ. Formation of DNA adducts and oxidative base damage by copper mediated oxidation of dopamine and 6-hydroxydopamine. Exp Neurol 1997;146:570–4.
- Lin MT, Beal MF. Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in neurodegenerative diseases. Nature 2006;443:787–95.
- Loh KP, Huang SH, De Silva R, Tan BK, Zhu YZ. Oxidative stress: apoptosis in neuronal injury EurekaSelect. Curr Alzheimer Res 2006;81–8.
- López-Burillo S, Tan DX, Mayo JC, Sainz RM, Manchester LC, Reiter RJ. Melatonin, xanthurenic acid, resveratrol, EGCG, vitamin C and alpha-lipoic acid differentially reduce oxidative DNA damage induced by Fenton reagents: a study of their individual and synergistic actions. J Pineal Res 2003;34:269–77.
- Lugo-Huitrón R, Blanco-Áyala T, Ugalde-Muñiz P, Carrillo-Mora P, Pedraza-Chaverrí J, Silva-Adaya D, et al. On the antioxidant properties of kynurenic acid: free radical scavenging activity and inhibition of oxidative stress. Neurotoxicol Teratol 2011;33:538–47.
- Luthra M, Balasubramanian D. 3-Hydroxykynurenine and 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid may act as endogenous antioxidants in the eye lens. Exp Eye Res 1992;55:641–3.
- Mailankot M, Nagaraj RH. Induction of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase by interferongamma in human lens epithelial cells: Apoptosis through the formation of 3hydroxykynurenine. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2010;42:1446–54.

- Maldonado PD, Molina-Jijón E, Villeda-Hernández J, Galván-Arzate S, Santamaría A, Pedraza-Chaverrí J. NAD(P)H oxidase contributes to neurotoxicity in an excitotoxic/prooxidant model of Huntington's disease in rats: protective role of apocynin. J Neurosci Res 2010;88:620–9.
- Malina HZ, Martin XD. Deamination of 3-hydroxykynurenine in bovine lenses: a possible mechanism of cataract formation in general. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 1995;233:38–44.
- Massudi H, Grant R, Guillemin GJ, Braidy N. NAD+ metabolism and oxidative stress: the golden nucleotide on a crown of thorns. Redox Rep 2012;17:28–46.
- Miura H, Ozaki N, Sawada M, Isobe K, Ohta T, Nagatsu T. A link between stress and depression: shifts in the balance between the kynurenine and serotonin pathways of tryptophan metabolism and the etiology and pathophysiology of depression. Stress 2008;11:198–209.
- Mollica A, Stefanucci A, Costante R, Pinnen F. Role of formyl peptide receptors (FPR) in abnormal inflammation responses involved in neurodegenerative diseases. Antiinflamm Anti-allergy Agents Med Chem 2012 [Epub ahead].
- Mühl H, Pfeilschifter J. Anti-inflammatory properties of pro-inflammatory interferongamma. Int Immunopharmacol 2003;3:1247–55.
- Murakami K, Haneda M, Yoshino M. Prooxidant action of xanthurenic acid and quinoline compounds: role of transition metals in the generation of reactive oxygen species and enhanced formation of 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine in DNA. Biometals 2006;19:429–35.
- Murakami K, Ito M, Yoshino M. Xanthurenic acid inhibits metal ion-induced lipid peroxidation and protects NADP-isocitrate dehydrogenase from oxidative inactivation. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 2001;47:306–10.
- Nagaraj RH, Padmanabha S, Mailankot M, Staniszewska M, Mun LJ, Glomb MA, et al. Modulation of advanced glycation endproduct synthesis by kynurenines in human lens proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta 2010;1804:829–38.
- lens proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta 2010;1804:829–38. Nakagami Y, Saito H, Katsuki H. 3-Hydroxykynurenine toxicity on the rat striatum in vivo. Jpn J Pharmacol 1996;71:183–6.
- Nicholls DG, Johnson-Cadwell L, Vesce S, Jekabsons M, Yadava N. Bioenergetics of mitochondria in cultured neurons and their role in glutamate excitotoxicity. J Neurosci Res 2007;85:3206–12.
- Notarangelo FM, Wu HQ, Macherone A, Graham DR, Schwarcz R. Gas chromatography/ tandem mass spectrometry detection of extracellular kynurenine and related metabolites in normal and lesioned rat brain. Anal Biochem 2012;421: 573–81.
- Ogawa T, Matson WR, Beal MF, Myers RH, Bird ED, Milbury P, et al. Kynurenine pathway abnormalities in Parkinson's disease. Neurology 1992;42:1702–6.
- Okuda S, Nishiyama N, Saito H, Katsuki H. Hydrogen peroxide-mediated neuronal cell death induced by an endogenous neurotoxin, 3-hydroxykynurenine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996;93:12553–8.
- Okuda S, Nishiyama N, Saito H, Katsuki H. 3-Hydroxykynurenine, an endogenous oxidative stress generator, causes neuronal cell death with apoptotic features and region selectivity. J Neurochem 1998;70:299–307.
- Pawlak D, Takada Y, Urano T, Takada A. Serotonergic and kynurenic pathways in rats exposed to foot shock. Brain Res Bull 2000;52:197–205.
- Pearson SJ, Meldrum A, Reynolds GP. An investigation of the activities of 3-hydroxykynureninase and kynurenine aminotransferase in the brain in Huntington's disease. J Neural Transm Gen Sect 1995;102:67–73.
- Pearson SJ, Reynolds GP. Determination of 3-hydroxykynurenine in human brain and plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection. Increased concentrations in hepatic encephalopathy. J Chromatogr 1991;565:436–40.
- Pearson SJ, Reynolds GP. Increased brain concentrations of a neurotoxin, 3-hydroxykynurenine, in Huntington's disease. Neurosci Lett 1992;144:199–201.Pinelli A, Ossi C, Colombo R, Tofanetti O, Spazzi L. Experimental convulsions in rats
- Pinelli A, Ossi C, Colombo R, Tofanetti O, Spazzi L. Experimental convulsions in rats induced by intraventricular administration of kynurenine and structurally related compounds. Neuropharmacology 1984;23:333–7.
- Ramaswamy S, Mcbride JL, Kordower JH. Animal models of Huntington's disease. ILAR 2007;48:356–73.
- Reynolds GP, Pearson SJ. Increased brain 3-hydroxykynurenine in Huntington's disease. Lancet 1989;2:979–80.
- Rios C, Santamaria A. Quinolinic acid is a potent lipid peroxidant in rat brain homogenates. Neurochem Res 1991;16:1139–43.
- Ross CA, Poirier MA. Protein aggregation and neurodegenerative disease. Nat Med 2004;10:S10–7.
- Saito K, Nowak TS, Suyama K, Quearry BJ, Saito M, Crowley JS, et al. Kynurenine pathway enzymes in brain: responses to ischemic brain injury versus systemic immune activation. J Neurochem 1993;61:2061–70.
- Santamaria A, Jimenez ME. Oxidative/nitrosative stress, a common factor in different neurotoxic paradigms: an overview. Cur Topic Neurochem Res Trends 2005;4: 1–20.
- Sardar AM, Bell JE, Reynolds GP. Increased concentrations of the neurotoxin 3-hydroxykynurenine in the frontal cortex of HIV-1-positive patients. J Neurochem 1995;64:932–5.
- Sardar AM, Reynolds GP. Frontal cortex indolearnine-2,3-dioxygenase activity is increased in HIV-1-associated dementia. Neurosci Lett 1995;187:9–12.
- Sas K, Robotka H, Toldi J, Vécsei L. Mitochondria, metabolic disturbances, oxidative stress and the kynurenine system, with focus on neurodegenerative disorders. J Neurol Sci 2007;257:221–39.
- Sathyasaikumar KV, Stachowski EK, Amori L, Guidetti P, Muchowski PJ, Schwarcz R. Dysfunctional kynurenine pathway metabolism in the R6/2 mouse model of Huntington's disease. J Neurochem 2010;113:1416–25.
- Savvateeva E, Popov A, Kamyshev N, Bragina J, Heisenberg M, Senitz D, et al. Agedependent memory loss, synaptic pathology and altered brain plasticity in the

Author's personal copy

204

A.L. Colín-González et al. / NeuroToxicology 34 (2013) 189-204

Drosophila mutant cardinal accumulating 3-hydroxykynurenine. J Neural Transm 2000;107:581–601.

- Schon EA, Area-Gomez E. Mitochondria-associated ER membranes in Alzheimer disease. Mol Cell Neurosci 2012 [Epub ahead].
- Schwarcz R, Bruno JP, Muchowski PJ, Wu H. Kynurenines in the mammalian brain: when physiology meets pathology. Nat Rev Neurosci 2012;13:465–77.Schwarcz R, Foster AC, French ED, Whetsell WO, Köhler C. Excitotoxic models for
- Schwarcz R, Foster AC, French ED, Whetsell WO, Köhler C. Excitotoxic models for neurodegenerative disorders. Life Sci 1984;35:19–32.
- Schwarcz R, Guidetti P, Sathyasaikumar KV, Muchowski PJ. Of mice, rats and men: revisiting the quinolinic acid hypothesis of Huntington's disease. Prog Neurobiol 2010;90:230–45.
- Schwarcz R, Scholz D, Coyle JT. Structure-activity relations for the neurotoxicity of kainic acid derivatives and glutamate analogues. Neuropharmacology 1978;17:145–51.
- Schwarcz R, Whetsell WO, Mangano RM. Quinolinic acid: an endogenous metabolite that produces axon-sparing lesions in rat brain. Science 1983;219:316–8.
- Smith AJ, Smith RA, Stone TW. 5-Hydroxyanthranilic acid, a tryptophan metabolite, generates oxidative stress and neuronal death via p38 activation in cultured cerebellar granule neurones. Neurotox Res 2009;15:303–10.
- Snytnikova OA, Fursova AZ, Chernyak EI, Vasiliev Vladimir G, Morozov SV, Kolosova NG, et al. Deaminated UV filter 3-hydroxykynurenine O-beta-D-glucoside is found in cataractous human lenses. Exp Eye Res 2008;86:951–6.
- Sorolla MA, Rodríguez-Colman MJ, Vall-Llaura N, Tamarit J, Ros J, Cabiscol E. Protein oxidation in Huntington disease. BioFactors 2012;38:173-85.
- Speciale C, Schwarcz R. Uptake of kynurenine into rat brain slices. J Neurochem 1990;54:156–63.
- Stachowski EK, Schwarcz R. Regulation of quinolinic acid neosynthesis in mouse, rat and human brain by iron and iron chelators in vitro. J Neural Transm 2012;119:123–31.
- Staniszewska MM, Nagaraj RH. 3-Hydroxykynurenine-mediated modification of human lens proteins. J Biol Chem 2005;280:22154–64.
- Stone TW. Neuropharmacology of quinolinic and kynurenic acids. Pharmacol Rev 1993;5:309–79.
- Stoy N, Mackay GM, Forrest CM, Christofides J, Egerton M, Stone TW, et al. Tryptophan metabolism and oxidative stress in patients with Huntington's disease. J Neurochem 2005;93:611–23.
- Stutchbury GM, Truscott RJ. The modification of proteins by 3-hydroxykynurenine. Exp Eye Res 1993;57:149–55.
- Szabó N, Kincses ZT, Toldi J, Vécsei L. Altered tryptophan metabolism in Parkinson's disease: a possible novel therapeutic approach. J Neurol Sci 2011;310:256–60.
- Teismann P. COX-2 in the neurodegenerative process of Parkinson's disease. BioFactors 2012 [Epub ahead].
 Tohgi H. Abe T. Takahashi S. Kimura M. Takahashi I. Kikuchi T. Concentrations of
- serotoni and its related substances in the cerebrospinal fluid in patients with Alzheimer type dementia. Neurosci Lett 1992;141:9–12.

- Tohgi H, Abe T, Takahashi S, Humitoshi H. Concentrations of serotonin and its related substances in the cerebrospinal fluid of Parkinsonian patients and their relations to the severity of symptoms. Neurosci Lett 1993a;150:71–4.
- Tohgi H, Abe H, Takahashi T, Takahashi S, Hamato J. Alterations in the concentration of serotonergic and dopaminergic substances in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with Parkinson's disease, and their changes after L-dopa administration. Neurosci Lett 1993b;159:135–8.
- Truscott RJ, Carver JA, Thorpe A, Douglas RH. Identification of 3-hydroxykynurenine as the lens pigment in the gourami Trichogaster trichopterus. Exp Eye Res 1992;54:1015–7.
- Truscott RJ, Wood AM. Gourami lenses convert tryptophan into 3-hydroxykynurenine. Ophthalmic Res 1994;26:214–2188.
 Urenjak J, Obrenovitch TP. Neuroprotective potency of kynurenic acid against excito-
- toxicity. Neuroreport 2000;11:1341–4. Van Heyningen R. Fluorescent derivatives of 3-hydroxy-L-kynurenine in the lens of
- man, the baboon and the grey squirrel. Biochem J 1971;123:30P–1P. Vazquez S, Garner B, Sheil MM, Truscott RJ. Characterisation of the major autoxidation
- products of 3-hydroxykynurenine under physiological conditions. Free Radic Res 2000;32:11–23.
- Viau K, Ernst SL, Vanzo RJ, Botto LD, Pasquali M, Longo N. Glutaric acidemia Type 1: outcomes before and after expanded newborn screening. Mol Genet Metab 2012;106:430–8.
- Wei H, Leeds P, Chen RW, Wei W, Leng Y, Bredesen DE, et al. Neuronal apoptosis induced by pharmacological concentrations of 3-hydroxykynurenine: characterization and protection by dantrolene and Bcl-2 overexpression. J Neurochem 2000;75:81–90.
- Wood AM, Truscott RJ. Ultraviolet filter compounds in human lenses: 3-hydroxykynurenine glucoside formation. Vision Res 1994;34:1369–74.
- Yamamoto H. Studies on CSF tryptophan metabolism in infantile spasms. Pediatr Neurol 1991;7:411-4.
- Yamamoto H, Shindo I, Egawa B, Horiguch K. Kynurenic acid is decreased in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with infantile spasms. Pediatr Neurol 1994;10:9–12. Yokoi N, Nishijima I, Uchida Y, Kabuto A, Yamamoto H. Effects of kynurenine metabolites
- on the electrocorticographic activity in the rat. J Neural Transm 1998;105:2–3. Yu P, Di Prospero NA, Sapko MT, Cai T, Chen A, Melendez-Ferro M, et al. Biochemical
- Yu P, DI Prospero NA, Sapko MT, Cai T, Chen A, Melendez-Ferro M, et al. Biochemical and phenotypic abnormalities in kynurenine aminotransferase II-deficient mice. Mol Cell Biol 2004;24:6919–30.
- Zhang T, Berrocal JG, Frizzell KM, Gamble MJ, DuMond ME, Krishnakumar R, et al. Enzymes in the NAD+ salvage pathway regulate SIRT1 activity at target gene promoters. J Biol Chem 2009;284:20408–17.
- Zunszain PA, Anacker C, Cattaneo A, Carvalho LA, Pariante CM. Glucocorticoids, cytokines and brain abnormalities in depression. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 2011;35:722–9.
- Zwilling D, Huang SY, Sathyasaikumar KV, Francesca M, Guidetti P, Wu HQ, et al. Kynurenine 3-monooxygenase inhibition in blood ameliorates neurodegeneration. Cell 2012;145:863-74.

14. REFERENCIAS

- Amir N, el-Peleg O, Shalev RS, Christensen E. Glutaric aciduria type I: clinical heterogeneity and neuroradiologic features. Neurology. 1987;37:1654-1657.
- Amaral M, Outeiro TF, Scrutton NS, Giorgini, F. The causative role and therapeutic potential of the kynurenine pathway in neurodegenerative disease. J. Mol. Med. (Berl). 2013;91:705-713.
- Backhaus C, Rahman H, Scheffler S, Laatsch H, Hardeland R. NO scavenging by
 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid and 3-hydroxykynurenine: N-nitrosation leads via oxadiazoles to o-quinone diazides. Nitric Oxide. 2008;19:237–244.
- Braidy N, Grant R, Brew BJ, Adams S, Jayasena T, Guillemin GJ. Effects of kynurenine pathway metabolites on intracellular NAD synthesis and cell death in human primary astrocytes and neurons. Int. J. Tryptophan Res. 2009;2:61-69.
- Cao H, Pietrak BL, Grubmeyer C. Quinolinate phosphoribosyltransferase: kinetic mechanism for a type II PRTase. Biochemistry. 2002;41:3520-3528.
- Chalmers RA. Current research in the organic acidurias. J Inherit Metab Dis. 1989;12:225-239. Review.
- Christen S, Peterhans E, Stocker R. Antioxidant activities of some tryptophan metabolites: possible implication for inflammatory diseases. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 1990;87:2506–2510.
- Colín-González, AL, Maldonado PD, Santamaría A. 3-Hydroxykynurenine: an intriguing molecule exerting dual actions in the central nervous system. Neurotoxicology. 2013;34:189-204.
- Dasuri K, Zhang L, Keller JN. Oxidative stress, neurodegeneration, and the balance of protein degradation and protein synthesis. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 2013;62:170-185.
- Deodato F, Boenzi S, Santorelli FM, Dionisi-Vici C. Methylmalonic and propionic aciduria. Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet. 2006;142C:104-112.

- de Oliveira Marques F, Hagen ME, Pederzolli CD, Sgaravatti AM, Durigon K, Testa CG, Wannmacher CM, de Souza Wyse AT, Wajner M, Dutra-Filho CS. Glutaric acid induces oxidative stress in brain of young rats. Brain Res. 2003;964:153-158.
- Eastman CL, Guilarte TR. Cytotoxicity of 3-hydroxykynurenine in a neuronal hybrid cell line. Brain Res. 1989;495:225–231.
- Eastman CL, Guilarte TR.. The role of hydrogen peroxide in the in vitro cytotoxicity of 3-hydroxykynurenine. Neurochem. Res. 1990;15:1101–1107.
- Ferreira Gda C, Schuck PF, Viegas CM, Tonin A, Latini A, Dutra-Filho CS, Wyse AT, Wannmacher CM, Vargas CR, Wajner M. Energy metabolism is compromised in skeletal muscle of rats chronically-treated with glutaric acid. Metab Brain Dis. 2007;22:111-123.
- Flott-Rahmel B, Falter C, Schluff P, Fingerhut R, Christensen E, Jakobs C, Musshoff U, Fautek JD, Deufel T, Ludolph A, Ullrich K. Nerve cell lesions caused by 3-hydroxyglutaric acid: a possible mechanism for neurodegeneration in glutaric acidaemia I. J Inherit Metab Dis. 1997;20:387-390.
- Goda K, Hamane Y, Kishimoto R, Ogishi Y. Radical scavenging properties of tryptophan metabolites. Estimation of their radical reactivity. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 1999;467:397–402.
- Goldstein LE, Leopold MC, Huang X, Atwood CS, Saunders AJ, Hartshorn M, Lim JT, Faget KY, Muffat JA, Scarpa RC, Chylack LTJr, Bowden EF, Tanzi RE, Bush AI. 3-Hydroxykynurenine and 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid generate hydrogen peroxide and promote alpha-crystallin cross-linking by metal ion reduction. Biochemistry 2000;39:7266-7275.
- Guidetti P, Eastman CL, Schwarcz R. Metabolism of [5-3H]kynurenine in the rat brain in vivo: evidence for the existence of a functional kynurenine pathway. J Neurochem. 1995;65:2621-2632.
- Guidetti P, Schwarcz R. 3-Hydroxykynurenine potentiates quinolinate but not NMDA toxicity in the rat striatum. Eur. J. Neurosci. 1999;11:3857–3863.
- Guidetti P, Bates GP, Graham RK, Hayden MR, Leavitt BR, MacDonald ME, Slow EJ, Wheeler VC, Woodman B, Schwarcz R.. Elevated brain 3-

hydroxykynurenine and quinolinate levels in Huntington disease mice. Neurobiol. Dis. 2006;23:190–197.

- Goshima N, Wadano A, Miura K. 3-Hydroxykynurenine as O2-. scavenger in the blowfly, Aldrichina grahami. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1986;139:666–672.
- Halliwell B. Oxidative stress and neurodegeneration: where are we now? J. Neurochem. 2006;97:1634-1658.
- Hauser NS, Manoli I, Graf JC, Sloan J, Venditti CP. Variable dietary management of methylmalonic acidemia: metabolic and energetic correlations. Am J Clin Nutr. 2011;93:47-56.
- Heyes MP, Achim CL, Wiley CA, Major EO, Saito K, Markey SP. Human microglia convert I-tryptophan into the neurotoxin quinolinic acid. Biochem J. 1996;320:595-597
- Hiraku Y, Inoue S, Oikawa S, Yamamoto K, Tada S, Nishino K, Kawanishi S. Metal-mediated oxidative damage to cellular and isolated DNA by certain tryptophan metabolites. Carcinogenesis. 1995;16:349–356.
- Hoffmann GF, Zschocke J. Glutaric aciduria type I: from clinical, biochemical and molecular diversity to successful therapy. J Inherit Metab Dis. 1999;22:381-391. Review.
- Ishii T, Iwahashi H, Sugata R, Kido R. Formation of hydroxanthommatin-derived radical in the oxidation of 3-hydroxykynurenine. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 1992;294:616–622.
- Jeong JH, Kim HJ, Lee TJ, Kim MK, Park ES, Choi BS. Epigallocatechin 3-gallate attenuates neuronal damage induced by 3-hydroxykynurenine. Toxicology. 2004;195:53–60.
- Jong-Min L, Tan V, Lovejoy D, Braidy N, Rowe DB, Brew BJ, Guillemin GJ. Involvement of quinolinic acid in the neuropathogenesis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neuropharmacology. [Epub ahead of print].
- Kalonia H, Kumar P, Kumar A, Nehru B. Effects of caffeic acid, rofecoxib, and their combination against quinolinic acid-induced behavioral alterations and disruption in glutathione redox status. Neurosci Bull. 2009;25:343-352.

- Kölker S, Greenberg CR, Lindner M, Müller E, Naughten ER, Hoffmann GF. Emergency treatment in glutaryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency. J Inherit Metab Dis. 2004;27:893-902.
- Lagranha VL, Matte U, de Carvalho TG, Seminotti B, Pereira CC, Koeller DM, Woontner M, Goodman SI, de Souza DO, Wajner M. Increased glutamate receptor and transporter expression in the cerebral cortex and striatum of gcdh-/- mice: possible implications for the neuropathology of glutaric acidemia type I. PLoS One. 2014;9:e90477.
- Latini A, Larovere L, de Kremer RD. Purines, lactate and myo-inositol in CSF might reflect excitotoxicity in inherited metabolic disorders. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2000;486:91-95.
- Leipnitz G, Schumacher C, Dalcin KB, Scussiato K, Solano A, Funchal C, Dutra-Filho CS, Wyse AT, Wannmacher CM, Latini A, Wajner M. *In vitro* evidence for an antioxidant role of 3-hydroxykynurenine and 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid in the brain. Neurochem. Int. 2007;50:83–94.
- Luthra M, Balasubramanian D. 3-Hydroxykynurenine and 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid may act as endogenous antioxidants in the eye lens. Exp Eye Res. 1992;55:641-643.
- Massudi H, Grant R, Guillemin GJ, Braidy N. NAD+ metabolism and oxidative stress: the golden nucleotide on a crown of thorns. Redox Rep. 2012;17:28-46.
- Nakagami Y, Saito H, Katsuki H. 3-Hydroxykynurenine toxicity on the rat striatum in vivo. Jpn. J. Pharmacol. 1996;71:183–186.
- Niranjan R. The role of inflammatory and oxidative stress mechanisms in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease: focus on astrocytes. Mol. Neurobiol. 2014;49:28-38.
- Okuda S, Nishiyama N, Saito H, Katsuki H. Hydrogen peroxide-mediated neuronal cell death induced by an endogenous neurotoxin, 3-hydroxykynurenine. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1996;93:12553–12558.
- Okuda S, Nishiyama N, Saito H, Katsuki H. 3-Hydroxykynurenine, an endogenous oxidative stress generator, causes neuronal cell death with apoptotic features and region selectivity. J. Neurochem. 1998;70:299–307.

- Pang C, Zheng Z, Shi L, Sheng Y, Wei H, Wang Z, Ji L. Caffeic acid prevents acetaminophen-induced liver injury by activating the Keap1-Nrf2 antioxidative defense system. Free Radic Biol Med. 2016;91:236-246.
- Pérez-De La Cruz V, Carrillo-Mora P, Santamaría A. Quinolinic Acid, an endogenous molecule combining excitotoxicity, oxidative stress and other toxic mechanisms. Int J Tryptophan Res. 2012;5:1-8.
- Pinelli A, Ossi C, Colombo R, Tofanetti O, Spazzi L. Experimental convulsions in rats induced by intraventricular administration of kynurenine and structurally related compounds. Neuropharmacology. 1984;23:333–337.
- Rosa RB, Schwarzbold C, Dalcin KB, Ghisleni GC, Ribeiro CA, Moretto MB, Frizzo ME, Hoffmann GF, Souza DO, Wajner M. Evidence that 3-hydroxyglutaric acid interacts with NMDA receptors in synaptic plasma membranes from cerebral cortex of young rats. Neurochem Int. 2004;45:1087-1094.
- Santamaría A, Jiménez-Capdeville ME, Camacho A, Rodríguez-Martínez E, Flores A, Galván-Arzate S. In vivo hydroxyl radical formation after quinolinic acid infusion into rat corpus striatum. Neuroreport. 2001;12:2693-2696.
- Sauer SW, Okun JG, Fricker G, Mahringer A, Müller I, Crnic LR, Mühlhausen C, Hoffmann GF, Hörster F, Goodman SI, Harding CO, Koeller DM, Kölker S. Intracerebral accumulation of glutaric and 3-hydroxyglutaric acids secondary to limited flux across the blood-brain barrier constitute a biochemical risk factor for neurodegeneration in glutaryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency. J Neurochem. 2006;97:899-910.
- Schwarcz R, Whetsell WO Jr, Mangano RM. Quinolinic acid: an endogenous metabolite that produces axon-sparing lesions in rat brain. Science 1984;219:316-318.
- Schwarcz R, Foster AC, French ED, Whetsell WO Jr Köhler, C. Excitotoxic models for neurodegenerative disorders. Life Sci. 1984;35:19-32.
- Schwarcz R, Bruno JP, Muchowski PJ, Wu HQ. Kynurenines in the mammalian brain: when physiology meets pathology. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 2012;13;465-477.

- Smith AJ, Smith RA, Stone TW. 5-Hydroxyanthranilic acid, a tryptophan metabolite, generates oxidative stress and neuronal death via p38 activation in cultured cerebellar granule neurones. Neurotox. Res. 2009;15:303–310.
- Stone TW, Mackay GM, Forrest CM, Clark CJ, Darlington LG. Tryptophan metabolites and brain disorders. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2003;41:852-859. Review.
- Stone TW, Forrest CM, Mackay GM, Stoy N, Darlington LG. Tryptophan, adenosine, neurodegeneration and neuroprotection. Metab. Brain Dis. 2007;22:337-352.
- Tan L, Yu JT, Tan L. The kynurenine pathway in neurodegenerative diseases: mechanistic and therapeutic considerations. J. Neurol. Sci. 2012;323:1-8.
- Viau K, Ernst SL, Vanzo RJ, Botto LD, Pasquali M, Longo N. Glutaric acidemia type 1: outcomes before and after expanded newborn screening. Mol Genet Metab. 2012;106:430-438.
- Varadkar S, Surtees R. Glutaric aciduria type I and kynurenine pathway metabolites: a modified hypothesis. J Inherit Metab Dis. 2004;27:835-842.
- Vazquez S, Garner B, Sheil MM, Truscott RJ. Characterisation of the major autoxidation products of 3-hydroxykynurenine under physiological conditions. Free Radic. Res. 2000;32:11–23.
- Wajner M, Kölker S, Souza DO, Hoffmann GF, de Mello CF. Modulation of glutamatergic and GABAergic neurotransmission in glutaryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency. J Inherit Metab Dis. 2004;27:825-828. Review.
- Yu P, Di Prospero NA, Sapko MT, Cai T, Chen A, Melendez-Ferro M, Du F, Whetsell WO Jr, Guidetti P, Schwarcz R, Tagle DA. Biochemical and phenotypic abnormalities in kynurenine aminotransferase II-deficient mice. Mol. Cell. Biol. 2004;24:6919-6930.